THE *IN OVO* APPROACH TO OPTIMIZING POULTRY GUT HEALTH AND PERFORMANCE: AN INQUIRY

by

Samson Abiodun Oladokun

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia December 2022

© Copyright by Samson Abiodun Oladokun, 2022

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTSii
LIST OF TABLES vii
LIST OF FIGURES xi
ABSTRACT xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED xv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSxviii
1 CHAPTED 1 CENERAL INTRODUCTION 1
1 CHAITER I GENERAL INTRODUCTION
2 CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 SUMMARY
2.2 DESCRIPTION OF PROBLEM
2.3 IN OVO TECHNOLOGY- BASIC CONCEPTS
2.4 IN OVO APPLICATIONS IN POULTRY
2.5 ALTERNATIVES TO ANTIBIOTIC GROWTH PROMOTERS IN POULTRY 11
2.5.1 Probiotics
2.5.2 Prebiotics
2.5.3 Synbiotics
2.5.4 Essential oils
2.5.5 Folic acid
2.5.6 Other Bioactive Substances
2.6 Optimal Time Points for <i>In ovo</i> Delivery of Bioactive Substances 27
2.7 CONCLUSION AND APPLICATIONS
3 CHAPTER 3 PROBIOTICS DELIVERY ROUTES 1
3.1 Abstract
3.2 INTRODUCTION
3.3 MATERIAL AND METHODS
3.3.1 Eggs and Incubation
3.3.2 Injection Procedure
3.3.3 Bird Rearing Conditions and Diets

	3.3.4 Hatch Parameters and Chick Quality	37
	3.3.5 Growth Performance Parameters and Sampling	37
	3.3.6 Intestinal Morphology Measurement	38
	3.3.7 SCFA and Total Eubacteria Quantification	38
	3.3.8 Gut Microbiota Analysis	38
	3.3.9 Statistical Analysis	39
	3.3.10 Gut Microbiota Statistical and Bioinformatics Analysis	40
3	.4 RESULTS	40
	3.4.1 Hatch Performance	40
	3.4.2 Growth Performance	42
	3.4.3 Gut Morphology	43
	3.4.4 Cecal SCFA Concentration	45
	3.4.5 Cecal Microbiota	45
3	.5 DISCUSSION	54
3	.6 CONCLUSIONS	59
4	CHAPTER 4 PROBIOTICS DELIVERY ROUTES 2	61
4	.1 ABSTRACT	61
4 4	.1 ABSTRACT	61 62
4 4 4	 .1 ABSTRACT .2 INTRODUCTION .3 MATERIALS AND METHODS 	61 62 64
4 4 4	 .1 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64
4 4 4	.1 ABSTRACT .2 INTRODUCTION .3 MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.3.1 Ethics declarations 4.3.2 Egg incubation and in ovo Injection Procedure	61 62 64 64 64
4 4 4	 .1 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64 64 65
4 4 4	 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64 64 65 70
4 4 4	 .1 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64 65 70 72
4 4 4 4	.1 ABSTRACT .2 INTRODUCTION .3 MATERIALS AND METHODS .4.3.1 Ethics declarations .4.3.2 Egg incubation and in ovo Injection Procedure .4.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets .4.3.4 Measurements .4 RESULTS .4.1 Hatch performance and chick quality	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72
4 4 4	 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72 73
4 4 4	.1 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72 73 77
4 4 4	.1 ABSTRACT .2 INTRODUCTION .3 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.3.1 Ethics declarations 4.3.2 Egg incubation and in ovo Injection Procedure. 4.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets. 4.3.4 Measurements 4.4.1 Hatch performance and chick quality. 4.4.2 Growth performance. 4.4.3 Organ weight and serum immunoglobulin concentration	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72 73 77 77
4 4 4	.1 ABSTRACT .2 INTRODUCTION .3 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 4.3.1 Ethics declarations 4.3.2 Egg incubation and in ovo Injection Procedure 4.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets 4.3.4 Measurements .4 RESULTS 4.4.1 Hatch performance and chick quality 4.4.2 Growth performance 4.4.3 Organ weight and serum immunoglobulin concentration 4.4.4 Blood biochemistry 4.4.5 Gut morphology	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72 73 77 78
444	.1 ABSTRACT .2 INTRODUCTION .3 MATERIALS AND METHODS .4.3.1 Ethics declarations 4.3.2 Egg incubation and in ovo Injection Procedure 4.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets 4.3.4 Measurements .4 RESULTS .4.1 Hatch performance and chick quality 4.4.2 Growth performance 4.4.3 Organ weight and serum immunoglobulin concentration 4.4.4 Blood biochemistry 4.4.5 Gut morphology	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72 73 77 78 83
4 4 4 4	.1 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72 73 77 78 83 92
4 4 4 4 4	.1 ABSTRACT	61 62 64 64 65 70 72 72 73 77 78 83 92 97

5	СН	APTER 5 ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTES	99
	5.1	ABSTRACT	99
	5.2	INTRODUCTION	100
	5.3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	102
	5.3.	1 Egg Incubation and In ovo Injection Procedure	102
	5.3.	2 Birds, Housing, and Diets	103
	5.3.	3 Hatch Parameters and Chick Quality	106
	5.3.	4 Growth Performance Parameters and Sampling	106
	5.3.	5 Statistical Analysis	108
	5.4	RESULTS	108
	5.4.	1 Hatch Performance and Chick Quality	108
	5.4.	2 Growth Performance	111
	5.4.	3 Relative Weight of Organic and Serum Immunoglobulins	113
	5.4.	4 Blood Biochemistry	115
	5.4.	5 Total Antioxidant Capacity (TAC)	118
	5.4.	6 Intestinal Morphology	118
	5.5	DISCUSSION	122
	5.6	CONCLUSIONS	127
6	CH	APTER 6 MICROBIOTA AND TRANSCRIPTOMIC EFFECT OF ESSEN	TIAL
0	IL DE	LIVERY ROUTES	129
	6.1	ABSTRACT	129
	6.2	INTRODUCTION	130
	6.3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	132
	6.3.	<i>1 Ethics Statement</i>	132
	6.3.	2 Egg Incubation and in ovo Injection Procedure	132
	6.3.	3 Birds, Housing, and Diets	133
	6.3.	4 Sample Collection	137
	6.3.	5 DNA Extraction, Qualification, Library Preparation, and Sequencing	137
	6.3.	6 Short-Chain Fatty Acid Concentration and Total Bacteria Density	138
	6.3.	7 RNA Extraction, Qualification, Library Preparation, and Sequencing	138
	6.3.	8 Bioinformatics and Statistical Analysis	139
	6.4	RESULTS	140

6.4.1 Microbiota Diversity	
6.4.2 Microbiota Composition	
6.4.3 Ceca SCFA Concentration	
6.4.4 Transcriptome Analysis	
6.5 DISCUSSION	
6.6 CONCLUSIONS	
7 CHAPTER 7 FOLIC ACID DELIVERY ROUTES	
7.1 ABSTRACT	
7.2 INTRODUCTION	
7.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
7.3.1 Ethics statement	
7.3.2 Egg incubation and in ovo injection procedure	
7.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets	
7.3.4 Measurements	
7.3.5 7.3.5 Statistical Analysis	190
7.4 RESULTS	190
7.4.1 Hatch performance and chick quality	190
7.4.2 Growth performance	
7.4.3 Immune organ weight, serum immunoglobulin concentration,	and antioxidant
indexes	
7.4.4 Blood biochemistry	
7.4.5 Gut morphology	
7.5 DISCUSSION	
7.6 CONCLUSIONS	
8 CHAPTER 8 <i>IN OVO</i> DELIVERED BIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES STRESS	AND HEAT 209
8.1 ABSTRACT	
8.2 INTRODUCTION	
8.3 METHODS	
8.3.1 Ethics statement	
8.3.2 In ovo procedures	
8.3.3 Experimental design, animal husbandry and diets	

8.3.4	4 Measurement	217
8.3.5	5 Statistical analysis	222
8.4	RESULTS	222
8.5	DISCUSSION	258
8.6	CONCLUSIONS	266
9 CHA MICRO	APTER 9 <i>IN OVO</i> DELIVERED BIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES AND GUT BIOTA UNDER HEAT STRESS	267
9.1	ABSTRACT	267
9.2	INTRODUCTION	268
9.3	METHODS	271
9.3.1	1 In ovo procedure	271
9.3.2	2 Experimental design, birds, diets, and management	272
9.3. 3	3 16S rRNA gene sequencing and bioinformatics	277
9.4	RESULTS	278
9.4.1	1 Alpha diversity—cecal microbiota richness	282
9.4.2	2 Beta diversity— shaping the cecal microbiota	288
9.4. 3	3 Taxonomic composition	291
9.4.4	4 Predicted function of ceca microbiota	306
9.5	DISCUSSION	311
9.6	CONCLUSIONS	315
CHAPT	ER 10 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	317
REFERI		320

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2.1 A SUMMARY OF IN OVO–DELIVERED BIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES (WITH THE EXCEPTION OF VACCINES, PROBIOTICS, PREBIOTICS, AND SYNBIOTICS).8
TABLE 2.2 A SUMMARY OF RESEARCH RESULTS ON THE IN OVO DELIVERY OFALTERNATIVES TO ANTIBIOTIC GROWTH PROMOTERS IN POULTRY.12
TABLE 3.1 INGREDIENTS AND COMPOSITION OF EXPERIMENTAL DIETS ¹ (AS-FED BASIS, %, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
TABLE 3.2 EFFECT OF THE IN OVO DELIVERY OF BACILLUS SUBTILISFERMENTATION EXTRACT ON HATCH PERFORMANCE IN BROILERCHICKENS
TABLE 3.3EFFECT OF THE IN OVO DELIVERY OF BACILLUS SUBTILISFERMENTATION EXTRACT ON HATCHED CHICK NAVEL QUALITY41
TABLE 3.4 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS FERMENTATION EXTRACT DELIVERY ROUTE ON GROWTH PERFORMANCE IN BROILER CHICKEN RAISED FOR 28 DAYS
TABLE 3.5 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS FERMENTATION EXTRACT DELIVERY ROUTE ON NECROTIC ENTERITIS (NE) LESION SCORES IN BROILER CHICKENS RAISED FOR 28 DAYS. 43
TABLE 3.6 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS FERMENTATION EXTRACT DELIVERYROUTE ON ILEUM AND JEJUNUM MORPHOLOGY IN BROILER CHICKENSRAISED FOR 28 DAYS.44
TABLE 3.7EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS FERMENTATION EXTRACT DELIVERY ROUTE ON CECAL SHORT-CHAIN FATTY ACIDS CONCENTRATIONS IN BROILER CHICKENS RAISED FOR 28 DAYS
TABLE 3.8 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS FERMENTATION EXTRACT DELIVERY ROUTE ON RELATIVE OTU ABUNDANCE (SPECIFIC PHYLA, GENERA AND TOTAL EUBACTERIA) IN BROILER CHICKENS RAISED FOR 28 DAYS
TABLE 3.9 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS FERMENTATION EXTRACT DELIVERY ROUTE ON DIFFERENTIALLY ABUNDANT BACTERIAL TAXA BETWEEN TREATMENT GROUPS.52
TABLE 4.1 INGREDIENTS, CALCULATED, AND ANALYZED COMPOSITIONS OF EXPERIMENTAL DIETS ¹ (AS-FED BASIS, PERCENTAGE, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED).
TABLE 4.2 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERY OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS ON HATCHPERFORMANCE AND CHICK QUALITY.74

TABLE 4.3 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON THE GROWTH PERFORMANCE OF BROILER CHICKENS RAISED FOR 35 DAYS 75
TABLE 4.4 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON RELATIVE WEIGHT OF IMMUNE ORGANS AND SERUM IMMUNOGLOBULIN CONCENTRATIONS IN BROILER CHICKENS
TABLE 4.5 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON BROILER CHICKEN PLASMA BIOCHEMISTRY INDICES
TABLE 4.6 6 EFFECT OF BACILLUS SUBTILIS AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON BROILER CHICKEN INTESTINAL MORPHOLOGY. 81
TABLE 5.1 INGREDIENTS, CALCULATED, AND ANALYZED COMPOSITIONS OF EXPERIMENTAL DIETS1 (AS-FED BASIS, PERCENTAGE (%), UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED). 105
TABLE 5.2 EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON HATCH PERFORMANCE AND CHICK QUALITY. 109
TABLE 5.3 EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON HATCH PERFORMANCE AND CHICK QUALITY AT THE PRETRIAL STAGE
TABLE 5.4EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON BROILER CHICKEN GROWTH PERFORMANCE
TABLE 5.5 EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON THE RELATIVE WEIGHT OF BROILER CHICKEN ORGANS AND SERUM IMMUNOGLOBULINS LEVELS
TABLE 5.6 EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON PLASMABIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS IN BROILER CHICKENS.116
TABLE 5.7 EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON BROILER CHICKEN INTESTINAL MORPHOLOGY. 120
TABLE 6.1 INGREDIENTS, CALCULATED, AND ANALYZED COMPOSITIONS OF EXPERIMENTAL DIETS1 (AS-FED BASIS, PERCENTAGE (%), UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED). 135
TABLE 6.2 EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON CECA SHORT-CHAIN FATTY ACID CONCENTRATION (SCFA) AND TOTAL EUBACTERIA (COPIES/GRAM OF SAMPLE) IN BROILER CHICKENS
TABLE 6.3 SEQUENCING DATA QUALITY CONTROL METRICS FOR 48 LIVER SAMPLES FOR 6 TREATMENT GROUPS ¹
TABLE 6.4 DIFFERENTIALLY EXPRESSED GENES IN THE LIVER OF BROILER CHICKENS AS INFLUENCED BY TREATMENT GROUPS ¹

TABLE 7.1 COMPOSITION AND NUTRITIONAL CONTENTS OF EXPERIMENTAL
DIETS1 (AS-FED BASIS, PERCENTAGE (%), UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED) 184
TABLE 7.2 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERY OF FOLIC ACID ON HATCH PERFORMANCE AND CHICK QUALITY. 191
TABLE 7.3 EFFECT OF FOLIC ACID AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON THE GROWTH PERFORMANCE OF BROILER CHICKENS RAISED FOR 35 DAYS
TABLE 7.4 EFFECT OF FOLIC ACID AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON RELATIVE WEIGHT OF IMMUNE ORGANS, SERUM IMMUNOGLOBULIN CONCENTRATIONS, AND ANTIOXIDANT INDEXES
TABLE 7.5 EFFECT OF FOLIC ACID AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON BROILER CHICKEN PLASMA BIOCHEMISTRY INDICES
TABLE 7.6 EFFECT OF FOLIC ACID AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON BROILER CHICKEN INTESTINAL MORPHOLOGY. 203
TABLE 8.1 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERY OF FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND ESSENTIAL OIL ON HATCH PERFORMANCE AND CHICK QUALITY
TABLE 8.2 LIST OF QPCR CHICKEN-SPECIFIC OLIGONUCLEOTIDE PRIMERS 220
TABLE 8.3 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERY OF FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND ESSENTIAL OIL ON HATCH PERFORMANCE AND CHICK QUALITY
TABLE 8.4 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERED FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND IN OVO + IN-WATER ESSENTIAL OIL ON BROILER CHICKEN GROWTH PERFORMANCE.
TABLE 8.5 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERED FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND IN OVO + IN-WATER ESSENTIAL OIL ON THE GROWTH PERFORMANCE OF BROILER CHICKEN'S EXPOSED TO 1-WEEK (D21-28) CYCLIC HEAT STRESS
TABLE 8.6 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERED FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND IN OVO + IN-WATER ESSENTIAL OIL AND TEMPERATURE ON THE RELATIVE WEIGHT OF BURSA OF FABRICIUS (G/KG BW) OF BROILER CHICKEN ON DAY 28 230
TABLE 8.7 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERED FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND IN OVO + IN-WATER ESSENTIAL OIL AND TEMPERATURE ON BROILER CHICKEN'S PLASMA BIOCHEMISTRY INDICES
TABLE 8.8 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERED FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND IN OVO + IN-WATER ESSENTIAL OIL AND TEMPERATURE ON BROILER CHICKEN'S ANTIOXIDANT INDICES

ix

TABLE 8.9 EFFECT OF IN OVO DELIVERED FOLIC ACID, PROBIOTICS AND IN OVO +
IN-WATER ESSENTIAL OIL AND TEMPERATURE ON BROILER CHICKEN'S GUT
MORPHOLOGY
TABLE 9.1 COMPOSITION AND NUTRITIONAL CONTENTS OF EXPERIMENTAL
DIETS1 (AS-FED BASIS, PERCENTAGE (%), UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED) 275
TABLE 9.2 SEQUENCING DATA QUALITY CONTROL METRICS FOR 80 CECA
DIGESTA SAMPLES

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 2.1 APPLICATIONS OF IN OVO TECHNOLOGY IN POULTRY	10
FIGURE 3.1 TREATMENT STRUCTURE IN THE HATCHERY AND BROILER BARN.	34
FIGURE 3.2 THE MEAN QUALITY SCORE PER TREATMENT FOR FORWARD AND REVERSE READS.	46
FIGURE 3.3 BACTERIA COMPOSITION AT THE A) PHYLUM AND B) GENUS LEVE OF BROILER CHICKENS.	LS 47
FIGURE 3.4 BACTERIA COMPOSITION AT THE FAMILY TAXA OF BROILER CHICKENS.	48
FIGURE 3.5 ALPHA AND BETA DIVERSITY MEASURE.	53
FIGURE 4.1 SCHEMATIC PRESENTATION OF EXPERIMENTAL STRUCTURE IN TH HATCHERY AND BARN	∃E 66
FIGURE 4.2 RAREFACTION CURVES SHOWING SPECIE RICHNESS OBTAINED FRO 16S RRNA GENE V3V4 SEQUENCES.	OM 84
FIGURE 4.3 ALPHA DIVERSITY (SHANNON'S INDEX) BOX PLOTS.	85
FIGURE 4.4 BETA DIVERSITY (BASED ON ANALYSIS BASED ON BRAY-CURTIS INDEX) PRINCIPAL COORDINATE PLOTS.	87
FIGURE 4.5 GUT MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION AT THE PHYLUM TAXA.	89
FIGURE 4.6 GUT MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION AT THE GENUS TAXA	90
FIGURE 4.7 SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES IN CUMULATIVE PROPORTIONS OF BACTERIA.	91
FIGURE 5.1 SCHEMATIC PRESENTATION OF EXPERIMENTAL STRUCTURE IN TH HATCHERY AND BARN.	∃E 104
FIGURE 5.2 EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE ON BROILER CHICKE TOTAL ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY (TAC).	EN'S 118
FIGURE 5.3 REPRESENTATIVE ILEAL HISTOLOGY IMAGES PRESENTED ON A TREATMENT BASIS.	120
FIGURE 6.1 SCHEMATIC PRESENTATION OF EXPERIMENTAL STRUCTURE IN TH HATCHERY AND BARN.	∃E 134

FIGURE 6.2 RAREFACTION CURVES OF OBSERVED FEATURES OBTAINED FROM 16S RRNA GENE V4–V5 SEQUENCES.	1 141
FIGURE 6.3 RAREFACTION CURVES OF SHANNON'S INDEX OBTAINED FROM 16 RRNA GENE V4–V5 SEQUENCES.	5S 142
FIGURE 6.4 ALPHA DIVERSITY (SHANNON'S INDEX) BOX PLOTSS.	144
FIGURE 6.5 PCOA PLOTS BASED ON UNWEIGHTED UNIFRAC METRIC.	145
FIGURE 6.6 ILEAL MICROBIOTA BACTERIA COMPOSITION AT THE (A) PHYLUM AND (B) GENUS LEVELS OF BROILER CHICKENS SUBJECTED TO DIFFERENT TREATMENTS GROUPS.	Γ 147
FIGURE 6.7 CECA MICROBIOTA BACTERIA COMPOSITION AT THE (A) PHYLUM AND (B) GENUS LEVELS OF BROILER CHICKENS SUBJECTED TO DIFFERENT TREATMENTS GROUPS.	Г 149
FIGURE 6.8 SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES (ANOVA, B–H FDR CORRECTED P VALUP < 0.05) IN CUMULATIVE PROPORTIONS OF GENUS	JE: 152
FIGURE 6.9 HEATMAPS OF THE TOP 100 MOST VARIABLE GENES.	159
FIGURE 7.1 SCHEMATIC PRESENTATION OF EXPERIMENTAL STRUCTURE IN TH HATCHERY AND BARN.	ΙΕ 183
FIGURE 8.1 SCHEMATIC PRESENTATION OF EXPERIMENTAL LAYOUT IN THE HATCHERY AND BARN.	215
FIGURE 8.2 RECTAL TEMPERATURE MEASUREMENTS DURING HEAT STRESS.	232
FIGURE 8.3 HEPATIC HEAT SHOCK PROTEINS (HSP) EXPRESSION.	245
FIGURE 8.4 EXPRESSION OF HEPATIC LIPOGENIC GENES AND THEIR RELATED TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS.	247
FIGURE 8.5 EXPRESSION OF IMMUNE RELATED GENES IN THE SPLEEN.	249
FIGURE 8.6 EXPRESSION OF GLUCOSE TRANSPORTER GENES IN THE JEJUNUM	.253
FIGURE 8.7 EXPRESSION OF AMINO ACID TRANSPORTER GENE IN JEJUNUM.	254
FIGURE 8.8 EXPRESSION OF INTESTINAL BARRIER-RELATED GENES IN THE JEJUNUM.	256

FIGURE 9.1 SCHEMATIC PRESENTATION OF EXPERIMENTAL LAYOUT IN THE HATCHERY AND BARN.	274
FIGURE 9.2 RAREFACTION CURVES OF OBSERVED FEATURES AND NUMBER O SAMPLES OBTAINED FROM 16S RRNA GENE V3–V4 SEQUENCES.	F 284
FIGURE 9.3 ALPHA DIVERSITY PLOTS.	286
FIGURE 9.4 PCOA PLOTS BASED ON WEIGHTED UNIFRAC METRIC.	289
FIGURE 9.5 CECA MICROBIOTA TAXONOMIC COMPOSITION OF THE DOMINAN PHYLA.	T 293
FIGURE 9.6 CECA MICROBIOTA TAXONOMIC PROFILE AT THE (A) CLASS, (B) ORDER AND (C) FAMILY LEVEL.	296
FIGURE 9.7 MICROBIOTA PROFILE OF THE MOST DOMINANT GENERA IN BROID CHICKEN CECA.	LER 299
FIGURE 9.8 SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES (ANOVA AND T-TEST, B–H FDR CORRECTED P VALUE, P < 0.05) IN CUMULATIVE PROPORTIONS OF BACTEI IN THE PHYLUM ACTINOBACTERIA.	RIA 300
FIGURE 9.9 SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES (ANOVA AND T-TEST, B–H FDR CORRECTED P VALUE, P < 0.05) IN CUMULATIVE PROPORTIONS OF BACTER AT THE GENUS TAXA.	RIA 305
FIGURE 9.10 PREDICTED FUNCTIONS OF CECA MICROBIOTA.	308
FIGURE 9.11 PREDICTED FUNCTIONS OF CECA MICROBIOTA BASED ON TREATMENT AND TEMPERATURE MODEL INTERACTION.	309

ABSTRACT

Several proposed alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters (AGP) in poultry have been reported ineffective due to limitations of delivery routes. Hence, an urgent need for new approaches to maintain poultry gut health exists. This thesis thus evaluated the *in ovo* approach to optimizing broiler chicken's gut health and growth performance in five experiments involving three bioactive substances (probiotics, essential oil, and folic acid).

Experiment 1 revealed that the in ovo delivery of probiotics product (Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract) enhanced gut morphology without compromising hatch and gut homeostasis. Experiment 2 showed that all probiotics (independent of delivery routes and dose) were mostly comparable to the in-feed antibiotics treatment in their ability to ensure gut microbiota homeostasis, enhanced gut morphology, and feed conversion efficiency. Experiment 3 indicated that the in ovo delivery of an essential oil blend reduced hatchability and chick length in broiler chickens. However, successive delivery of this essential oil blend via in ovo and in-water routes improved broiler chicken's antioxidant status and blood biochemical profile with no adverse effect on growth performance. In ovo, delivery of folic acid (0.15 mg/egg) is observed to increase hatchling weight and enhance broiler chicken gut morphology and feed conversion ratio in a similar capacity as the in-feed antibiotic treatment in experiment 4. However, hatchability was reduced by the in ovo delivery of folic acid. Finally, experiment 5 was conducted to validate the gut-optimizing potential of these in ovo-delivered bioactive substances under a heat stress challenge. Results showed that independent of heat stress, the successive delivery of essential oil via in ovo and in-water routes improved broiler chicken gut morphology and intestinal barrier integrity. Under heat stress conditions, the in ovo + in-water EO routes induced a numerical increase in feed conversion efficiency (+30%) and as much as a 3.5-fold significant upregulation of amino acid transporter gene, suggesting that the delivery of this bioactive substance offer potential gut thermo-protective functions under heat stress condition. Summarily, results from this thesis reveal that the in ovo delivery of probiotics, essential oil, and folic acid shows promising benefits as alternatives to AGP in the post-AGP era.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

ABWG	average body weight gain
ADFI	Average daily feed intake
ADG	average daily gain
AFI	average feed intake
AGP	antibiotic growth promoters
ALDH1L2	aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family member L2
ALP	alkaline phosphatase
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AST	aspartate aminotransferase
ASV	amplicon sequence variants
BMD	bacitracin methylene disalicylate
BVES	blood vessel epicardial substance
BW	body weight
BWG	body weight gain
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CE	competitive exclusion
CEP70	centrosomal protein 70
CFU	colony forming units
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
СК	creatine kinase
CLCA1	chloride channel accessory 1
CTD	C-terminal domain
CTRL	control
CUBN	cubilin
DEG	differentially expressed genes
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ED	embryonic days
ELISA	enzyme-link immunosorbent assay

EO	essential oil						
EU	European Union						
FA	folic acid						
FCR	feed conversion ratio						
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration						
FI	feed intake						
gDNA	Genomic DNA						
GIT	gastrointestinal tract						
GO	Gene ontology						
GOS	galactooligosaccharides						
GUCY2C	guanylate cyclase 2C						
HS	heat stress						
HSD	honest significant difference						
IgG	immunoglobulin G						
IgM	immunoglobulin M						
INTS2	integrator complex subunit 2						
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genome						
MC5R	melanocortin 5 receptor						
MDA	Malondialdehyde						
MED13	mediator complex subunit 13						
MOS	mannanoligosachharides						
MTMR6	myotubularin related protein 6						
NASH	nonalcoholic steatohepatitis						
NC	Negative control						
NE	necrotic enteritis						
OTU	operational taxonomic unit						
PANX2	pannexin 2						
PCoA	principal coordinate analysis						
PDE11A	phosphodiesterase 11A						
PFA	phytogenic feed additives						
PICRUST2	Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of						

	Unobserved States
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acid
RFO	raffinose family oligosaccharides
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAP II	RNA polymerase II
RNA-seq	RNA sequencing
SCFA	short-chain fatty acid
SEM	standard error of the means
SLC5A10	solute carrier family 5-member 10
snRNA	small nuclear RNA
SOD	superoxide dismutase
STAMP	Statistical Analysis of Metagenomic Profiles
TAC	Total antioxidant capacity
TEER	trans-epithelial resistance values
TFA	trans-fatty acid
TN	thermoneutral room
VFA	volatile fatty acids
WHO	World Health Organisation

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you!

The Omniscience: for being the true source of knowledge; for the gift of life; for peace, health, and daily inspiration. God did!

Dr. Deborah Adewole (Supervisor): for taking a chance on me and trusting me with this scientific inquiry, for your mentorship and encouragement, and for giving wings to my ideas.

Dr. Bruce Rathgeber and Dr. Fraser Clark (Committee members): for your open doors to me, insightful suggestions, and valuable contributions to the improvement of this thesis.

Professor Xin Zhao: for serving as the external examiner for my thesis defense.

Dr. Eveline M. Ibeagha-Awemu (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada): for your valuable contribution to the probiotics aspect of this thesis.

Dr. Sami Dridi: for hosting me in your laboratory (Avian Molecular Genetics and Endocrinology laboratory, the University of Arkansas, USA) and for providing critical comments on my project.

Project funders: Canadian Agricultural Partnership; Chicken Farmers of Nova Scotia; Natural Sciences and Engineering Council of Canada.

Probiotech International: for supplying the *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract and the commercial essential oil blend used in this thesis.

Integrated Microbiome Resource (IMR): for help with sequencing and bioinformatics analysis of some aspects of this thesis; and Dr. Andre Comeau for patiently attending to all my numerous queries.

The Canadian Center for Computational Genomics (C3G): for support with some

bioinformatics aspects of this thesis.

Poultry Research Team (Dalhousie University): Dr. Stephanie Collins- for your kindness and opportunity offered me to assist in the teaching of NUTR 3000; Janice MacIsaac- for your help with diet formulation for all my studies, efficient sourcing of supplies and blood sample processing, Xujie Li- for being a friend and many of the intellectually stimulating discussions, Jing Lu- for helping me find my feet in the department and help in my numerous trials and Margaret Hartling- for the learning experience afforded me from conducting the nutrition laboratory with you.

Atlantic Poultry Research Institute: Laurie Eagles- for pushing my research outputs to the industry and general public.

Atlantic Poultry Research Centre: Michael McConkey, Sarah Macpherson, and Krista Budgellfor help with planning and managing my numerous trials.

Members of the Adewole Laboratory (past and present): Taiwo Makinde, Taiwo Erinle, and Fisayo Akinyemi for helping me in the hatchery in the wet winter months and helping me in the barn during the sunny summer months.

Members of the Avian Molecular Genetics and Endocrinology laboratory (University of Arkansas): Drs. Elizabeth Greene, Karim Taouis, Garret Mullenix, Alison Ferver, Kentu Lassiter, and Wafa Youssfi, and Maryam Afkhami Ardakani- for your invaluable support during my laboratory analysis.

Staff of the Department of Animal Science and Aquaculture (Dalhousie University): Tanya Muggeridge- for helping me adapt my DNA extraction protocols and teaching me how to use the Speedvac vacuum concentrator when I had challenges with the DNA concentration of some of my samples; Prof. Jim Duston- for great times at lunch discussing our mutual love for Newcastle, Dr. Janine Gray for helping me during my first use of the departmental microscopes and Marilyn Roberts for her kindness and attention to my numerous requests to ship out samples.

Scholarship funders: Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture for the Dalhousie PhD Scholarship for Excellence in Agricultural Research Award granted me; the family of Dr. Patricia Harney for the Harney Estate Graduate Scholarship granted me; the Sunswine group for the Coffee & Careers Scholarship award granted me; and Mitacs for the Research Training Award and the Globalink Research Internship Award granted me to complete an aspect of this research at the Center of Excellence for Poultry Science, University of Arkansas, USA.

Parents: for your labor of love over me.

Gems of Bible Hill: Ofoe Raphael, Ofoe Henrietta, Vera Amor Labi, Francis Abayete, Abbey Joel, Anku Kenneth, Deng Mabil Khot, Nutsukpo Bawa, Babarinde Segun, Oretomiloye Charles, Ighodaro Kelvin, Dr. Emmanuela Elvis, Mr. Temidayo Adewole and all members of RCCG Open door Sanctuary. Thanks for making Truro a home for me.

Friends and family: Dr. Kayode and Mrs. Shola Alli, the Yusufs', the Okeniyis', the Akintayos', Omolayo Joshua, Tolu Oduneye, Temitayo Olowookere, Abeiku Benard Sam, Dr. Semiu Bello, Adejuwon Samuel and others who are too numerous to mention scattered all over the globe, thanks for cheering me on.

1 CHAPTER 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Food is a basic human necessity. However, feeding a projected human population of 11 billion persons by the end of this century signifies an enormous challenge (The Eat-Lancet Commission, 2019). Expectedly, this projected increase in global population is accompanied by a simultaneous increase in food, especially protein demand. In fact, a 725% increase in poultry demand by 2030 has been predicted for South Asia alone (FAO, 2011). Poultry meat currently accounts for nearly one-third of global meat production and is projected to account for at least half of the increased protein demand in this decade (FAO, 2020).

Much of the success of the global poultry industry, in the last sixty years at least, is anchored on the sub-therapeutic use of antibiotic growth promoters (AGP) to optimize chicken's gut health (Gadde et al., 2017). The gut is a vital organ system integral to ensuring efficient nutrient utilization and immunocompetence in birds (Choct, 2009). Poor gut health has been associated with compromised digestive and nutrient absorption capacity, increased susceptibility to diseases and ultimately poultry performance (Choct, 2009; Sugiharto, 2016). A "healthy gut" may thus be synonymous with a "healthy chicken." The benefits accruing from the use of AGP to modify poultry gut health include the minimal occurrence of subclinical infections, reduced morbidity, and mortality, increased nutrient efficiency, and improved growth performance (Huyghebaert et al., 2011; Chattopadhyay, 2014). Despite these benefits associated with AGP use, evidence now abounds that the sub-therapeutic use of AGP in the livestock industry contributes to the development and spread of antibiotic-resistant bacteria, a public health concern (Asai et al., 2007; Baron et al., 2014; Garcia-Migura et al., 2014). In quantitative terms, about 10 million deaths per year and a cumulative economic loss of 100 trillion USD by 2050 are examples of the global burden associated with continuous sub-therapeutic use of AGP in livestock production (O'Neill, 2016). Consequently, country-specific restrictions regarding AGP use in the poultry industry are now in place. The European Union (EU) member nations banned the sub-therapeutic use of AGP in 2006, following the European Parliament and Council Regulation EC No. 1831/2003. The US and Canada have also instituted policy directions guiding AGP use in livestock production (FDA, 2012; Government of Canada, 2018). These restrictions in the use of AGP is not without consequences; in the absence of alternatives to AGP, poor gut health associated with increased disease incidence, morbidity, mortality, and poor poultry growth performance are imminent. The poultry industry, therefore, faces the challenge of sustainable intensification while reducing and ultimately eliminating the use of AGP.

To solve this challenge, various bioactive substances are investigated as potential alternatives to AGP due to their gut optimizing potentials. These include probiotics (Torshizi et al., 2010; Salim et al., 2013; Khoobani et al., 2020), prebiotics (Kim et al., 2011; Houshmand et al., 2012; Craig et al., 2020), synbiotics (Jung et al., 2008), enzymes (Hooge et al., 2010; Jackson and Hanford, 2014), organic acids (Paul et al., 2007; Banday et al., 2015), antimicrobial peptide (Wen and He, 2012), bacteriophages (Wang et al., 2013), herbs, spices, and essential oils (Lee et al., 2003; Hoffman-Pennesi and Wu, 2010). Although, yet to be researched as an alternative to AGP, folic acid is another bioactive substance with gut-optimizing potential. A potent alternative to AGP should guarantee resilience against all potential immunological or environmental stressors (including heat stress). These potential alternatives have been administered through conventional in-feed and in-water routes. Consequently, the efficacy of these alternatives has been inconsistent in literature, owing to multiple interacting factors that include the age of the bird, immune status of the bird, occurrence of environmental stressors, bird microbiota balance, stability during heat treatment, water quality, dosage, timing, duration, and routes of administration (Gaggia et al., 2010; Huyghebaert et al., 2011; Ducatelle et al., 2014; Bednarczyk et al., 2016). Additionally, gutenhancing bioactive substances are reported to be more effective in chickens when introduced as early as possible, preferably at the pre-hatch stage (Sobolewska et al., 2017). Hence, there is a need to investigate new delivery strategies that ensure the optimum efficacy of these bioactive substances.

In ovo technology is one of such delivery strategies that offers scope to develop effective alternatives to AGP for the poultry industry. *In ovo* technology involves the delivery of bioactive substances directly to the developing embryo. It helps to overcome challenges that include nutrient inactivation due to heat treatment of feedstuff and potential water quality risks associated with inwater and in-feed delivery of alternatives to AGP. It also offers a cheaper means of delivering these bioactive substances, as lesser quantities of bioactive substances are required compared to in-water and in-feed delivery routes (Bednarczyk et al., 2016; Tavaniello et al., 2018). Considering that the perinatal period (ranging from the late embryonic stage till few days post-hatch) is critical to gut development and immunity in poultry, a major advantage of *in ovo* technology is that alternatives to AGP can be delivered to the developing embryo to stimulate a healthy gut profile early on, rather than trying to modify an already established gut profile (Roto et al., 2016).

This research, therefore, sought to evaluate the effectiveness of the *in ovo* delivery of selected bioactive substances as a strategy to optimize gut health while developing effective alternatives to

AGP in broiler chickens.

Specific objectives included-

- 1. To validate the *in ovo* delivery system by comparing it with common delivery methods (in-feed and in-water) of a probiotic product on growth performance, gut morphology, incidence of necrotic enteritis, short-chain fatty acid production and gut microbiota homeostasis.
- 2. To determine the effect of *in ovo* delivery of essential oil, on growth performance, gut morphology, blood biochemistry, immune and antioxidant status, short-chain fatty acid production, gut microbiota homeostasis and liver transcriptomics.
- 3. To determine the effect of *in ovo* delivery of folic acid on growth performance, gut morphology, blood biochemistry, immune and antioxidant status.
- 4. To evaluate the gut-optimizing potential of these *in ovo*-delivered bioactive substances (probiotics, essential oil, and folic acid) under a heat stress challenge model.

2 CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

IN OVO DELIVERY OF BIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES: AN ALTERNATIVE TO THE USE OF ANTIBIOTIC GROWTH PROMOTERS IN POULTRY PRODUCTION – A REVIEW

Contents from this section have been published elsewhere:

Oladokun, S., and D. I. Adewole. 2020. *In ovo* delivery of bioactive substances: an alternative to the use of antibiotic growth promoters in poultry production—a review. Journal of Applied Poultry Research, 29: 744-763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.japr.2020.06.002</u>

2.1 Summary

For more than 6 decades, the global poultry industry has profited from the advancement in science and technology. Success in animal breeding and genetics has made available fast-growing poultry strains. Similarly, evolution in Medicine and Veterinary science has provided farmers with antibiotics, which have served the dual role of treating poultry diseases and improving growth performance of poultry. Interestingly, these gains from science are not without consequences. Issues such as lameness in fast-growing chickens and the failure of some antibiotics to treat important human infections as a result of the development of antibiotic-resistant bacteria have been reported. With an ever-increasing demand for poultry products, there is an urgent need to solve these identified challenges. Results emanating from research on antibiotics alternatives in poultry have generally been reported inconsistent because of several factors including environmental, animal health, and delivery routes (in-feed and in-water). Once again, innovation in science and technology is being called upon. A recent emerging field of animal biotechnology is the use of *in ovo* technology to deliver bioactive compounds to broiler chickens. *In ovo* delivery of bioactive compounds shows potential to help reduce and ultimately end the use of antibiotics in poultry production.

2.2 Description of Problem

The poultry industry remains a significant source of high-quality protein, vitamins, and essential micro-nutrients in human nutrition. Accounting for 37% of the global meat industry in 2017, the global poultry industry is projected to produce about 331 million tonnes of meat in 2028 (OECD/FAO, 2019). This remarkable growth has been linked with the sub-therapeutic use of

antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs); AGPs often improve growth performance of poultry birds by increasing feed conversion efficiency and reducing disease incidence (Castanon, 2007; Gadde et al., 2017). Despite these benefits, the continuous use of AGPs in poultry production stirs public health concerns relating to antimicrobial resistance and presence of antibiotic residues in the food chain and the environment (Muaz et al., 2018; Wales et al., 2019). World Health Organisation (WHO) forewarned that approximately 10 million deaths could be recorded by 2050 if these public health concerns are left unchecked (WHO, 2019). The poultry industry is thus saddled with the challenge of maintaining increased productions trends, whilst eliminating or reducing the use of AGPs.

As alternatives to AGPs, numerous bioactive substances (compounds interacting with living tissues to yield a variety of effects (Guaadaoui et al., 2014) including probiotics, prebiotics, synbiotics, phtytobiotics, essential oils, organic acids, bacteriophages and antimicrobial peptides are experimented, albeit through the conventional dietary and drinking routes (Lee et al., 2003; Hoffman-Pennesi and Wu, 2010; Wen and He, 2012; Wang et al., 2013; Naito, 2015; Hu et al., 2017; Al-Khalaifa et al., 2019; Araujo et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019; Herrero-Encinas et al., 2020). Results emanating from most studies have been inconsistent, owing to multiple interacting factors that include age of the bird, immune status of the bird, occurrence of environmental stressors, bird microbiota balance, stability during heat treatment, water quality, dosage, timing, and duration of administration (Gaggia et al., 2010; Huyghebaert et al., 2011; Ducatelle et al., 2014; Bednarczyk et al., 2016). Furthermore, conventional delivery routes (i.e., in-feed and in-water) might not often yield positive results because of possible adverse interactions with other feed additives (i.e., antibiotics, oligosaccharides, or coccidiostats), potential prior contamination with pathogenic microorganisms, and differences in chemical structures and composition of alternatives to AGPs (Cheng et al., 2014; Tavaniello et al., 2018). A recently emerging field, in ovo technology involving the delivery of bioactives directly to the developing embryo, presents an opportunity to develop effective alternatives to AGP for the poultry industry. This review, therefore, aims to provide an overview of the *in ovo* delivery of alternative to AGPs, as opposed to *in ovo* delivery of nutrients and vaccines, a more researched theme. In addition, practical insight is provided on the factors influencing the efficacy of *in ovo* delivery of these bioactive substances.

2.3 In ovo Technology- Basic Concepts

The history of in ovo technology is traceable to the works of Sharma and Burmester (1982), which

revealed that embryonic vaccination confers superior immunity against Marek disease in chickens; a novel discovery which was subsequently patented in the United States (Sharma and Burmester, 1984). *In ovo* technology can be defined as the direct inoculation of bioactive substances to the developing embryo to elicit superior lifelong effects while considering the dynamic physiology of the chicken embryo. It is based on the simple concept of supplementing the chick embryo with bioactive substances to establish lifelong phenotypes, including superior performance, immunity, and healthy gut microbiome in the bird (Siwek et al., 2018). It is the only method of external supplementation that influences the development of both the embryo and its neonate (Slawinska et al., 2016). Owing to the success of Sharma and Burmester (1984) patent, the automation and commercialization of *in ovo* technology, especially as an effective vaccine delivery method has been reported (Johnston et al., 1997; Ricks et al., 1999). Automated *in ovo* vaccination offers scope to inoculate an increased number of eggs with minimal human effort and error (Ricks et al., 2003; Peebles, 2018).

In ovo delivery of bioactive substances could also be a more economical route compared to conventional supplementation routes (i.e., in-feed and in-water). Bednarczyk et al. (2016) obtained similar performance-enhancing effect from delivering almost 11 times less prebiotics via *in ovo* administration compared to in-water delivery in broiler chickens (3.5 mg BI/embryo *in ovo* vs 40 mg BI/chick in-water) - a trend confirmed by Tavaniello et al. (2018) as they utilized 10 times less *in ovo* prebiotic supplementation relative to in-water supplementation to achieve similar growth effects. Despite the benefits this technology portends, a lack of procedural standardization impairs its commercial adoption as a viable means of delivering bioactive substances in the poultry industry (except for vaccines). This is not unexpected, as several interrelated factors including but not limited to, hatchery hygiene (Ricks et al., 1999; Williams and Zedek, 2010), degree of automation (manual vs automatic) (Wakenell et al., 2002; Triplett et al., 2018), dosage of bioactives (McGruder et al., 2011; Zhai et al., 2011), time (Ricks et al., 1999; Bednarczyk et al., 2016; Sokale et al., 2017) and site of injection (Avakian et al., 2002; Williams, 2007; Miśta et al., 2017) influences the efficacy of *in ovo* technology. An attempt is made to synthesize standard guidelines regarding these factors later in this review.

2.4 In ovo Applications in Poultry

Modern-day poultry is susceptible to nutritional, environmental, and infectious pathogenic stressors. An effective pathogen control strategy is one that induces optimal and protective levels

of humoral and/or cellular immune responses few days after vaccination (Sharma and Burmester, 1982). *In ovo* vaccination has been reported to stimulate an early immune response in young chicks compared with posthatch vaccination (Negash et al., 2004). *In ovo* technology is essentially a biotechnological intervention adopted with the main goal of ensuring early immunological programming in birds. This goal has been successfully achieved via the *in ovo* delivery of vaccines and potentially other bioactives (probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics). After the adoption of *in ovo* technology as a viable method of vaccine delivery, its relevance to other potential bioactives is being investigated. *In ovo* delivery of bacteriophages, electrolyte solution, glycerol, hormones, organic acid, peptide, silver nanoparticle, trace elements, amino acids, vitamins, carbohydrates, and plant extracts have all been reported in the literature (summarized in Table 2.1).

S/N	Bioactive substance	References
1	Bacteriophages	Wang et al., 2013
2	Electrolyte solution	McGruder et al., 2011
3	Glycerol	Dal Pont et al., 2019
4	Hormones	Coco et al., 1992
5	Organic acids	Krisnan et al., 2019
6	Peptides	Cuperus et al., 2018
7	Silver nanoparticle	Goel et al., 2017
8	Trace elements	Patric Joshua et al., 2016; Jasim and Al-Qaisy, 2019
9	Amino acids	Ohta and Kidd, 2001; Gao et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018; Groff-Urayama et al., 2019; Kop-Bozbay and Ocak, 2019; Omidi et al., 2020
10	Vitamins	Bello et al., 2013; El-Senousey et al., 2018 ; Nouri et al., 2018 ; Zhang et al., 2018; Hayakawa et al., 2019; Hussian et al., 2019
11	Carbohydrates	Tako et al., 2004; Zhai et al., 2011; Bhanja et al., 2015; Zamani et al., 2019; Slawinska et al., 2020
12	Plant extracts	Fazli et al., 2015; Morovat et al., 2016; Coskun et al., 2017; N'nanle et al., 2017

Table 2.1 A summary of *in ovo*-delivered bioactive substances (with the exception of vaccines, probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics).

Aside from stimulating favorable immunological responses in birds, *in ovo* technology could also be used to mitigate the perinatal (the period before and after hatch) nutritional deficiencies of the bird—often caused by a transition from embryonic yolk nutrition to exogenous feeding, long hatchery window (24–36 h), and time-consuming hatchery logistics (sorting, sexing, vaccinations, beak trimming, comb dubbing, and chick transport) (Noy and Uni, 2010). In addition, this technology offers the opportunity to stimulate the colonization of the embryonic gut with beneficial microbiome and also the development of the embryonic gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and gut-associated lymphoid tissue (Siwek et al., 2018). More recently, in ovo sexing, an application of this technology, has been proposed to solve an important animal welfare and ethics issue-the culling by maceration or suffocation of male chicks in commercial layer production. Male chicks are considered to have minimal commercial value because of their inability to lay eggs. In ovo sexing is carried out through several invasive and non-invasive methods. These include the use of specific DNA amplification techniques (polymerase chain reaction and quantitative polymerase chain reaction) (Hou et al., 2015; Clinton et al., 2016), hormone detection (Weissmann et al., 2013), odor analysis (Webster et al., 2015) and several spectroscopic analyses (Fioranelli et al., 2019). Knepper et al. (2019) recently secured patent for a noninvasive in ovo sexing system, involving the use of electromagnetic radiation transmitter and detectors.

Based on the modulatory effect of bioactive substances injected, the application of *in ovo* technology in poultry production can be broadly categorized into performance-enhancing substances, immunostimulants, and alternatives to AGPs (Figure 2.1). Although the application of *in ovo* technology as a strategy for early nutritional and immunomodulatory programming in poultry birds has been the subject of other reviews (Uni and Ferket, 2004; Noy and Uni, 2010; Kadam et al., 2013; Hou and Tako, 2018; Retes et al., 2018; Jha et al., 2019), here we reveal that alternatives to AGPs through several mechanisms ultimately fulfill both functions, leading to improved performance and welfare of the bird.



Figure 2.1 Applications of in ovo technology in the poultry industry.

In ovo technology was first applied to the delivery of immunostimulants (vaccines) to confer poultry immunity against economically important diseases including Marek's disease (MD), Coccidiosis, infectious bronchitis (IB) and so on. Subsequently, the technology was applied to the delivery of nutrients (carbohydrates, vitamins, amino acids, trace elements, growth hormones, etc) as an early feeding strategy that guarantees early growth start-off and improved bird performance. More recently, this technology has been applied to the delivery of alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters (probiotics, prebiotics, synbiotics, phytobiotics, and so on), to mitigate limitations such as heat inactivation of active ingredients and potential water quality risks associated with conventional delivery routes (in-feed and in-water). This technology thus has prospect to improve the efficacy of alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters.

2.5 Alternatives to Antibiotic Growth Promoters in Poultry

An effective replacement to AGP is expected to exhibit similar, if not superior growth-promoting effect as AGPs. Hence, understanding of AGPs' mode of action is crucial to characterizing an effective alternative. There is currently no consensus regarding AGP's mode of action in the literature, possibly due to our still-evolving knowledge of the chicken gastrointestinal tract (GIT) microbiome. AGPs have been theorized to act by interacting with immune cells to yield antiinflammatory response (Niewold, 2007; Yang et al., 2017), increasing nutrient absorption rate via thinning of the intestinal epithelium (Gaskins et al., 2002) and reducing the production of growthdepressing bacteria metabolites (Huyghebaert et al., 2011). Also, the advancement of molecular biological tools (as opposed to culture-dependent methods), alongside studies on gnotobiotic hosts reveals that AGPs influence chicken's intestinal microbiota diversity/balance (intestinal microbiota is defined as the totality of the microbial community of the chicken's gut (Cho et al., 2012; Sender et al., 2016). Consequently, an effective alternative to AGP has been characterized as bioactive substances with a well-defined mode of action, improves feed efficiency, maintain bird intestinal health, exhibit toxicity only to the pathogen and not the host and is easy to use (Collett, 2004; Cheng et al., 2014). As previously stated, a growing body of research work seeks to understand the efficacy of the in ovo delivery of these alternatives including probiotics, prebiotics, synbiotics, plant extracts, and so on. A summary of studies involving the in ovo delivery of alternatives to AGPs is presented in Table 2.2

S/N	Class of bioactive substance	Description and quantity	Site of injection	Time of injection	Results	References
1	Probiotics	3.1×10^9 cfu/50 µl of <i>L. animalis</i>	amnion	Dav 18	Differing mode of action exist between the two probiotics, no	Beck et al.
	11001001005	5.4×10^6 cfu/50µlof <i>E. faecium</i>		24910	negative effect on hatchability with both probiotics.	(2019)
2	Prebiotics	3.5 mg/embryo Galacto-oligosaccharide (GOS) 0.88 mg/embryo DN 1.9 mg/embryo Raffinose family oligosaccharide (RFO)	air cell	Day 12	All prebiotics increased feed intake and feed conversion ratio. RFO showed the highest improvement in performance traits.	Bednarczyk et al. (2016)
3	Prebiotics and synbiotics	Inulin (1.76 mg/embryo GOS (0.528 mg/ embryo synbiotic1- inulin + 1000 cfu <i>L. lactis</i> subsp. Lactis synbiotic 2-GOS + 1000 cfu <i>L. lactis</i> subsp. Cremoris	air chamber	Day 12	<i>in ovo</i> injection of the combination of L. lactis subsp. lactis IBB SL1 and inulin improved the growth, cecal SCFA profile and intestinal morphology of broiler chickens. However, the <i>in ovo</i> injection of prebiotic preparations did not produce the expected results	Mista et al. (2017)
4	Prebiotics and synbiotics	1.760 mg inulin 0.528 mg GOS 1.760 mg inulin and 1,000 cfu Lactococcus lactis spp. lactis 0.528 mg Bi2tos and 1,000 cfu Lactococcus lac- tis spp. cremoris IBB	air chamber	Day 12	No conclusive explanation as to the effect of prebiotics and synbiotics on quality parameters and microstructural features of pectoral muscles in broiler chickens	Dankowiako wska et al. (2019)
5	Probiotics - 7 different commerci al	15×10^9 cfu/egg- 32×10^9 cfu/egg	amniotic fluid	Day 17. 5	Performance of all chicks that received probiotic, independent of bacteria, was numerically superior to negative control	De Oliveira et al. (2014)

Table 2.2 A summary of research results on the in *ovo* delivery of alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in poultry.

12

probiotics

6	Silybum marianum (milk thistle)	100 and 200 mg/kg Silybum marianum extract	amniotic fluid	Day 17.5	Dietary feeding of <i>Silybum</i> <i>marianum</i> extract improved performance, immunity and carcass characteristics	Morovat et al. (2016)
7	Probiotics	Lactobacillus acidophilus, Bacillus subtilis, Bifidobacterium animalis (10 ³ - 10 ⁶ cfu)	amniotic sac	Day 18	<i>B. subtilis</i> negatively impacted almost all facets of hatchability in broiler breeder hatching eggs	Triplett et al. (2018)
8	Probiotics	1.4×10^7 cfu/egg- <i>Enterococcus faecium</i>	amniotic fluid	Day 18	<i>Enterococci</i> were recovered in high concentration in the yolk sac, caeca and intestinal samples from both 1-day-old and 7-day- old chickens	Skjøt- Rasmuss en et al. (2019)
9	Prebiotics and synbiotics	 1.9 mg RFO 1.9 mg RFO + 1,000 cfu of <i>Lactococcus</i> <i>lactis ssp. Lactis</i> 1.9 mg RFO + 1,000 cfu of Lactococcus lactis ssp. cremoris 1.9 mg RFO + 500 cfu of Streptococcus faecium 	air chamber	Day 12	Abdominal fat, ultimate pH, and cholesterol of the pectoral muscle were not affected by <i>in ovo</i> administration.	Maiorano et al. (2012)
10	Galactooli gosacchar ides (GOS)	3.5 mg GOS/egg	air chamber	Day 12	GOS increased overall growth performance, feed efficiency and improved Foot pad dermatitis score.	Slawinska et al. (2020)

11	Prebiotics and symbiotic s	 1.76 mg/egg inulin 0.528 mg/egg GOS 1.76 mg/egg inulin + 1000 cfu/egg <i>Lactococcus lactis subsp.</i> 0.528 mg/egg GOS + 1000 cfu/egg <i>Lactococcus lactis subsp., cremoris</i> <i>IBB477</i> 	air cell	Day 12	Of four bioactive compounds delivered <i>in ovo</i> , GOS proved to be the most potent one in the stimulation of the host– microbiome interactions. The strong bifidogenic effect of GOS triggered a strong down-regulation of immune-related genes and pathways in CT	Slawinska et al. (2016)
12	Prebiotics	3.5 mg/embryo (GOS), 0.88 mg/embryo DN (DiNovo)	air cell	Day 12	Final BW, breast muscle yield and fatty acid profile of broiler chickens was improved upon delivery of prebiotics.	Tavaniello et al. (2018)
13	methanoli c root bark extracts of the African Baobab tree	250 mg/ml extract	allantoic route	-	Methanolic root-bark extract of <i>A</i> . <i>digitata</i> had direct antiviral activity against ND virus	Sulaiman et al. (2011)
14	Moringa oleifera leaves extract	0.5 µg/ml/ - 50µg/ml	air chamber	Day 18	<i>In ovo</i> administration of 0.5 µg/ml moringa oleifera leaves extract at d 18 of incubation improves hatchability rate and day-old chicken weight	N'nanle et al. (2017)

15	Prebiotics	1.5-4.5 mg/ 0.2 mL of a commercial diluent of Raffinose family oligosaccharides (RFO)	14	Day 12	RFO delivered <i>in ovo</i> did not significantly improve growth performance and relative organ weight, but ileum mucosa morphology and immune response indicators in the small intestine was significantly improved.	Berrocoso et al. (2017)
16	Probiotics	10 ⁷ cfu concentration (B. subtilis, Pediococcus acidilactici, Enterococcus faecium)	amniotic fluid	Day 18	In ovo feeding of probiotic bacteria strains had a positive effect on ileal MUC2 gene expression in the late- term embryo and beneficiary microbial colonisation only during the first week post-hatch	Majidi- Mosleh et al. (2017)
17	Prebiotics	0.88 mg/egg (DINOVO)	air chamber	Day 12	Injection of DiNovo® prebiotic significantly influenced histomorphological parameters on day 21 of rearing without negatively affecting productivity in chickens at the end of rearing.	Sobolewska et al. (2017b)
18	Prebiotics and synbiotics	 1.76 mg of inulin 0.528 mg of Bi2tos 1.76 mg inulin + 1000 cfu <i>L. lactis subsp.</i> <i>Lactis</i> IBB 528 mg of Bi2tos + 1000 CFU of <i>L.</i> <i>lactis subsp. cremoris IBB.</i> 	air cell	Day 12	Prebiotics and synbiotic may temporarily modulate not only the production/maturation of leukocytes but also their reactivity.	Stefaniak et al. (2019)
19	Prebiotics	Bi2tos- 3.50 mg/embryo DiNovo -0.88 mg/embryo RFO- 1.90 mg /embryo	air cell	Day 12	Total tissue factor (TF) levels increased with age in all experimental groups with prebiotics.	Buzala et al. (2016)

air sac

15

			air cell			
20	Prebiotics and symbiotic s	 1.76 mg/egg inulin 0.528 mg/egg GOS 1.76 mg/egg inulin + 1000 cfu/egg <i>Lactococcus lactis subsp. Lactis</i> 0.528 mg/egg GOS +1000 cfu/egg <i>Lactococcus lactis subsp., cremoris</i> 	15	Day 12	GOS proved to be the most potent in the stimulation of the host microbiome interactions. The strong bifidogenic effect of GOS triggered a strong down-regulation of immune- related genes and pathways in cecal tonsils.	Slawinska et al. (2016)b
21	Synbiotic s	<i>L. salivarius</i> IBB3154 + Bi2tos <i>L. plantarum</i> IBB3036 + lupin RFO	air chamber	Day 12	<i>L. salivarius</i> IBB3154 has a potential for modulation of the GIT microbiota due to its adherence ability.	Aleksandrza- Piekarcz yk et al. (2019)
22	Probiotics	5×10^7 cfu/mL- DFM culture- two Bacillus amyloliq- uefaciens and one Bacillus subtilis	Amnion	Day 18	<i>Bacillus</i> -based probiotic can reduce the severity of virulent <i>E. coli</i> horizontal transmission and infection in broiler chickens.	Arreguin- Nava et al. (2019)
23	Probiotics	<i>Lactobacillus acidophilus</i> (1x10 ⁶ -1x10 ¹² cfu)	amnion	Day 18	<i>Lactobacillus acidophilus</i> at the dose of 1×10^6 significantly increased the concentration of probiotic bacteria <i>Lactobacillus spp.</i> and lowered the concentration of harmful microbes in the jejunal contents of broilers compared to other <i>in ovo</i> treated groups	Kanagaraju et al. (2019)
24	Probiotics	Bifidobacterium bifidum and Bifidobacterium longum (200 µl)	yolk sac	Day 17	A significant improvement in live body weight, body weight gain, feed conversion ratio, haematological parameters, and villi height was observed without negative effect on carcass traits, liver and renal function indication parameters.	El-Moneim et al. (2019)
----	------------	--	----------------	----------	---	-------------------------------
25	Probiotics	<i>Lactobacillus bacteria</i> $(1 \times 10^5 - 10^7 \text{ cfu})$	amniotic fluid	Day 18	<i>In ovo</i> inoculation of <i>lactobacilli</i> downregulated cytokine gene expression in the cecal tonsils, indicating the anti- inflammatory capacity of this bacteria in the intestine.	Alizadeh et al. (2020)
26	Probiotics	Lactobacillus salivarius (10 ⁹ cfu of/ 0.1 mL)	air cell	Day 17.5	In ovo probiotic supplementation caused a long-lasting benefit on jejunum morphology in terms of villus length.	Khaligh et al. (2018)
27	Probiotics	undefined cecal microbiota- $(5.0 \times 10^{7} / \text{ml})$ undefined cecal microbiota $(5.0 \times 10^{4} \text{ CFU} / \text{ml})$ <i>L. salivarius</i> culture $(1.5 \times 10^{7} \text{ cfu} / \text{ml})$	air chamber	Day 18	In ovo inoculation with Lactobacillus salivarius prevented liver infection in chicks by challenged with Salmonella Enteritidis.	Khaligh et al. (2018)
28	Prebiotics	GOS (3.5 mg/embryo)	air chamber	Day 12	GOS reduced the incidence of intestinal lesions and oocyst excretion in tropical Kuroiler chickens exposed to natural coccidiosis challenge.	Angwech et al. (2019)

29	Prebiotics	BI (3.5 mg/embryo) DN (0.88 mg/embryo)	air chamber	Day 12	Prebiotics were associated with significant improvements in a number of parameters, including, body weight, carcass yield, and breast muscle weight	Maiorano et al. (2017)
----	------------	---	-------------	--------	---	------------------------------

Abbreviations: BI, commercial trans-GOS; DN, a commercial extract of beta-glucans; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; MUC2, Mucin 2; SCFA, short-chain fatty acid.

2.5.1 Probiotics

Several definitions have been proposed for bioactive substances tagged "probiotics" in literature, but FAO/WHO (2001) proposition might be well-grounded. They define probiotics as "live microorganisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host", taking into cognizance a dose-effect. By inoculating an undefined anaerobically grown competitive exclusion (CE) culture obtained from adult chicken ceca into the air cell region of incubated eggs on day 17, Cox et al. (1992) was the first study to establish the immunomodulatory effect of in ovo administered probiotics. Inoculated chicks exhibited better resistance to Salmonella typhimurium challenge compared to uninoculated ones in their study. While Greenberg (1969) was the first to utilize the CE concept to depict the exclusion of Salmonella typhimurium by specific bacterium species in maggots. Nurmi and Rantala (1973) extended its use to avian species. CE (also referred to as Nurmi concept) was considered as causing the resistance to Salmonella seen in birds orally administered with adult chickens' intestinal bacteria population. As opposed to the prevailing belief, it is now evident that the avian embryonic GIT is not sterile at hatch (Deeming, 2005; Pedroso, 2009; Bogucka et al., 2016), the perinatal period (the period before and after hatch) therefore presents a window of opportunity not only to colonize the avian GIT microbiome with beneficial microbes but to also prevent pathogenic microbial colonies by CE. This is the opportunity the poultry industry needs to harness by delivering alternatives to AGPs through the in ovo route.

There are over 57 strains of probiotics available for use in animal nutrition (Bajagai et al., 2016). By utilizing dosage, hatchability, and biometric results (chick length and relative asymmetry) obtained from their study, De Oliveira et al. (2014) were able to select out *E. faecium* and *B. subtilis* from 7 other commercial probiotic products *in ovo* delivered to the amniotic fluid on day 17.5 of embryonic development. These selected probiotics had the highest number (P<0.05) of recovered bacteria both in the gizzard and ceca at 48 hours post-hatch; further validating their selection. *In ovo* delivery of these probiotics had no effect on hatchability. Bearing in mind that the jeopardization of hatchability is one of the factors impairing the commercialization of this technology for delivery of bioactives. *E. faecium* and *B. subtilis* from De Oliveira et al. (2014) study had no effect on hatchability rate, though B. subtilis had numerically higher hatch percentage (96.11 vs. 81.67%). *B. subtilis* was thus suggested to offer better CE benefits (De Oliveira et al., 2014). Similarly, Majidi-Mosleh et al. (2017) observed no significant effect of *in ovo* delivery of *Pediococcus acidilactic, E. faecium* and *B. subtilis* (all at

 10^7 CFU) on hatchability. Despite *in ovo* injection, the hatchability (%) obtained from their study (95-98.5%) was similar to what is obtainable in commercial hatcheries. These amnion-delivered probiotics, especially *B. subtilis*, increased expression of the intestinal MUC2 (Mucin 2) gene at day 21 of incubation and at day 3 post-hatch. On day 3 after hatch, probiotics were reported to increase the intestinal population of lactic acid bacteria, while decreasing *Eschericha coli* population in the same study. They reported no effect of probiotic inoculation on bird immune response. Contrary to previously cited studies, Triplett et al. (2018) found that *B. subtilis* ($10^3 - 10^6$ CFU/50 µl diluent) injected (using commercial inovoject system) to the amnion sac on day 18 negatively affected hatchability, which was attributed to the energy-sapping sporulating activities of the *B. subtilis* specie. Indeed, additional research that takes into cognizance all likely factors influencing the efficacy of *in ovo* delivery is needed to rationalize this occurrence.

Using the same commercial inovoject system, Beck et al. (2019) successfully inoculated *Lactobacillus animalis* and *E. faecium* combinations into the amnion at day 18 of incubation with no negative effect on hatchability, suggesting that other factors (including probiotic strain, volume, and dosage) other than injection method can potentially affect hatchability. In addition, probiotic treatments in the study of Beck et al. (2019) yielded higher feed conversion ratios and intestinal (jejunum and ileum) weights on day 14 after hatch. Skjøt-Rasmussen et al. (2019) have recently validated the viability of *E. faecium* (M74) strain for probiotic injection on day 18 via the amniotic fluid, as both visual examination of colonies and DNA genotypic fingerprinting (PFGE) revealed high recovery of enterococci in the yolk sac, caecal tonsils, and the rest of the intestinal tract. El-Moneim et al. (2019) just recently utilized a novel delivery route- the yolk sac route- to deliver *Bifidobacterium bifidum* ATC 29521 and *Bifidobacterium longum* ATTC 15707 (1 × 10⁷ - 5 × 10⁹ CFU), achieving a 100% hatchability rate. The *in ovo* delivered *bifidobacteria* strains significantly improved overall bird performance as evidenced by increased live body weight, body weight gain, and feed conversion ratio and villus height.

The immunomodulatory effect of probiotics has also been affirmed by Andreatt-Filho et al. (2006), the inoculation of *Lacillus salivarius* (1.5×10^7 CFU / ml) through the air chamber at day 18 (of incubation) prevented *Salmonella enterica* infection in the liver of broiler chickens challenged with *S. enterica sorovar Enteritidis*. Conversely, Yamawaki et al. (2013) showed that *Salmonella Enteritidis* infection could not be prevented by the *in ovo* inoculation of *Lactobacillus spp. (Lactobacillus acidophilus, L. fermentum*, and *L. salivarius*) through the air cell at embryonic day 18. Yamawaki et al. (2013) harvested bird ceca samples 5 days after hatch to confirm the

incidence of Salmonella enteritidis infection, while liver and cecum samples were harvested 5 days after the challenge (7 days after hatch) by Andreatti Filho et al. (2006), implying that time and other factors may play a role in competitive exclusion. Indeed, more studies are needed to further expound on the CE concept. Recently, Arreguin-Nava et al. (2019), showed that the *in ovo* delivery of vegetative *Bacillus spp*. strains (contained in Norum) reduced the severity of virulent *E. coli* cross-infection in broiler chickens in their study. This was further evidenced by metagenomic analysis (beta diversity) revealing a favorable microbial balance. Using molecular tools, Alizadeh et al. (2020) also reported the anti-inflammatory capacity of *in ovo* delivered *Lactobacillus spp*., which downregulated cytokine gene expression in the cecal tonsils.

Overall, only organisms validated by *in vitro* analysis to be non-pathogenic to future host and tolerant to acidity should be considered for *in ovo* delivery (Bajagai et al., 2016). While it is recognized that *in ovo* delivered probiotics operate through some sort of CE mechanism, it is yet to be fully known if specie-specific mode of action does exist. The performance and immunomodulatory effect of probiotics might need to be considered on a case-by-case basis.

2.5.2 Prebiotics

Since Gibson and Roberfroid (1995) proposed the "prebiotic" concept, several definitions have been in use. Most definitions limit prebiotics to a few carbohydrate compounds. The International Scientific Association of Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) has recently offered a more encompassing definition of prebiotics as "a selectively fermented ingredient that results in specific changes in the composition and/or activity of the gastrointestinal microbiota, thus conferring benefit(s) upon host health" (Scott et al., 2016). A bioactive substance will qualify as a prebiotic if it exhibits high substrate fermentability to yield a beneficial gut microbiota, while also displaying high resistance to gut acidity and hydrolysis (Gibson and Fuller, 2000; Roberfroid, 2007). Examples of prebiotics utilized in the poultry industry include Fructans (inulin and fructooligosaccharides (FOS)), galactooligosaccharides (GOS), mannanoligosachharides (MOS), arabinoxylan oligosaccharides and raffinose family oligosaccharides (RFOs) (Ducatelle et al., 2014; Adhikari and Kim, 2017). Prebiotics are known to stimulate a healthy gut microflora in birds, hence their utilization in the poultry industry. Delivering such beneficial bioactives early enough is expected to yield performance-enhancing outcomes. These effects are reflected in literature.

After dose optimization and inoculation of RFO, DN (a commercial extract of beta-

glucans) and BI (commercial trans-GOS) into embryonic air cell at day 12, Bednarczyk et al. (2016) observed RFO (1.9 mg/embryo) to have the best effect on bird feed intake and feed conversion ratio. This study included an in-water delivery comparison, which result was not different from *in ovo* delivery. Contrarily, Miśta et al. (2017) observed that the *in ovo* delivery of inulin (1.76 mg/embryo) and Bi2tos (commercial trans-GOS; 0.528 mg/embryo) did not yield positive performance effect (body weight gain, saturated fatty acid concentration and intestinal morphology) over a 35-day trial period. On a large scale (using 25,000 chickens), Sobolewska (2017b) substantiated the positive effect of prebiotic DiNOVO (BioAtlantis Ltd., Bioatlantis Ltd., Tralee, Co., Kerry, Ireland; an extract of Laminaria spp. containing laminarin and fucoidan). Intestinal morphological parameters (duodenal villi width and crypt depth) were positively improved, suggesting improved intestinal secretion and absorption rates. Similar performance enhancing effect was confirmed by Maiorano et al. (2017) under field conditions, birds inoculated with prebiotics DiNOVO and Bi2tos expressed a significant increase in body weight, carcass weight, carcass yield, and breast muscle weight compared to controls in their study.

The immunomodulatory effect of prebiotics has also been confirmed by Angwech et al. (2019) who observed that Bi2tos (3.5 mg/embryo) reduced the incidence of intestinal lesions and oocyst excretion in tropical Kuroiler chickens exposed to natural Coccidiosis challenge. It has also been recently shown that *in ovo* -delivered GOS (3.5 mg GOS/egg) had a tendency to cushion heat-triggered growth reduction in heat- challenge broilers (Slawinska et al., 2020).

It is inferable that prebiotics executes these beneficial effects through both direct and indirect mechanisms. A direct mechanism will be by direct interaction with epithelial and immune cells of the GIT, followed by partial absorption into the intestine (Seifert and Watzl, 2007). A reduction of intestinal pH and harvest of energy derived from short-chain fatty acid fermentation are equally associated with this direct mechanism (Dankowiakowska et al., 2019). An indirect mechanism of stimulating the growth of beneficial gut microbiota is such that the *in ovo* technology offers scope to better accomplish; it is based on the evidence of the non-sterility of the avian embryo. Hence, prebiotics delivered early enough can help stimulate a healthy gut microbiome (Dankowiakowska et al., 2019). Practically, only prebiotics with high solubility (to aid easy diffusion into the embryo GIT) should be considered for *in ovo* delivery, at dosage that does not compromise hatchability (Bednarczyk et al., 2016).

2.5.3 Synbiotics

Synbiotics are defined as bioactives comprising an admixture of probiotics and prebiotics acting synergistically to improve host's gut health (Huyghebaert et al., 2011). The application of synbiotics is based on the concept that their use stimulates the growth and/or metabolism of microbial colonies in the GIT. It has been hypothesized that the use of synbiotics is more effective than probiotics or prebiotics alone (Dankowiakowska et al., 2019). Results on in vivo evaluation of in ovo delivered synbiotics in literature are encouraging; however, more studies are needed to substantiate these results. Mista et al. (2017) observed that the *in ovo* delivery of synbiotics (inulin + lactis subsp. lactis IBB SL1; BI + Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris IBB SC1) improved bird performance over a 35-day trial. This was evident by increased body weight, cecal short-chain fatty acid profile and jejunal villus length: crypt depth ratio. Conversely, Maiorano et al. (2012) have previously reported low impact of in ovo delivery of synbiotics (S1-1.9 mg of RFO + 1,000 CFU of Lactococcus lactis ssp. lactis SL1, S2-1.9 mg of RFO + 1,000 CFU of Lactococcus lactis ssp. cremoris IBB SC1, S3-Duolac + 500 cfu of Lactobacillus acidophilus + 500 CFU of Streptococcus faecium + lactose (0.001 mg/embryo)). While only synbiotic (S3) reduced carcass yield percentage, all other synbiotics had no effect on abdominal fat, ultimate pH, and pectoral muscle cholesterol in their study. Dunislawska et al. (2017) shed light on synbiotics mode of action in their study involving the in ovo delivery of synbiotics (S1)-Lacillus salivarius with GOS-and S2 Lactob - Lactobacillus plantarum with RFO. Both synbiotics recorded a different gene expression pattern of immune-related genes. The different probiotic components of the synbiotics were considered a cause of this effect. S1 was referred to as synergistic to inoculated probiotic, while S2 was thought to be more synergistic to host GIT; this is expected to influence their affinity to membrane receptors and ultimately the response they trigger in host cells. This trend was further confirmed by Sobolewska et al (2017) where a synergy existed between L. salivarius IBB3154 and Bi2tos (Clasado Ltd. Reading, United Kingdom) while L. plantarum IBB3036 + lupin RFOs was more synergistic to the host. Bogucka et al. (2016) also showed the differential effects of two synbiotics on bird intestinal morphology. While inulin + Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis IBB SL1 increased jejunum villi length on posthatch day 1 and 4, Bi2tos + Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris IBB SC1 caused a reduction in the height of villi on both days. This result emphasizes the peculiarities associated with different synbiotics and the need to optimize by in vitro analysis, hatchability, and microbiological screening before in ovo delivery. Recently, Dankowiakowska et al. (2019) found birds inoculated with synbiotics (1.760 mg inulin and 1,000 CFU Lactococcus

lactis spp. lactis IBB SL1) had higher body weight relative to prebiotic (0.760 mg inulin, 0.528 mg Bi2tos) and control birds. No negative effect on hatchability (89-98%) was recorded in their study. Considering the variability in results that exist in the literature, it is practically recommended to utilize *in vitro* assays and quantitative prebiotic parameters (prebiotic index and prebiotic activity score) to select best probiotic-substrate combinations (Figueroa-González et al., 2019).

2.5.4 Essential oils

Essential oils are a mix of volatile and aromatic compounds extracted from plant parts (including the seeds, flowers, leaves, buds, twigs, herbs, bark, wood, fruits, and roots) by distillation (Brenes and Roura, 2010). These admixtures of compounds are highly variable in their chemical composition and concentrations. For instance, thyme EO contains thymol and carvacrol (3-60%) as the active component, cinnamon EO contains cinnamaldehyde (60-75%), and oregano oil contains carvacrol (>85%) (Lawrence and Reynolds, 1984; Ultee et al., 1999; Duke et al., 2002). These active components confer EO its bioactive properties that include antioxidative, antiinflammatory, anti-fungal, antimicrobial, hypocholesterolemic, digestibility-enhancing and gut health-promoting activities (Brenes and Roura, 2010; Gopi et al., 2014; Stevanović et al., 2018). The antibacterial activity of EO is thought to be exerted by membrane perforation or binding principle, which causes distortion of bacteria enzyme systems (Farag et al., 1989a; b). There are about 300 commercially available EO (Brenes and Roura, 2010). Emerging studies suggest that maximum benefits may be derived from blends of EOs and other compounds via synergism rather than using individual EO (Mitsch et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2018a). Results on in vivo evaluation of dietary supplemented EO in the literature have been variable (Basmacioğlu et al., 2004; Khattak et al., 2014; Kirkpinar et al., 2014; Peng et al., 2016).

With regards to *in ovo* delivery of EO, available studies are limited. Toosi et al., (2016) reported that the *in ovo* delivery of a blend of essential oils and organic acids had no effect on hatchability. However, *in ovo* delivery of this blend increased humoral immune responses. Similarly, the *in ovo* delivery of clove extract at embryonic day 10 improved chick's hatch and post-hatch performance (El-Kholy et al., 2021). The bird's immune status (IgG) and antioxidant status (Superoxide dismutases activity) were also improved by the *in ovo* delivery of clove extract (El-Kholy et al., 2021). Successive delivery of nano-encapsulated thyme oil via *in ovo* + in-feed routes has also been reported to increase initial chick body weight, as well as final bodyweight

and bodyweight gain at 6 wks. (Yaseen et al., 2022). Additionally, by using three rosemary extract dosages (0.05-0.1 ml), Sulaiman and Tayeb, (2021) were able to report that the highest dosage (0.1ml) recorded a positive effect on hatchability, growth performance, immunity, and blood cholesterol levels. Given the paucity of studies in this regard, more studies are thus needed to standardize guidelines regarding the *in ovo* delivery of EO.

2.5.5 Folic acid

Folic acid, or Pteroylglutamic acid, is a water-soluble B vitamin (Naderi and House, 2018). Compounds in this vitamin (B9) group are generally referred to as folates. Exogenous uptake of folic acid is necessary because humans and livestock lack the enzymes to synthesize folate de novo (Kennedy, 2016). Folate distribution and metabolism take place in the cytosol and mitochondria (Wagner, 1995). Folates also play important roles as cofactor or cosubstrate for several physiological reactions and processes, including nucleic acid synthesis and methionine regeneration (Kennedy, 2016; El-Husseiny et al., 2018). Oilseed meals like soybean meal are important sources of folic acid in animal diets (Perloff and Butrum, 1977). In poultry, factors such as strain, age, production phase, management guidelines and environmental conditions affect folic acid requirement (Terčič and Pestotnik, 2014). Deficiencies of folic acid in poultry include decreased growth performance, bone abnormalities, and oxidative stress (McDowell, 1989; Huang et al., 2001; Hebert et al., 2005). While the results of dietary supplementation of folic acid on animal performance and health are promising, they have been inconsistent. Terčič (2014) reported that a 4-weeks supplementation of 50 mg/kg FA to layer breeders improved hatchability and chick body weight. Similarly, dietary supplementation of 1-2 mg/kg folic breeders increased hatched chick weight and post-hatch performance (Barroeta et al., 2012). Conversely, the supplementation of 5-15 mg/kg folic acid to layer hens for six weeks caused a reduction in feed conversion ratio and egg weight (Bagheri et al., 2019). Jadavji et al. (2015) also reported no effect of as much as 8 mg/kg folic acid dietary supplementation on egg parameters in quail. Gouda et al. (2020) also highlighted the potential of folic acid to mitigate heat stress, as folic acid supplementation increased total antioxidant capacity and the concentration of antioxidant enzymes in their study.

Aside from the paucity of studies involving the *in ovo* delivery of FA, conflicting results on the effect of FA on broiler chicken performance exist in the literature. For instance, varying doses of *in ovo* delivered FA have been reported to improve hatchability in poultry. Li et al. (2016) reported that 100 and 150 μ g folic acid injected on embryonic day 11 improved hatchability. Conversely, Hussian et al. (2019) reported that lower levels of folic acid (10 and 20 μ g) could improve hatchability and quality of hatched chicks from Chinese white duck eggs. Ismail et al. (2019) injected a combination of amino acid and folic acid (6 μ g amino acid+150 μ g folic acid) on 14th day of incubation and recorded that both treatments improved the hatchability of fertile eggs and subsequent post-hatch growth performance (d1-28). On the other hand, Nouri et al. (2018) reported no effect on hatchability when folic acid (40 -120 μ g) was injected into broiler chicken hatching eggs on day 14 of incubation. Notwithstanding, blood biochemistry parameters (blood glucose, phosphorus, calcium, triglycerides, and cholesterol) were all positively modified by folic acid in their study. Despite the reported potential of folic acid to improve poultry performance, interestingly, they are yet to be researched in the context of an alternative to antibiotics.

2.5.6 Other Bioactive Substances

Research on the in ovo delivery of other alternatives to AGPs in poultry is relatively scarce. A lot more alternatives to AGPs are currently being researched through dietary means (reviewed by Gadde et al., 2017). The trend is still developing with respect to *in ovo* technology. With regards to in ovo technology, Goel et al. (2017) validated the in ovo delivery of silver nanoparticles at embryonic day 18 through the air cell; this time does not negatively impart hatchability compared to inoculation at embryonic day 7. The immunological properties of silver nanoparticles were also confirmed in their study, silver nanoparticle- 12.5 µg/egg enhanced cellular immune response while concentrations above 25 and 50 µg/egg improved humoral and adaptive immunity in broilers. Salahi et al. (2011) also reported the performance-enhancing effect of in ovo -delivered butyric acid; chick length (at hatch), body weight (10 days after hatch), feed conversion ratio (10 days after hatch) and intestinal morphology were all improved by the inoculation of 1ml (28-32%) butyric acid) in broiler chickens. Salmanzadeh et al. (2015) similarly observed an improvement in intestinal morphology which translated to improved body weight and feed conversion ratio, both at day 21 and 42 post-hatch in turkey eggs inoculated with butyric acid through the yolk sac on day 7. On the contrary, Morovat (2016) observed that dietary and not in ovo delivery of Silybum marianum extract (from the milk thistle known for its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties) resulted in improved performance, immunity, and carcass characteristics. In ovo delivery of this plant extract into the amniotic fluid at embryonic day 17.5, had no effect on

hatchability (range-84-86%). Overall, considering the large array of bioactive plants that abound, the possibility of finding effective potential phytobiotics that can be delivered *in ovo* is high.

2.6 Optimal Time Points for *In ovo* Delivery of Bioactive Substances

The efficacy of *in ovo* injection is affected by a host of factors, among which are time of injection, site of injection, dosage of bioactives, hatchery hygiene and so on (Bednarczyk et al., 2016). With reference to time, two optimal time points that ensure effective delivery of bioactive substances into the developing embryo are described in literature. These time points coincide with the type of bioactive substance to be delivered. Both Villaluenga et al. (2004) and Bednarczyk et al. (2016) have validated embryonic day 12 as the appropriate time for delivering prebiotics and synbiotics *in ovo*. The optimal site of inoculation for these bioactives is the air cell because the injected bioactive substance can easily flow from the air cell into the embryonic GIT located in the highly vascularized chorioallantoic membrane at this time. This injection technique is expected to lead to the stimulation of beneficial microflora in the embryo GIT and has been confirmed by an increased presence of bifidobacteria by Villaluenga et al. (2004) and Tako et al. (2014). Gulewicz and Bednarczyk (2008) hold the patent for this technique, which has been termed *in ovo* stimulation.

The success of this procedure is well documented in literature, with no negative effect on hatchability reported (Pilarski et al., 2005; Bednarczyk et al., 2011, 2016; Maiorano et al., 2012). The other time point is at embryonic day 17 or 18, which is appropriate for probiotic inoculation through the amnion. It is referred to as *in ovo* feeding and has been patented by Uni and Ferket (2003). Bioactive substances are to be delivered into the amnion before day 19, which is when the embryo consumes the amniotic fluid. This procedure is also well validated in literature (De Oliveira et al., 2014; Majidi-Mosleh et al., 2017; Beck et al., 2019). These time points are consistent with the dynamic physiology of the developing embryo. Considering that the chick embryo is completely developed at day 17/18 of egg incubation and will rely on yolk nutrition till hatch, *in ovo* feeding and egg transfer from the incubator setter to the hatcher) in the hatchery, making it convenient for hatchery operators (Siwek et al., 2018). On the other hand, day 12 would be an ideal time to stimulate the still-developing embryonic GIT with native microbiota, to ensure optimal microbiome and ultimately desirable phenotypes throughout life (Siwek et al., 2018).

In ovo stimulation and *in ovo* feeding both represent 2 unique approaches to *in ovo* technology in poultry production. The differences between the 2 approaches are evident in procedures, biological mechanisms, and technical requirements (Siwek et al., 2018). While *in ovo* stimulation aims to induce the growth of native microflora in the embryonic gut via prebiotics or synbiotics metabolism, *in ovo* feeding is majorly a strategic nutritional intervention (as highlighted previously) (Siwek et al., 2018). *In ovo* delivered probiotics are also capable of acting as pioneer colonizers which influence the gut microbiota by altering the gut environment (Pedroso et al., 2016). The difference in sites of injection between both approaches is related to the changing size and structure of the egg at the different time points (Siwek et al., 2018). Technically, both approaches might require modifications to hatchery operations, especially under commercial settings. As stated previously, day 18 of incubation accommodates several hatchery operations, including Marek's vaccination. Nonetheless, the practicality of combining *in ovo* vaccination and *in ovo* feeding at this time point is yet to be known (Teague et al., 2017). Hence, injector systems that uses the air cell on day 12 of egg incubation are needed to ensure easy adoption of this technology.

In ovo delivery of bioactive substances can also be manual or automatic, depending on the number of eggs to be injected, the manual method could be susceptible to human error. The successful adoption and commercialization of the *in ovo* vaccination system largely depends on the automation of injector systems. The success of the *in ovo* delivery of other bioactive substances is likely to depend on the same. Two main types of automated injection systems exist, and they include the automated multiple-head injector system (MIS) and the semi-automated injector system (Schijns et al., 2014). MIS improves the ease and efficiency of *in ovo* delivery while also saving time and labor. Newer models are self-sterilizing and only selectively inoculate viable embryos, hence reducing the risks of pathogenic contamination and vaccine wastage. By using MIS, as much as 35,000–70,000 eggs per hour can be injected by 2 persons (Schijns et al., 2014). Despite these benefits, they come at a great financial cost. The semiautomated machines are more affordable for smaller hatcheries. They are capable of inoculating about 12,000–20,000 eggs (Schijns et al., 2014). In any case, it is practically expedient that the appropriate dose of bioactive substances to be injected be optimized by microbiological and hatchability screening before inoculation.

2.7 Conclusion and Applications

1. This review details a recently emerging niche of *in ovo* application in the poultry industry. Literature reveals that the *in ovo* delivery of bioactive substances eligible as an alternative to AGPs (probiotics, prebiotics, synbiotics, phytobiotics, organic acids etc.) show a promising effect on bird performance and health (Table 2.2).

2. The *in ovo* technology overcomes several challenges associated with in-water and in-feed delivery of alternatives to AGP. These challenges include nutrient inactivation due to heat treatment of feedstuff and potential water quality risks. With the utilization of *in ovo* technology, alternatives to AGP can be delivered to the developing embryo to stimulate a healthy gut microbiome early on.

3. More well-designed studies that include antibiotic positive control are needed to substantiate the efficacy of *in ovo* -delivered bioactive substances replacing AGP. It is still unclear if the positive effects observed for alternatives to AGPs persist throughout a bird's life, trials of long duration are needed to confirm this.

4. The list of bioactive substances that qualify as alternatives to AGP is no way exhaustive, it is probable that the *in ovo* delivery of novel alternatives particularly phytobiotics would be actively researched on in the coming years. *In ovo* technology has great potential to help bring an end to the use of AGP in the poultry industry.

3 CHAPTER 3 PROBIOTICS DELIVERY ROUTES 1

BACILLUS SUBTILIS DELIVERY ROUTE: EFFECT ON GROWTH PERFORMANCE, INTESTINAL MORPHOLOGY, CECAL SHORT-CHAIN FATTY ACID CONCENTRATION AND CECAL MICROBIOTA IN BROILER CHICKENS

This work has been published and presented elsewhere:

- Oladokun, S., Koehler, A., MacIsaac, J., Ibeagha-Awemu, E. M., and Adewole, D. I. 2021. *Bacillus subtilis* delivery route: Effect on growth performance, intestinal morphology, cecal short-chain fatty acid concentration, and cecal microbiota in broiler chickens. Poultry science, 1003:100809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.10.063</u>
- Oladokun, S., Koehler, A., MacIsaac, J., and Adewole, D.I. 2020. "Does *In ovo* delivery of probiotics affect hatch and growth performance, and intestinal functionality in broiler chickens?" Animal Nutrition Conference of Canada (ANCC), May 26 –June 11, 2020.

3.1 Abstract

As the poultry industry recedes from the use of antibiotic growth promoters, the need to evaluate the efficacy of possible alternatives, and the delivery method that maximizes their effectiveness arises. This study aimed at expounding knowledge on the effect of the delivery method of a probiotic product (Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract) on performance and gut parameters in broiler chickens. A total of 450 fertile eggs sourced from Cobb 500 broiler breeders were randomly allotted to 3 groups: in ovo probiotic (n = 66), in ovo saline (n = 66), and noninjection (n = 200) and incubated for 21 days. On day 18.5 of incubation, 200 µl of either probiotic (10 X 10⁶ CFU) or saline was injected into the amnion. At hatch, chicks were reallotted to 6 new treatment groups: in ovo probiotic, in ovo saline, in-feed antibiotics, in-water probiotic, in-feed probiotic, and control (CTRL; Corn-wheat-soybean diet) in 6 replicate cages and raised for 28 days. Of all hatch parameters evaluated, only percentage pipped eggs were found significant (P <0.05) with the non-injection group having higher percentage pipped eggs than the other groups. Treatments did not affect the incidence of necrotic enteritis on day 28 (P > 0.05). Irrespective of the delivery method, the probiotic treatments had no significant effect on growth performance. The ileum villus width of the in ovo probiotic treatment was 18% higher than the in ovo saline group (P = 0.05), but not statistically higher than other groups. The jejunum villus height was 23% higher (P = 0.000) in the *in ovo* probiotic group than the control group. There was no effect of treatment on total cecal short-chain fatty acid concentration and cecal gut microbiota

composition and diversity (P > 0.05), although few unique bacteria differential abundance were recorded per treatment. Conclusively, although probiotic treatments (irrespective of delivery route) did not affect growth performance, *in ovo* delivery of the probiotic product enhanced intestinal morphology, without compromising hatch performance and gut homeostasis.

3.2 Introduction

Antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) have been used sub-therapeutically to improve bird performance and health in the poultry industry for almost 8 decades (Fallis, 2013; Gadde et al., 2017). This trend is now receiving strong criticism as a result of concerns of antimicrobial resistance, antibiotic residues, and food safety hazards (Muaz et al., 2018; Wales et al., 2019). In the light of the foregoing, the poultry industry is thus faced with the challenge of developing urgent alternatives to AGPs, potent against economically important poultry diseases like Necrotic enteritis (NE), Colibacillosis, Salmonellosis, and so forth.

Probiotics are one of such alternatives being experimented. Probiotics are defined as "live microorganisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host" (FAO/WHO, 2001). These organisms help to improve bird performance by modulating a favorable gut microflora in the host (Mountzouris et al., 2009; Cao et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2014), improving feed conversion and digestive efficiency (Jin et al., 2000; Afsharmanesh and Sadaghi, 2014; Zhang and Kim, 2014), and producing antimicrobial substances (Fayol-Messaoudi et al., 2005; Corr et al., 2007), and several other benefits. Probiotics can achieve these positive effects because they successfully colonize the gastrointestinal (GIT) tract of the host (Lan et al., 2003). Examples of probiotics bacteria in current use in broiler chicken production include *Enterococcus, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Bifidobacterium,* and *Bacillus species (*Patterson and Burkholder, 2003).

Several probiotics delivery routes exist, but conventional in-feed supplementation is the most commonly used. Other possible delivery routes include in-water supplementation, spray method, litter delivery, and more recently, *in ovo* delivery. The efficacy of probiotics has been inconsistent in the literature because of several limitations that characterize these delivery routes (Applegate et al., 2010; Ajuwon, 2016). During heat treatment, in-feed probiotics could be subjected to potential heat inactivation and instability (Ducatelle et al., 2014). In-water probiotics delivery will depend on the precision of chick watering devices, whilst also posing potential water quality risks. *In ovo* technology which involves the direct inoculation of bioactive substances to

the developing embryo to elicit superior lifelong effects (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020), offers the opportunity to address some of these identified limitations. In additionally, with *in ovo* technology, lesser quantities of bioactive substance are reported to be needed than in conventional delivery routes (Bednarczyk et al., 2016; Tavaniello et al., 2018). Furthermore, *in ovo* technology has been proffered as a solution to the perinatal nutritional stresses associated with a shift from yolk feeding to exogenous feeding, long hatchery window (24–36 h), and time-consuming hatchery activities that chicks often encounter (Noy and Uni, 2010). This technology has also been shown to be useful to stimulate the colonization of the embryonic gut with beneficial microbiota, amongst other potential advantages (reviewed by Oladokun and Adewole, 2020).

This study, therefore, sought to evaluate the effect of delivery route (in-water vs. in-feed vs. *in ovo*) of a probiotics product (*Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract) on growth performance, intestinal morphology, cecal short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) concentration, and cecal microbiota in broiler chickens.

3.3 Material and Methods

The experiment was carried out at the hatchery facility of the Agricultural Campus of Dalhousie University and the broiler rearing facility of the Atlantic Poultry Research Center, Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture. All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Dalhousie University, in accordance with guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC, 2009).

3.3.1 Eggs and Incubation

A total of 450 fertile eggs (Cobb 500) with average weight 64 ± 0.2 g (mean \pm standard error) were sourced from a commercial breeder flock in Nova Scotia and incubated in a ChickMaster single-stage incubator (ChickMaster G09, Cresskill, NJ) under standard conditions (37.5°C and 55% RH) for 21 days, in the aforementioned hatchery facility. Eggs were arranged in 6 replicate trays inside the incubator, each tray containing 75 eggs. The eggs were candled on day 17 and infertile eggs were disposed of. On day 18.5 of incubation, eggs were randomly allotted to 3 experimental groups: the *in ovo* probiotic group (66 eggs) injected with 200 µl of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (Strain - *Bacillus subtilis* 10SI) (each egg received 10 X 10⁶ colony forming units- CFU of the bacterium/200 µl saline diluent), *in ovo* saline group injected with 200 µl of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) (66 eggs) and the control group – non-injected (200 eggs). Eggs

were placed in a single incubator in such a way that all treatment groups were evenly distributed across all the trays. The probiotic solution was prepared for 100 eggs by dissolving 0.1g of the *Bacillus subtilis* product into 20 mL of 0.9% saline. The *Bacillus subtilis* product was obtained from a commercial source (Probiotech International, St. Hyacinth, QC, Canada) at a concentration of 10 X 10^9 CFU/g.

3.3.2 Injection Procedure

Eggs were injected according to the procedure described by Tako et al. (2004) with some modifications. The amnion was the site of injection. Eggs were disinfected by swabbing the blunt ends with cotton balls soaked in 70% ethanol, a small hole was then punched into the shell at the center of the air-cell (the blunt end) using an 18-gauge needle. The injected bioactive substance was delivered to the amnion of each egg using a self-refiling injector (Socorex ultra-1810.2.05005, Ecublens, Switzerland) equipped with a 22-gauge needle at a 45-degree angle. After *in ovo* injection, eggs were sealed with sterile paraffin. However, *in ovo* delivery of bioactive substances could be manual or automated, with the automated method capable of inoculating as much as 35,000–70,000 eggs per hour (depending on the type) (Schijns et al., 2014), the manual method was employed in the current study only to confirm the efficacy of our inoculated bioactive substance under experimental conditions. In any case, the *in ovo* technology has been reported to offer several advantages over conventional delivery routes (recently reviewed by Oladokun and Adewole, (2020)).

3.3.3 Bird Rearing Conditions and Diets

On day 21, unhatched eggs were counted and opened to check for the cause of embryo death. As presented in Figure 3.1, hatchlings were weighed and randomly re-allotted to 6 new treatment groups. Birds in the initial non-injection group were randomly allocated into four groups (there were 42 birds per group) consisting of (1) chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat based diet (CTRL); (2) chicks fed CTRL + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (in-feed antibiotics); (3) chicks fed CTRL + *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract at a concentration of 0.025 g/L of drinking water (in-water probiotic containing 2.5 x 10⁸ CFU of *Bacillus subtilis*/L of drinking water); and (4) chicks fed 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (in-feed probiotic containing 5 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed). The initial *in ovo* saline and *in ovo* probiotic groups were placed on the control diet to form treatments 5 (*in ovo* saline treatment with 42 birds) and 6 (*in ovo* probiotic treatment with 42 birds), respectively, and raised in the previously mentioned broiler-rearing facility. Birds were allocated to 36 cages with 6 replicate cages of each treatment,

comprising 7 birds per cage. Each cage was 0.93 m x 2.14 m in dimension. Broiler chickens were reared for 28 days under uniform controlled environmental conditions in line with recommendations of Cobb Broiler Management Guide (Cobb-Vantress, 2020). Room temperature was set at 31°C on day 0 and gradually reduced to 23°C on d 28 and relative humidity ranged between 45 and 55%. Dietary treatments, ingredients, and nutritional composition are presented in **Error! Reference source not found.** The probiotic diet was prepared by pre-mixing 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract with preground corn and adding the premix with the formulation thereafter. Diets were fed as mash during the starter phase and fed as pellets during the grower phase. All cages were equipped with water troughs, which were being monitored and replenished daily. Diets were formulated to meet Cobb 500 broiler requirements. Birds were provided feed and water *ad libitum* during a starter phase (0-14 days) and grower phase (15-28 days).



Figure 3.1 Treatment structure in the hatchery and broiler barn.

		Starter			Grower	
	Control diet	Antibiotic diet	Probiotic diet	Control diet	Antibiotic diet	Probiotic diet
Corn	51.08	50.97	51.08	44.32	44.22	44.31
Soybean meal-46.5	41.44	41.45	41.44	36.48	36.49	36.48
Animal/Vegetable fat	2.93	2.97	2.93	4.59	4.63	4.60
Wheat	-	-	-	10.00	10.00	10.00
Limestone	1.80	1.80	1.80	1.65	1.65	1.65
Dicalcium phosphate	1.24	1.24	1.24	1.06	1.06	1.06
DL-methionine premix ²	0.59	0.59	0.59	0.53	0.53	0.53
Lysine HCl	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
Vitamin-mineral premix ³	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
Salt	0.41	0.41	0.41	0.37	0.37	0.37
Pellet binding agent ⁴	-	-	-	0.50	0.50	0.50
BMD 110 G ⁵	-	0.05	-	-	0.05	-
Bacillus subtilis	-	-	0.005	-	-	0.005
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100
Calculated composition						
ME (kcal/kg)	3000	3000	3000	3100	3100	3100
Crude protein	23.00	23.00	23.00	21.50	21.50	21.50
Calcium	0.96	0.96	0.96	0.87	0.87	0.87
Available phosphorus	0.48	0.48	0.48	0.44	0.44	0.44
Sodium	0.19	0.19	0.19	0.18	0.18	0.18
Digestible lysine	1.28	1.28	1.28	1.16	1.16	1.16
Digestible methionine +	0.95	0.95	0.95	0.87	0.87	0.87
cysteine						
Analyzed composition						
Dry matter	89.23	90.94	90.85	87.10	88.01	86.83
Crude protein	22.77	22.40	24.16	21.72	21.63	21.87

Table 3.1 Ingredient and composition of experimental diets¹ (as-fed basis, %, unless otherwise stated)

Crude fat	5.06	5.23	5.17	6.77	6.56	6.35
Calcium	1.13	1.31	1.04	0.89	0.95	0.89
Total Phosphorus	0.65	0.65	0.62	0.55	0.58	0.57
Sodium	0.19	0.20	0.33	0.15	0.17	0.21

¹Basal diet (NC); antibiotic diet containing NC + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD); probiotic diet containing NC + 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis*.

²Supplied/kg premix: DL-Methionine, 0.5 kg; wheat middlings, 0.5 kg

³Starter vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline;0. 3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543mg wheat middlings; 500 mg ground limestone. Grower vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline;0. 3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543mg wheat middlings; 500 mg ground limestone in the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline;0. 3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543mg wheat middlings; 500 mg ground limestone

⁴Pel-stik: Uniscope, Inc., Johnstown, CO, USA.

⁵Bacitracin methylene disalicylate (providing 55 mg/kg mixed feed); Alpharma, Inc., Fort Lee, NJ, US

3.3.4 Hatch Parameters and Chick Quality

Hatched chicks were counted and weighed individually. Hatchability was calculated as the percentage of hatched chicks to incubated eggs, per replicate. The stage of egg embryonic death was classified as pipped (death occurring after chick had made the piping hole) and late dead (chicks fully formed, but dead without pipping), the ensuing counts were expressed as a percentage of fertile eggs and recorded. Hatched chick bodyweight/initial egg weight ratio was also determined and recorded. Chick navel quality was evaluated by adapting Reijrink et al. (2009) scoring method. Navel quality was scored 1- when navel was completely closed and clean, scored 2- when navel was discolored (i.e., when navel color differs from chick's skin color) with a 2 mm maximum opening, and scored 3- when navel was discolored and with more than a 2 mm opening.

3.3.5 Growth Performance Parameters and Sampling

Growth performance parameters- feed intake, and average body weight were measured on a pen basis at 7, 14, 21 and 28 days of age. Average daily feed intake (ADFI), average daily gain (ADG), and feed conversion ratio (FCR) were subsequently calculated from obtained data. FCR was calculated as the amount of feed consumed per unit body weight gain. Mortality was recorded daily and used to correct for feed consumption. On day 28, 2 birds per pen (12 replicate birds per treatment group) were randomly selected and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After euthanasia of birds, the intestinal segments the jejunum (1.5 cm length midway between the point of entry of the bile ducts and Meckel's diverticulum) and ileum (1.5 cm length midway between the Meckel's diverticulum and ileocecal junction) were excised and fixed in neutral buffered formalin (10%) for further histomorphological processing (Awad et al., 2009). The digesta samples from each pair of the cecum of the euthanized bird were mixed and subsampled, a portion was stored in biofreeze kits (Alimetric Diagnostics, Espoo, Finland) for SCFA concentration measurement and the other held in RNase and DNase free tubes, immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen, and later stored at -80°C for subsequent gut microbiota analysis.

Incidence of NE was evaluated on small intestinal segments of euthanized birds using lesion scoring guide by Shojadoost et al. (2012), with slight modifications. This scoring guide was as follows: NE score 0 - no gross lesions present; NE score 1- no obvious ulcers in the mucosa, but the entire mucosal surface is covered with a layer of loosely adherent fibrin; NE score 2-excavated ulcer of the mucosa with acute, bright red hemorrhage within the ulcer bed and scant crusting of fibrin around the periphery; NE score 3 - excavated ulcer of the mucosa with dark

green-black pigment within the ulcer bed and scant crusting of fibrin over the surface; NE score 4 - excavated ulcers of the mucosa, with periphery covered by thick, tightly adherent layers of fibrin, necrotic tissue, and inflammatory cells; NE score 5 - mucosa covered by large, confluent plaques of fibrin, necrotic tissue, and inflammatory cells to the point of extending over broad regions of the intestinal mucosa.

3.3.6 Gut Morphology Measurement

Fixed jejunum and ileum tissue samples were further subjected to microtomy processing. This involved slicing into 3 sections and dehydration by increasing alcohol concentration from 0 to 100%. Tissue slices were infused with xylene and fixed in paraffin wax. Tissue section (0.5 μm thick) was cut with a microtome (Leica RM 2145, Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) and mounted on a glass slide, followed by staining (Drury and Wallington, 1980) and morphometric measurements. Morphometric measurements included villus height (from the base of the intestinal mucosa to the tip of the villus excluding the intestinal crypt), villus width (halfway between the base and the tip), crypt depth (from the base upward to the region of transition between the crypt and villi), and total mucosa thickness (villus height + crypt depth) (Ozdogan et al., 2014). Ten measurements of each component per slide were carried out using an image processing and analysis system (ImageJ, WI, USA).

3.3.7 SCFA and Total Eubacteria Quantification

Cecal samples were submitted to Alimetrics Diagnostics AD19024-1(Espoo, Finland) for both SCFA concentration and total Eubacteria quantification. Acids quantified were acetic, propionic, butyric, valeric, isobutyric, 2-methylbutyric, isovaleric, and lactic acid in 6 replicates per treatment.

3.3.8 Gut Microbiota Analysis

Genomic DNA (gDNA) was extracted from 70-90 mg of cecal digesta samples obtained from 12 replicate birds per treatment group using Quick-DNA Fecal and Soil Microbe 96 Kit (CAT: D6011, Zymo Research, Orange County, CA) with slight modification to manufacturer's protocols. BashingBeadTM Buffer (400µl), beta-mercaptoethanol, and Genomic Lysis Buffer (0.5% v/v) were added to cecal samples in a 96-well block/plate bead beater, followed by centrifugation (10,000 x g, 2 x 5 min) to ensure cell lysis. BashingBeadTM Lysis Rack (0.1 & 0.5 mm) was also centrifuged (4,700 x g, 5 min), after which 250 µl supernatant was transferred to a 96-well plate. Genomic Lysis Buffer (750 µl) was further added to the filtrate in the 96-well plate,

followed by mixing and centrifugation (4,700 x g for 5 min). 500 µl from each well was transferred to the wells of a Silicon-ATM Plate, followed by centrifugation (4,700 x g for 5 min). Flow through from the collection plate was discarded. 200 µl DNA prewash buffer and 500 µl gDNA wash buffer were added to the wells of the Silicon-ATM plate, this was followed by concurrent centrifugation (3,000 x g for 5 min). 150 µl prep solution was added to the wells of a prepared Silicon-ATM HRC plate mounted on an elution plate; this was then incubated at room temperature for 5 min and centrifuged (3,500 x g for 5 min). Finally, 100 µl of DNA elution buffer was added directly to the matrices on the Silicon-ATM Plate, followed by centrifugation (3,500 x g for 7 min) to elute DNA extract.

The efficiency of the DNA extraction protocol was confirmed by visual assessment on a 1% agarose gel. Extracted DNA concentration and purity were determined by spectrophotometry (Nanodrop ND1000; Thermo Scientific, USA). Universal 16S primers, 515 F (5'-GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA) and 806R (5'GACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT) targeting the V4 variable region of the 16S rRNA gene were used to prepare amplicon libraries and sequencing (paired ends 250 bp) was carried out on an Illumina MiSeq system at McGill University and Genome Quebec Innovation Center (Montreal, Canada). Amplicon analysis was carried out following Dada2 analysis methods (Callahan et al., 2016) at the Canadian Centre for Computational Genomics (C3G, Montreal, Canada) (Bourgey et al., 2019).

3.3.9 Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed as a completely randomized design. The normality of all datasets was ascertained by testing residuals by Anderson-Darling test in Minitab statistical package (v.18.1). Data sets found to be normal including, performance data, navel score, SCFA concentrations, and gut morphology were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in the same statistical package with experimental treatments as factor and the aforementioned data sets as variables. For hatchability parameters, hatching trays were the experimental units and the pen was the experimental unit for growth performance parameters.

Data sets on total Eubacteria, relative operational taxonomic unit (OTU) taxa abundance (except for phylum *Fimicutes* and genus *Ruminiclostridium*) were natural log-transformed, whereas pipped eggs (%) was cube root transformed. After transformations, the data was equally subjected to ANOVA procedures in the same statistical package, with appropriately back-transformed data presented. Data sets found to be non-normal including late dead eggs (%),

hatched chick BW/initial egg weight, NE scores, and mortality were subjected to a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test in the same statistical package, after failed transformation. Differences between significant means were tested using Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) test in the same statistical package. Analyzed data are presented as means \pm SEM and probability values. Values were considered statistically different at $P \le 0.05$.

3.3.10 Gut Microbiota Statistical and Bioinformatics Analysis

Statistical analysis and visual exploration of bioinformatics data were carried out with the MicrobiomeAnalyst tool (Dhariwal et al., 2017). Data were filtered to minimum count 2 and 10% prevalence in samples. Alpha diversity analysis was calculated based on Shannon Index. Significant differences in alpha diversity among different groups were calculated based on ANOVA, where a significant difference level was set at P < 0.05. Beta diversity was calculated based on Bray-Curtis index, and statistical comparisons among groups were performed with permutational multivariate ANOVA. To determine differentially abundant taxa at different groups, MetagenomeSeq (Paulson et al., 2013) that uses zero-inflated Gaussian fit model was used with adjusted P value cutoff at 0.05.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Hatch Performance

In this study, among all hatchability parameters, only percentage pipped eggs were found to be significantly (P < 0.05) different among the treatments (Table 3.2). Non-injected eggs recorded 98.75% and 57.84% more pipped eggs (%) compared to *in ovo* saline and *in ovo* probiotic treatments respectively (Table 3.2). No difference (P > 0.05) among treatments was found for late dead eggs (%), hatchability, the average chick weight, and hatched chick bodyweight to initial egg weight. Nonetheless, *in ovo* probiotic treatment had numerically higher average chick weight and hatched chick bodyweight to initial egg weight relative to other treatments. In addition, chick navel quality was not significantly different across treatments, although *in ovo* probiotic treatment had the highest percentage of birds with navel score 1 (27.96%) and *in ovo* saline treatment had the highest percentage of birds with navel score range 2-3 (77.63%) (Table 3.3).

-	Tre	eatments ¹			
Hatch Parameters	Non-injection Control	<i>In ovo</i> saline	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	SEM ²	P value ³
Pipped eggs (%)	6.38 ^a	0.08 ^b	2.69 ^{ab}	1.26	0.043
Late dead eggs (%)	1.39	0.00	0.00	4.42 ⁴	0.584
Hatchability (%)	87.02	90.91	90.91	1.51	0.505
Average chick weight (g)	53.02	52.93	54.27	0.50	0.510
Chick BW ⁶ / initial egg weight (%)	82.15	83.64	84.31	2.33 ⁵	0.196

Table 3.2 Effect of the in *ovo* delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract on hatch performance in broiler chickens.

¹Treatment groups include- non-injected eggs (Control), *in ovo* saline group injected with 200 μ l of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and *in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 μ l of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU); n = 6 replicate trays.

 2 SEM = standard error of means.

³Means and median not sharing the same superscript differ significantly by Tukey's test ($P \le 0.05$).

^{4,5}Measure of variation about the median represented by the interquartile range.

 $^{6}BW = body weight.$

		Treatments ¹			
Navel quality score $(\%)^2$	Non- injection Control	<i>In ovo</i> saline	In ovo probiotics	SEM ³	P value ⁴
Score 1	26.7	22.4	28.0	3.48	0.809
Score 2	70.4	57.2	53.9	4.35	0.274
Score 3	2.9	20.4	18.2	4.06	0.162

Table 3.3Effect of the in *ovo* delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract on
hatched chick navel quality

¹Treatment groups include- non-injected eggs (Control), *in ovo* saline group injected with 200 μ l of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and *in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 μ l of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU) in n=6 replicate trays.

²Navel quality was scored 1 when the navel was completely closed and clean, scored 2 when the navel was discolored with a 2mm maximum opening and scored 3 when the navel was discolored with more than a 2mm opening.

 3 SEM = standard error means

⁴Significance was set at $P \le 0.05$.

3.4.2 Growth Performance

Results on evaluated growth parameters were not statistically significant between treatments (Table 3.4). During the starter phase (0 - 14 days), antibiotic treatment had the highest ADG and the lowest FCR compared with other treatments. *In ovo* probiotic treatment recorded the lowest ADFI and FCR of all treatments, during the grower phase (15 - 28 days).

Table 3.4 Effect of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract delivery route on growth performance in broiler chicken raised for 28 days.

Treatments ¹												
Growth Performance Parameters	Control	In-feed antibiotics	In-water probiotics	In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> saline	In ovo probiotics	SEM ²	P value ³				
Starter Phase (0 - 14 days)												
ADFI ⁴ (g/bird)	25.4	23.3	23.2	23.6	26.2	27.7	0.84	0.582				
ADG ⁵ (g/bird)	16.9	20.9	18.0	18.3	19.0	16.0	0.51	0.086				
FCR ⁶	1.53	1.15	1.33	1.36	1.40	1.75	0.07	0.254				
Mortality (%)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00^{7}	0.818				
		(Grower phas	e (15 - 28 da	ys)							
ADFI (g/bird)	83.0	91.8	85.1	90.2	91.6	80.5	1.59	0.168				
ADG) (g/bird)	62.4	57.6	61.4	67.9	63.4	64.6	1.51	0.529				
FCR	1.35	1.52	1.39	1.33	1.46	1.26	0.05	0.254				
Mortality (%)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00^{8}	0.191				
		Т	otal trial per	iod (0 - 28 da	ays)							
ADFI (g/bird)	56.3	59.7	56.9	58.7	58.9	55.1	0.96	0.739				
ADG (g/bird)	49.9	51.6	50.4	54.1	52.6	50.2	0.84	0.709				
FCR	1.13	1.09	1.13	1.09	1.12	1.10	0.02	0.935				
Mortality (%)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00^{9}	0.750				

¹Treatment groups include – Control (CTRL), in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), CTRL diet + in-water probiotic (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), in-feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis, in ovo* saline group injected with 200 µl of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and *in ovo* probiotics group injected with 200 µl of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU) in n=6 replicate pens of 7 birds each.

 2 SEM = standard error means

³Significance was set at $P \le 0.05$

⁴ADFI = Average daily feed intake

 $^{5}ADG = Average daily gain$

 6 FCR = Feed Conversion ratio

^{7,8,9}-Measure of variation about the median represented by the interquartile range.

Treatments had no significant effect on intestinal NE lesion score in broiler chickens in this study (Table 3.5). Based on the used NE scoring guide, no bird had a NE score of 4. All treatments, except in-water probiotics and *in ovo* probiotic, had 50% of birds with NE score 2. The CTRL treatment had the least number of birds with NE score 0 (25%); 50% of birds in other treatments had NE score 0.

Table 3.5 Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract delivery route on Necrotic enteritis (NE) lesion scores in broiler chickens raised for 28 days.

Necrotic enteritis								
lesion score (% of birds) ²	Control	In-feed antibiotics	In-water probiotics	In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> saline	In ovo probiotics	IQR ³	P value ⁴
0	25	50	50	50	0	50	50.00	0.219
1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00	0.821
2	50	50	25	50	50	25	87.50	0.577
3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00	0.671
4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00	0.532

¹Treatment groups include – Control (CTRL), in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), CTRL diet + in-water probiotic (containing 0.025 g/L of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract), in-feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005 % Bacillus subtilis, in ovo saline group injected with 200 µl of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and in ovo probiotic group injected with 200 µl of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU) in n=6 replicate pens of 7 birds each. ²Scores are described as: score 0 - No gross lesions present; score 1 - No obvious ulcers in the mucosa, but the entire mucosal surface is covered with a layer of loosely adherent fibrin; score 2 - Excavated ulcer of the mucosa with acute, bright red hemorrhage within the ulcer bed and scant crusting of fibrin around the periphery; score 3 - Excavated ulcer of the mucosa with dark green-black pigment within the ulcer bed and scant crusting of fibrin over the surface; score 4 - Excavated ulcers of the mucosae, with periphery covered by thick, tightlyadherent layers of fibrin, necrotic tissue, and inflammatory cells; score 5 - Mucosae covered by large, confluent plaques of fibrin, necrotic tissue, and inflammatory cells to the point of extending over broad regions of the intestinal mucosa. No bird was scored an NE score of 4 ${}^{3}IQR = Interquartile range$

⁴Significance was set at $P \le 0.05$.

3.4.3 Gut Morphology

Probiotics delivery route significantly ($P \le 0.05$) influenced the jejunum and ileum morphology of broiler chickens in this study (Table 3.6). In the jejunum, the villus height of the *in ovo* probiotics treatment was significantly higher ($P \le 0.001$) than in-water probiotic, antibiotics, and CTRL treatments. The *in ovo* probiotic villus height was 23% higher (P < 0.001) than the CTRL treatment. *In ovo* probiotic villus width in the ileum was also 18% wider (P < 0.001) than the in-feed treatment. Total mucosa thickness in the ileum of *in ovo* probiotic treatment was also 21% higher (P < 0.001) than the CTRL treatment. This was significantly different (P < 0.001) from in-water, antibiotic, and CTRL treatment. In the ileum, the villus height of the *in ovo* probiotic treatment was found highest; this was 18% higher ($P \le 0.05$) than the *in ovo* saline treatment, but not statistically different from other treatments.

Gut morphology parameters (Measured in mm)		Treatments ¹									
	Control	In-feed antibiotics	In-water probiotics	In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> saline	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	SEM ²	value ³			
Jejunum											
Villi height	0.960 ^c	1.008 ^{bc}	1.087 ^{bc}	1.156 ^{ab}	1.154 ^{ab}	1.253 ^a	0.02	0.000			
Villi width	0.220 ^a	0.221ª	0.223 ^a	0.178 ^b	0.192 ^{ab}	0.218 ^a	0.00	0.001			
crypt depth	0.140	0.127	0.130	0.154	0.132	0.147	0.00	0.070			
Villi height: crypt depth	8.115	9.681	9.365	9.967	9.843	11.023	0.32	0.203			
Total mucosa thickness	1.100 ^d	1.135 ^{cd}	1.217 ^{bcd}	1.310 ^{ab}	1.286 ^{abc}	1.399ª	0.02	0.000			
Ileum											
Villi height Villi width	$0.560 \\ 0.196^{ab}$	$0.533 \\ 0.205^{ab}$	$0.555 \\ 0.193^{ab}$	$0.593 \\ 0.199^{ab}$	0.596 0.174 ^b	0.574 0.213ª	0.01 0.00	0.080 0.052			
Crypt depth	0.141	0.132	0.136	0.145	0.132	0.130	0.00	0.268			
Villi height: crypt depth	4.320	4.270	4.379	4.461	4.799	4.731	0.09	0.352			
Total mucosa thickness	0.701	0.665	0.692	0.738	0.728	0.704	0.01	0.087			

Table 3.6 Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract delivery route on ileum and jejunum morphology in broiler chickens raised for 28 days.

¹Treatment groups include – Control (CTRL), in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), CTRL diet + in-water probiotic (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), in-feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis*, *in ovo* saline group injected with 200 µl of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and *in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 µl of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10^6 CFU) in n = 10 observations per treatment.

²SEM = standard error means. ³Means not sharing the same superscript differ significantly by Tukey's test ($P \le 0.05$).

3.4.4 Cecal SCFA Concentration

No significance (P > 0.05) was found for cecal SCFA concentration (micromolar) in this study (Table 3.7). Nonetheless, *in ovo* probiotic treatment had the numerically highest concentration of total SCFA and volatile fatty acids (VFA) compared to other treatments.

Short shain fatty agids		Treatments ¹							
concentration (µM)	Control	Control In-feed antibiotics		In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> saline	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	SEM ²	r value ³	
Acetic acid	47.4	55.0	43.5	48.7	49.5	52.7	2.44	0.832	
Propionic acid	1.98	1.69	3.16	2.57	2.10	2.73	0.24	0.535	
Butyric acid	13.7	12.4	11.5	7.15	10.1	13.4	0.82	0.184	
Valeric acid	0.28	0.16	0.44	0.12	0.19	0.30	0.04	0.107	
Lactic acid	2.05	3.23	4.93	2.52	2.13	4.66	0.63	0.664	
Branched-chain fatty acids	0.40	0.07	0.30	0.33	0.16	0.22	0.04	0.321	
Volatile fatty acids	63.8	69.4	58.9	58.9	62.0	69.4	3.05	0.865	
Total short-chain fatty acids	65.8	72.6	63.8	61.4	64.2	74.1	2.92	0.790	

Table 3.7Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract delivery route on cecal short-chain
fatty acids concentrations in broiler chickens raised for 28 days.

¹Treatment groups include – Control (CTRL), in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), CTRL diet + in-water probiotic (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), in-feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis, in ovo* saline group injected with 200 μ l of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and *in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 μ l of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU) in n= 6 replicates per treatment.

 2 SEM = standard error means

³Significance was set at $P \le 0.05$

3.4.5 Cecal Microbiota

A total of 5,286,777 quality read counts were obtained, at an average of 73,427 counts per sample after quality filtering and demultiplexing. Information on the sequencing quality profile is presented in Figure 3.2. A total of 805 OTU were identified at the 97% similarity level, belonging to a total of 5 phyla, 6 classes, 8 orders, 17 families, 57 genera, and 12 species. The relative abundance (percentage abundance) of different phyla and genera across treatment groups are presented in Figure 3.3. Bacteria composition at the family taxa is shown in Figure 3.4. Treatment effects on major phyla and genera are presented in Table 3.8. Taxonomic analysis by ANOVA showed no difference for total *Eubacteria* counts across treatments (Table 3.8). *Firmicutes* represented > 98% of identified phyla. No significant difference was recorded for all major phyla



within treatments (Table 3.8). At the genus level, *Ruminococcaceae_UCG-014* in the in-feed probiotic treatment tended (P = 0.07) to be 38% higher than the antibiotic treatment.

Figure 3.2 The mean quality score per treatment for forward and reverse reads.

Treatment groups which include 1- Control (CTRL), 2-in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate, 3- CTRL diet + in-water probiotic containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), 4- in-feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis*, 5-*in ovo* saline group injected with 200 µl of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and 6*in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 µl of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU), are presented in different colors. Treatments were in 12 replicates (72 samples) (Bourgey et al., 2019).



Figure 3.3 Bacteria composition at the A) phylum and B) genus levels of broiler chickens.

Treatments groups 1–control (CTRL), 2–in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, 3–CTRL diet + in-water probiotic (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), 4–in-feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis*, 5–*in ovo* saline group injected with 200 μ l of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and 6–*in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 μ l of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU). The

cecal content was collected from 28-day-old chickens. DNA was extracted from the cecal content, and relative abundances are shown as determined by Illumina sequencing and visualized with the web-based tool MicrobiomeAnalyst.



Figure 3.4 Bacteria composition at the family taxa of broiler chickens.

Treatments groups 1- Control (CTRL), 2-in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate, 3- CTRL

48

diet + in-water probiotic (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), 4- in feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis*, 5-*in ovo* saline group injected with 200 μ l of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and 6-*in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 μ l of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU). Cecal content was collected from 28-day-old chickens. DNA was extracted from the cecal content, and relative abundances are shown as determined by Illumina sequencing and visualized with the web-based tool MicrobiomeAnalyst.

Table 3.8Effect of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract delivery route on relative OTU abundance (specific phyla, genera and
Total Eubacteria) in broiler chickens raised for 28 days.

	_	ת						
Item	Control	In-feed antibiotics	In-water probiotics	In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> saline	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	SEM ²	<i>P</i> value ³
			Phylum (OTU	Us)				
Firmicutes	70853	75313	74532	70603	74231	71784	1363	0.875
Actinobacteria	58.9	92.5	63.0	77.5	77.5	68.5	1.10	0.170
Proteobacteria	55.3	53.4	89.1	175.9	73.8	36.4	1.20	0.118
Tenericutes	105	34.3	74.4	72.5	67.4	96.7	1.20	0.295
Genus (OTUs)								
Ruminococcaceae_UCG- 014	1230	1099	1111	1783	1694	1601	1.10	0.073 ⁴
Ruminiclostridium 5	498	616	421	611	553	637	34.0	0.425
Lactobacillus	1272	3744	2436	1659	1893	2649	1.20	0.389
Faecalibacterium	45528	41070	47618	42992	44195	44954	1501	0.878
Subdoligranulum	524	813	851	708	582	923	1.10	0.531
Total Eubacteria (Absolute copy number)	1.71E+12	1.37E+12	1.96E+12	2.01E+12	1.73E+12	2.66E+12	1.10E+00	0.483

¹Treatment groups include – Control (CTRL), in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), CTRL diet + in-water probiotics (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), in-feed probiotics containing CTRL + 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis, in ovo* saline group injected with 200 μ l of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and *in ovo* probiotics group injected with 200 μ l of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU) in n= 12 observations per treatment, with the exceptio

of Total Eubacteria where n=10 observations per treatment. ²SEM = standard error means ³Significance was set at $P \le 0.05$. ⁴marginal significance at P < 0.07.

The differential abundance at different taxonomic levels by MetagenomeSeq (P < 0.05) are presented in Table 3.9. Order *Rhizobiales* and family *Xanthobacteraceae* were differentially significant (P < 0.001) in the CTRL treatment. Phylum *Actinobacteria*, class *Coriobacteriia*, order *Coriobacteriales*, and family *Eggerthellaceae* were all differentially significant (P < 0.001) in the in-feed antibiotic treatment. Family *Streptococcaeae*, genus *Streptococcus*, and an unknown specie DNF0089 were significantly differentiated (P < 0.001) in the in-water probiotic treatment.

Taxa			Treatments ¹				_	False
(Log- transformed counts)	Control	In-feed antibiotics	In -water probiotics	In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> saline	In ovo probiotics	P value ²	Discovery Rate (FDR)
Phylum		Actinobacteria					0.002	0.013
Class		Coriobacteriia					0.001	0.014
Order		Coriobacteriales					0.002	0.009
	Rhizobiales						0.002	0.009
Family			Streptococcaceae				0.000	0.000
		Eggerthellaceae					0.002	0.002
	Xanthobacteraceae						0.007	0.045
Genus			Streptococcus				0.000	0.000
			DNF0089				0.000	0.000

Table 3.9 Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract delivery route on differentially abundant bacterial taxa between treatment groups.

¹Treatment groups include – Control (CTRL), in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05 % bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), CTRL diet + in-water probiotics (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), in-feed probiotics containing CTRL 0.005 % *Bacillus subtilis*, *in ovo* saline group injected with 200 µl of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and *in ovo* probiotics group injected with 200 µl of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU) in n= 12 observations per treatment. ²Significance was set at $P \le 0.05$.
Analyzing the alpha diversity (specie richness) of cecal content expressed as the number of observed OTU by Shannon Index showed similarity between treatments (Figure 3.5A). Numerically, the highest average Shannon index was in the antibiotic treatment 1.81 ± 0.09 (Mean \pm SE), whereas the lowest was 1.65 ± 0.11 in the CTRL treatment.

Beta diversity of cecal bacteria communities of the treatment groups are illustrated in the Principal Coordinates Analysis (**PCoA**) plot based on the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index (Figure 3.5B). Permutational multivariate (ANOVA) showed no significant differences in microbial community structure between treatments (R-squared 0.09, P > 0.05).



Figure 3.5 Alpha and Beta diversity measure.

A) Alpha diversity Index showed no significant difference among treatments (ANOVA, P = 0.7619). The cecal content was collected from 28-day-old broiler chickens. The diamond shape represents the mean value in each group and the whiskers indicate the minimum/maximum value. B) Beta diversity measure of the effect of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract delivery route on cecal bacteria communities of broiler chickens raised for 28 days. Treatment groups include the following: 1—control (CTRL), 2—in-feed antibiotics treatment containing CTRL + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, 3–CTRL diet + in-water probiotic (containing 0.025 g/L of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), 4— in-feed probiotic containing CTRL + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis*, 5—*in ovo* saline group

injected with 200 μ l of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) and 6-*in ovo* probiotic group injected with 200 μ l of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (10 X 10⁶ CFU) (PERMANOVA; P value < 0.128, F value = 1.3787, R-squared: 0.09457).

3.5 Discussion

In this study, the *in ovo* delivery of probiotics has been validated in broiler chickens, by comparing it with in-water and in-feed delivery routes. The probiotic used in this study was a *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract. *Bacillus subtilis* is a spore-forming bacterium, with high resistance to temperature and harsh conditions (AFRC, 1989). These qualities make it a suitable probiotic candidate in poultry production.

Hatchability remains one of the most significant indicators of successful in ovo injection. In this study, we have successfully validated the *in ovo* delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract through the amnion on day 18.5 of incubation, with no negative effect on embryo viability. All in ovo-injected eggs in our study recorded 91% hatchability and was not significantly different from the non-injected eggs which had 87% hatchability. These hatchability values are well in line with what is obtainable in commercial hatcheries. The patent of Uni and Ferket (2003) has previously proved that the inoculation of enteric modulators between day 17 and 19 of incubation through the amnion had no negative effect on hatchability because the injected substance is orally swallowed by the embryo in the amnion, after which it is made available to enteric tissues and other gut microbiota cells (Torshizi et al., 2010). Our results on hatchability are in conformation with the findings of Majidi-Mosleh et al. (2017), Edens et al. (1997), Pender et al. (2016), Alizadeh et al. (2020), Beck et al. (2019), Skjøt-Rasmussen et al. (2019) and Khaligh et al. (2018); which all reported no negative effect of the *in ovo* delivery of probiotics on hatchability. Contrarily, El-Moneim et al. (2019) and Tripplet et al. (2018) have both recently reported a negative effect of in ovo delivery of probiotics on hatchability. The disparity in the literature on the effect of in ovo delivery of probiotics on hatchability is attributable to several factors including the *in ovo* injection procedure, site of injection (air cell vs amnion), inoculated dose, hatchery hygiene, and differing probiotics strain (Johnston et al., 1997; Bednarczyk et al., 2011; De Oliveira et al., 2014; Beck et al., 2019). In addition, non-injected eggs in this study recorded the highest percentage of pipped eggs (6.38), whereas in ovo probiotic treatment was intermediate (2.69) and the in ovo saline

treatment had the least (0.08) percentage of pipped eggs. Previous researchers have reported no effect of probiotics inoculation on percentage pipped eggs (De Oliveira et al., 2014; Pender et al., 2016; Triplett et al., 2018). Factors affecting percentage pipped eggs include deficient hatching conditions (insufficient humidity and poor ventilation) (Willemsen et al., 2010), poor hatchery hygiene, and embryonic malposition within a particular region of the incubator, in response to gravity (Byerly and Olsen, 1937). Furthermore, treatments had no effect on navel quality in this study (Table 3.3). Chick navel quality is often influenced by the rate of nutrient metabolism and yolk absorption during the late incubation period (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951). Except for percentage pipped eggs, other hatchability parameters evaluated in this study, including, percentage late dead eggs, hatchability, average chick weight, hatched chick bodyweight to initial egg weight and chick navel quality elicited no significant treatment effect. These results suggest that the *in ovo* delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract does not negatively impair embryo viability and hatch performance.

Furthermore, the use of probiotics, especially in the diet, as enteric gut modulators that ultimately elicit superior bird performance, continues to gain momentum in the poultry industry. No significant effect of treatment on all post-hatch growth performance was recorded in this study. In conformation with our results, Majidi-Mosleh et al. (2017) have previously recorded no significant effect of amnion delivered Bacillus subtilis on performance parameters in a 42-day trial with broiler chickens, suggesting that probiotics supplementation in the late embryonic stage might not be sufficient enough to elicit superior performance effects. Subsequent in-feed supplementation of probiotics inoculated chicks to stimulate significant post-hatch performance, is an area that warrants further investigation. Knap et al. (2011) also reported no significant effect of orally delivered B. subtilis DSM17299 on ADG and FCR in their study. Similarly, Santoso et al. (1999) found no significant effect of in-feed delivered B. subtilis on feed intake, body weight gain (BWG), and FCR. Olnood et al. (2015) also reported no significant effect of L. joshnsonii either delivered in-feed, in-water, sprayed on litter or orally gavaged on feed intake, BWG, and FCR in broiler chickens. Chen et al. (2009) supplemented broiler feed with B. subtilis (10⁶ CFU/g) and also recorded no significant effect on growth performance. On the contrary, other studies have reported positive effect of *B. subtillis* delivery on growth performance. Sen et al. (2012) reported a linear increase in feed intake, BWG and FCR with increasing in-feed delivery of B. subtilis LS 1-2. Jeong et al. (2014) also confirmed that the inclusion of B.

subtilis spores significantly enhanced ADG both in starter and overall experimental period, in their study. These inconsistencies in *B. subtilis* performance effect across several routes could be due to a variety of factors including viability, dosage, environmental stressors (Huang et al., 2004; Mountzouris et al., 2007), and sample size. Irrespective of delivery route, probiotic treatments in this study (despite being non-significant) had at least 0.5% higher ADG, compared to the CTRL treatment, over the 28-day trial. This insignificant performance effect might portend considerable economical gains, especially for large scale commercial broiler producers. Indeed, more studies on the effect of probiotics delivery route on broiler performance, especially in commercial context, are needed.

In addition, no treatment effect on mortality and incidence of NE was found in this study. Several predisposing factors are reported to contribute to the growth and proliferation of Clostridium perfringens, the etiological agent of NE in broiler intestine. These include management conditions (including stress, alteration in feeding regimes, hatchery hygiene) and diet composition (especially barley- or wheat- containing diets as offered in the current study (Craven, 2000; Craven et al. 2001; Annet et al. 2002). Similarly, antibiotics withdrawal has also been associated with an increased incidence of necrotic enteritis (Wade, 2015). Asides from horizontal transmission (via contaminated feed and litter) of *Clostridium perfringens* spores, vertical transmission from parent to progeny is also possible (Williams, 2002; Thanissery et al. 2010). These reasons make our assessment of NE in birds unchallenged with NE relevant, although we acknowledge that the bacteria distribution might not be uniform across treatments. Most experimented alternatives to AGP including organic acids, essential oils, synbiotics, prebiotics, and probiotics have all been reported to exhibit varying levels of pathogen exclusion activities, which often results in reduced incidence of NE (Finucane et al., 1999; Kaldhusdal, 2000). These activities are either direct or indirect via immunity boosting (Ao et al., 2012). With the CTRL treatment having the least number of birds with a desirable NE score of 0, it is plausible that all supplementations conferred birds with some sort of protection against NE.

Post-hatch changes are more evident in the chicken's intestinal segments, compared to other parts (Prabakar et al., 2016). In this study, beneficial effects of *in ovo* delivered probiotic were observed both in the ileum and jejunum. The villus height, villus width, and total mucosa thickness were all numerically and, in most cases, significantly higher in the *in ovo* probiotic

treatment. Intestinal morphological parameters, including villus height, villus width, crypt depth, and villus length-to-crypt depth ratio are good indicators of gut health and the functional capacity of the intestine (Fasina and Olowo, 2013). The increased villus height, villus height-to-crypt depth ratio, and a decreased crypt depth are correlated with an increased epithelial turnover and increased digestive and absorptive functions (Fan et al., 1997; Xu et al., 2003; Munyaka et al., 2012; Shang et al., 2015). In agreement with our results, Sen et al. (2012) showed that the supplementation of B. subtilis LS 1-2 in broiler diets resulted in increased villus height and villus height: crypt depth ratio in duodenum and ileum at day 35. Li et al. (2018) also demonstrated that dietary cosupplementation of AGP and *B. subtilis* improved intestinal morphology during the first 3 weeks in pullets. A recent meta-analysis of 25 controlled trials also concluded that the supplementation of direct-fed microbials was associated with increased villus height of the small intestine in broiler chickens (Heak et al., 2017). Improved digestive capacity, as evidenced by improved intestinal morphometric characteristics, would be expected to translate into improved feed conversion efficiency and ultimately significant improvement in growth performance. The smaller sample size utilized in the present study could have contributed to the lack of significant improvement in growth performance. Future studies on this type of product should utilize a larger sample size. In addition, the present study was conducted under a well-controlled management system with no sanitary challenge to disturb the intestinal health of the chickens.

The SCFA are the by-products of microbial fermentation in the cecum. They play important roles in bird's energy metabolism, intestinal functionality, and gut pathogen reduction (Van Der Wielen et al., 2000; Meimandipour et al., 2010). In the present study, no effect of treatment was recorded for the concentrations of total SCFA and individual fatty acids, although the *in ovo* probiotic treatment consistently recorded the highest concentration of total SCFA, VFA, and propionic acid concentrations. Meimandipour et al. (2010) have shown that the supplementation of *Lactobacillus salivarius* ssp. *salicinius* JCM 1230 and *Lactobacillus agilis* JCM 1048 can significantly increase propionate and butyrate concentrations using a 24–h simulated chicken cecum. Fujiwara et al. (2009) have also reported that 2% *B. subtilis var. natto*–fermented soybean supplementation tended to increase total VFA and acetic acid concentration in chicks, especially when fed from day old, suggesting a linear age effect of *B. subtilis* supplementation on SCFA concentration. Because SCFA concentrations are associated with gut microbiota colonization, it is important to note that both *Lactobacillus* and *Bacillus spp.* differ in

their capacities to colonize the gut. Although *Lactobacillus* and *Enterococcus spp.* are considered to be colonizing species, *Bacillus spp.* are considered free flowing and do not colonize the gut (Huyghebaert et al., 2011). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to report on the effect of *in ovo* delivered *B. subtilis* on SCFA concentrations in broiler chickens, more studies are thus needed to fully understand these effects.

The chicken's gut is inhabited by numerous species of microorganisms, whose continuous interaction, influences host performance and well-being. This is particularly true for the cecum, the posterior gut section with the highest bacteria diversity (Oakley et al., 2014). In this study, we observe that broiler chicken cecum microbiota is mainly composed of >95% members of phyla Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Tenericutes, and Actinobacteria; irrespective of treatments (Figure 3.3A). This is to an extent consistent with results reported for breeder fecal microbiota (Trudeau et al., 2020), probiotics supplemented chicken ceca (Wang et al., 2017), and Bacillus direct-fed microbial supplemented broiler chicken ceca (Hernandez-Patlan et al., 2019a). Although our results might be consistent with the relative percentage of microbes reported in these studies, it does not necessarily conform with the order of abundance reported. In addition, we did not record the presence of bacteria in the phylum Bacteroidetes. The resolution of the V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene sequenced in this study could have influenced this outcome. García-López et al. (2020) have recently shown that both the V3 and V3V4 hypervariable regions capture a broader spectrum of microbiota diversity compared to the V4 region. Although the V3 region offers the advantage of faster sequencing time and lower cost, the V3V4 region offers a higher taxonomic resolution at an increased cost (García-López et al., 2020). Increased abundance of Firmicutes has been associated with increased nutrient absorption and energy harvest from diets (Jumpertz et al., 2011). Phylum Proteobacteria on the other hand is made up of gram-negative bacteria implicated in some metabolic diseases, including gut-brain alterations and intestinal inflammation in rats (Maharshak et al., 2013; Vaughn et al., 2017). Tenericutes are also implicated in mycoplasma infection. In contrast, Actinobacterial species are reported to combat bacteria diseases and at the same time help convert feedstuff into fermentable microbial biomass (Anandan et al., 2016). It is important to note that, the relative abundance of phylum Proteobacteria and Tenericutes ranged from 0.2-1.02 % of total OTU identified, justifying the homeostatic gut environment, as evidenced by noncompromised bird performance and health, across treatments, observed in our study. Order Rhizobiales and family Xanthobacteraceae were differentially significant in the CTRL treatment

as compared to other treatments. Both bacteria are rarely found in animal species and have been reported in host fed nitrogen-deficient feedstuff (Stoll et al., 2007; Ikeda-Ohtsubo et al., 2018). This observation is surprising as our basal diet met or exceeded NRC (1994) crude protein requirement. Phylum Actinobacteria, class Coriobacteriia, order Coriobacteriales, and family Eggerthellaceae were all differentially significant in the in-feed antibiotic treatment as compared to other treatments. The functional roles of these bacteria communities include lipid metabolism and cholesterol metabolism (Martínez et al., 2013). They have also been linked to the pathologies of periodontitis, bacteremia, and other zoonotic diseases; especially Coriobacteriaceae and *Eggerthella* (Clavel et al., 2014; Pandit et al., 2018). This further emphasizes the cost-benefit effects of antibiotic use in poultry production. In addition, family Streptococcaceae, genus Streptococcus, and an unknown specie DNF0089 were significantly differentiated in the in-water probiotics treatment; although Streptococcus has been associated with infections in poultry (Sekizaki et al., 2008), they are also capable of reducing gut pathogen load through competitive exclusion (Roto et al., 2015). However, more information on the specific strain of Streptococcus is needed, as the 2 main *Streptococcus* strains have been reported to have different functions (Fåk and Bäckhed, 2012). We also recorded no significant difference in bacterial alpha diversity among treatments (Figure 3.5A). Thibodeau et al. (2015) demonstrated that only extreme events that modify the number of ecological niches in different bacterial species can alter the alpha diversity. However, the ability of *B. subtilis* to enhance bacteria species richness has been reported (Li et al., 2016; Oh et al., 2017). Similarly, we recorded no significant effect of treatment on beta-diversity in this study (Figure 3.5B). This suggests phylogenetic similarities between treatments. Except for treatment effect, which is nutrition; other possible factors or conditions shared by the birds could have influenced beta-diversity. These shared factors include local gastrointestinal condition, gut pH, and chick-rearing environment (Cisek and Binek, 2014; Oakley et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2015). Taken together, it is obvious that our probiotics treatment, irrespective of delivery routes, did not inhibit microbiota-mediated homeostasis.

3.6 Conclusions

This study has successfully established the procedure for the *in ovo* delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* in broiler chickens, recording 91% hatchability rate. Although, *Bacillus subtilis* treatment (irrespective of delivery route) had no significant effect on growth performance, *in ovo* delivery of the probiotic product enhanced intestinal morphology, without compromising hatch and gut

homeostasis.

4 CHAPTER 4 PROBIOTICS DELIVERY ROUTES 2

THE EFFECT OF *BACILLUS SUBTILIS* AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTE ON HATCH AND GROWTH PERFORMANCE, BLOOD BIOCHEMISTRY, IMMUNE STATUS, GUT MORPHOLOGY, AND MICROBIOTA OF BROILER CHICKENS

This section has been presented and submitted for publication elsewhere:

- Oladokun, S., and D. Adewole. 2022. Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* and its delivery route on hatch and growth performance, blood biochemistry, and immune status of broiler chickens. Oral presentation. Poultry Science Association (PSA) Annual Meeting, July 11-14, San Antonio, Texas, USA.
- Oladokun, S., and D. Adewole. 2022. The effect of *Bacillus subtilis* and its delivery route on hatch and growth performance, blood biochemistry, immune status, gut morphology, and microbiota of broiler chickens. Poultry Science (submitted).

4.1 Abstract

This study evaluated the effect of probiotics (Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract) and its delivery route (in-feed or in ovo) on hatch and growth performance, blood biochemistry, immune status, gut morphology, and microbiota of broiler chickens. Hatching eggs were incubated for 21 days. On d 12, viable eggs were randomly allotted to 4 groups: the non-injected, in ovo saline (S), in ovo Bacillus subtilis 1 (P1), and in ovo Bacillus subtilis 2 (P2). On d 18, S, P1, and P2 groups received 0.2 mL saline diluent, 10×10^6 , and 20×10^6 CFU of the bacterium via the amnion, respectively. At hatch, chicks were re-allotted to 5 new treatment groups: P1, P2, 0.005% in-feed Bacillus subtilis extract (P3), 0.05% in-feed bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD,), and cornwheat-soybean diet negative control (NC) in 9 replicate pens (22 birds/pen) and raised for 35 d. Hatch parameters were assessed on d 0, and growth performance indices measured weekly. On d 25, 1 bird/cage was euthanized, and samples collected for further analysis. Data were analyzed by generalized linear model. Treatments S and P2 recorded higher (P = 0.01) chick BW/ Egg Weight values compared to the non-injected eggs. P3 and P2 reduced (P = 0.02) FI at week 5 compared to the NC treatment. However, no change in average body weight gain (ABG) and feed conversion ratio (FCR) were observed during the same period. At d35, while BMD treatment showed a tendency (P = 0.09) to increase FI compared to the NC treatment, ABG and FCR were similar for all treatments. Blood sodium and chloride levels were increased (P < 0.05) by the BMD treatment compared to the NC treatment. Compared to other treatments, BMD and P3 treatments increased (P < 0.001) jejunal and ileal villus height to crypt depth ratios, respectively. However, P1 and P2 increased (P < 0.001) villus height to crypt depth ratio in the duodenum compared to NC treatment. Treatments did not affect gut microbial diversity; however, BMD treatment increased (P < 0.05) the proportion of bacteria in the genus *Enterococcus* in the ileum and reduced (P < 0.05) the proportion of bacteria in the genus *Streptococcus* in the ceca. All probiotics treatments (irrespective of route and dose) reduced (P < 0.001) the levels of serum IgG compared to the NC treatment. However, P1 and P2 had the lowest numerical decrease in serum IgG concentrations, suggesting that *Bacillus subtilis* (especially *in ovo* delivered) might provide broiler chickens with better immunological protection by neutralizing pathogenic organisms that could result in the production of natural antibodies.

4.2 Introduction

In a bid to meet the increasing food demands of the growing global population, agriculture continues to be intensified. One such intensification effort led to the adoption of antimicrobial compounds to promote growth in the livestock industry. Interestingly, the livestock industry currently represents the largest user of antimicrobials produced globally (Van Boeckel et al., 2019). The use of antibiotic growth promoters (AGP) sub-therapeutically for growth promotion and disease prevention remains a critical part of intensive poultry production (Castanon, 2007; Hedman et al., 2020). In spite of the benefits that AGP use poses to the poultry industry, there is also the risk of the development of antimicrobial resistance, which has undesirable consequences for human and animal health (Van Den Bogaard and Stobberingh, 2000; Diarra and Malouin, 2014; Lekshmi et al., 2017). Hence, it is unsurprising that several country-specific regulatory measures against AGP use in poultry production, as well as increased consumer demands for AGP-free poultry products now exist (Muaz et al., 2018; Oladokun et al., 2021b). As the poultry industry recedes from using AGP, the challenge going forward is finding suitable alternatives and the delivery routes that maximize their effectiveness.

Several bioactive substances, including phytobiotics, prebiotics, essential oils, and probiotics, are thus currently being researched as potential alternatives to AGP in the poultry industry (reviewed by Gadde et al., 2017). Probiotics, defined as "live microorganisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host" (FAO/WHO, 2001) continue to receive growing interest as an alternative to AGP in poultry production as a result of

its immunomodulating properties (Pender et al., 2016). Evidence abounds in the literature of the potential of probiotics to improve the growth performance of poultry (Torres-Rodriguez et al., 2007; Sen et al., 2012; Bai et al., 2013), improve nutrient digestibility (Mountzouris et al., 2010; Nawaz et al., 2016; Opoola et al., 2021), improve gut health (Oladokun et al., 2021a; Zeng et al., 2021; Gyawali et al., 2022), stimulate immunity (Zulkifli et al., 2000; Nawaz et al., 2016; Hedayati et al., 2022) and positively modulate gut microbiota profile (Mountzouris et al., 2007a, 2010; Hedayati et al., 2022). Popular probiotic strains utilized in poultry include *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium, Enterococcus*, and *Bacillus* (Bajagai et al., 2016).

The use of *Bacillus* species continues to gain interest in animal production, especially from a commercial standpoint (Kim et al., 2018). This is because spore-based probiotic strains like Bacillus are highly resilient to environmental stressors (Cartman et al., 2008). The use of several Bacillus strains to promote gut health, immunity, and growth of poultry is well documented (Gadde et al., 2017a; Grant et al., 2018; Oladokun et al., 2021a). Despite these reported results, probiotics (including *Bacillus* strains) have also been reported to not affect growth performance indices like feed intake, weight gain, and feed conversion ratio in broiler chicken studies (Cavazzoni et al., 1998; Li et al., 2019). Other reports have also documented a reduced feed conversion ratio in broiler chickens supplemented with dietary Bacillus subtilis (Knap et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2014). Although popular theories on probiotics mode of action will include bacterial antagonism, immunostimulation, and competitive exclusion (Ohimain and Ofongo, 2012), it is possible that a complete delineation of probiotics mode of actions is yet to be elucidated. Several other factors, including strain-specific mode of action, the health state of the host, housing and environmental conditions, supplemented dose, time of supplementation, and delivery routes, may contribute to the inconsistencies in probiotics results observed in the literature (Yang et al., 2009; Cox and Dalloul, 2015; Untoo et al., 2018).

As a solution to the challenges that characterize the conventional delivery routes in poultry (i.e., in-feed and in-water; summarized in Oladokun et al., (2021a)), the *in ovo* delivery routes continue to gain considerable interest. Asides from other benefits that the *in ovo* technology affords (documented in Oladokun and Adewole (2020) and Oladokun et al., (2021a)), it also offers the opportunity to colonize the embryonic gut with beneficial microbiota very early on, considering that contact between chick and hen which use to be status quo mode of gut colonization has been eliminated in the present-day poultry industry. Oladokun et al., (2021a) have previously reported that the *in ovo* delivery of 10×10^6 CFU *of Bacillus subtilis* improved

broiler chicken gut morphology and microbiota profile but with no significant effect on growth performance. As a follow-up to this study, it was hypothesized that modifying the supplemented dose (i.e., 10×10^6 CFU vs. 20×10^6 CFU), rearing period (28 days vs. 35 days), and housing conditions (battery cages vs. floor pens) might influence observed results. Consequently, the objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of the supplementation of two doses of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (i.e., 10×10^6 CFU and 20×10^6 CFU), and its delivery routes (*in ovo* vs. in-feed) on hatch and growth performance, blood biochemistry, immune status, gut morphology, and gut microbiota profile of broiler chickens, compared to in-feed antibiotics.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Ethics declarations

The experiment was carried out at the hatchery facility of the Agricultural Campus of Dalhousie University and the broiler rearing facility of the Atlantic Poultry Research Center, Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture. The experiment was conducted following guidelines recommended by the Canadian Council on Animal Care (Rowsell, 1990). All methods were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Dalhousie University (Protocol number: 2021-032).

4.3.2 Egg incubation and *in ovo* Injection Procedure

Hatching broiler eggs (Cobb 500, 52-week-old breeders, average weight= $63g \pm 1.27$, n=1,860) were obtained from a commercial hatchery (Cox Atlantic Chick hatchery, Nova scotia) and incubated in a ChickMaster single-stage incubator (ChickMaster G09, Cresskill, NJ, USA), under standard conditions (37.5°C, 55% relative humidity) from embryonic days (EDs) 1 to 19, and then to an average of 32°C and 68% from EDs 19 to 21. Eggs were candled on ED12 to determine viability. Viable eggs were subsequently assigned to one of four experimental groups: a) noninjected eggs (control; 166 eggs); b) in ovo saline group (38 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl, Baxter Corporation, ON, Canada); c) in ovo probiotic group 1 (53 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent) and d) in ovo probiotic group 2 (53 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 20×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent). The described treatments were replicated in six similar incubators operated under similar conditions. The Bacillus subtilis product (Strain - Bacillus subtilis 10SI) injected in this experiment was obtained from a commercial source (Probiotech International, St. Hyacinth, QC, Canada) at a concentration of 10×10^{10} CFU/g. The *Bacillus* subtilis product was injected on ED18. The injection procedure utilized in this study have been

previously described by Oladokun et al. (2021a). Briefly, eggs were disinfected by cleaning with of 70% alcohol swabs (BD alcohol swabs-catalog 326910, ON, Canada), followed by careful punching of the air cell (the blunt end of the egg) using an 18-gauge needle. The injected probiotics treatments were then delivered to the amnion using a self-refilling injector (Socorex ultra-1810.2.05005, Ecublens, Switzerland) equipped with a 22-gauge needle (injection needle length— 3 cm) at a 45-degree angle. After *in ovo* injection, the injection sites were sealed with sterile medical tapes (Nexcare[™] Flexible Clear Tape-7100187758, 3M, MN, USA). The non-injected eggs were also taken out and returned to the incubator simultaneously with other injected treatment groups.

4.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets

As presented in Figure 4.1, hatchlings were weighed and randomly assigned to 5 new treatment groups. Chicks from the initial non-injection group were randomly allocated into 3 new treatment groups consisting of (1) chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet (Negative control treatment; NC); (2) chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (in-feed antibiotics); and (3) chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10^8 CFU/kg of feed. The *in ovo* probiotics treatments were placed on the control diet to form treatments (4) in ovo probiotics group 1 and (5) in ovo probiotics group 2. Chicks (mixed sex, n = 22) were weighed and assigned to 9 replicate floor pens (0.93 m \times 2.14 m)/treatment at a stocking density of 0.076 m²/bird. Two broiler production rooms were utilized. The temperature in the broiler rooms was monitored daily and was gradually reduced from 32 to 22.5 °C from d 0 to 35. The lighting program was set to produce 18 h of light and 6 h of darkness throughout the experimental period, and illumination was gradually reduced from 20 lx on d 0 to 5 lx on d 35. Dietary treatments, ingredients, and nutritional composition are presented in Table 4.1. Birds were provided with feed and water ad *libitum*; diets were fed as mash in the starter (0-14 days) phase and pellets in the grower (15-25)days) and finisher (26-35 days) phases. Diets were formulated to meet Cobb 500 broiler chicken requirements.



Figure 4.1 Schematic presentation of experimental structure in the hatchery and barn. In ovo probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^{6} CFU of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; in ovo probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^{6} CFU of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; in-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; in-feed probiotics- chicks fed 0.005% Bacillus subtilis containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; and NC-Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet.

66

	Phases											
Inquadiants		Starter (0-14 o	l)	Gr	ower (15-25 d)	Finisher (26-35 d)					
Ingreatents	Negative	In-feed	In-feed	Negative	In-feed	In-feed	Negative	In-feed	In-feed			
	Control	Antibiotics	probiotics	Control	Antibiotics	probiotics	Control	Antibiotics	probiotics			
			Ing	gredient Con	nposition							
Corn (ground)	46.63	46.53	46.62	51.16	51.06	51.15	53.63	53.53	53.62			
Soybean meal-	27 12	27.14	27 12	21.07	21.90	21.00	20.2	20.22	20.21			
46.5	37.12	37.14	57.15	31.87	51.89	51.88	29.2	29.22	29.21			
Wheat	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0			
Soybean Oil	1.00	1.02	1 705	7 10	2 21	2 175	2.75	2 79	2.75			
(young or mature)	1.80	1.83	1.795	2.18	2.21	2.175	2.75	2.78	2.75			
Limestone	1.37	1.37	1.37	1.30	1.30	1.30	1.19	1.19	1.19			
Dicalcium	1 45	1 45	1 45	1 25	1 25	1 25	1 10	1 10	1 10			
Phosphate 21 P	1.43	1.43	1.45	1.55	1.55	1.55	1.10	1.10	1.10			
DL Methionine	0.59	0.59	0.59	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.52	0.52	0.52			
premix ²	0.38	0.38	0.38	0.37	0.37	0.37	0.32	0.32	0.32			
Vitamin/Mineral												
Premix or	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50			
MCB10 ^{3,4}												
Salt	0.38	0.38	0.38	0.36	0.36	0.36	0.36	0.36	0.36			
Lysine HCl	0.17	0.17	0.17	0. 21	0.21	0.21	0.17	0.17	0.17			

Table 4.1 Ingredients, calculated, and analyzed compositions of experimental diets ¹ (as-fed basis, percentage, unless otherwise stated).	

Pellet Binding				0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
Agent	-	-	-	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
BMD 110G ⁵	-	0.05	-	-	0.05	-	-	0.05	-
Bacillus subtilis	-	-	0.005	-		0.005	-	-	0.005
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Nutrient				Calcu	lated composi	tion			
Metabolizable energy (kcal/kg)	2,975	2,975	2,975	3,025	3,025	3,025	3,100	3,100	3,100
Crude protein	22.0	22.0	22.0	20.0	20	20.0	19.0	19.0	19.0
Calcium	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.84	0.84	0.84	0.76	0.76	0.76
Available phosphorus	0.45	0.45	0.45	0.42	0.42	0.42	0.38	0.38	0.38
Sodium	0.18	0.18	0.18	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.17
Digestible lysine	1.22	1.22	1.22	1.12	1.12	1.12	1.02	1.02	1.02
Digestible									
methionine +	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.85	0.85	0.85	0.80	0.80	0.80
cysteine									
Digestible Tryptophan	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.22	0.22	0.22	0.20	0.20	0.20
Digestible Threonine	0.84	0.84	0.84	0.76	0.76	0.76	0.72	0.72	0.72

Analyzed composition											
Dry Matter	92.2	92.2	92.2	91.5	92.1	91.4	91.7	91.8	91.8		
Crude protein	24.5	24.7	23.9	21.3	21.2	21.8	19.3	20.9	21.0		
Crude fat	4.05	4.31	4.17	4.86	4.69	3.63	4.81	4.25	4.17		
Calcium	0.81	0.80	1.03	0.89	0.90	0.83	0.83	0.75	0.75		
Potassium	1.05	1.00	0.98	0.94	0.91	0.95	0.84	0.92	0.89		
Phosphorus	0.62	0.65	0.72	0.66	0.65	0.65	0.57	0.60	0.59		
Sodium	0.14	0.15	0.20	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.16	0.15	0.15		

¹Basal diet (NC); In-feed antibiotic diet containing NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD); In-feed probiotics diet containing NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing- 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed. ² Supplied/kg premix: DL-Methionine, 0.5 kg; wheat middling, 0.5 kg. ³ Starter vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁴ Grower and Finisher vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin. ⁴ Grower and Finisher vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁴ Grower and Finisher vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁵ Bacitracin methylene disalicylate (providing 55 mg/kg mixed feed); Alpharma, Inc., Fort Lee, NJ, USA.

4.3.4 Measurements

4.3.4.1 Hatch Parameters and Chick Quality

Hatched chicks were counted and weighed individually. Hatchability was calculated as the percentage of hatched chicks to fertile incubated eggs per replicate. The BW/initial egg weight ratio of hatched chicks was also determined and recorded. Chick navel quality was evaluated by adopting the scoring method by Reijrink et al. (2009). Navel quality was scored 1—when the navel was completely closed and clean; scored 2—when the navel was discolored (i.e., when the navel color differs from the chick's skin color) with a maximum 2 mm opening; and scored 3—when the navel was discolored and with more than a 2 mm opening. Chick length was obtained by placing the chick on its ventral side and measuring from the tip of the beak to the middle toe on the right leg.

4.3.4.2 Growth Performance Parameters

Growth performance parameters, including feed intake and average body weight (BW) were measured on a pen basis weekly. Subsequent calculations, including the average feed intake (AFI), average body weight gain (ABWG), and feed conversion ratio (FCR) were then obtained from the recorded data. Mortality was recorded daily and used to correct for FCR.

4.3.4.3 Sampling

On day 25, 1 bird (male) per cage (9 replicate birds per treatment group) was randomly selected, weighed, and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After euthanasia of the bird, blood samples were collected from each bird into 10 mL blood serum collection tubes (BD Vacutainer[™] Serum Tubes, fisher scientific- BD366430) for further serum assays and into 10 mL heparinized tubes (BD Vacutainer[™] Glass Blood Collection Tubes with Sodium Heparin, fisher scientific- BD366480) for further blood plasma assays. Blood serum and plasma were centrifuged at 1,200 g x 10 minutes x 18 °C. The resulting supernatants were stored in aliquots at -80 °C until further analysis. The weights of bursa of Fabricius and spleen were also determined by trained personnel. The small intestinal segments, including the duodenum (region from the gizzard junction to the pancreatic and bile ducts), jejunum (1.5-cm length midway between the point of entry of the bile ducts and Meckel's diverticulum) and ileum (1.5-cm length midway between formalin (10%) for further histomorphology processing. Ceca and ileal digesta samples were also collected in RNase and DNase-free tubes, and immediately snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, and later stored at -80°C for subsequent gut microbiota analysis.

4.3.4.4 Relative Weight of Organs

The weights of the bursa of Fabricius and the spleen were recorded and reported as a percentage of the live BW of the slaughtered chicken (g/Kg BW).

4.3.4.5 Serum Immunoglobulins

Chicken-specific immunoglobulins enzyme-link immunosorbent assay (ELISA) quantitation kits (Bethyl Laboratories, Montgomery, TX, USA; Catalog No. E33-104-200218 and E33-102-180410, respectively) were used to measure the concentrations of immunoglobulins (IgG and IgM) following manufacturer instructions. Absorbance values were read on a microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instrument Inc., Wonooski, VT, USA) using a software program (KC4, version #3.3, Bio Tek Instruments), and immunoglobulins concentration was extrapolated using the four-parameter logistic model.

4.3.4.6 Blood Biochemistry

Samples for blood biochemical analysis were shipped on ice to Atlantic Veterinary College, University of Prince Edward Island Pathology Laboratory, and analyzed using cobas® 6000 analyzer series (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

4.3.4.7 Gut Morphology

The procedure for intestinal morphometric analysis has previously been reported by Oladokun et al. (2021a). Briefly, fixed intestinal tissues were embedded in paraffin, sectioned (0.5 µm thick), and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for morphological examinations. In each cross-sectioned tissue, ten morphometric measurements including the villus height (from the base of the intestinal mucosa to the tip of the villus excluding the intestinal crypt), villus width (halfway between the base and the tip), crypt depth (from the base upward to the region of transition between the crypt and villi) (Ozdogan et al., 2014) per slide were carried out using Leica 1CC50 W microscope at 4× Magnification (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany) and an image processing and analysis system (Leica Application Suite, Version 3.4.0, Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany).

4.3.4.8 DNA Extraction, Quantification, Library Preparation, and Sequencing

Following manufacturer's instructions, DNA was extracted from the ileal and ceca digesta contents using the Qiagen DNeasy® PowerSoil Pro Kit (50) (catalog number 47014, Qiagen GmbH, Hilden, Germany). The concentration and purity of extracted DNA were subsequently determined by spectrophotometry (Nanodrop ND1000; Thermo Scientific). Extracted DNA samples (volume-50 μ L, concentration-10-200 ng/ μ L) were then sent to Genome Quebec Innovation Center (Montreal, Canada) for amplicon library preparation and sequencing (primers,

V3V4, 341F-CCTACGGGNGGCWGCAG and 805R-GACTACHVGGGTATCTAATCC).

4.3.4.9 Statistics and Bioinformatic Analysis

Hatch data were analyzed as a randomized complete block design, with the incubator considered as the blocking factor. Datasets from the grow-out trial were also analyzed in a randomized complete block design, with broiler production rooms being the blocking factor. The normality of all data sets was ascertained by testing residuals with the Anderson-Darling test in Minitab statistical package (v.18.1). Data were analyzed using the generalized linear model in the same statistical package. Significant means were separated using Tukey's honest significant difference test in the same statistical package. Analyzed data were presented as means \pm SEM and probability values. Values were considered statistically different at P \leq 0.05 and considered a statistical trend at P \leq 0.1.

Bioinformatic analysis of the microbiota data was performed by the Canadian Centre for Computational Genomics at McGill University. The GenPipes version 4.0.0 (Bourgey et al., 2019) amplicon-seq pipeline was used to perform analyses. This pipeline is based on the DADA2 package in R environment. First, the trimming was done using Trimmomatic [Bolger et al., 2014], taking off 16 bp from the start of the reads. Then, 8,455,050 paired-end reads passed the quality-filtering parameters applied [truncLen=c(284,176); maxN = 0; maxEE=c(2,2); truncQ = 2] with an average value of 93,945 reads/sample and thus were merged (minimum overlap of 20 bp) and subjected to de novo chimera removal. Taxonomy was assigned to the resulting amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) using Silva database version 123. Visual exploration of the data was then performed in the MicrobiomeAnalyst tool (Dhariwal et al., 2017). Alpha and Beta diversity were calculated based on Shannon and Bray-Curtis indices, respectively, with statistical significance set at P < 0.05.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Hatch performance and chick quality

Results on hatch performance and chick quality are presented in Table 4.2. The chick BW/ Egg Weight recorded treatment differences. Both the *in ovo* saline and the *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment groups recorded higher (P = 0.01) chick BW/ Egg Weight values compared to the non-injected eggs. The *in ovo* probiotics 1 treatment group recorded statistically intermediate chick BW/ Egg Weight value compared to other treatment groups. There was no effect of treatment on average navel score, average chick length, average chick weight, and hatchability in this study.

4.4.2 Growth performance

Results on growth performance indexes are presented in Table 4.3. Compared to other treatments, the in-feed probiotics treatment showed a tendency (P = 0.07) to increase ABG by at least 23.6% in week 1. However, this tendency soon disappeared in subsequent weeks. Further treatment differences were only recorded in week 5. The AFI of the in-feed antibiotic treatment was higher (P = 0.02) than the in-feed probiotics and the *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment groups. Other treatments had statistically similar AFI as the in-feed antibiotic treatment. Both the ABWG and FCR values were similar (P > 0.05) for all treatment groups from week 2 to week 5. At the end of the entire trial period (d0-35), the in-feed antibiotic treatments. However, no corresponding change in ABWG nor FCR were recorded across treatment groups. Furthermore, in order to evaluate if treatment effects on ABWG were sex-linked, ABWG was calculated on a sex basis (males and females separately) at weeks 4 and 5, when visual sexual distinction and weighing of birds could be carried out. However, no difference (P > 0.05) in ABWG for males and females was recorded at this time.

Hatch Parameters	Non-	In ovo	In ovo	In ovo	SEM ²	<i>P</i> value ³
	injected	Saline	Probiotics 1	Probiotics 2		
Hatchability (%)	96.1	95.2	96.8	96.9	0.51	0.711
Average chick weight (g)	43.1	43.8	43.4	43.7	0.13	0.118
Average chick length (cm)	18.8	18.2	19.2	18.9	0.18	0.202
Chick BW/ egg weight (%)	68.1 ^b	69.5 ^a	68.9 ^{ab}	69.2 ^a	0.17	0.005
Average navel score	1.40	1.38	1.47	1.36	0.07	0.79

Table 4.2 Effect of in ovo delivery of Bacillus subtilis on hatch performance and chick quality.

¹ Treatments include— (1) non-injected eggs; (2) *in ovo* saline group- injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (3) *in ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (4) *in ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent. ² SEM = Standard error of means³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b} significantly differ.

Cuarrith Daufaumanaa	Treatments ¹							
Growin Periormance	Negative	In-feed	In-feed	In ovo	In ovo	- SEM2	Devalue of	
1 al ameter s	Control	Antibiotics	probiotics	probiotics 1	probiotics 2	SEM-	r value ^s	
			Week 1					
Average feed intake (g)	155	153	159	160	154	1.52	0.859	
Average body weight gain (g)	85.7	87.4	91.6	88.7	74.1	1.00	0.071	
FCR ⁴	1.81	1.76	1.73	1.81	2.07	0.02	0.336	
			Week 2					
Average feed intake (g)	184	190	148	163	168	3.94	0.237	
Average body weight gain (g)	213	235	212	200	168	3.09	0.102	
FCR ⁵	0.87	0.81	0.69	0.81	0.99	0.02	0.193	
			Week 3					
Average feed intake (g)	449	499	416	466	409	13.4	0.552	
Average body weight gain (g)	483	555	480	476	441	9.07	0.188	
FCR ⁴	0.93	0.89	0.87	0.99	0.93	0.03	0.912	
Week 4								
Average feed intake (g)	839	917	812	859	853	16.6	0.222	
Average body weight gain (g)-	714	(00	(0 5	772	046	15.0	0.415	
Mixed sex	/14	608	695	113	846	15.2	0.415	
Average body weight gain (g)-	761	722	902	954	918	17.7	0.351	

Table 4.3 Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* and its delivery routes on the growth performance of broiler chickens raised for 35 days

Males							
Average body weight gain (g)-	(25	402	524	(77	820	21.0	0 202
Females	033	483	324	0//	820	21.9	0.293
FCR ⁴	1.31	1.24	1.43	1.38	1.39	0.09	0.516
Week 5							
Average feed intake (g)	1,378 ^{ab}	1,329 ^a	1,146 ^b	1,102 ^{ab}	970 ^b	14.8	0.024
Average body weight gain (g)-	1.020	1 101	007	790	710	140	0.224
Mixed sex	1,030	1,181	900	/89	/10	143	0.324
Average body weight gain (g)-	070	1157	026	026	057	504	0.950
Males	970	1137	930	920	837	304	0.830
Average body weight gain (g)-	077	1.010	021	(70)	(25	42 1	0.412
Females	9//	1,019	831	6/9	623	42.1	0.412
FCR ⁴	1.37	1.14	1.27	1.43	1.48	0.04	0.655
Total Trial Period (1-35 d)							
Average feed intake (g)	2,974	3,051	2,656	2,753	2,595	34.4	0.087
Average body weight gain (g)	2,578	2,655	2,385	2,353	2,217	139	0.574
FCR ⁴	1.16	1.16	1.13	1.20	1.20	0.02	0.830

¹Treatments include— (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (2) In-feed antibioticschicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (4) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (5) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL diluent. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b} significantly differ. ⁴FCR = Feed Conversion Ratio.

4.4.3 Organ weight and serum immunoglobulin concentration

According to Table 4.4, no significant treatment effect on the relative weight of the bursa of Fabricius and spleen was recorded in this study. Conversely, of the two immunoglobulins evaluated, the serum IgG concentration was reduced (P < 0.001) both in the *in ovo* probiotics 1 and *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatments, compared to both the NC and the in-feed antibiotics treatment. However, the serum IgG concentration in the in-feed probiotics treatment was statistically similar to that of the *in ovo* probiotics 1 treatment. Nevertheless, the highest reduction in serum IgG concentration was recorded in the *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment ovo probiotics 2 treatment. Nevertheless, the highest reduction in serum IgG concentration was recorded in the *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment, being at least 38% lower than other treatment groups.

Parameters	Negative In-fee Control Antibio		In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics 1	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics 2	SEM ²	P value ³	
Bursa weight (g/Kg BW)	1.81	1.80	1.64	1.76	1.93	0.06	0.645	
Spleen weight (g/Kg BW)	0.70	0.76	0.73	0.73	0.69	0.02	0.920	
Immunoglobulin G (Mg/mL)	10.3ª	4.75 ^{ab}	2.71 ^{bc}	0.96 ^{cd}	0.06 ^d	0.31	< 0.001	
Immunoglobulin M (Mg/mL)	2.37	0.61	0.35	0.19	0.15	0.05	0.333	

Table 4.4 Effect of Bacillus subtilis and its delivery routes on relative weight of immune organs and serum immunoglobulin concentrations in broiler chickens

¹Treatments include— (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean mealwheat–based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (4) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (5) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b,c,d} significantly differ.

4.4.4 Blood biochemistry

Results on blood biochemistry are presented in Table 4.5. Only the concentrations of plasma

sodium and chloride showed significant treatment effect in this study. Both electrolytes' minerals recorded similar trend. In both cases, the in-feed antibiotics treatment recorded higher (P < 0.05) concentrations of both minerals compared to the NC treatment. Other treatment groups recorded intermediate statistical values for the concentrations of both minerals (sodium and chloride).

4.4.5 Gut morphology

Table 4.6 shows the results on the morphology of the three gut sections (duodenum, jejunum, and ileum). Both doses of the *in ovo* delivered probiotics treatment increased (P < 0.001) duodenal villus height compared to NC treatment. The *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment increased (P = 0.023) compared to the in-feed probiotics and NC treatment. Duodenal crypt depth was reduced by all treatments compared to the control treatment, with the exception of the *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment which recorded a statistical intermediate crypt depth value. Conversely, jejunal villus height was increased (P = 0.001) by all treatments compared to the *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment. The in-feed probiotics treatment recorded statistically intermediate jejunal villus height values. On the contrary, the *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatment recorded increased (P < 0.001) villus width compared to other treatments (except for the negative control treatment). Jejunal crypt depth was also reduced (P < 0.001) by the in-feed antibiotics and *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatments compared to other treatments. In terms of jejunal villus height to crypt depth ratio, the in-feed antibiotic treatment was better (P < 0.001) than all other treatments. Treatments had no effect (P = 0.115) on villus height in the ileum. The in-feed probiotics treatment also recorded the least (P < 0.001) ileal crypt depth, but this was only different from the NC treatment. Similarly, the NC and in ovo probiotics 1 treatment recorded the least (P < 0.001) villus height: crypt depth values in the ileum.

Parameters	Negative Control	In-feed Antibiotics	In- feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics 1	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics 2	SEM ²	<i>P</i> value ³			
Electrolytes (mmol· L^{-1})										
Sodium	149.4 ^b	152.0 ^a	151.7 ^{ab}	151.2 ^{ab}	151.6 ^{ab}	0.52	0.031			
Potassium	6.96	6.62	6.64	6.85	6.87	0.07	0.416			
Sodium: Potassium	21.49	23.04	23.04	22.18	22.07	0.25	0.090			
Chloride	109 ^b	113 ^a	111 ^{ab}	111 ^{ab}	110 ^{ab}	0.5	0.022			
Calcium	3.16	2.80	2.98	3.03	3.11	0.06	0.148			
Phosphorus	2.47	2.18	2.29	2.38	2.34	0.05	0.317			
Magnesium	0.87	0.80	0.78	0.80	0.84	0.01	0.063			
		Meta	bolites (mmo	$l \cdot L^{-1}$)						
Urea	0.31	0.30	0.35	0.29	0.28	0.01	0.318			
Glucose	15.5	15.3	15.6	16.	15.4	0.14	0.542			
Cholesterol	3.49	3.53	3.51	3.43	3.63	0.05	0.859			
Iron	18.5	20.6	21.1	19.9	19.7	0.01	0.772			
Bile acids	22.5	24.4	24.4	20.7	25.2	0.94	0.584			
Uric acid	364	375	424	384	396	0.01	0.498			
Creatinine	1.99	1.69	2.00	1.55	6.42	0.06	0.083			
		E	nzymes (U·L⁻	⁻¹)						

Table 4.5 Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* and its delivery routes on broiler chicken plasma biochemistry indices.

Amylase	606	703	726	795	782	38.6	0.579	_			
Lipase	22.1	23.7	24.3	20.4	20.7	0.03	0.895				
Creatine kinase	6,496	8,291	7,562	5,111	4,598	0.04	0.411				
Alkaline Phosphatase	10,205	7,775	11,986	13,378	9,264	1000	0.438				
Alanine transaminase	2.62	2.25	3.56	2.00	2.38	0.04	0.287				
Aspartate	166	102	101	150	167	0.01	0.218				
Aminotransferase	100	192	104	139	102	0.01	0.318				
Gamma-Glutamyl	0.17	10.72	0.50	0.50	10.72	0.26	0.140				
Transferase	7.1/	10.72	9.30	9.30	10.72	0.20	0.140				
	Proteins $(g \cdot L^{-1})$										
Total Proteins	28.6	27.2	28.2	29.4	29.1	0.001	0.596				
Albumin	11.8	11.9	11.7	11.9	11.6	0.14	0.973				
Globulin	16.7	15.3	16.3	17.5	17.4	0.003	0.421				
Albumin: Globulin	0.71	0.78	0.73	0.69	0.67	0.02	0.429				

¹Treatments include— (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (2) In-feed antibioticschicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (4) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (5) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b,} significantly differ.

Parameters	Negative Control	In-feed Antibiotics	In-feed probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics 1	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics 2	SEM ²	P value ³
Duodenum							
Villus height (mm)	2.05 ^{cd}	2.15 ^{bc}	1.99 ^{ab}	2.22 ^{ab}	2.30 ^a	0.02	< 0.001
Villus width (mm)	0.22 ^b	0.24 ^a	0.22 ^b	0.23 ^{ab}	0.24 ^a	0.00	0.023
Crypt depth (mm)	0.16 ^a	0.14 ^b	0.14 ^b	0.145 ^{ab}	0.16 ^a	0.00	< 0.001
Villus height: Crypt depth	12.5 ^b	14.9 ^a	13.9 ^{ab}	15.1ª	14.2 ^a	0.19	< 0.001
Jejunum							
Villus height (mm)	1.16 ^a	1.19 ^a	1.11 ^{ab}	1.19 ^a	1.09 ^b	0.01	0.001
Villus width (mm)	0.24 ^{ab}	0.20 ^c	0.21°	0.22 ^{bc}	0.26 ^a	0.00	< 0.001
Crypt depth (mm)	0.11 ^a	0.10 ^{bc}	0.11 ^a	0.11 ^a	0.10 ^{bc}	0.00	< 0.001
Villus height: Crypt depth	10.4 ^b	12.2 ^a	9.77 ^b	10.8 ^b	10.5 ^b	0.15	< 0.001
Ileum							
Villus height (mm)	0.74^{ab}	0.76^{ab}	0.80^{a}	0.71 ^b	0.82 ^a	0.01	0.001
Villus width (mm)	0.19	0.18	0.17	0.19	0.19	0.00	0.115
Crypt depth (mm)	0.15 ^a	0.134 ^{abc}	0.127 ^c	0.133 ^{bc}	0.14^{abc}	0.37	< 0.001
Villus height: Crypt depth	4.93 ^b	5.67 ^{ab}	6.39 ^a	5.41 ^b	5.74 ^{ab}	0.11	< 0.001

Table 4.6 Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* and its delivery routes on broiler chicken intestinal morphology.

¹Treatments include — (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean mealwheat-based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (4) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (5) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b,c} significantly differ.

4.4.6 Gut microbiota

Sequencing analysis yielded a total of 1,712 operational taxonomic units (OTUs) with ≥ 2 counts after quality filtering and demultiplexing. The % of taxon assigned at the Genus level was ~ 60%. Rarefaction curve showing specie richness is presented in Figure 4.2. Alpha diversity (Shannon index) showed significant (P < 0.001) diversity between the ileal and cecal samples but not between treatment groups (Figures 4.3 a, b, and c). Similarly, Beta diversity determined by ordination analysis based on Bray-Curtis Index showed unique cluster separation between the ileal and cecal microbiota but not between treatment groups in both gut sections (Figure 4.4 a, b, and c).



Figure 4.2 Rarefaction curves showing specie richness obtained from 16S rRNA gene V3V4 sequences.

Based on (a) microbiota source - ceca and ileum and (b) treatment - (A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) In-feed probiotics - chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 108 CFU/kg of feed; (E) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10 × 106 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (F) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20 × 106 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent.



Figure 4.3 Alpha diversity (Shannon's index) box plots.

Shows (a) significant difference between ileal and cecal microbiota (T-test, P > 0.001), (b) no significant effect of treatments on ileal microbiota diversity (ANOVA, P = 0.180), (c) no significant effect of treatment on ceca microbiota (ANOVA, P = 0.320). Treatments include— (A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (E) *In ovo* probiotics group 1-eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (F) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent. Boxes in the boxplots denote interquartile range, solid middle line in the boxes denote the median, and dotted lines denote the means, all symbols outsides the boxes represent outliers.





Figure 4.4 Beta diversity (based on analysis based on Bray-Curtis Index) principal coordinate plots.

Show (a) significant difference between ileal and cecal microbiota (PCOA, ANOSIM, P > 0.05), (b) no significant effect of treatments on ileal beta diversity (PCA, ANOSIM, P > 0.05), (c) no significant effect of treatment on ceca beta diversity (PCA, ANOSIM, P > 0.05). Treatments include— A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal cornsoybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (E) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10 × 10⁶ CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (F) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20 × 10⁶ CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL

In terms of microbiota composition, the relative abundance of the predominant bacteria phyla and genera in the ileum and ceca are shown in Figures 4.5 and 4.6. Ileal phyla were dominated by >89% phylum Firmicutes across all treatment groups. The relative abundance of other dominant phyla followed the trend Actinobacteria (range of 0.5-9.8% across treatments) > Cyanobacteria (range of 0.4-2.5%) > Proteobacteria (range of 0.4-1.2%) > Bacteroidetes (range of 0-0.03%). Conversely, ceca phyla were dominated by >96% Firmicutes. Phylum Actinobacteria (range of 0.2-3.4% across treatments) and Proteobacteria (range of 0.1-3.1% across treatments) together accounted for the remainder of the ceca phyla microbiota composition. Phylum Bacteroidetes were not reported in the ceca. At the genus taxa, the ileal microbiota was dominated by ~ 54% Lactobacillus, with a 43-65% relative abundance across treatment groups. Other predominant genera in the ileum included Streptococcus > Enterococcus > Romboutsia > Clostridium sensu_stricto_1 > Lachnospiraceae Sp. > Candidatus Arthromitus > Faecalibacterium > Peptostreptococcaceae Intestinibacter. Unlike the ileum, the ceca were dominated by ~ 48% genus Ruminococcaceae Faecalibacterium, with a 39-53% relative abundance across treatment groups. Other predominant genera in the ceca followed the order Lachnospiraceae Sp. > Streptococcus > Romboutsia > Ruminococcaceae Sp. > Lactobacillus > Peptostreptococcaceae Intestinibacter > Clostridium sensu stricto l > Enterococcus. Concurrently, significant differences in the cumulative proportions of bacteria in the genus *Enterococcus* in the ileum were observed (Figure 4.7a). While the in-feed antibiotic treatment increased (P = 0.02) the proportion of this bacteria compared to the in-feed probiotics and *in ovo* probiotic 1 treatment, other treatments recorded statistically intermediate proportions of bacteria in this genus. Similarly, in the ceca, significant differences in the cumulative proportion of bacteria were only detected in the genus *Streptococcus* (Figure 4.7b). The in-feed antibiotic treatment reduced (P = 0.03) the proportion of bacteria in this genus compared to the in-feed probiotics treatment. Other treatments recorded statistically intermediate proportions of bacteria in this genus.


Figure 4.5 Gut microbiota composition at the phylum taxa.

For both (a) ileal and (b) cecal digesta in broiler chickens with treatment groups-A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) In-feed probiotics - chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (E) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (F) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent.



Figure 4.6 Gut microbiota composition at the genus taxa

For both (a) ileal and (b) ceca digesta in broiler chickens with treatment groups-A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat– based diet; (B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (E) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (F) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20×10^6 CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent.



Figure 4.7 Significant differences in cumulative proportions of bacteria.

In the genera (a) *Enterococcus* in the ileum (ANOVA, P = 0.023) and (b) *Streptococcus* in the ceca of broiler chickens (ANOVA, P = 0.031) under different treatment groups. Treatment groups include A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) In-feed probiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.005% *Bacillus subtilis* containing 1 x 10⁸ CFU/kg of feed; (E) *In ovo* probiotics group 1- eggs injected with 10 × 10⁶ CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent; and (F) *In ovo* probiotics group 2- eggs injected with 20 × 10⁶ CFU of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract /0.2 mL saline diluent.

4.5 Discussion

The use of *Bacillus subtilis* probiotic strains as prospective alternatives to AGPs due to their sporeforming, immunomodulatory and antibacterial properties continue to gain momentum in the poultry industry (Duc et al., 2004; Griggs and Jacob, 2005). Nonetheless, like other competitive exclusion cultures, strain-specific properties like proteolytic activity, toxin-producing capacity, inoculation dose, and delivery routes are potential factors that could limit their efficacy (Edens et al., 1997; Peebles, 2019). Using selected parameters and direct comparison to an AGP (Bacitracin); this study thus attempts to validate the optimum dose (10×10^6 CFU vs. 20×10^6 CFU) and delivery route (*in ovo* vs. in-feed) of *Bacillus subtilis* that qualify it as an effective alternative to AGP.

This study revalidates previous reports from our laboratory (Oladokun et al., 2021a) that showed that amniotic delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract at embryonic day 18 had no negative effect on embryo viability and hatchability. Both *in ovo* probiotics treatments in this study recorded ~ 96% hatchability, similar to the non-injected eggs. Consistent with the result reported here, other studies (Edens et al., 1997; Pender et al., 2016, 2017; Majidi-Mosleh et al., 2017a; b; Castañeda et al., 2020; Alizadeh et al., 2020) have also affirmed no adverse effect of *in ovo* delivered probiotics on hatchability. Contrastingly, although dependent on the broiler chicken strain, probiotic strain, injection site, and injection dose (De Oliveira et al., 2014; El-Moneim et al., 2020; Leão et al., 2021), a few studies (Meijerhof and Hulet, 1997; Triplett et al., 2018) have reported reduced hatchability following *in ovo* delivery of probiotics. Besides, Uni and Ferket (2003) patent has previously recommended that amniotic delivery of enteric modulators between embryonic days 17 and19 does not impair hatchability, as the developing embryo maximizes the *in ovo* delivered substances at this time-point.

Additionally, chicks hatched from the non-injected eggs treatment in this study recorded reduced ratio of chick bodyweight to egg weight compared to the *in ovo* saline and *in ovo* probiotics 2 treatments. Several factors including egg size (Wilson, 1991; Tahir et al., 2011), length of egg storage (Lapão et al., 1999), post-hatch chick-holding time (Pinchasov, 1991; Reis et al., 1997), and age of breeder flock (Leão et al., 2021) are reported to influence the ratio of chick body weight to egg weight. Older breeder flocks are known to lay heavier eggs, and heavier eggs usually undergo less dehydration leading to a high chick body weight to egg weight ratio. Considering that all eggs in this study were sourced from the same source and underwent similar

incubation and post-hatch conditions, the observed result might not be attributed to the variabilities associated with egg source, egg storage, or post-hatch handling condition. Additionally, although randomly allotted, the average weight of non-injected eggs in this study was at least 0.2% heavier than other treatments (data not shown), suggesting that egg size could also not have influenced the observed result. Nonetheless, chick body weight to egg weight ratio recorded for all treatments in this study were within the normal range (62-76%) for broiler chickens reported by Kumar et al. (1994). Despite the foregoing, it would be important to limit the use of small-sized eggs in current hatchery practice, as this has practical implications on bird hatch weight and subsequent market weights.

Furthermore, in this study, at the end of the total trial period (d35) and week 5 especially, all probiotics treatments (irrespective of delivery routes) recorded similar feed conversion efficiency (P > 0.05) as the antibiotic treatment, with similar or less feed intake (P < 0.1). Several studies have affirmed the role of AGP (especially BMD) in improved growth performance (especially via increased AFI) in poultry (Gadde et al., 2017a; N. Karthikeyan et al., 2017; Walters et al., 2019). On the other hand, probiotics (whether in-feed or in ovo) are theorized to improve growth performance in poultry by positively modulating the gut microbiota in favour of host's nutrient utilization and energy uptake (Furuse and Yokota, 1985). Notwithstanding, variable results on the effect of probiotics (especially *Bacillus subtilis*) supplementation on growth performance are reported in the literature. Consistent with the results presented here, a number of studies (Knap et al., 2011; E Malik et al., 2016; Majidi-Mosleh et al., 2017b; a; Duneska and Bustillo, 2020; Castañeda et al., 2021) have reported no significant effect of Bacillus subtilis delivered across several routes (in-feed, in-water, or in ovo) on ABWG in broiler chickens. Conversely, improved ABWG following probiotics supplementation across several routes has also been reported in poultry (Aliakbarpour et al., 2012; Sen et al., 2012; Jeong and Kim, 2014; Gadde et al., 2017b; Hayashi et al., 2018). A plethora of factors, including probiotic viability, diet interaction, bird's genetic potential, and environmental or stress status, could account for the inconsistency in probiotics effect on growth performance recorded across the literature (Patterson and Burkholder, 2003; Mountzouris et al., 2007b; Flint and Garner, 2009). Additionaly, it has been speculated that a single time point delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* via the *in ovo* route might only guarantee a transient beneficial effects in the chicken gut (Latorre et al., 2014; Bernardeau et al., 2017). Both Patterson and Burkholder (2003) and Nunes et al. (2012) have submitted that significant improvement in growth performance following probiotics supplementation is mostly

feasible in evironmental or imunological challenged birds producing below their genetic potential. Although, the birds utilized in this study have been genetically selected for high growth performance, it is interesting to note that all probiotics treatments recorded at most 3-point less FCR values at d35, compared to the performance objectives metric recommended by the breeders (Cobb, 2018).

Similar to the results on growth performance, all probiotic treatments (regardless of delivery routes) in this study reduced (P < 0.001) the concentration of serum IgG compared to the control treatment. Serum immunoglobulins are reflective of the humoral immune status of the bird. Despite the considerable number of reports in the literature that have reiterated the immunomodulatory role of probiotics (Haghighi et al., 2006; Bai et al., 2017; Pender et al., 2017; Royan, 2017), a complete mechanistic insight on the specific mode (s) of action is yet to be fully elucidated. A few of the prevailing rationale for the immunomodulatory role of probiotics in the literature will include increased antimicrobial peptide production (Royan, 2017), neutralizing dysbiosis (Cisek and Binek, 2014), mucosal immunostimulation (Nava et al., 2005), and increased antibody production against infectious antigens (Lee et al., 2007). Consistent with the report in the literature, Kabir et al. (2004) and Elkhouly et al. (2016) reported increased antibody production in broiler chickens exposed to sheep red blood cells and pathogenic antigen challenges. On the contrary, considering that birds in this study were raised under experimental conditions and were not subjected to any form of challenge, it is rational to speculate that the reduced levels of serum IgG might be a result of probiotics elimination of pathogenic agents that could have resulted in increased production of natural antibodies. This is corroborated by the report of Munyaka et al. (2012), a similar unchallenged study with broiler chickens. Nothwithstanding, more studies are needed to provide a broader understanding of the immunomodulatory mechanisms of probiotics in poultry.

With regards to blood biochemistry indices, the in-feed antibiotics treatment recorded increased (P < 0.05) levels of blood plasma sodium and chloride, compared to the negative control treatment. The blood is often considered a window to the health status of the bird. This report's findings are consistent with recent data from our laboratory (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022a), which also demonstrates that the use of in-feed antibiotics raises the levels of both electrolyte minerals. While all evaluated blood biochemical indices are in the range of published values for healthy broiler chickens (Ilo et al., 2019), both electrolyte minerals were within the upper limit of those ranges (Leeson and Summers, 2001). The effect of antibiotics on the levels of these blood

minerals is largely unreported in the literature. However, excessive levels of these minerals in the blood have been linked with the maladies of acidosis, immunosuppression, and poor bone health (Oviedo-Rondón et al., 2001; Pohl et al., 2013). This study may thus offer even another reason to promote the cessation of AGP use in poultry.

In terms of gut morphology, treatment effects were quite variable in this study. Broiler chicken growth rate has been correlated with its gut morphological development (Smith et al., 1990), as the gut is predicted to account for about 1.5% of body weight (Faruq et al., 2019). In this study, both *in ovo* probiotic treatments and in-feed antibiotics treatment improved duodenal morphology, compared to the negative control treatment, as evidenced by increased (P < 0.001) villus width and villus height to crypt depth ratio. In the jejunum, the in-feed antibiotic treatment recorded the highest (P < 0.001) villus height to crypt depth ratio compared to other treatments. In the ileum, all treatments except the *in ovo* probiotics 1 treatment recorded higher (P < 0.001) villus height to crypt depth ratio than the negative control treatment. Nonetheless, in terms of improved ileal morphology, as evidenced by villus height to crypt depth ratios, both levels of *in* ovo delivered probiotics displayed statistical similarity. The almost identical growth performance indices observed in this study could be potentially explained by the statistical comparability for evaluated gut morphological indicators demonstrated by most treatments. Although the jejunum is thought to be the primary location of nutrient absorption in the intestine (Zeinali et al., 2017), broiler chickens' duodenum and ileum also play important roles in the digestion and absorption of protein, lipids, fat-soluble vitamins, and starch (Svihus, 2014). Increased villus height and villus height to crypt depth ratio are indicators of higher epithelial cell turnover and a well-differentiated intestinal mucosa, usually suggestive of increased digestive and absorptive ability (Jeurissen et al., 2002). Numerous studies (Viveros et al., 2011; Khodambashi Emami et al., 2012; Adewole and Akinyemi, 2021; Akinyemi and Adewole, 2022a) have already documented the beneficial effects of AGP (particularly BMD) on the gut, which are frequently linked to their antibacterial and gut microbiota-modulating capabilities. In agreement with the result presented here, probiotics have also been shown to have a positive effect on broiler chicken gut morphological indices, in numerous studies (Awad et al., 2008, 2010; Aliakbarpour et al., 2012; Deng et al., 2012; Xiang et al., 2019; Castañeda et al., 2020; El-Moneim et al., 2020; Bogusławska-Tryk et al., 2021). Neverthelesss, it is inferable from these studies that this beneficial effect might be dependent on probiotic strains and delivery routes, with lactic acid-based probiotics and *in ovo* delivery routes affording the most benefits. Probiotics are thought to exert this beneficial effect through

competitive exclusion of pathogens (which occurs early enough in the case of *in ovo* delivery) (Vieco-Saiz et al., 2019; Castañeda et al., 2020).

As highlighted in the introductory section, one of the benefits derivable from in ovo delivery of probiotics is the advantage of colonizing the gut microbiota with beneficial microbes very early on, rather than trying to alter an already established microbiota in later life. In this study, the different evaluated gut sections (i.e., ileum and caecum) revealed distinct microbial diversity (alpha-Shannon index), with the ceca recording higher diversity compared to the ileum. However, treatments had no significant effect on alpha diversity index across both gut sections in this study. This result is in conformation with prevailing knowledge in the literature that microbial diversity is higher in the ceca compared to the ileum as a result of higher fermentation activity (Yeoman and White, 2014; Mohd Shaufi et al., 2015; Qin et al., 2018; Oladokun et al., 2022). Similarly, other studies (Chang et al., 2020; Oladokun et al., 2021a; Zhang et al., 2021; Guo et al., 2021; Deng et al., 2022; Memon et al., 2022) involving probiotics supplementation have also reported no significant effect of probiotics (irrespective of delivery routes) on alpha diversity indices. According to Thibodeau et al. (2015), only extreme events that distort the number of ecological niches across bacterial species can modify alpha diversity indices. Beta diversity analysis also showed no variation in microbial community structure between treatments at the ileum and caecum, but there were clear differences in bacterial community profile across both gut sections. Oladokun et al. (2021a) have previously reported that *Bacillus subtilis* supplementation across several routes does not cause a shift in beta diversity. Asides from differences in gut sections and nutrition, other potential factors that could cause a shift in beta diversity include broiler chicken age, breed, and environmental/stress condition (Stanley et al., 2014; Oakley et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2015). Regarding microbiota composition, phylum Firmicutes, Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria were the dominant taxa across both ileum and caecum. Similar findings have been reported in ileal and cecal samples from probiotic-supplemented broiler chickens (Wang et al., 2017; Oladokun et al., 2021a; Memon et al., 2022).

Furthermore, the in-feed antibiotics treatment increased the abundance of bacteria in the genus *Enterococcus* in the ileum compared to the in-feed probiotics and *in ovo* probiotic 1 treatment. The genus *Enterococcus* potentially consists of harmful and beneficial species. For instance, Tortuero (1973) has previously reported that the implantation of probiotics *Lact. acidophilli* to leghorn chicks could promote bacterial antagonists that would subsequently inhibit the abundance of bacteria in the genus *Enterococci*, dubbed to cause a "fat malabsorption

syndrome". Contrarily, Enterococcus faecium is an important lactic acid-producing bacteria famous for its use as probiotics in poultry production (Yu, 2018; Zheng et al., 2020). Beneficial effects associated with Enterococcus faecium includes pathogen exclusion, improved host immunocompetence, improved feed conversion ratio, and weight gain, and enhanced antioxidant status (Capcarova et al., 2011; Kreuzer et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2019). Feed additives, including probiotics, antibiotics, and anticoccidials, have all been reported to enhance the abundance of bacteria in the genus *Enterococcus* in healthy broiler chickens (Lu et al., 2003). Additionaly, in the cecum, the proportion of bacteria in the genus Streptococcus was reduced by the in-feed antibiotic treatment compared to the in-feed probiotics treatment. Similar to the genus *Enterococcus*, the activities of bacteria in the genus *Streptococcus* might also be species-specific. Streptococcus jaecalis has been implicated in the incidence of "fat malabsorption syndrome", which was counteracted with antibiotics supplementation (Huhtanen and Pensack, 1965). Conversely, a few studies have also reported the capacity of Streptococcus thermophilus to enhance gut integrity (Briskey et al., 2016; Zeng et al., 2017). Consistent with the result observed here, Bauer et al. (2019) have reported that oregano supplementation (1% w/v) on microbial cell cultures obtained from the cecum of broiler chickens significantly reduced bacteria in the genus Streptococcus. Given the healthy state of the flock in this study, it is probable that treatments in this study might have enhanced the abundance of beneficial species of both genera.

4.6 Conclusions

This study has successfully revalidated that amniotic delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract at embryonic day 18 has no adverse effect on embryo viability and hatchability. *In ovo* delivered *Bacillus subtilis* in this study recorded ~ 96% hatchability. All *Bacillus subtilis* treatments (independent of delivery routes and dose) were mostly comparable to the in-feed antibiotics treatment in their ability to ensure gut microbiota homeostasis, enhanced gut morphology, and feed conversion efficiency, even while consuming similar or less feed. Similarly, all *Bacillus subtilis* treatments reduced serum IgG concentrations compared to the negative control treatment. However, the *in ovo* delivered *Bacillus subtilis* treatments showed the lowest numerical decrease in serum IgG concentrations, suggesting that *Bacillus subtilis* (especially *in ovo* delivered) might provide broiler chickens with better immunological protection by neutralizing pathogenic organisms that could result in the production of natural antibodies, without adversely

affecting hatch and growth performance. As the results obtainable for both *in ovo Bacillus subtilis* delivered treatments were mostly comparable for most of the evaluated parameters, the *in ovo* probiotics 1 (10×10^6 CFU) treatment might thus be a more practical option from an economic standpoint. Nonetheless, it would be important for further research to determine if indeed immunological protection is conferred on broiler chickens supplemented with this treatment under some sort of immunological or environmental challenge conditions.

5 CHAPTER 5 ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTES ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTE: EFFECT ON BROILER CHICKEN'S GROWTH PERFORMANCE, BLOOD BIOCHEMISTRY, INTESTINAL MORPHOLOGY, IMMUNE, AND ANTIOXIDANT STATUS

This section has been published and presented elsewhere:

- Oladokun, S., MacIsaac, J., Rathgeber, B. and Adewole, D., 2021. Essential Oil Delivery Route: Effect on Broiler Chicken's Growth Performance, Blood Biochemistry, Intestinal Morphology, Immune, and Antioxidant Status. Animals, 11:3386. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11123386</u>
- Oladokun, S., MacIsaac, J., Rathgeber, B. and Adewole. 2021. Successive delivery of essential oil via *in ovo* and in-water route improves broiler chicken blood biochemical and antioxidant status without altering growth performance. Oral Presentation. Poultry Science Association (PSA) Annual Meeting, July 19-22.

5.1 Abstract

This study evaluated the effect of an essential oil (EO) blend and its delivery routes on broiler chicken growth performance, blood biochemistry, intestinal morphology, and immune and antioxidant status. Eggs were incubated and allotted to 3 groups: non-injected group, *in ovo* saline group, and *in ovo* essential oil group. On day 18 of incubation, essential oil in saline or saline alone was injected into the amnion. At hatch, chicks were assigned to post-hatch treatment combinations (1) *in ovo* essential oil + in-water essential oil (*in ovo* + in-water EO); (2) *in ovo* essential oil (*in ovo* EO); (3) *in ovo* saline; (4) in-water essential oil; (5) in-feed antibiotics (Bacitracin methylene disalicylate) and (6) a negative control (NC; corn-wheat-soybean diet) in 8 replicate cages (6 birds/cage) and raised for 28 day. The *in ovo* EO group reduced (P < 0.05) chick length and hatchability, all groups recorded no difference in growth performance at 0–28 day. The *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment reduced (P < 0.05) blood creatine kinase and aspartate aminotransferase levels whilst increasing (P < 0.05) total antioxidant capacity in birds. The *in ovo* + in-water delivery of EO might represent a potential antibiotic reduction strategy for the poultry industry but more research is needed to address the concern of reduced hatchability.

5.2 Introduction

The poultry meat industry is growing fast and is the cheapest source of animal protein for humans (Stiborova et al., 2020). This substantive growth in the poultry industry has, over the years, been facilitated by the sub-therapeutic use of antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) (Mohebodini et al., 2021). The supplementation of AGPs at sub-therapeutic levels is broadly used to improve the growth rate, feed efficiency, and reduce morbidity and mortality in poultry birds (Zeng et al., 2015). However, the continuous use of AGPs in the poultry industry has come under scrutiny due to public health concerns bordering on the emergence of antibiotic resistance (Diarra and Malouin, 2014). Consequently, a few countries have instituted restrictions against the use of AGPs in the poultry industry. For example, the European Union (EU) banned AGPs as far back as 2006 (Castanon, 2007). The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) also issued industry guidance on the prohibition of voluntary labeling of medically important animal drugs for animal growth promotion in 2013 (FDA, 2013). Canadian poultry producers eliminated the preventive use of category 1 and 2 antibiotics in 2014 and 2018, respectively (Chicken Farmers of Canada, 2021), while China also banned the use of AGPS in 2020 (Su et al., 2021). To preserve the potency of medically important antibiotics for human use, prevent the emergence of public health risks associated with the use of AGPs, satisfy increased consumer demands for antibiotic-free poultry products, and to sustain increased poultry production trends, there is a dire need for the development of safe, cost-effective, eco-friendly, and effective alternatives to AGPs for the poultry industry.

Several bioactive substances are being evaluated as potential alternatives to AGPs as reviewed by Gadde et al. (2017). These bioactive substances include probiotics, prebiotics, symbiotics, organic acids, enzymes, and several phytogenic feed additives (PFAs). The solid, dried, ground form or extracts from plants constitute these PFAs. Based on the extraction procedures, PFAs can be broadly classified as oleoresins (extracts derived by non-aqueous solvents) and essential oils (EOs; extracts obtained by cold, steam, or alcohol distillation) (Windisch et al., 2008; Van Der Klis and Vinyeta-Punti, 2014). Although the major component of most EOs, such as thymol, carvacrol, and eugenol, are phenolic compounds (terpenoids and phenylpropanoids) (Bassolé and Juliani, 2012), EOs vary in individual chemical compositions and concentrations. For example, as low as 3% and as high as 60%, thymol and carvacrol have been reported as the total EO in thyme (Lawrence and Reynolds, 1984) and a cinnamaldehyde range of 60% to 75% in cinnamon EOs (Duke, 2002). The activity of EOs is strongly associated with their

chemical composition, functional groups, and synergistic interactions between components (Nazzaro et al., 2013; Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska and Szczerbińska, 2017). Common aromatic oils utilized in poultry production include oils from garlic (*Allium sativum*), oregano (*Origanum vulgare*) turmeric, (*Curcuma longa*), lemon balm (*Melissa officinalis*), peppermint (*Mentha piperita*), star anise fruit (*Illicium verum*), cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*), rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis*), and thyme (*Thymus vulgaris*) (Bolukbasi, 2008; Faramarzi et al., 2013; Drăgan et al., 2014; Feizi et al., 2014; Reyer et al., 2017).

To explore a synergistic effect, commercial combinations, or a blend of several EO types is becoming increasingly popular. Across the literature, several in vitro studies have highlighted the antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, antimycotic, antiparasitic, insecticidal, antioxidant, antiinflammatory, anti-toxigenic, anti-quorum-sensing, and immune-regulating properties of EOs (Devi et al., 2010; Gopi et al., 2014; Swamy et al., 2016; Stevanović et al., 2018). Contrastingly, in vivo results reported in the literature on the effect of EOs on poultry performance are somewhat inconsistent. While a few studies have reported the positive effect of EOs on poultry performance, digestive function, immune response, antioxidant capacity, and meat quality (Jamroz et al., 2003; Murugesan et al., 2015; Barbarestani et al., 2020), other studies have equally recorded poor (Khosravinia, 2016) or no effect of EOs on poultry production parameters (Case et al., 1995; Botsoglou et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2003; Hernandez et al., 2004; Shanmugavelu et al., 2004; Jang et al., 2007; Akbarian et al., 2015; Wan et al., 2017). These inconsistencies in the efficacy of EOs have been associated with the limitations that characterize their mode of delivery (Balia et al., 2014; Heydarin et al., 2020), as most EOs are conventionally supplied via feed or water to poultry birds. These conventional routes limit the efficacy of EOs because EOs are extremely volatile, easily degradable, and sensitive to environmental variables (Zeng et al., 2015; Heydarin et al., 2020). For example, when supplied in the diet, pelleting temperature of 58 °C have been reported to cause considerable loss of EO activity (Maenner et al., 2011). Additionally, EOs may potentially interact with the composition of basal diets, hence limiting their efficacy (Botsoglou et al., 2004; Basmacioğlu Malayoğlu et al., 2010; Mountzouris et al., 2011). On the other hand, when supplied via the in-water route, the efficacy of EOs will depend on the quality of the water, and the quality of chick watering devices.

To overcome the identified challenges that characterize conventional delivery routes and, by extension, the efficacy of EOs; *in ovo* delivery has been proposed. *In ovo* technology has been defined as "the direct inoculation of bioactive substances to the developing embryo to elicit superior lifelong effects, while considering the dynamic physiology of the chicken embryo" (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). This mode of delivery offers a few advantages over conventional delivery routes. These advantages include an economic benefit, as fewer bioactive substances are reportedly needed to elicit similar performance-enhancing effects as conventional routes (Bednarczyk et al., 2016; Tavaniello et al., 2018). Additionally, *in ovo* delivery also offers scope for early immunomodulatory programming and nutritional intervention in chicks (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). Interestingly, research on the *in ovo* delivery of EOs in poultry is relatively scarce in the literature.

Accordingly, the objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of the *in ovo* delivery of a commercial EO blend (containing star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil) on hatch and growth performance, immune and antioxidant status, blood biochemistry, and intestinal morphometric properties in broiler chickens, compared to conventional delivery routes. This is the first study evaluating the efficacy of *in ovo* delivered EOs compared to AGPs within the limits of the available literature. This study also sought to evaluate if an additive benefit exists from the successive delivery of EOs via the *in ovo* and continuous in-water delivery routes. From available knowledge, this is also the first study seeking to evaluate such an effect.

5.3 Materials and Methods

The experiment was carried out at the hatchery facility of the Agricultural Campus of Dalhousie University and the broiler rearing facility of the Atlantic Poultry Research Center, Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture. All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Dalhousie University (Protocol number: 2020-035), following guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC, 2020).

5.3.1 Egg Incubation and *In ovo* Injection Procedure

A total of 670 hatching eggs with an average weight of 77.87 ± 2.43 g (mean ± SE) from 41-weekold Cobb 500 broiler breeders were sourced from a commercial hatchery (Synergy hatchery) in Nova Scotia, Canada. Eggs were incubated in a ChickMaster single-stage incubator (ChickMaster G09, Cresskill, NJ, USA) under standard conditions (37.5 °C and 55% relative humidity) from embryonic days (EDs) 1 to 17, and then to an average of 32 °C and 68% from EDs 18 to 21. Incubators were preheated for 24 h prior to setting eggs to ensure that proper temperature and humidity were stable. Egg trays were turned on a 90° arc four times an hour from the time of set until ED 18. Eggs were arranged in 6 replicate trays inside the incubator, each tray containing 96 eggs. On ED 12, eggs were candled, and infertile eggs were disposed of, leaving a total of 576 eggs for the trial. The remaining eggs were subsequently assigned to one of three treatment groups: (1) non-injected eggs (control; 288 eggs); (2) in ovo saline group (96 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl); (3) in ovo essential oil group (192 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1). The essential oil utilized in this study is a commercial blend (Probiotech International Inc., St Hyacinthe, Quebec, Canada) containing phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil. The EO blend is registered by Health Canada as a Veterinary Health Product (VHP). On ED 18, eggs were injected according to the procedure described by Oladokun et al. (2021), with slight modifications. Briefly, this involved disinfecting the eggs with 70% ethanol-dipped swabs and using an 18-gauge needle to carefully punch the shell at the center of the air cell (the blunt end). The injected EO was then delivered to the amnion using a self-refilling injector (Socorex ultra-1810.2.05005, Ecublens, Switzerland) equipped with a 22-gauge needle (injection needle length—3cm) at a 45-degree angle. After in ovo injection, the injection sites were sealed with sterile paraffin, and eggs were placed back in the incubator. The non-injected eggs were also taken out and returned to the incubator simultaneously as other injected treatment groups.

5.3.2 Birds, Housing, and Diets

As presented in Figure 5.1, hatchlings were weighed and randomly assigned to 6 new treatment groups. Chicks from the initial non-injection group were randomly allocated into four new treatment groups consisting of (1) chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet (Negative Control treatment; NC); (2) chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (in-feed antibiotics); and (3) chicks supplied the same commercial blend of EOs as earlier described via the water route (in-water essential oil) at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. The initial *in ovo* saline and *in ovo* essential oil groups were placed on the control diet to form treatment group, (6) consisted of chicks from the *in ovo* essential oil treatment), respectively. The last treatment group, (6) consisted of chicks from the *in ovo* essential oil treatment). All treatment groups had 48 birds each. Birds were placed in battery cages (0.93 m × 2.14 m), there were 6 birds per cage and 8 replicate cages per treatment. To minimize variability, only the top-tier cages were used; each treatment group was evenly represented across a tier. Birds were reared for 28 d under uniform controlled environmental conditions in line with Cobb Broiler Management Guide recommendations. Room temperature was set at 31 °C on day 0 and gradually

reduced to 23 °C on day 28, and relative humidity ranged between 45 and 55%. Dietary treatments, ingredients, and nutritional composition are presented in Table 5.1. Birds were provided with feed and water ad libitum; diets were fed as mash throughout the rearing period, including the starter (0-14 d) and grower (15-28 d) phases. Diets were formulated to meet Cobb 500 broiler chicken nutrient requirements.



Figure 5.1 Schematic presentation of experimental structure in the hatchery and barn.

	Phases								
Ingredients	Starter	· (0–14 d)	Grower	(15–28 d)					
	Control Diet	Antibiotic Diet	Control Diet	Antibiotic Diet					
	Ingredien	t Composition							
Corn (ground)	51.08	50.98	45.36	45.25					
Soybean meal-46.5	41.44	41.45	36.31	36.33					
Wheat	-	-	10	10					
Animal/vegetable fat	2.93	2.97	4.22	4.26					
Limestone	1.80	1.80	1.65	1.65					
Dicalcium Phosphate	1.24	1.24	1.06	1.06					
DL Methionine premix ²	0.59	0.59	0.53	0.53					
Vitamin/Mineral Premix ^{3,4}	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50					
Salt	0.41	0.41	0.37	0.37					
Lysine HCl	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00					
BMD 110G ⁵	-	0.05	-	0.05					
Total	100	100	100	100					
Nutrient	Calculate	d composition							
Metabolizable energy (kcal/kg)	3000	3000	3100	3100					
Crude protein	23	23	21.5	21.5					
Calcium	0.96	0.96	0.87	0.87					
Available phosphorus	0.48	0.48	0.44	0.44					
Sodium	0.19	0.19	0.18	0.18					
Digestible lysine	1.28	1.28	1.15	1.16					
Digestible methionine + cysteine	0.95	0.95	0.87	0.87					
Digestible Tryptophan	0.25	0.25	0.23	0.23					
Digestible Threonine	0.89	0.89	0.82	0.82					
-	Analyzed	l composition							
Dry Matter	90.7	90.8	93.2	93.5					
Crude protein	24.8	25	22.5	23.8					
Crude fat	5.50	5.79	6.84	6.85					
Calcium	1.06	1.13	1.00	0.96					
Potassium	1.14	1.16	0.99	1.04					
Phosphorus	0.69	0.70	0.67	0.62					
Sodium	0.19	0.21	0.21	0.16					

Table 5.1Ingredients, calculated, and analyzed compositions of experimental diets1 (as-fed
basis, percentage (%), unless otherwise stated).

¹Basal diet (NC); antibiotic diet containing NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD). ² Supplied/kg premix: DL-Methionine, 0.5 kg; wheat middling, 0.5 kg. ³ Starter vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Capantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0. 3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁴ Grower and Finisher vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0. 3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0. 3 mg biotin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0. 3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg

wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁵ Bacitracin methylene disalicylate (providing 55 mg/kg mixed feed); Alpharma, Inc., Fort Lee, NJ, USA.

5.3.3 Hatch Parameters and Chick Quality

Hatched chicks were counted and weighed individually. Hatchability was calculated as the percentage of hatched chicks to fertile incubated eggs per replicate. Hatched chick BW/initial egg weight ratio was also determined and recorded. Chick navel quality was evaluated by adopting the scoring method by Reijrink et al. (2009). Navel quality was scored 1—when the navel was completely closed and clean; scored 2—when the navel was discolored (i.e., when the navel color differs from the chick's skin color) with a maximum 2 mm opening; and scored 3—when the navel was discolored and with more than a 2mm opening. Chick length was obtained by placing the chick on its ventral side and measuring from the tip of the beak to the middle toe on the right leg.

5.3.4 Growth Performance Parameters and Sampling

Growth performance parameters—feed intake and average body weight (BW) were measured on a cage basis weekly. The average feed intake (AFI), average body weight gain (ABWG), and feed conversion ratio (FCR) were subsequently calculated from the obtained data. The FCR was calculated as the amount of feed consumed per unit of body weight gain. Cages were checked for mortality daily; dead birds were subsequently weighed and sent to the Nova Scotia Agriculture, Animal Health Laboratory for necropsy. Mortality weight was then used to correct the FCR.

On day 21, 1 bird per cage (8 replicate birds per treatment group) was randomly selected, weighed, and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After euthanasia of the bird, blood samples were collected from each bird into 10 mL blood serum collection tubes (BD VacutainerTM Serum Tubes, fisher scientific- BD366430) for serum immunoglobulins assay. After slaughter, the weights of the bursa of Fabricius and liver were also determined by trained personnel.

On day 28, 2 birds per cage (16 replicate birds per treatment group) were randomly selected and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After euthanasia of the bird, blood samples were collected from each bird into 10 mL heparinized tubes (BD VacutainerTM Glass Blood Collection Tubes with Sodium Heparin, fisher scientific- BD366480) for blood biochemistry and plasma total antioxidant assays. After slaughter, the small intestinal segments, including the jejunum (1.5-cm length midway between the point of entry of the bile ducts and Meckel's diverticulum) and ileum (1.5-cm length midway between Meckel's diverticulum and the ileocecal junction) were excised and fixed in neutral buffered formalin (10%) for further histomorphological processing (Awad et al., 2009).

5.3.4.1 Relative Weight of Organs

The weights of the bursa of Fabricius and liver were recorded and then specified as a percentage of the live BW of the slaughtered chicken (g/Kg BW).

5.3.4.2 Serum Immunoglobulins

Serum samples were used to measure concentrations of immunoglobulins (IgG and IgM) using chicken-specific immunoglobulins enzyme-link immunosorbent assay (ELISA) quantitation kits (Bethyl Laboratories, Montgomery, TX, USA; Catalog No. E33-104-200218 and E33-102-180410, respectively) following manufacturer instructions. The values were determined on a microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instrument Inc., Wonooski, VT, USA) using a software program (KC4, version #3.3, Bio Tek Instruments). The four-parameter logistic model was used to extrapolate immunoglobulins concentration and absorbance readings.

5.3.4.3 Blood Biochemistry

Samples for blood biochemical analysis were centrifuged at $5,000 \times$ g at 4 °C for 10 min and shipped on ice to Atlantic Veterinary College, University of Prince Edward Island Pathology Laboratory, where samples were analyzed using cobas[®] 6000 analyzer series (Roche Diagnostics, IN, USA).

5.3.4.4 Total Antioxidant Capacity (TAC)

Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in plasma was analyzed using the Oxiselect Total Antioxidant Capacity assay kit (STA360; Cell BioLabs Inc., San Diego, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions (Silva-Guillen et al., 2020). Absorbance was measured at 490 nm on a microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instrument Inc., Wonooski, VT, USA) using a software program (KC4, version #3.3, Bio Tek Instruments). Results were expressed as mM Uric acid equivalent.

5.3.4.5 Intestinal Morphology

The procedure for intestinal morphometric analysis was as described by Oladokun et al. (2021a). Briefly, fixed intestinal tissues were embedded in paraffin, sectioned (0.5 μ m thick), and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for morphological examinations. In each cross-sectioned tissue, ten morphometric measurements including the villus height (from the base of the intestinal mucosa to the tip of the villus excluding the intestinal crypt), villus width (halfway between the base and the tip), crypt depth (from the base upward to the region of transition between the crypt and villi) (Ozdogan et al., 2014), per slide were carried out using Leica 1CC50 W microscope at 4×

Magnification (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany) and an image processing and analysis system (Leica Application Suite, Version 3.4.0, Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany). The total mucosa thickness (villus height + crypt depth) was subsequently calculated from the obtained data.

5.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Hatch data were analyzed as a completely randomized design, while other datasets obtained were analyzed as a randomized complete block design, with cage-tiers being the blocking factor. The normality of all data sets was ascertained by testing residuals by the Anderson-Darling test in Minitab statistical package (v.18.1). Data sets found to be normal were subjected to oneway ANOVA in the same statistical package with experimental treatments as a factor and the relevant data sets as variables. Data sets found not to be normal, including plasma protein, globulin, and bile acids, were transformed using the reciprocal function. Data on plasma potassium, chloride, and magnesium were transformed using the reciprocal cube function, while plasma glucose and chloride were transformed by the square reciprocal function. Data on plasma alkaline phosphatase (ALP), uric acid, serum IgG were transformed using the natural log function. Data on plasma aspartate aminotransferase (AST), creatine kinase (CK), and urea were transformed using the logarithm base ten functions. Following data transformations, the transformed data were equally subjected to ANOVA procedures in the same statistical package, with appropriately back-transformed data presented. For hatchability parameters, hatching trays were the experimental units, and the pen was the experimental unit for growth performance parameters. Significant means were separated using Tukey's honest significant difference test in the same statistical package. Analyzed data were presented as means \pm SEM and probability values. Values were considered statistically different at $P \le 0.05$ and considered a statistical trend at P < 0.1.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Hatch Performance and Chick Quality

The results on hatch performance and chick quality are presented in Table 5.2. No effect of treatment was recorded for the average chick weight and average navel score parameters. However, both hatchability and average chick length were significantly (P < 0.05) affected by treatments. The *in ovo* essential oil treatment recorded an 18.1 and 19.5% reduction in hatchability compared to the non-injected and *in ovo* saline treatment, respectively. Similarly, the *in ovo* essential oil treatment also recorded a 3.7 and 3.2% reduction in average chick length compared

to the non-injected and *in ovo* saline treatment, respectively. At the pretrial stage of this experiment, the ovo delivery of EO + saline increased chick weight and had no effect on chick length (Table 5.3).

	Tı	reatments	s ¹		<i>P</i> Value ³	
Hatch Parameters	Non- Injected	<i>In ovo</i> Saline	<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil	SEM ²		
Hatchability (%)	95.3ª	97.0 ^a	78.1 ^b	4.10	0.001	
Average Chick Weight (g)	52.3	49.7	47.4	2.00	0.590	
Average Chick Length (cm)	18.9 ^a	18.8 ^a	18.2 ^b	0.11	0.002	
Chick BW/ Egg Weight (%)	56.7	70.2	64.4	3.00	0.183	
Average Navel Score	1.67	1.51	1.77	0.10	0.299	

Table 5.2 Effect of essential oil delivery route on hatch performance and chick quality.

¹Treatments include— (1) non-injected eggs; (2) *in ovo* Saline group- injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (3) *in ovo* essential oil group- injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a, b} differs (P < 0.05).

		Tr	eatments ¹			
Hatch Parameters	Non-	In ovo	In ovo	In ovo	GEM2	DX7-13
	Injected	Saline	oil	Essential oil + Saline	SEIVI2	P value ³
Hatchability (%)	100 ^a	81.5 ^{ab}	79.5 ^b	74.6 ^b	3.18	0.008
Average Chick Weight (g)	42.1 ^{ab}	35.1 ^{bc}	31.7°	43.8ª	1.52	< 0.001
Average Chick Length (cm)	19.7	18.6	18.7	19.2	0.20	0.216

Table 5.3 Effect of essential oil delivery route on hatch performance and chick quality at the pretrial stage.

¹Treatments include- 1) non-injected eggs; 2) *in ovo* Saline group- injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); 3) *in ovo* essential oil group- injected with 0.2mL essential oil blend mixture containing phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil; 4) *in ovo* essential oil + saline group- injected with 0.2mL essential oil blend mixture (containing phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil) and saline (0.9% NaCl) solution at a dilution ratio of 1:1. Each treatment groups had 60 eggs each (average weight 78.4 ± 2.73 g; mean \pm SE), sourced from Ross 308 broiler breeders. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b,c} differ (*P* < 0.05).

5.4.2 Growth Performance

Results on evaluated growth parameters are presented in Table 5.4. At the starter phase (d 0–14), antibiotic treatment recorded higher (P < 0.05) ABWG compared to all *in ovo*-delivered treatments (*in ovo* saline, *in ovo* EO, *in ovo* + in water EO). At the grower phase (d 15–28) and for the entire length of study (d 0–28), there was no treatment effect on evaluated growth performance parameters.

			Treatme	ents ¹				
Growth Performance Parameters	Negative Control	In-Feed Antibiotics	In-Water Essential Oil	<i>In ovo</i> Saline	<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil	<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil + In-Water Essential oil	SEM ²	<i>P</i> Value ³
		Average	Feed Intake	(g/bird)				
D 1–14	305	292	308	272	296	294	27.5	0.845
D 15–28	1297	1303	1497	1182	1166	1139	67.6	0.386
D 1–28	1599	1604	1790	1447	1461	1439	92.7	0.449
		Average Bo	dy weight g	ain (g/bir	d)			
D 1–14	294 ^{ab}	307 ^a	287 ^{abc}	246°	253 ^{bc}	250 ^{bc}	7.68	0.040
D 15–28	950	994	931	869	852	857	26.7	0.345
D 1–28	1243	1301	1217	1110	1104	1104	32.9	0.161
		Feed	conversion	ratio				
D 1–14	1.07	0.97	1.09	1.14	1.22	1.23	0.11	0.116
D 15–28	1.38	1.30	1.53	1.43	1.43	1.39	0.09	0.574
D 1–28	1.31	1.23	1.43	1.38	1.38	1.37	0.09	0.463
		Averag	ge water inta	ike (1)				
D 1–14	1.09	1.24	1.14	1.08	1.04	1.13	0.03	0.448
D 15–28	2.68	2.69	2.74	2.51	2.49	2.94	0.08	0.527
D 1–28	3.75	3.90	3.86	3.62	3.53	4.05	0.07	0.232

 Table 5.4
 Effect of essential oil delivery route on broiler chicken growth performance

¹ Treatments include- (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and (3) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (4) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, (6) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a, b, c} differs (P < 0.05).

5.4.3 Relative Weight of Organic and Serum Immunoglobulins

Treatments recorded no significant effect on serum IgG and IgM levels in broiler chickens in this study (Table 5.5). Results on evaluated organ weights are also presented in Table 5.5. The relative weight of the bursa was equally not affected by treatments in this study. However, the *in ovo* + inwater essential oil treatment recorded a tendency (p = 0.07) to increase the relative weight of the liver compared to other treatments. The relative liver weight of birds in this treatment was 15% heavier than the NC treatment and at least 6% heavier than other treatments.

			Tre	atments ¹				
Parameters	Negative Control	In-Feed Antibiotics	In-Water Essential Oil	<i>In ovo</i> Saline	<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil	<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil + In-Water Essential oil	SEM ²	<i>P</i> Value
Bursa weight (g/Kg BW)	1.84	2.03	1.79	1.80	1.91	1.72	0.07	0.826
Liver weight (g/Kg BW)	27.5	27.5	29.3	30.0	29.2	31.8	0.51	0.066
Immunoglobulin G (Mg/mL)	0.74	0.44	0.78	1.29	0.76	0.68	0.31	0.189
Immunoglobulin M (Mg/mL)	0.11	0.07	0.12	0.15	0.11	0.08	0.02	0.289

Table 5.5 Effect of essential oil delivery route on the relative weight of broiler chicken organs and serum immunoglobulins levels.

¹Treatments include- (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and (3) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (4) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, (6) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. ²SEM = Standard error of means.

5.4.4 Blood Biochemistry

The effects of treatments on blood plasma biochemical characteristics are presented in Table 5.6. Blood enzymes— CK and AST, were significantly affected by treatments. *In ovo* saline and *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatments, both significantly reduced (p < 0.05) plasma CK levels, compared to the in-feed antibiotics treatment. Nonetheless, the highest reduction in plasma CK levels was observed in the *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment; this was as much as about a 3-fold reduction, compared to the in-feed antibiotics treatment. The NC, in-water, and *in ovo* essential oil treatments recorded intermediate plasma CK levels. Compared to the NC and in-feed antibiotics treatments, blood plasma AST levels were significantly reduced (p < 0.05) by the in-water essential oil treatment recorded the highest reduction in plasma AST level, 29.6% lower than the in-feed antibiotics treatment. Further-more, the *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment recorded a tendency (p = 0.07) to increase plasma calcium level by as much as 12.6%, relative to the NC treatment. All other evaluated blood plasma characteristics evaluated in this study were not affected by treatments.

Parameters	s Treatments ¹							
Negative In-Feed Control Antibiotic		In-Feed Antibiotics	In-Water Essential Oil	'ater <i>In ovo</i> ntial Saline Oil		<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil + In-Water Essential Oil	SEM ²	<i>P</i> Value ³
			Electrolyte	e minera	ls (mmol· L^{-1})		
Sodium	150	142	143	145	145	151	1.96	0.561
Potassium	5.93	5.79	6.12	6.66	5.90	6.36	0.22	0.497
Sodium: Potassium	25.9	24.8	23.8	23.0	24.9	24.0	0.61	0.556
Chloride	110	105	106	106	107	112	1.28	0.565
Calcium	2.68	3.01	2.69	2.65	2.67	3.04	0.05	0.072
Phosphorus	1.78	1.66	2.01	1.92	1.73	1.78	0.07	0.690
Magnesium	0.87	0.86	0.78	0.82	0.77	0.84	0.03	0.519
C C			Metab	olites (n	$1 \mod L^{-1}$			
Urea	0.29	0.30	0.26	0.31	0.22	0.32	0.02	0.352
Glucose	14.1	13.4	13.5	13.6	14.0	14.1	0.22	0.809
Cholesterol	3.34	2.91	2.72	3.08	3.18	3.42	0.09	0.233
Iron	15.8	14.1	14.4	16.6	15.1	17.9	0.71	0.589
Bile acids	15.7	17.7	13.8	14.0	18.8	19.2	3.79	0.393
Uric acid	328	327	342	383	364	396	16.3	0.622
			En	zymes (I	$U \cdot L^{-1}$)			
Amylase	459	405	376	657	572	626	39.6	0.221
Alkaline phosphatase	4506	2614	4263	4879	4055	5157	398	0.173
Creatine kinase	4873 ^{ab}	7903 ^a	3100 ^{ab}	2541 ^b	4309 ^{ab}	2408 ^b	609	0.022
Aspartate Aminotransferase	180 ^a	186 ^a	144 ^b	143 ^b	165 ^{ab}	138 ^b	5.33	0.028
Gamma-Glutamyl Transferase	9.7	9.5	10.0	10.0	9.3	9.9	0.38	0.993
Lipase	24.5	22.2	21.4	21.5	19.5	27.7	1.46	0.661
-			Pr	oteins (g	$g \cdot L^{-1}$)			
Total Proteins	28.1	23.7	24.1	25.9	24.7	27.8	0.80	0.336
Albumin	12.6	11.0	10.5	11.3	11.4	11.8	0.28	0.459
Globulin	15.7	12.9	13.5	14.5	13.5	16.0	0.58	0.268

Table 5.6 Effect of essential oil delivery route on plasma biochemical characteristics in broiler chickens.

¹Treatments include- (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (2) In-feed antibioticschicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and (3) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (4) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, (6) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. ²SEM = Standard error of means. ³Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a, b} differs (P < 0.05).

5.4.5 Total Antioxidant Capacity (TAC)

The result on TAC is presented in Figure 5.2. The *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment significantly increased (P < 0.05) TAC in birds compared to the NC treatment. This increase in TAC in the *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment was as much as 5-fold the NC treatment. Other treatments recorded intermediate TAC values.



Figure 5.2 Effect of essential oil delivery route on broiler chicken's total antioxidant capacity (TAC). Bar charts with different letters a, b differ (P < 0.05).

5.4.6 Intestinal Morphology

The morphology of the duodenum and ileum was significantly influenced by treatments in this study (Table 5.7). No effect of treatment on jejunum morphology was found. In the duodenum, the *in ovo* essential oil treatment recorded the longest (P < 0.001) villus compared to other treatments, except for the *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment. The *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment recorded intermediate duodenal villus length. The duodenal villus width of birds in the *in ovo* treatment group was only wider (P = 0.01) than those in the *in ovo* saline treatment group; all other treatments recorded intermediate duodenal villus width. Similarly, total mucosa thickness was also highest (P < 0.001) in the *in ovo* essential oil treatment compared to the in-feed antibiotic, in-water and *in ovo* saline treatments. Representative ileal histology images are presented in Figure 5.3. In the ileum, the *in ovo* essential oil treatment and the NC treatment recorded significantly longer (P < 0.001) villus height than the in-water essential treatment. Other treatments recorded intermediate villus height values. Similarly, total mucosa thickness in the ileum was significantly enhanced (P < 0.001) by the *in ovo* essential oil treatment compared to the in-the in-water essential villus height values. Similarly, total mucosa thickness was recorded to the in-water essential oil treatment.

for other treatments in the ileum.

Parameters	Treatments ¹							
Intestinal Segment (Measured in mm)	Negative Control	In-Feed Antibiotics	In-Water Essential Oil	<i>In ovo</i> Saline	<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil	In ovo Essential Oil + In-Water Essential Oil	SEM ²	<i>P</i> Value ³
Duodenum								
Villus Height	1.56 ^{bc}	1.54 ^{bc}	1.53 ^{bc}	1.50 ^c	1.63 ^a	1.59 ^{ab}	0.01	< 0.001
Villus width	0.15 ^{ab}	0.15^{ab}	0.15^{ab}	0.14 ^b	0.17 ^a	0.1 ^{ab}	0.00	0.010
Crypt depth	0.14	0.14	0.13	0.13	0.14	0.14	0.00	0.29
Villus height: Crypt depth	10.96	10.66	11.69	10.90	11.48	11.64	0.18	0.307
Total mucosa thickness	1.70^{abc}	1.68 ^{bc}	1.66 ^{bc}	1.63°	1.78^{a}	1.73 ^{ab}	0.01	< 0.001
Jejunum								
Villus Height	0.90	0.88	0.89	0.87	0.93	0.92	0.01	0.192
Villus width	0.16	0.16	0.16	0.16	0.15	0.16	0.00	0.825
Crypt depth	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.14	0.00	0.431
Villus height: Crypt depth	6.47	6.19	6.75	6.25	7.16	6.51	0.14	0.126
Total mucosa thickness	1.05	1.03	1.02	1.02	1.07	1.07	0.01	0.240
Ileum								
Villus Height	0.48^{a}	0.45^{ab}	0.43 ^b	0.45^{ab}	0.49 ^a	0.46^{ab}	0.01	< 0.001
Villus width	0.15	0.16	0.16	0.15	0.16	0.16	0.00	0.756
Crypt depth	0.10	0.11	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.38	0.135
Villus height: Crypt depth	4.91	4.24	4.72	4.77	4.84	4.80	0.09	0.147
Total mucosa thickness	0.58^{ab}	0.57^{ab}	0.52 ^c	0.54 ^{bc}	0.60 ^a	0.56^{abc}	0.38	< 0.001

Table 5.7 Effect of essential oil delivery route on broiler chicken intestinal morphology.

¹Treatments include- (1) Negative control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and (3) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (4) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, (6) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment-chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. ²SEM = Standard error of means. ³Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a, b, c} differs (*P* < 0.05).



(1)

(2)

(3)



(

Figure 5.3 Representative ileal histology images presented on a treatment basis.

Treatments include- (1) Negative control treatment- chicks fed a basal cornsoybean meal-wheat-based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and (3) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (4) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, (6) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the in ovo and in water route, successively.

5.5 Discussion

As the search for effective alternatives to AGPs for the poultry industry continues, there is also a need for the urgent development of delivery strategies that optimize their effectiveness. The potential of several EOs extracted from herbs and spices as alternatives to AGPs continues to be recognized due to their biological properties. For instance, EOs derivable from the star anise plant has been reported to have growth-promoting (Al-Kassie, 2008), antioxygenic (Padmashree, 2007), antibacterial, and digestion-enhancing properties (Singh et al., 2002). Similarly, cinnamon EO has cinnamaldehyde (3- phenyl-2-propenal) as its major component, conferring it antimicrobial (Lee and Ahn, 1998), cardio-protective (Ensminger, 1986), antidiabetic (Babu et al., 2007), and hypocholesterolemic properties (Sang-Oh et al., 2013). Rosemary extract has carnosic acid, carnosol, rosmanol, rosmariquinone and rosmaridiphenol, ursolic acid, and caffeic acid as major phenolic components (Basaga et al., 1997). The antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, antidiabetic, anticancer, and antioxidant properties of rosemary EOs have also been documented (Dorman and Deans, 2000; Moreno et al., 2006; Khalil et al., 2012; Bozkurt et al., 2012a; Karadas et al., 2013; Moore et al., 2016; Sethiya, 2016; Attia et al., 2017; Al-hijazeen, 2021). Thyme EO also has thymol, carvacrol, and linalool as its main active compounds (Lee et al., 2003; Attia et al., 2017). The antimicrobial, antioxidant, and digestion-enhancing properties of thyme EO are also well documented (Dorman and Deans, 2000; Bozkurt et al., 2012b; Seithiya, 2016). Despite the beneficial biological properties that each of these EO can exhibit, an accurate blend of these EOs can manifest greater responses via a synergistic mode of action (Isabel and Santos, 2009; Karadas et al., 2013; Bravo et al., 2014). Accordingly, the first comparison of an essential oil blend with an AGP across several delivery routes in the literature is thus presented herein.

In this study, *in ovo* delivery of EOs reduced hatchability and chick length in broiler chickens. Conversely, most of the very limited studies on *in ovo* delivered EOs have recorded no effect (Saki and Salary, 2015; Toosi et al., 2016) or increased hatchability (Nadia et al., 2008; Sulaiman and Tayeb, 2020). Compared to this study, the differences in injected EO nature, concentration, volume, injection site, and dosage might potentially explain the observed result. These factors have previously been highlighted as critical to the success of *in ovo* delivery (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). The impaired hatchability recorded by the *in ovo* delivery route at this injection dosage (0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1) is considered a significant limitation that could prevent the adoption of this delivery route for EO delivery by poultry producers. More research is thus needed to optimize standard guidelines

regarding these factors in order to guarantee successful in ovo delivery of EOs. In principle, the antioxidant capacity of injected EOs is expected to mitigate the overproduction of free radicals, and in consequence, cause increased hatchability (Galobart et al., 2001; Surai et al., 2003; Nadia et al., 2008). Chick length is often used to predict chick growth potential (Hill, 2001). As this is the first study on in ovo delivery of EOs to evaluate this parameter, there was no basis for comparison with other studies. Thus, it can only be speculated that the *in ovo* delivered EOs dose was unfavorable to the hatched chicks. Ideally, in ovo delivered EOs after day 18 are expected not to influence chick length. This is because any biological substances delivered to the embryo after day 18 are devoted to providing energy for the hatching process and not for organogenesis; in ovo delivery of nutrients is the perfect candidate for this time-point. On the other hand, biological substances provided to the embryo before the first 18 days of incubation are devoted to embryo organogenesis and growth (Pearson et al., 1996; De Smit et al., 2006). It is also important to state that the commercial EO blend utilized in this study is not dedicated to being in ovo administered, per default, and contained emulsifiers as prepared for in-water administration. Therefore, bioactive substances intended for *in ovo* administration might require specific formulation. As the concept of *in ovo* delivery of bioactive substances other than vaccines in poultry is relatively new, a need for specially formulated commercially available bioactive substances thus exists. Furthermore, besides injection dosage, egg source and egg quality might also potentially impair hatch performance and chick quality. Following in ovo delivery of EO + saline, increased chick weight and no effect on chick length were recorded during the pretrial stage of this study.

At the end of the trial (d 28), all treatments recorded no significant effect on the evaluated post-hatch growth performance parameters (AFI, ABWG, and FCR) in this study. Only in the starter phase (d 0–14) did the antibiotic treatment record a significant increase in ABWG. The growth-enhancing properties of AGPs are well substantiated across the literature (Butaye et al., 2003; Castanon, 2007; Gadde et al., 2017). Generally, the effect of EOs on bird performance is observed to be inconsistent across the literature. While the result presented here are consistent with other studies that have reported no effect of EOs on bird post-hatch growth performance (Botsoglou et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2003; Hernandez et al., 2007, Ali et al., 2007; Demir et al., 2008; Mathlouthi et al., 2012; Ma, 2013; Feizi et al., 2014; Celikbilek, 2014; Olgun and Yidiz, 2014;Abdel-Ghaney et al., 2017; Wade et al., 2018; El-Kholy et al., 2021). Contrastingly, other studies have recorded increased (Alcicek et al., 2004; Mathlouthi et al., 2012; Sulaiman and

Tayeb, 2020; El-Kholy et al., 2021) and decreased growth performance on EO supplementation (Kirkpinar et al., 2011). The variability in the growth performance effect of EOs is attributable to several intrinsic and extrinsic factors that include the physiological status of the bird, housing type (cage vs. floor pens), housing hygiene (clean vs. unclean), challenge acuity index, basal diet composition, and time of rearing (Botsoglou et al, 2002; Windisch et al., 2008; Khattak et al., 2014; Farouk et al., 2020; Mathlouthi et al., 2021). It would be reasonable to speculate that the short timing of this study (28 days) and housing type (battery cages) largely influenced the obtained results on growth performance. Moreover, digestive enzyme secretion capacity is reportedly limited in young chicks (Lilja, 1983) while nutrient requirements decrease with increasing age (NRC, 1994). Additionally, due to a well-developed digestive tract and organs, older birds are thus able to utilize the finisher diets better (Mast et al., 2000).

Immunoglobulins are synthesized by the B cells to regulate humoral immunity. They are often synthesized in response to immune stressors such as infection and oxidative stress (Alp et al., 2012). This study recorded no effect of EOs and their delivery routes on serum immunoglobulins G and M levels. This result was not surprising as birds were raised under experimental and controlled conditions with no strain on their immune system. Previous studies have also reported no effect of EOs on the level of immunoglobulins G and M in broiler chickens (Aami-Azghadi et al., 2010, Liu et al., 2020; Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska et al., 2021), laying hens (El-Gogary et al., 2018), and rabbits (Movahhedkhah et al., 2019). While a few studies have recorded increased immunoglobulins G and M levels following EO supplementation (Nadia et al., 2008; Abdel-Ghaney et al., 2017; Sulaiman and Tayeb, 2020). Movahhedkhah et al. (2019) have suggested an age-dependent immune response on EOs supplementation exists in birds. The authors suggested evaluating this parameter at the later stage of growth in broiler chickens. In any case, the exact mechanism by which EOs stimulate an immunological response in birds is not fully known, thus warranting further investigation. Furthermore, a tendency for increased relative weight of the liver in the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment was observed in this study. An increase in the relative weight of the liver in birds receiving thymol (Lee et al., 2003), oregano oil (Al-Kassie et al., 2009), EO blend containing thyme and cinnamon (Bozkurt et al., 2012b), and EO blend containing oregano and sage oil (Clinical Diagnostic Division, 1990) have been reported. The observed tendency for increased liver weight exerted by the in ovo + in-water EO treatment could be attributed to decreased apoptosis of liver tissues resulting from the antioxidant properties of the delivered EO blend (Bozkurt et al., 2012b).
Blood biochemistry indices are valuable indicators of the health and wellbeing of the bird. The plasma biochemistry indices observed in this study were all within the normal physiological range for broiler chickens (Khattak et al., 2014; Perai et al., 2015; Ilo et al., 2019). The highest reduction in the level of blood enzyme CK was observed in the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment in this study. The blood enzyme CK is an intracellular enzyme whose plasma concentration is usually used as an indicator of skeletal muscle damage (Salehifar et al., 2017). Skeletal muscle damage is inducible by congenital myopathies, nutritional myopathies, or oxidative stress. In agreement with the result presented here, Salehifar et al. (2017), have reported the efficacy of lemon pulp powder to decrease the activities of CK in heat-stressed broilers. Similarly, EO blends containing rosemary oil (Hosseini et al., 2016) and Curcuma xanthorrhiza oil (Zhu et al., 2014) have all been reported to reduce CK levels in broiler chickens significantly. The reduction in blood CK levels could be associated with the antioxidant capacities of the delivered EO blends, which was enhanced by the in ovo + in-water EO delivery route. This same delivery route (in ovo + in-water EO) also recorded the highest reduction in plasma AST level. Increased levels of AST in the blood are often indicative of increased permeability of liver cells and liver damage (Zhang, 2011; Tayeb et a., 2019). Consistent with the results from this study in ovo delivered cinnamon, thyme, and clove oil have all been reported to individually reduce serum AST levels in broiler chickens (El-Kholy et al., 2021). Several supplemented EOs have equally reported similar AST lowering effects (Zhang, 2011; Osman et al., 2010; Yadegari et al., 2019; Abd El-Latif et al., 2013). The hepatoprotective effect provided by the *in ovo* + in-water EO delivery route is possibly due to the rich antioxidant compounds present in the supplemented EO blend. Additionally, this hepatoprotective effect is also effectuated by the induction of endogenous interferon (Olgun, 2016). A tendency for increased plasma calcium level was also recorded in the in ovo + in-water EO delivery route. Blends of EO containing thyme, black cumin, fennel, anise, and rosemary have been reported to increase the calcium concentration in the tibia of laying hens (Amad et al., 2011). The same EO blend has also been reported to decrease calcium excretion in breeder quails (Olgun and Yidiz, 2014). Ileal calcium bioavailability has also been enhanced by the supplementation of EO in broilers (Mountzouris et al., 2011; Alagawany et al., 2021). This tendency for increased plasma calcium level in the in ovo + in-water EO delivery route is possibly induced by increased mobilization of calcium-binding protein in the mucosa, activating the calcium-activated tenderization complex. This observation has implications for improving bone strength and bird leg health (Baratta et al., 1998).

An apparent increase in TAC was also observed in the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment, buttressing that this delivery route clearly enhanced the antioxidant potential of the delivered EO blend. The values of TAC are indicative of the overall antioxidant defense systems, both enzymatic and non-enzymatic. Several in vitro studies have reported the antioxidant properties of several plant extracts and EOs (Lee and Shibamoto, 2002; Pizzale et al., 2002; Yu et al., 2018). Increased levels of TAC resulting from supplementation of star anise EO in laying hens (Alhajj et al., 2017) and broilers (Ri et al., 2017), oregano powder in broiler chickens (Bozkurt et al., 2016), oregano EO in broiler chickens (Ryzner et al., 2013), Satureja officinalis EO in broiler chickens (Estevez et al., 2007), and rosemary EO in rabbits (Movahhedkhah et al., 2019) have been reported. Varying antioxidant capacities are reported for most evaluated EOs in the literature, justifying the need for research evaluating various EO combination types and delivery routes in order to ensure EO efficacy either by synergistic or additive mechanisms. For instance, rosemary is regarded as the plant with the highest antioxidant capacity (Avila-Ramos et al., 2012), while the antioxidant capacity of oregano EO is also reported to be greater than vitamin E (Yanishlieva et al., 1999). Thymol is also reported to exhibit greater antioxidant capacity than carvacrol, possibly because thymol has greater stearic inhibition of the phenolic group than carvacrol (Svihus, 2014). The antioxidant properties of these EOs are due to the presence of phenolic OH groups in their chemical structure; this acts as a hydrogen donor interacting with peroxyl radicals during the initial process of lipid oxidation and thereby inhibiting the formation of hydroxy peroxide (Lee et al., 2003). Another potential mode of action that requires further research is via the upregulation of antioxidant-related genes.

It is well documented that the structure and morphology of a bird's small intestine influence its functionality. The *in ovo* EO delivery route enhanced duodenal and ileal morphology in this study. While the villus length, width, and total mucosa thickness were enhanced by *in ovo* delivery of this treatment in the duodenum, only the villus height and total mucosa thickness were enhanced by this delivery route in the ileum. The duodenum is an important site for chemical digestion, while the ileum plays a vital role in starch digestion and absorption, especially in fast-growing broiler chickens (Munyaka et al., 2012). Increased villus height, villus width, and total mucosa thickness are generally associated with improved digestive and absorptive functions in the bird (Shang et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2019). To our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the effect of *in ovo* delivered EOs on broiler chicken's intestinal morphology, thus providing limited scope to compare obtained results. Nonetheless, several aromatic plants and their extracts

are reported to enhance the intestinal morphology of broiler chickens (Jang et al., 2007; Hong et al., 2012). A blend of EOs containing star anise and oregano oil is also reported to increase the height of duodenal villi in broiler chickens (Chowdhury et al., 2018). Similarly, dietary supplementation of 300 mg cinnamon bark oil kg-1 also reportedly increased villus height in the duodenum and ileum of broiler chickens (Chiang et al., 2009). Blend of EOs containing basil, caraway, laurel, lemon, oregano, sage, tea, and thyme is also reported to significantly increase the width and surface area of the small intestine (Khattak et al., 2014). Similarly, both (El-Katcha et al., 2017; Masood et al., 2020) have also reported increased villus length with in-water EO supplementation in quails and broiler chickens, respectively. The beneficial effect of the in ovo EO route on intestinal morphology in this study might be attributed to the early time of delivery. Moreover, the development of the small intestine in chicks has been described to be synonymous with the mammalian neonates, with the greatest morphological change occurring within the first 24 h post-hatch. The in ovo technology has been recognized to be a means to stimulate the development of the embryonic gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). The potential of the active ingredients in the EO blend to stimulate the secretion of endogenous digestive enzymes while also ensuring a balanced gut microbial diversity could also have contributed to the observed effect (Ghazanfari et al., 2014; Du et al., 2016; Adewole et al., 2021). The antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant properties of the supplied EO blend also play an important role in gut morphometric development (Du et al., 2016; Ding et al., 2020). Improved intestinal digestion and absorption due to improved intestinal morphology facilitated by the in ovo delivery route would be expected to translate into improved growth performance in the birds. However, this was not the case in this study. It has been previously speculated that the length of this study and the housing type could have contributed to the observed results on growth performance.

5.6 Conclusions

This study revealed that the *in ovo* delivery of EO blends containing star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil reduced hatchability and chick length in broiler chickens. However, successive delivery of this EO blend via *in ovo* and in-water route improved broiler chicken's antioxidant status and blood biochemical profile, with no adverse effect on growth performance. Additionally, *in ovo* delivery of this EO blend also improved intestinal morphometric properties of the bird. Based on observed hatchability and chick length results, it would be essential to optimize injected EO dose through further studies. Furthermore, considering that the supplied EO

blend has reported antioxidant and immune-enhancing properties, it would be interesting to evaluate the efficacy of the *in ovo* + in-water EO delivery route under a heat stress challenge model. Heat stress could potentially induce oxidative stress and immunosuppression in birds. Conclusively, subject to further research with favorable hatchability outcomes, this novel delivery strategy might be a potential alternative to the use of antibiotics in the poultry industry.

6 CHAPTER 6 MICROBIOTA AND TRANSCRIPTOMIC EFFECT OF ESSENTIAL OIL DELIVERY ROUTES

MICROBIOTA AND TRANSCRIPTOMIC EFFECTS OF AN ESSENTIAL OIL BLEND AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTE COMPARED TO AN ANTIBIOTIC GROWTH PROMOTER IN BROILER CHICKENS

This section has been published and presented elsewhere:

- Oladokun, S., Clark, K.F. and Adewole, D.I., 2022. Microbiota and Transcriptomic Effects of an Essential Oil Blend and Its Delivery Route Compared to an Antibiotic Growth Promoter in Broiler Chickens. Microorganisms. 10:861. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10050861</u>
- Oladokun, S., and Adewole, D.I. 2022. Does essential oil delivery route affect broiler chickens' gut microbiota profile and ceca short-chain fatty acid concentration? International Poultry Scientific Forum (IPSF), Atlanta, Georgia, USA. January 24-27.

6.1 Abstract

This study evaluated the effect of the delivery of a commercial essential oil blend containing the phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil (via different routes) on broiler chickens' ileal and ceca microbiota and liver transcriptome compared to an antibiotic growth promoter. Eggs were incubated and allocated into three groups: non-injected, in ovo saline, and in ovo essential oil. On day 18 of incubation, 0.2 mL of essential oil in saline (dilution ratio of 2:1) or saline alone was injected into the amnion. At hatch, chicks were assigned to post-hatch treatment combinations: (A) a negative control (corn-wheat-soybean diet), (B) in-feed antibiotics, (C) in-water essential oil (250 mL/1000 L of drinking water), (D) in ovo saline, (E) in ovo essential oil, and (F) in ovo essential oil plus in-water essential oil in eight replicate cages (six birds/cage) and raised for 28 days. On days 21 and 28, one and two birds per cage were slaughtered, respectively, to collect gut content and liver tissues for further analysis. Alpha and beta diversity differed significantly between ileal and ceca samples but not between treatment groups. In-feed antibiotic treatment significantly increased the proportion of specific bacteria in the family Lachnospiraceae while reducing the proportion of bacteria in the genus Christensenellaceae in the ceca, compared to other treatments. Sex-controlled differential expression of genes related to cell signaling and tight junctions were recorded. This study

provides data that could guide the use of these feed additives and a foundation for further research.

6.2 Introduction

Over the years, the sub-therapeutic supplementation of antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) has been used to preserve gut health, intestinal microbiota balance, and growth performance in the poultry industry (Mahmood and Guo, 2020). This trend has now triggered both consumer and public health concerns bordering on the emergence of antibiotic resistance and antibiotic residues in the food chain (Ma et al., 2021; Thakur et al., 2019). Accordingly, a few country-specific restrictions on the use of AGPs are already in place, including in the EU (Castanon, 2007), the US (FDA, 2013), and Canada (Chicken Farmers of Canada, 2021). The potential elimination of AGPs could exacerbate the risks of intestinal dysbiosis and bacterial diseases in poultry (Paiva and McElroy, 2014). In the post-AGP era, understanding the complex interplay between the host and its intestinal microbiome signifies a critical step to achieving optimum gut health and intestinal microbiota balance in poultry.

The gastrointestinal tract (GIT) of poultry, populated by microorganisms in constant interaction with the host and digesta, is known to play a critical role in the host's growth and health. It is now evident that the proliferation of a balanced and beneficial gut microbiota population is vital to ensuring host protection against pathogenic bacteria and enhancing gut integrity and immunity (Rinttilä and Apajalahti, 2013; Rowland et al., 2018; Yadav and Jha, 2019). Several factors, including environmental stressors (Burkholder et al., 2008, Kers et al., 2018; Shi et al., 2019), bird age (Lu et al., 2003), and nutrition (Thompson et al., 2008; Oviedo-Rondón et al., 2010; Shang et al., 2018), can modify the gut microbiota profile. Of all these factors, nutrition (including the type of diet and time of feeding) has been regarded as the main factor influencing poultry gut microbiota dynamics (Yadav and Jha, 2019). Given this modulatory role, several feed additives, including probiotics, prebiotics, organic acids, exogenous enzymes, and essential oils, are being investigated as potential alternatives to AGPs in the poultry industry (Yadav and Jha, 2019).

Essential oils (EOs) are mostly plant extracts with mixtures of phytochemical compounds like thymol, carvacrol, and eugenol (Bassolé and Juliani, 2012). To explore a synergistic effect, commercial combinations and blends of several EO types are becoming increasingly popular. Several in vitro studies have highlighted the antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, antimycotic, antiparasitic, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anti-toxigenic, and immune-regulating properties of EOs (Gopi et al., 2014; Swamy et al., 2016; Stevanović et al., 2018). However, in vivo results on the effect of EO on chicken microbiota are somewhat inconsistent. While EO blends have been reported to reduce the relative abundance of pathogenic bacteria like *Escherichia coli* (Cho et al., 2014; Hashemipour et al., 2016), Salmonella (Pathak et al., 2017), and *Clostridium perfringens* (Mitsch et al., 2004) in broiler chickens, a few studies have equally reported no effect of EO supplementation on gut commensal bacteria (Hong et al., 2012; Pathak et al. 2017; Paraskeuas and Mountzouris, 2019). These inconsistencies in the efficacy of EOs could be associated with the limitations that characterize their mode of delivery (Bilia et al., 2014; Heydarian et al., 2020), as most EOs are conventionally supplied via feed or water to poultry birds. These conventional routes expose EOs to potential thermal instability, especially during feed milling processes like pelleting (Maenner et al., 2011) and negative interaction with other feed additives like oligosaccharides and coccidiostats (Malayoğlu et al., 2010; Mountzouris et al., 2011). The success of in-water EO supplementation will depend on the water quality and the quality of the chick watering device. In-water EO delivery also has the potential to promote wet feather risks and other welfare issues.

The delivery of EO via the *in ovo* route presents a viable means to overcome the identified challenges that characterize conventional delivery routes (i.e., in feed and in water). *In ovo* delivery of bioactive substances has been defined as "the direct inoculation of bioactive substances to the developing embryo to elicit superior lifelong effects, while considering the dynamic physiology of the chicken embryo" (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). The *in ovo* delivery route offers an economic advantage, as low doses of bioactive substances are required to initiate long-term performance effects in the birds (Slawinska et al., 2016; Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). It offers the opportunity to stimulate the colonization of the embryonic gut with beneficial microbiota very early on, rather than trying to alter an already established microbiota community in later life (Roto et al., 2016). Additionally, it is yet to be known if an additive benefit exists from the successive delivery of EOs via the *in ovo* and continuous in-water delivery routes. This study is thus interested in evaluating if such an effect exists in the broiler chicken microbiota and liver transcriptome.

Studies have also suggested that microbial community might vary depending on the segment of the small intestine considered (Gong et al., 2002a; Gong et al., 2007; Glendinning et al., 2019). In addition to the reported microbiota modifying effect, EOs can also influence the expression of several genes involved in de novo fat synthesis and deposition (Sabino et al., 2018)

as well as antioxidant activity (Li et al., 2020) Studies involving the liver transcriptome of EOfed birds have also reported the enrichment of Gene Ontology Consortium (GO) terms associated with performance and metabolism (Sabino et al., 2018), as well as a higher expression of antioxidant genes (Bastos et al., 2017). The liver remains a good candidate tissue to study the transcriptomic effect of EO supplementation, as it is involved in several metabolic functions, including carbohydrate, protein, and lipid metabolism; bile secretion; and immune defense, among others (Li et al., 2015). Additionally, the combination of modern molecular biological techniques, such as 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) gene sequencing and RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) technology, could help unravel the precise mechanism underpinning the delivery of EOs. Most studies on EO delivery have mainly focused on low throughput gene expression analysis and bird performance evaluation (Lillehoi et al., 2011; Akbarian et al., 2013). Accordingly, the objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of a commercial EO blend containing star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil delivered via in-water and *in ovo* routes on broiler chickens' ileal and ceca microbiota, ceca short-chain fatty acid concentration, and liver transcriptome as compared to an in-feed antibiotic growth promoter.

6.3 Materials and Methods

6.3.1 Ethics Statement

The experiment was carried out at the hatchery facility of the Agricultural Campus of Dalhousie University and the broiler rearing facility of the Atlantic Poultry Research Center, Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture. All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Dalhousie University (Protocol number: 2020-035), in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (2021).

6.3.2 Egg Incubation and in ovo Injection Procedure

A total of 670 hatching eggs with an average weight 77.87 ± 2.43 g (mean \pm SE) from 41-weekold Cobb 500 broiler breeders were sourced from Synergy hatchery, Nova Scotia, Canada. Eggs were incubated in a ChickMaster single-stage incubator (ChickMaster G09, Cresskill, NJ, USA) under standard conditions (37.5 °C and 55% relative humidity) from embryonic days (EDs) 1 to 17, and then to an average of 32 °C and 68% from EDs 18 to 21. Incubators were preheated for 24 h prior to setting eggs to ensure that proper temperature and humidity were stable. Egg trays were turned on a 90° arc four times an hour from the time of setting until ED 18. Eggs were arranged in 6 replicate trays inside the incubator, with each tray containing 96 eggs. On ED 12, eggs were candled, and in-fertile eggs were disposed of, leaving a total of 576 eggs for the trial. The remaining eggs were subsequently assigned to one of three treatment groups: (1) non-injected eggs (control, 288 eggs), (2) *in ovo* saline group (96 eggs, injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl), (3) *in ovo* essential oil group (192 eggs, injected with 0.2 mL of a saline and essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1).

The essential oil utilized in this study is a commercial blend (Probiotech International Inc., St Hyacinthe, QC, Canada) containing the phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil. The EO blend is registered by Health Canada as a veterinary health product (VHP). On ED 18, eggs were injected according to the procedure described by Oladokun et al. (2021a) with slight modifications. Briefly, this involved disinfecting the eggs with 70% ethanol-dipped swabs and using an 18-gauge needle to carefully punch the shell at the center of the air cell (the blunt end). The injected EO was then delivered to the amnion using a self-refilling injector (Socorex ultra-1810.2.05005, Ecublens, Switzerland) equipped with a 22-gauge needle (injection needle length—3 cm) at a 45-degree angle. After *in ovo* injection, the injected eggs were also taken out and returned to the incubator simultaneously as other injected treatment groups.

6.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets

Hatchlings were weighed and randomly assigned to 6 new treatment groups (Figure 6.1). Chicks (straight run) from the initial non-injection group were randomly allocated into 3 new treatment groups consisting of (A) chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet (negative control treatment, NC), (B) chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (in-feed antibiotics), and (C) chicks supplied the same commercial blend of EOs as earlier described via the water route (in-water essential oil) at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. The initial *in ovo* saline and *in ovo* essential oil groups were placed on the control diet to form treatments (D) (*in ovo* saline treatment) and (E) (*in ovo* essential oil treatment), respectively. The last treatment group, (F), consisted of chicks from the *in ovo* essential oil treatment group also supplied EO via the water route (*in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment). All treatment groups had 48 birds each. Birds were placed in battery cages (0.93 m × 2.14 m), there were 6 birds per cage, and 8 replicate cages per treatment. Birds were reared for 28 d under uniform controlled environmental conditions in line with Cobb Broiler Management Guide recommendations. The room temperature was set at 31 °C on day 0 and gradually reduced to 23 °C on day 28, and relative humidity ranged between 45 and 55%. The ingredient and nutritional

compositions of the basal diet used in the study are available in Oladokun et al. (2021b) and Table 6.1. Birds were provided with feed and water ad libitum and diets were fed as mash throughout the rearing period which included the starter (0–14 d) and grower (15–28 d) phases. Diets were formulated to meet Cobb 500 broiler chicken nutrient requirements.



Figure 6.1 Schematic presentation of experimental structure in the hatchery and barn.

	Phases						
Ingredients	Starter	r (0-14 d)	Grower (15-28 d)				
	Control diet	Antibiotic diet	Control diet	Antibiotic diet			
Ingredient Composition							
Corn (ground)	51.08	50.98	45.36	45.25			
Soybean meal-46.5	41.44	41.45	36.31	36.33			
Wheat	-	-	10	10			
Animal/vegetable fat	2.93	2.97	4.22	4.26			
Limestone	1.80	1.80	1.65	1.65			
Dicalcium Phosphate	1.24	1.24	1.06	1.06			
DL Methionine premix ²	0.59	0.59	0.53	0.53			
Vitamin/Mineral Premix ^{3, 4}	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50			
Salt	0.41	0.41	0.37	0.37			
Lysine HCl	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00			
BMD 110G ⁵	-	0.05	-	0.05			
Total	100	100	100	100			
Nutrient	Calculate	d composition					
Metabolizable energy (kcal/kg)	3,000	3,000	3,100	3,100			
Crude protein	23	23	21.5	21.5			
Calcium	0.96	0.96	0.87	0.87			
Available phosphorus	0.48	0.48	0.44	0.44			
Sodium	0.19	0.19	0.18	0.18			
Digestible lysine	1.28	1.28	1.15	1.16			
Digestible methionine + cysteine	0.95	0.95	0.87	0.87			
Digestible Tryptophan	0.25	0.25	0.23	0.23			
Digestible Threonine	0.89	0.89	0.82	0.82			
-	Analyzed	l composition					
Dry Matter	90.7	90.8	93.2	93.5			
Crude protein	24.8	25	22.5	23.8			
Crude fat	5.50	5.79	6.84	6.85			
Calcium	1.06	1.13	1.00	0.96			

Table 6.1 Ingredients, calculated, and analyzed compositions of experimental diets1 (as-fed basis, percentage (%), unless otherwise stated).

Potassium	1.14	1.16	0.99	1.04
Phosphorus	0.69	0.70	0.67	0.62
Sodium	0.19	0.21	0.21	0.16

¹ Basal diet (NC); antibiotic diet containing NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD). ² Supplied/kg premix: DL-Methionine, 0.5 kg; wheat middling, 0.5 kg. ³ Starter vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁴ Grower and Finisher vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁵ Bacitracin methylene disalicylate (providing 55 mg/kg mixed feed); Alpharma, Inc., Fort Lee, NJ, USA.

6.3.4 Sample Collection

On day 21, 1 bird per cage (8 replicate birds per treatment group) was randomly selected, weighed, and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After slaughter, the small intestinal segment—the ileum (1.5-cm length mid-way between Meckel's diverticulum and the ileocecal junction)—was longitudinally opened, and digesta content was collected into microcentrifuge tubes. Aside from being the most studied small intestinal segments, the ileum microbiota was evaluated because reported trends suggest increasing microbial density in the distal region of the small intestine compared to the proximal regions as a result of longer digesta transit times (Gong et al., 2007; Shang et al., 2018).

Similarly, on day 28, 2 birds per cage (16 replicate birds per treatment group) were randomly selected and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After euthanasia of the birds, digesta content from the pair of ceca was mixed and divided into two subsamples. One part was stored in plastic RNase- and DNase-free tubes placed in liquid nitrogen to analyze gut microbiota. The other part was placed in bio-freeze kits (Alimetric Diagnostics, Espoo, Finland) for the determination of short-chain fatty acids following published protocols (Oladokun et al., 2021b). Liver tissues (50–100 mg) using 1 mL TRIzolTM (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) from 8 replicate birds/treatment were also rapidly collected on day 28 and promptly frozen in liquid nitrogen. All samples were stored at −80 °C until further analysis.

6.3.5 DNA Extraction, Qualification, Library Preparation, and Sequencing

The Qiagen DNeasy[®] PowerSoil Pro Kit (50) (Cat. No./ID: 47014) was used to extract DNA from both ileal and ceca digesta contents. Digesta contents were allowed to thaw briefly at room temperature before subsequent DNA extraction, following the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 250 mg of digesta content was added to PowerBead Pro Tubes and then subjected to cell lysing steps involving vortexing and centrifugation. The retrieved lysate was then captured onto an MB Spin Column, followed by a series of purification and centrifugation steps.

The MB Spin Column was then carefully placed into the provided 1.5 mL elution tubes from which extracted DNA was recovered. The concentration and purity of extracted DNA were subsequently determined by spectrophotometry (Nanodrop ND1000, Thermo Scientific). Extracted DNA samples (volume—50 μ L, concentration—10–200 ng/ μ L) were then sent to the Integrated Microbiome Resource (IMR), located at Dalhousie University in Halifax, Nova Scotia, for library preparation and sequencing. Libraries of the V4–V5 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene were prepared using universal primers 515 F (Illumina adapters + 5'GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA3') and 926 R (Illumina adapters + 5'CCGYCAATTYMTTTRAGTTT3') following protocols described by Comeau et al. (2017). Each sample was amplified with a different combination of index barcodes to allow for sample identification after multiplex sequencing. Library preparation and sequencing for all samples were performed with the Illumina MiSeq at the Integrated Microbiome Resource (<u>http://imr.bio/</u>, accessed on 15 July 2021) of Dalhousie University.

6.3.6 Short-Chain Fatty Acid Concentration and Total Bacteria Density

Ceca samples were collected using BioFreeze[™] sampling kits (Alimetrics Diagnostics Ltd., Espoo, Finland) following the manufacturer's protocol. Samples were then subsequently submitted to Alimetrics Diagnostics 20007-1 (Espoo, Finland) for both SCFA concentration and total bacterial density quantification. The SCFA profiles were analyzed by gas chromatography (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) using pivalic acid as an internal standard. The acids quantified included acetic, propionic, butyric, valeric, and lactic acids. To quantify the total bacteria density, submitted samples were initially washed to remove solid particles and complex polysaccharides that may disturb subsequent DNA purification processes and downstream qPCR applications. The liquid phase was subjected to differential centrifugation for collecting the bacterial cells. The cell walls of the microbial cells were disrupted, and the chromosomal DNA was quantitatively extracted and purified using optimized protocol (Alimetrics Diagnostics 20007-1, Espoo, Finland). All measurements were performed with 16 replicates per treatment group.

6.3.7 RNA Extraction, Qualification, Library Preparation, and Sequencing

Total RNA in liver tissues was extracted on a QIAcube Connect using RNeasy Plus Universal Mini Kit (Qiagen, Cat. No. ID: 73404) following the manufacturer's instructions after disruption and homogenization were performed with a TissueLyser system. RNA elution volume was 30 µL. Total RNA was quantified, and its integrity was assessed on a LabChip GXII (PerkinElmer). Libraries were generated from 250 ng of total RNA and mRNA enrichment was performed using the NEBNext Poly(A) Magnetic Isolation Module (New England BioLabs). cDNA synthesis was achieved with the NEBNext RNA First-Strand Synthesis and NEBNext Ultra Directional RNA

Second Strand Synthesis Modules (New England BioLabs). The remaining library preparation steps were performed using the NEBNext Ultra II DNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina (New England BioLabs). Adapters and PCR primers were purchased from New England BioLabs. Libraries were quantified using the Kapa Illumina GA with Revised Primers-SYBR Fast Universal kit (Kapa Biosystems). Average fragment size was determined using a LabChip GXII (PerkinElmer) instrument. The libraries were normalized, pooled, and then denatured in 0.05 N NaOH and neutralized using HT1 buffer. The pool was loaded at 225 pM on an Illumina NovaSeq S4 lane using Xp protocol as per the manufacturer's recommendations. The run was performed for 2×100 cycles (paired-end mode). A phiX library was used as a control and mixed with libraries at 1% level. Base calling was performed with RTA v3.4.4. The program bcl2fastq2 v2.20 was then used to demultiplex samples and generate fastq reads.

6.3.8 Bioinformatics and Statistical Analysis

The analysis of microbiota data was carried out using the Microbiome Helper pipeline (https://github.com/LangilleLab/microbiome_helper/wiki accessed on 29 July 2021,), based on QIIME2. This uses amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) created with Deblur. Primer sequences were removed from sequencing reads using cutadapt (v 1.14) (Martin et al., 2011), and primertrimmed files were imported into QIIME2 (v. 2019.4.0) (Bolyen et al., 2019). Reads (forward and reverse paired ends) were joined using VSEARCH (v 2.9.0) (Rognes et al., 2016) and inputted into Deblur (Amir et al., 2017) to correct reads and obtain amplicon sequence variants (ASVs). Taxonomic assignment was performed with the SILVA database (v.1.3.2) using a naive Bayes approach implemented in the scikit learn Python library (Comeau et al., 2017). Rarefaction curves were used to examine the individual alpha diversity for all samples (with the default observed OTUs as the metric). Alpha diversity comparisons for the treatments were explored using boxplots and the Kruskal–Wallis statistical test set at p < 0.05. Beta diversity was visualized using weighted UniFrac PCoA plots. The relative abundance at different taxonomic levels was visualized using stacked bar charts, while significant microbiota proportions were determined in the Statistical Analysis of Metagenomic Profiles (STAMP) software (Parks et al., 2014) with an ANOVA test using the Benjamin–Hochberg false discovery rate as multiple test correction and then sorting by Corrected p-value (p < 0.05). Data on SCFA concentrations and total bacteria density were subjected to one-way ANOVA analysis in the Minitab statistical package (v.18.1). Data were analyzed in a completely randomized design and the analyzed data are presented as means \pm SEM and probability values. Values were considered statistically different at $p \le 0.05$.

For the RNA-Seq analysis, adaptor sequences and low-quality scores containing bases (Phred score < 30) were trimmed from reads using Trimmomatic (Bolger et al., 2014). The resulting reads were aligned to the GRCg6 genome using STAR (Dobin et al., 2013). Read counts were obtained using HTSeq (Anders et al., 2015). The R package DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014) was used to identify differentially expressed genes between the groups. Nominal *p*-values were corrected for multiple testing using the Benjamini–Hochberg method. Gene ontology (GO) enrichment analysis was performed using the R package GOSeq (Young et al., 2010). Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genome (KEGG) Pathway Enrichment analyses of differentially expressed genes were performed on the PANTHER platform (http://pantherdb.org accessed on 26 September 2021,) (Mi et al., 2021).

6.4 Results

The 16S rRNA V4–V5 sequencing resulted in 8,774,523 quality read counts at an average of 60,934 counts per sample after quality filtering and demultiplexing. A total of 554 operational taxonomic units (OTUs) at the 97% sequence similarity level were obtained from all samples.

6.4.1 Microbiota Diversity

Internal sample α -diversity was estimated using the number of observed features (richness) and Shannon's index (diversity). Rarefaction curves of observed features and Shannon's index values reached a plateau in all samples, demonstrating that sequencing depth was adequate to cover the bacterial diversity in both ceca and ileal samples (Figures 6.2 and 6.3).



Figure 6.2 Rarefaction curves of observed features obtained from 16S rRNA gene V4–V5 sequences.

On the basis of (a)microbiota source- cecum and ileum and (b) treatment- A) chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheatbased diet (Negative Control treatment; NC); B) chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (in-feed antibiotics); C) chicks supplied the same commercial blend of EOs via the water route (in-water essential oil) at the recommended dosage of 250 ml / 1000 L of drinking water; D) *in ovo* saline treatment; E) *in ovo* essential oil treatment; and F) chicks supplied EO via the *in ovo* and water route (*in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment).



(b)

Figure 6.3 Rarefaction curves of Shannon's index obtained from 16S rRNA gene V4-V5 sequences.

On the basis of (a) Microbiota source- cecum and ileum and (b) Treatments, which include- A) Negative Control treatmentchicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% baci-tracin methylene disalicylate and C) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 ml / 1000 L of drinking water; D) In ovo saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); E) In ovo essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, F) In ovo + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively.

Alpha diversity inspection revealed significant (p < 0.001) diversity between the ileal and ceca samples but not between treatment groups (Figure 6.3a–c). Ceca samples recorded a higher Shannon diversity index compared to ileal samples. While Shannon's diversity index showed a similar profile between the treatment groups in both ceca and ileal tissues, the *in ovo* EO treatment recorded numerically higher alpha diversity in the ileum, the same as the NC treatment in the ceca.



Figure 6.4 Alpha diversity (Shannon's index) box plots.

Show (a) significant difference between ileal and ceca microbiota (Kruskal–Wallis, p < 0.001), (b) no significant effect of treatments on ileal microbiota (Kruskal–Wallis, p > 0.05), (c) no significant effect of treatment on ceca microbiota (Kruskal–Wallis, p > 0.05). Treatments include (A) negative control treatment—chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) in-feed antibiotics—chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and (C) in-water essential oil—chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (D) in ovo saline treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (E) in ovo essential oil treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (E) in ovo + in-water essential oil treatment—eggs injected the essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1; and (F) in ovo + in-water essential oil treatment—chicks offered the essential oil blend via the in *ovo* and in water route, successively. Boxes in the boxplots denote interquartile range, solid middle line in the boxes denote the median, and \bigoplus denote the means.

To determine beta diversity, a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on unweighted UniFrac distances was conducted. The PCoA plot showed unique cluster separation between the ileal and ceca microbiota; contrastingly, no difference in microbial community structure between treatments in both the ileum and ceca was observed (Figures 6.4).





6.4.2 Microbiota Composition

The relative abundance of the predominant bacteria phyla and genus in both the ileum and ceca are presented in Figures 6.4 and 6.5, respectively. At the phyla level, ileum microbiota was dominated by Firmicutes (range of 99.5–99.8%), Proteobacteria (range of 0.03–1.79%), and Actinobacteria (range of 0.03–0.12%) for all treatments. Ceca microbiota phyla taxa showed a similar trend as the ileal microbiota, as the relative abundance of Firmicutes (range of 98.3–99.6%) was found higher than Proteobacteria (range of 0.38–0.81%), which was also higher than Actinobacteria (range of 0.01–0.24%) across the treatment groups. At the genus taxa, the ileal microbiota was 96% dominated by *Lactobacillus*, *Clostridium sensu_stricto_1*, *Enterococcus*, *Romboutsia*, and *Lachnospiraceae_unclassified* species, with *Lactobacillus* species being the prevalent species (occurring > 64% in all treatments, except for the in-water EO treatment, which recorded a 46.2% *Lactobacillus* relative abundance). *Faecalibacterium* was the most abundant genus in the ceca, recording at least 40% abundance across treatment groups.



(a)



(b)

Figure 6.6

Ileal microbiota bacteria composition at the (**a**) phylum and (**b**) genus levels of broiler chickens subjected to different treatments groups.

Treatments include (A) negative control treatment—chicks fed a basal cornsoybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) in-feed antibiotics—chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) in-water essential oil—chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (D) *in ovo* saline treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (E) *in ovo* essential oil treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:11; and (F) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment—chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively.



(a)



(b)

Figure 6.7 Ceca microbiota bacteria composition at the (**a**) phylum and (**b**) genus levels of broiler chickens subjected to different treatments groups.

Treatments include (A) negative control treatment—chicks fed a basal cornsoybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) in-feed antibiotics—chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) in-water essential oil—chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (D) *in ovo* saline treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (E) *in ovo* essential oil treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1; and (F) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment—chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. Similar to the ileal microbiota, genus *Lactobacillus* and *Romboutsia* were also found in the ceca, although at lower relative abundance. Contrastingly, the genus *Lachnospiraceae* was higher in the ceca (22.39%) compared to the ileum (1.91%). Significant differences in the cumulative proportions of bacteria in the genera *Christensenellaceae_R-7_group*, *Elsenbergiella*, *Lachnoclostridium*, and *Shuttleworthia* were recorded between treatments in the ceca (Figure 6.5). Compared to other treatments, the in-feed antibiotic treatment significantly (p < 0.05) increased the proportion of *Eisenbergiella*, *Lachnoclostridium*, and *Shuttleworthia*. Contrastingly, the proportion of bacteria *Christensenellaceae_R-7_group* (p < 0.01) in the ceca was reduced by the in-feed antibiotic treatment when compared to other treatments. No significant differences in the microbiota proportion between treatments were recorded in the ileum at both the phylum and genus levels.





















Figure 6.8 Significant differences (ANOVA, B–H FDR corrected *P* value: *P* < 0.05) in cumulative proportions of genus (a) *Christensenellaceae*_R-7_group, (b) *Elsenbergiella*, (c) *Lachnoclostridium*, and (d) *Shuttleworthia* in ceca microbiota of broiler chickens subjected to different treatments groups. Treatments include (A) negative control treatment—chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) in-feed antibiotics—chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) in-water essential oil—chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (D) in ovo saline treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (E) in *ovo* essential oil treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1; and (F) in *ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment—chicks offered the essential oil blend via the in *ovo* and in water route, successively.

6.4.3 Ceca SCFA Concentration

The resulting concentrations of ceca SCFA are presented in Table 6.2. Only the concentration of butyric acid recorded a statistical trend towards significance (P = 0.09) in the in-water EO treatment, compared to other treatments. All other acids that were quantified recorded no statistical significance between treatment groups (P > 0.05). Nonetheless, the in-water essential oil treatment equally recorded numerically higher concentrations of acetic, lactic, volatile, and total fatty acids. Total bacteria (copies/gram of sample) were also found to be higher (P > 0.05) in the in-water EO treatment when compared to other treatments.

Table 6.2 Effect of essential oil delivery route on ceca short-chain fatty acid concentration (SCFA) and total eubacteria (copies/gram of sample) in broiler chickens.

	Treatments ¹							
Short-Chain Fatty Acid Concentration (mmol/kg)	Negative Control	In-Feed Antibiotics	In-Water Essential Oil	<i>In ovo</i> Saline	<i>In ovo</i> Essential Oil	In ovo Essential Oil + In-Water Essential Oil	SEM ² <i>P</i>	Value
Acetic acid	51.9	50.5	57.2	55.4	50.9	55.8	1.73	0.82
Propionic acid	4.24	3.79	4.31	4.43	3.81	4.36	0.18	0.86
Butyric acid	13.6	15.7	19.3	18.8	13.4	17.9	0.77	0.09
Valeric acid	1.05	0.79	0.87	1.17	1.08	1.07	0.07	0.67
Lactic acid	0.60	0.73	1.40	1.26	1.09	0.83	0.86	0.49
Total SCFA	74.1	74.2	89.7	84.1	74.4	82.4	2.65	0.41
Branched-chain fatty acids	2.25	1.63	1.94	2.28	1.77	1.91	0.11	0.46
Volatile fatty acids	73.1	72.4	83.6	82.1	70.9	81.0	2.40	0.49
Total eubacteria (copies/gram of sample)	2.3×10^{12}	1.9×10^{12}	3.0×10^{12}	2.6×10^{12}	2.5×10^{12}	2.2×10^{12}	2.06×10^{12}	0.72

¹Treatments include (1) negative control treatment—chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (2) in-feed antibiotics—chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) in-water essential oil-chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (4) *in ovo* saline treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *in ovo* essential oil treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (5) *in ovo* essential oil treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1; (6) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment—chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. ² SEM = pooled standard error of means. Mean values from n = 16 birds/treatment group are presented.

6.4.4 Transcriptome Analysis

In this study, to identify differentially expressed mRNAs in the liver of broiler chickens, a total of 6,360,427,350 raw reads were generated from 48 samples (Table 6.3). After the trimming step, 6,357,176,660 clean reads were obtained, and the clean reads were aligned to the whole genome of Gallus gallus domesticus (Fasta: Gallus gallus. GRCg6a.fa, Annotation: Gallus gallus.GRCg6a.Ensembl98.gtf, source: Ensembl98). An average of 95.56% of clean reads were mapped to the genome. To determine the statistical significance of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between treatments, the genes with the parameter of false discovery rate (FDR < 0.05) were considered differentially expressed genes/transcripts. Only a limited number of DEGs were observed (6: 3 up-regulated, and 3 down-regulated) to be differentially influenced by the treatments (Table 6.4). The in ovo + in-water EO recorded the highest number (2) of DEGs in this category, as it down-regulated the expression of both cubilin (CUBN) and aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family member L2 (ALDH1L2) genes. A heatmap illustrating the top 100 most variable genes is presented in Figure 6.6.

Sample	Raw Reads #	Surviving Reads #	Surviving %	Mapped Reads #	Mapped %
10D	128931886	128864410	99.95	123496072	95.83
11F	123815424	123749336	99.95	117546419	94.99
12E	100217620	100171610	99.95	95675887	95.51
13A	91263880	91218332	99.95	87621362	96.06
14E	102874686	102803518	99.93	98365003	95.68
15F	89610956	89558286	99.94	85844381	95.85
16B	103696522	103649450	99.95	99566563	96.06
17D	102727142	102673518	99.95	97718554	95.17
18C	102658094	102589816	99.93	97517267	95.06
19E	114613450	114541804	99.94	109055322	95.21
1B	111989480	111935440	99.95	107217188	95.78
20B	105128716	105083912	99.96	101140738	96.25
21D	86558618	86518732	99.95	82682287	95.57
22A	86201504	86143930	99.93	82400996	95.66
23F	97189216	97135594	99.94	92538383	95.27
25F	129747010	129692014	99.96	124312086	95.85
26D	98609268	98564006	99.95	94445790	95.82
27A	103167822	103122160	99.96	98995073	96.00
28E	119433662	119384804	99.96	113827077	95.34
29C	71048832	71015376	99.95	67880932	95.59
2E	122294110	122221882	99.94	116442856	95.27
30B	100435658	100385796	99.95	96299990	95.93
31D	110590420	110541296	99.96	106048032	95.94
32C	157571810	157485346	99.95	150219923	95.39
33A	103717506	103676040	99.96	99480220	95.95
34E	114963742	114911374	99.95	109633108	95.41
35F	99621346	99571764	99.95	94015694	94.42
36B	89037488	88999280	99.96	85651443	96.24
37E	93691904	93644694	99.95	89307326	95.37
38A	74565050	74529310	99.95	71237815	95.58
39F	96777946	96716112	99.94	92174462	95.30
3D	115361710	115292412	99.94	110464518	95.81
40D	81332670	81290328	99.95	77473448	95.30
41B	78153658	78115760	99.95	74718506	95.65
42C	89136784	89093766	99.95	85224056	95.66
43B	84600692	84556594	99.95	80853617	95.62
44E	106835414	106789686	99.96	102394089	95.88
45A	95541636	95493314	99.95	91460060	95.78
46F	76636156	76598132	99.95	73012433	95.32
47C	112641994	112573638	99.94	107374095	95.38
48D	94773314	94702008	99.92	90015678	95.05
4A	93142656	93092202	99.95	88266669	94.82
5C	102491666	102433822	99.94	97796357	95.47
6F	98781198	98720274	99.94	94109603	95.33

Table 6.3 Sequencing data quality control metrics for 48 liver samples for 6 treatment groups¹

7B	834450506	833996014	99.95	798312414	95.72
8A	851554080	851180034	99.96	812162674	95.42
9C	123838248	123780280	99.95	118300543	95.57
24C	88404200	88369454	99.96	84734829	95.89

¹ Treatments include- A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean mealwheat-based diet; B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and C) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 ml / 1000 L of drinking water; D) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); E) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, F) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively.

Traatmonte	Cono Symbol	Cono Description	Expression	log2FoldChango	DValua	
Treatments	Gene Symbol	Gene Description	Level	log2roluChange	<i>r</i> value	
B vs A	ALDH1L2	aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family	Down	-0.6	<0.01	
D V3. 11		member L2	Down			
C vs A	BTN1A1	butyrophilin subfamily 1 member A1-	Un	0.4	0.02	
U VS. A		like	Op			
D vs. A	AVD	Avidin	Up	0.5	< 0.01	
E vs. A	ST8SIA6	ST8 alpha-N-acetyl-neuraminide	I In	0.6	<0.01	
		alpha-2,8-sialyltransferase 6	Op			
	CUBN	Cubilin	Down	-0.7	0.01	
	ALDH1L2	aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family	Danm	0.6	0.01	
Г VS. А		member L2	Down	-0.0	0.01	

Table 6.4 Differentially expressed genes in the liver of broiler chickens as influenced by treatment groups¹.

¹Treatments include (A) negative control treatment—chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; (B) in-feed antibioticschicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (C) in-water essential oil—chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water; (D) *in ovo* saline treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (E) *in ovo* essential oil treatment—eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1; (F) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment-chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. Each comparison is specified in the format "B vs. A", where group B is compared to group A, with group A being the denominator for the comparison. Liver tissues (50–100 mg) were sampled from 8 replicate birds/treatment (independent of sex) using 1 mL TRIzolTM (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany).



Figure 6.9 Heatmaps of the top 100 most variable genes.

Orange = low expression, blue = high expression Treatments include- A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; B) Infeed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and C) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the rec-ommended dosage of 250 ml / 1000 L of drinking water; D) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); E) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, F) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatmentchicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively.

6.5 Discussion

The supplementation of phytogenic feed additives, especially essential oil, is reported to promote lipid and cholesterol metabolism (Sabino et al., 2018), as well as enhance immunity (Kim et al., 2010), leading to improved poultry performance. These favorable effects are thought to be exerted through the modulation of gut microbiota and the expression of several unique genes (Kim et al., 2010; Lillehoj et al., 2011; Bastos et al., 2017; Sabino et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020). However, in vivo results on the effect of EO on chicken microbiota are somewhat inconsistent. While EO blends have been reported to reduce the relative abundance of pathogenic bacteria like Escherichia coli (Cho et al., 2014; Hashemipour et al., 2016), Salmonella (Pathuk et al., 2017), and *Clostridium perfringens* (Mitsch et al., 2004) in broiler chickens, a few studies have equally reported no effect of EO supplementation on gut commensal bacteria (Hong et al., 2012; Pathak et al., 2017; Paraskeuas and Mountzouris et al., 2019). This study utilized 16S rRNA gene sequencing in combination with transcriptomic analysis to investigate the effect of essential oil and its delivery routes (in water, in ovo, and in ovo + in water) and 0.05% bacitracin on both the composition and diversity of ileal and ceca microbiota and liver transcriptomics. Additionally, ceca short-chain fatty acid concentration was also evaluated. Bacitracin, the positive control in this study, is an extensively used antibiotic growth promoter in the poultry industry (Huyghebaert et al., 2011). There is no doubt that the detailed delineation of the effect of a classic AGP like bacitracin and an alternative to AGP and its delivery routes, as this study presents, is key to understanding the molecular mechanisms underlying growth promotion in poultry. Accordingly, this study provides insight into the microbiota-mediated mode of action of antibiotics growth promoters, as well as preliminary transcriptomic evidence suggesting sex-controlled hepatic differential gene expression in broiler chickens offered antibiotics and essential oil (via water, in ovo, and in ovo + in-water delivery routes).

The gut microbiota plays an important role in host health, immune modulation, nutrient absorption, and pathogen control (Oakley et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2016). Although no treatment effect was recorded, this study revealed higher alpha (Shannon index) diversity in broiler chicken ceca compared to the ileum. This agrees with other studies (Gong et al., 2008; Owens et al., 2008; Choi et al., 2014), which have also recorded higher microbial diversity in the ceca. Higher microbial richness and stability observed in the ceca compared to the ileum in broiler chicken have been correlated with the higher number of obligate anaerobic microbes present therein, compared
to aerobes or facultative anaerobes (Wang et al., 2016). Consistent with the results of this study, both Abdelli et al. (2020) and Pham et al. (2020) have equally reported no effect of EO on alpha diversity. Thibodeau et al. (2015) have shown that only extreme events (dysbiosis and disease inclusive) which modify the number of ecological niches in different bacterial species can alter the alpha diversity.

Furthermore, beta diversity analysis revealed no difference in microbial community structure between treatments at both the ileum and ceca; however, the bacteria communities clearly differed across both gut sections. Other studies involving AGP or EO supplementation in broiler chickens have also observed similar results (Choi et al., 2018; Bauer et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020). Conversely, Pham et al. (2020) have recently highlighted the potential of EO to modulate the gut bacterial community structure. Aside from differences in intestinal sections, time of sampling, and supplemented additives, other factors, including broiler chicken breed, age, environmental condition, and disease status, can potentially cause shifts in beta diversity (Stanley et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2016). Diseases accompanied by intestinal dysbiosis like necrotic enteritis and *Eimeria* infection are reported to cause a significant change in gut microbiota community structure (Xu et al., 2018; Proszkowiec-Weglarz et al., 2020), buttressing the healthy state of the flock in this study.

Furthermore, in-feed antibiotic treatment significantly (p < 0.05) increased the proportion of *Eisenbergiella*, *Lachnoclostridium*, and *Shuttleworthia*, while decreasing (p < 0.01) the proportion of *Christensenellaceae_R-7*_group in the ceca, as compared to other treatments in this study. Interestingly, all of the bacteria with an increased proportion belong to the family *Lachnospiraceae*. The abundance of bacteria in the family *Lachnospiraceae* has been associated with improved weight gain (Lee et al., 2017), feed conversion ratio (Stanley et al., 2016), and butyrate production in broiler chickens (Mechan and Beiko, 2014; Yacoubi et al., 2018). The performance result from this study published in Oladokun et al. (2021b) shows the increased weight gain recorded by the in-feed antibiotic treatment in the early period (d 1–14), compared to the *in ovo* treatments group, supports this result. Consistent with our results, Zhong et al. (2021) reported the increased abundance of bacteria in the genus *Eisenbergiella* in neonates offered probiotics and antibiotics concurrently. An increased abundance in bacteria of the genus *Eisenbergiella* has been associated with reduced incidence of gastrointestinal disorders linked to metabolic and microbiota changes (functional dyspepsia), resulting in improved nutrient metabolism in broiler chickens (McKenna et al., 2020). Nonetheless, a few studies have also associated the abundance of this genera with the incidences of subclinical enteritis and *Eimeria* infection in broiler chickens (Yang et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2021), emphasizing the cost-benefit effects of antibiotic use in poultry production and the need for more studies in this regard. *Lachnoclostridium* has been positively correlated with increased butyrate production with attendant gut health protection and pathogen control effects (Eeckhaut et al., 2011; Polansky et al., 2016). Probiotics (Jacquier et al., 2019) prebiotics (wheat bran) (Shang et al., 2020), and antibiotics, but not essential oil, have all been reported to enrich the abundance of *Lachnoclostridium* in broiler chicken ceca (Xue et al., 2020).

Similar to other enriched genera in the ceca in this study, the genus *Shuttleworthia* has also been associated with increased weight gain and growth performance resulting from a possible role in lipid and carbohydrate metabolic pathways (Lee et al., 2017). Furthermore, disease conditions like avian leukosis virus (Ma et al., 2017), coccidia infection (Chen et al., 2020), and Salmonella infection have all been reported to decrease the abundance of bacteria in the genus Shuttleworthia in broiler chicken ceca (Khan et al., 2020). Similar to the results presented here, Hung et al. (2019) have also reported a reduced abundance of members of the genus Christensenellaceae in the feces of weaned piglets offered the antibiotic bacitracin. Although the functional role of bacteria in this genus in the chicken microbiota is not fully known, their abundance has been associated with the colonization of Campylobacter jejuni, a foodborne zoonotic pathogen (Thibodeau et al., 2015). While the results presented here suggest that antibiotic growth promoters might give the birds a better growth advantage than EOs under this experimental condition, such growth advantage might come with some metabolic costs, deducible from the metabolic functions of bacteria species enhanced by this treatment. Hence, more research is needed on potent alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters with no reported adverse effects on the poultry industry. Nonetheless, the results on gut microbiota presented here provide a critical perspective on microbiota-mediated mode of action of antibiotics growth promoters in broiler chickens.

The fermentation of dietary fibers to yield SCFA constitutes an important function of the ceca commensal microbiota. No significant effect of evaluated treatments on ceca SCFA concentration was recorded in this study. Only the in-water EO treatment showed a statistical trend (p = 0.09) of enhancing ceca butyric acid concentration relative to other treatments. Butyric acid serves as an important energy substrate for the maintenance and proliferation of gut colonic cells and structures (Kulshreshtha et al., 2017; Bauer et al., 2019). Essential oils (in feed or in water) have been reported to increase the concentrations of acetic, butyric, propionic, and lactic

acids and total SCFA in quail breeders (Aydın and Yıldız, 2020) and broiler chickens (Tiihonen et al., 2010; Mašek et al., 2014; Ren et al., 2019). The positive effect of EO on ceca SCFA concentration could be related to the capacity of their phytogenic formulations to enhance bacteria proliferation in the lower gut. Several variable factors that potentially influence SCFA concentrations in broiler chickens, including the microbiota composition, bird age, and the amount and type of available fermentable substrates, explain the observed results in this study (Cho et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2020; Adewole et al., 2021).

Transcriptomic analysis in this study suggests unique sex-controlled gene expression in broiler chicken livers. To evaluate the similarities and dissimilarities between samples in an unsupervised manner, principal component exploratory analysis (PCA) was carried out. The PCA showed that samples were not segregated by treatments (Figure 6.7) but instead showed modest segregation based on an unknown variable, probably sex. To confirm the hypothesis that treatments indeed clustered based on sex, the expression of five highly expressed genes on the W chromosome was examined. The results showed that all five genes showed much higher expression in group two than group one, indicating that group two samples were probably female (group two were samples with PC1 score > 0, group one were samples with PC1 scores < 0) (Figure 6.8).



Figure 6.7 Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed with R package gmodels.

The more similar the treatment, the closer the distance reflected in PCA. Treatments include- A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and C) In-water essential oil-chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 ml / 1000 L of drinking water; D) *In ovo* saline treatment-eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); E) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, F) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment-chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively.



Figure 6.8 Gene expression of chrW gene shows much higher expression in Group2 than Group1, indicating that Group2 samples are probably females (n=20) and Group1 samples are probably males (n=28). Group2 are samples with PC1 score > 0, Group 1 are samples with PC1 scores < 0.

Based on these PCA gene expression plots, samples were thus assigned as male or female according to their PC1 score. A total of 14 DEGs were found to be influenced by the treatment and sex (Table 6.5). Of these DEGs, six genes were up-regulated (fold change range from 0.4 to 1.1) and eight genes were down-regulated (fold change range from -0.5 to -0.9). Sex-based analysis revealed that in male transcripts, antibiotic treatments recorded the highest number of DEGs (seven genes: four upregulated and three downregulated) compared to other treatments. Similarly, in male transcripts, the BVES (blood vessel epicardial substance) gene was significantly downregulated in both antibiotics, in-water essential oil, and *in ovo* essential oil treatments. In female birds, only four DEGS (two upregulated, two downregulated) were recorded amongst treatment groups. To understand the functional roles of identified DEGs, GO and KEGG pathway analysis was carried out. The GO analysis showed that a total of 33 significant GO categories were enriched (P < 0.05) compared to the negative control treatment (Figure 6.9a, b). The GO terms included both biological process (BP), cellular component (CC), and molecular function (MF).

Sex Treatments	Gene Symbol	Gene Description	Expression level	log2FoldChange	P Value	GO Terms	KEGG Pathways
Males (n=28)							
B vs A	INTS2	integrator complex subunit 2	Up	0.5	<0.01	snRNA 3'-end processing,	Genetic information processing (Spliceosome)
	SLC5A10	solute carrier family 5-member 10	Up	0.7	0.01	glucose transmembrane transport	Signaling and cellular processes (Sodium glucose cotransporter)
	MED13	mediator complex subunit 13	Up	0.6	0.01	mediator complex	Transcription machinery (RNA polymerase II system
	CEP70	centrosomal protein 70	Up	0.4	0.01	gamma-tubulin binding	Chromosome and associated proteins
	BVES	blood vessel epicardial substance	Down	-0.5	0.01	regulation of microtubule cytoskeleton organization	Tight junction
	PDE11A	phosphodiesterase 11A	Down		0.02	3',5'-cyclic- nucleotide phosphodiesterase activity	Phosphoric-diester hydrolases

Table 6.5Differentially expressed genes in the liver of broiler chickens as influenced by sex and treatment groups1.

	CLCA1	chloride channel accessory 1	Down	-0.5	<0.01	intracellular calcium activated chloride channel activity	Signaling and cellular processes (Ion channels)
C VS A	BVES	blood vessel epicardial substance	Down	-0.6	0.01	regulation of microtubule cytoskeleton organization	Tight junction
E VS A	BVES	blood vessel epicardial substance	Down	-0.6	<0.01	regulation of microtubule cytoskeleton organization	Tight junction
Females							
B VS A	PANX2	pannexin 2	Up	1.1	<0.01	plasma membrane	signaling and cellular processes (Pores ion channels)
C VS A	GUCY2C	guanylate cyclase 2C	Up	1.1	0.02	peptide hormone binding	Purine metabolism
	MC5R	melanocortin 5 receptor	Down	-0.9	0.02	melanocortin receptor activity	Neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction (Signalling molecules and interaction)
F VS A	MTMR6	myotubularin related protein 6	Down	-0.6	0.02	peptidyl-tyrosine dephosphorylation	Phosphatidylinositol signaling system (Inositol phosphate metabolism)

1 Treatments include- A) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and C) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 ml / 1000 L of drinking water; D) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); E) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, F) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. Each comparison is specified in the format "B VS A", where group B is compared to group A, with group A being the denominator for the comparison. Liver tissues (50–100 mg) was sampled from 8 replicate birds/treatment (independent of sex) using 1 mL TRIzolTM (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany).





Figure 6.9 Gene ontology (GO) classifications of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between treatment groups in (a) male and (b) female transcripts, respectively. Treatments groups include- A) Negative Control treatment-chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet; B) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate and C) In-water essential oil- chicks supplied the essential oil via the water route at the recommended dosage of 250 ml / 1000 L of drinking water; D) *In ovo* saline treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); E) *In ovo* essential oil treatment- eggs injected with 0.2mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1, F) *In ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment- chicks offered the essential oil blend via the *in ovo* and in water route, successively. Gene Ontology terms included both biological process (BP), cellular component (CC), and molecular function (MF).

However, a vast majority (75.8%) of the significant GO terms in the male transcript were observed in the antibiotic treatment, with GO terms in the BP category including "non-canonical Wnt signaling pathway" and "snRNA 3'-end processing" being the principal terms. In the female transcript, the vast majority (51.5%) of the significant GO terms were observed in the in-water EO treatment, with GO terms in the CC category including "signal transduction" and "plasma membrane" being the principal terms. The KEGG pathway analysis results, also shown in Table 6.5, provides predictions of differentially regulated pathways across treatments and sex. The results revealed that the main enriched pathways were cell signaling- (acting in sodium-glucose transporter, ion channels, exosome, and inositol phosphate metabolism) and tight-junction-related pathways. Other highlighted enriched pathways include genetic information processing, transcription machinery, spindle formation proteins, phosphoric diester hydrolases, and purine metabolism. Several factors, including the threshold of significance levels, but certainly not the number of animals or sample number utilized in this study, could have contributed to the low number of DEGs observed in this study (n = 14). Compared to this study, other broiler chicken RNA-Seq experiments (You et al., 2019; Bajagai et al., 2021; Hong et al., 2021) have utilized lower animal or sample numbers to detect a higher number of DEGs.

The BVES gene with the cellular GO term category "regulation of microtubule cytoskeleton organization and tight junction related pathways" was found to be ubiquitously downregulated in male transcripts in this study irrespective of treatments, suggesting that this gene plays a vital metabolic function in the cell. Since first identified in 2001, the BVES gene has mostly been functionally correlated with the maintenance of epithelial integrity and tight junctions (Wada et al., 2001; González-Mariscal et al., 2003; Osler et al., 2005; Russ et al., 2010); this has been validated by decreased trans-epithelial resistance values (TER, a measure of tight junction integrity) (Olser et al., 2005). Nonetheless, the exact mechanisms of its role in tight junction maintenance are yet to be fully elucidated (A Hager et al., 2009). Osler et al. (2005) have proposed that BVES's role in tight junction maintenance might indeed be a secondary effect, with more primary roles likely related to cell signaling, and structural support, among others. Besides the intestine, where tight junction proteins are noted to ensure gut barrier integrity, the BVES gene is also reported to be highly expressed in cardiac and skeletal muscle (DiAngelo et al., 2001; Andrée et al., 2002; Vasavada et al., 2004). More recently, Gu et al. (2020) reported the detection of BVES following whole-genome resequencing of the autochthonous Niya chicken breed and associated its function to the regulation of heart rate and heart development (Torlopp et al., 2006; Froese et al., 2012). Considering that ischemic hepatic necrosis, which is linked to heart failure, could occur in broiler chickens (Aengwanich and Simaraks, 2004) and the healthy state of flocks in this study, it is hypothesized that the downregulation of the BVES gene in broiler chicken liver observed in male transcripts in this study might be functionally related to the regulation of heart rate. Moreover, male embryos and adult chickens are reported to exhibit slower heart rates as compared to females (Ringer et al., 1957; Glahn et al., 1987). More studies are thus needed to validate the relationship between BVES expression in the liver and heart rate regulation in broiler chickens.

Furthermore, antibiotic treatment upregulated the expression of INTS2 (integrator complex subunit 2), SLC5A10 (solute carrier family 5-member 10), CEP70 (centrosomal protein 70), and MED13 (mediator complex subunit 13) genes, while downregulating the expression of PDE11A (phosphodiesterase 11A) and CLCA1 (chloride channel accessory 1) genes in male transcripts in this study. Only in female transcripts did the antibiotic treatment upregulate PANX2 (pannexin 2) gene expression. INTS2 is a subunit of the integrator complex, which interacts with the C-terminal domain (CTD) of RNA polymerase II (RNAP II) large subunit and modulates 3prime end processing of small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs) U1 and U2 (Baillat et al., 2005). The snRNAs are components of the spliceosome involved with the processing of pre-mRNA while also modulating the expression of other genes (Will and Lührmann, 2011). The modulation of snRNAs has also been reported to impact the innate immune system (Tsalikis et al., 2015). Slc5a10 (encoding SGLT5) is a mannose, fructose, and to a less degree, a glucose and galactose transporter (Wright, 2013; Chittka et al., 2018). Although glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) is considered the main sugar transporter relevant to liver function (Leturque et al., 2005), Fukuzawa et al. (2013) have reported exacerbated hepatic steatosis induced by diminished sodium-dependent fructose uptake in SGLT5-deficient mice, suggesting the potential use of this gene as an indirect biomarker of liver health. Moreover, while the liver is the main site of ingested fructose metabolism, the occurrence of excess fructose beyond the liver's metabolic capacity triggers GLUT5 transporter upregulation to ensure fructose absorption into the epithelial cells (Gaby, 2005).

Similar to the BVES gene with predicted cardioprotective effect, the upregulation of the MED13 gene by the antibiotic treatment is also thought to exert a cardioprotective effect in the birds. The MED13 gene is a component of the mediator complex, working in synchronization with RNA polymerase II to direct transcription (Boles et al., 2009). Its mutation has been implicated in lethal cardiac defects (Ito et al., 2000; Ito et al., 2002; Wolton et al., 2014). Similarly, upregulated CEP70 expression, as induced by antibiotic treatment in this study, has been

implicated in the pathophysiology of numerous cancers (Kim et al., 2020). It is a centrosomalassociated protein that has been linked with the regulation of microtubule nucleation in animal cells (Shi et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2015). Centrosome dysfunction has been linked to the incidences of liver diseases and other non-apparent cell cycle defects in humans (Nigg and Raff, 2009). The downregulated PDE11A is a dual-specificity phosphodiesterase that catalyzes the breakdown of the cyclic nucleotides cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) (Libe et al., 2011). Although mainly expressed in the prostate, it also finds expression to a lower degree in the pituitary gland, heart, and liver (Faucz et al., 2011).

Although CLCA1 is noted for its role in the activation of calcium-activated chloride channels, its downregulation is reported to enhance pro-inflammatory cytokine release in both mice mucus cells (Dietert et al., 2014) and human small airway epithelial cells (Mamber et al., 2020). Increased innate immune responses are usually associated with increased energy demands; this suggests that antibiotic use might be an energy-intensive means of growth promotion. Similar to this study, Farmahin et al. (2019) have reported the differential expression of PANX2 in the liver of female, but not male, Fischer rats. PANX2 is functionally known for its potential to create gap junctions that facilitate ion exchange between cells and their role as a potential tumor suppressor in the human brain, skin, and liver tissues (Tang et al., 2008; Kwon et al., 2014; Xie et al., 2015; Jiang and Penuela, 2016).

In a like manner, in-water EO treatment equally downregulated the expression of the MC5R (melanocortin 5 receptor) gene in female transcripts in this study. MC5R encodes a protein receptor for melanocyte-stimulating hormone and adrenocorticotropic hormone. It has been functionally designated as a candidate gene for obesity and fatness in humans and domestic animals (Anand et al., 2021). Consistent with the results presented here, Ren et al. (2017) have previously reported that its expression in the chicken liver might be estrogen activated, further buttressing its differential expression in female transcripts in this study. Similarly, Blankenship et al. (2016) have reported that the downregulation of MC5R was critical to achieving feed efficiency phenotype in first-generation female, but not male, quails in their study. This is likely achieved directly by fatty acid metabolism or indirectly by glucose homeostasis. This result is not unexpected, considering that the broiler chickens utilized in this study have been bred for high feed efficiency. Conversely, the in-water EO treatment up-regulated the expression of the GUCY2C (guanylate cyclase 2C) gene, which encodes guanylate cyclase belonging to the membrane guanylyl cyclase family (Wilson et al., 2014). Mice deficient in GUCY2C have been

reported to have reduced inflammatory response due to reduced expression of pro-inflammatory molecules (Steinbrecher et al., 2011). In contrast, higher expression of GUCY2C in the liver of milk-restricted lambs has been associated with increased pro-inflammatory response (Santos et al., 2018). This is likely the molecular basis of the antibacterial properties of essential oils, especially as it relates to pro-inflammatory hepatic stimulus. This also has an energy trade-off, as more energy might be directed towards countering systemic inflammation and not growth. Higher expression of GUCY2C in human females as compared to males has also been reported (Erwin et al., 2021). Furthermore, while the *in ovo* EO treatment downregulated the expression of the cubilin (CUBN) gene, the in ovo + in-water EO treatment downregulated the expression of the MTMR6 (myotubularin related protein 6) gene in male and female transcripts, respectively. Although the functional relevance of CUBN in chickens is not fully understood, CUBN is generally noted to play a role in the uptake of vitamin, iron, and lipoprotein endocytosis (Christensen et al., 2002; Shaik et al., 2013). Lee et al. (2015) have reported the downregulation of the CUBN gene in chicken lines with high residual feed intake, suggesting a possible role in amino acid metabolism and molecular transport network. Sun et al. (2015) have also alleged that the downregulation of this gene could be induced by stressors, particularly heat stress. More research is thus needed to fully elucidate the functionality of this gene in chickens. Overexpression of the downregulated MTMR6 by the in ovo + in-water EO treatment has been reported to inhibit the Ca²⁺-activated potassium channel (Srivastava et al., 2005; Balla, 2013). Given the physiological function of the Ca2⁺-activated potassium channel, which is to regulate cellular membrane potential and calcium signaling, this is considered to be a beneficial effect of essential oil delivery via this route. Moreover, hypoxia has been reported to increase mitoBKCa channel activity (big conductance potassium channel) of rat liver (Cheng et al., 2008). Furthermore, in this study, both in-feed antibiotic and *in ovo* + in-water EO treatments downregulated the expression of ALDH1L2 in the liver of broiler chickens. Similar to this study, (Li et al. 2014) have previously reported the downregulation of ALDH1L2 in a nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) rat model by analyzing the liver proteome, suggesting that ALDH1L2 may be involved in NASH progression. Contrary to the result presented here, Bajagai et al. (2021) have reported upregulation of the ALDH1L2 gene with continuous EO (2% oregano powder) supplementation in the liver of male broiler chickens. Differences in routes of EO supplementation and length of study may have possibly influenced reported results. Although little is known about the BTN1A1 gene in chickens, which was upregulated by the in-water EO treatment in this study, Huang et al. (2021) reported that this

gene might play a role in immune response via inhibition of T-cell activation using lipopolysaccharide-challenged broiler chickens (Smith et al., 2010; Yamazaki et al., 2010). Low hepatic expression of this gene has also been reported in water buffalo (Wu et al., 2014).

In addition, while the ST8SIA6 gene has been reported to be downregulated in the liver of apolipoprotein E-knockout (apo E-KO) mice offered phytosterol treatment for 14 weeks (Xu et al., 2008), an upregulation of this gene in birds of the *in ovo* EO treatment was observed in this study. Phytosterols are of plant origin and have reported cholesterol-lowering effects (Moghadasian, 2000; Wolfs et al., 2006). In humans, high expression of the ST8SIA6 gene has been attributed an oncogenic function, including tumor cell proliferation, invasion, and migration (Zhang et al., 2021). As little is known of this gene in chickens, an overt attribution of a high expression of this gene to an increased likelihood of hepatic steatosis or liver cancer might be farfetched. More studies are needed in this regard to enable a more definite prognosis. On the other hand, the CUBN gene is reported to play an important role in the metabolism and transport of the active form of vitamin D (1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D) in the liver. This has been confirmed in transcriptomics studies involving mice supplemented with cholecalciferol (Nykjaer et al., 2001; Bonnet et al., 2018). Although this gene is reported to be downregulated by the in ovo EO treatment in this study, Collision et al. (2009) have previously reported its upregulation in mice liver under a trans-fatty acid (TFA)-induced non-alcoholic fatty liver disease challenge. Overall, the results presented here provide transcriptomic evidence on the possibility of "natural" phytobiotics (including essential oil) having side effects depending on the length of use, dosage, and administration routes, an important concept to be considered in the development of potent human and animal pharmacotherapeutic strategies.

6.6 Conclusions

Summarily, while treatments yielded no difference in alpha and beta bacteria diversity in this study, clear differences in ileal and ceca microbiota distribution and structure were recorded. Infeed antibiotic treatment is also reported to significantly increase the proportion of specific beneficial bacteria in the family *Lachnospiraceae* while reducing the proportion of bacteria in the genus *Christensenellaceae*, all in the ceca. No significant effect of the evaluated treatments on ceca SCFA concentration was recorded in this study. Only the concentration of butyric acid recorded a statistical trend towards significance in the in-water essential oil treatment when compared to other treatments. The study also suggests unique sex-controlled gene expression in broiler chicken liver. Compared to the negative control treatment, the differential expression of the INTS2, SLC5A10, MED13, CEP70, PDE11A, and CLCA1 genes functionally associated with genetic information processing, glucose transport, mediator complex, spindle formation proteins, phosphoric-diester hydrolases, and ion channel activity, respectively, were all regulated by the antibiotic treatment in male transcripts. Only the BVES and CUBN gene sets, functionally associated with tight junctions and cholesterol homeostasis, were regulated by the in-water and *in ovo* EO treatments in male transcripts, respectively, compared to the negative control treatment.

Conversely, in female transcripts, while the antibiotic treatment regulated the expression of the PANX2 gene functionally associated with ion exchange, the in-water and *in ovo* + in-water treatments regulated the differential expression of GUCY2C, MC5R, and MTMR6 genes functionally associated with peptide hormone binding, melanocortin receptor activity, and peptidyl-tyrosine dephosphorylation, respectively, all compared to the negative control treatment. Taken together, the results presented here provide mechanistic insights on the microbiotamediated mode of action of antibiotics growth promoters by modulating the abundance of specific bacteria communities, as well as preliminary transcriptomic evidence suggesting sex-controlled hepatic differential gene expression in broiler chickens offered antibiotics and essential oil (via water, *in ovo*, and *in ovo* + in-water delivery routes). To our knowledge, this is the first study to suggest such sex-controlled hepatic differential gene expression in broiler chickens offered these treatments. There is thus a need for well-designed in vivo studies that take sex into consideration in order to fully validate the results presented herein. Nonetheless, the data presented here not only provide guidance on antibiotics and essential oil application in the poultry industry; they also provide a solid framework for further research in the field.

7 CHAPTER 7 FOLIC ACID DELIVERY ROUTES

AN INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECT OF FOLIC ACID AND ITS DELIVERY ROUTES ON BROILER CHICKENS' HATCH AND GROWTH PERFORMANCE, BLOOD BIOCHEMISTRY, ANTIOXIDANT STATUS, AND GUT MORPHOLOGY.

This section has been presented and submitted for publication elsewhere:

- Oladokun, S., and Adewole, D.I. 2022. An Investigation of the Effect of Folic Acid and its Delivery Routes on Broiler Chickens' Hatch and Growth Performance, Blood Biochemistry, and Antioxidant Status. American Society of Animal Science-Canadian Society of Animal Science (ASAS-CSAS) Annual Meeting. Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, USA. June 26-30. Journal of Animal Science, 100:299. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skac247.544
- Oladokun, S., and Adewole, D.I. 2022. An Investigation of the Effect of Folic Acid and its Delivery Routes on Broiler Chickens' Hatch and Growth Performance, Blood Biochemistry, and Antioxidant Status. Journal of Animal Science (submitted).

7.1 Abstract

This study investigated the effect of folic acid (FA) and its delivery routes (in-feed or *in ovo*) on broiler chicken's hatch and growth performance, blood biochemistry, antioxidant status, and intestinal morphology. A total of 1,860 Cobb 500 hatching eggs were incubated for 21 days. On d 12 of incubation, viable eggs were randomly allotted to four groups: the non-injected group, *in ovo* saline (injected with 0.1 mL/egg of saline solution), *in ovo* FA 1 (injected with 0.1 ml FA containing 0.1 mg/egg; FA1), and *in ovo* FA 2 (injected with 0.1 ml FA containing 0.15 mg/egg). All *in ovo* treatments were delivered via the amnion. At hatch, chicks were re-allotted to 5 new treatment groups: FA1, FA2, in-feed FA (FA 3; 5mg/kg of feed), in-feed bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD; 55 mg/kg of feed), and negative control (NC; corn-wheat-soybean diet) in 6 replicate pens (22 birds/pen) and raised in starter (d 0 -14), grower (d 15-24) and finisher (d 25-35) phases. Hatch parameters were assessed on d 0, and body weight and feed intake (FI) were determined weekly. On d 25, 1 bird/cage was euthanized, immune organs weighed, and intestinal tissues harvested. Blood samples were collected for biochemistry and antioxidant (Superoxide

dismutase-SOD and Malondialdehyde-MDA) analysis. Data were analyzed in a randomized complete block design. While FA1 and FA2 decreased (P < 0.001) hatchability in a dose-dependent manner, FA2 caused a 2% increase (P < 0.05) in average chick weight compared to the non-injected group. Compared to the BMD treatment, FA3 decreased (P < 0.05) average FI across all feeding phases. At the end of the trial on d35, FA2 had similar feed conversion ratio as the BMD treatment while recording less (P < 0.001) FI. FA1 and FA2 recorded a tendency (P < 0.1) to increase MDA levels and SOD activity by 50% and 19%, respectively, compared to the NC treatment. Compared to NC treatment, FA2 increased (P < 0.01) villus height, width, and villus height to crypt depth ratio in the duodenum, and villus width in the jejunum. Besides its negative effect on hatchability, FA2 may help improve embryonic development and antioxidant status in broiler chickens.

7.2 Introduction

Antibiotic growth promoters (AGP) are renowned in animal production, especially poultry production, for their roles in disease prevention and growth promotion. However, issues related to the emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and increased consumer demand for antibiotic-free poultry product have stirred public outcry against AGP use in poultry production. This public outcry has necessitated the search for potent alternatives that ensure disease prevention and growth promotion in the poultry industry. For the poultry industry to successfully depart from AGP use, it is pertinent that all strategies that ensure bird growth promotion and disease prevention are employed to meet the rising demand for poultry products.

Moreover, the avian embryonic development is unique compared to their mammalian counterparts, as a continuous maternal supply of nutrients is lacking. This limits the embryo's nutritional requirements to what can be supplied by the egg alone. Several indicators suggest the inadequacies of avian embryo nutrition via the egg. For instance, Ohta et al. (2001) have reported that only 25-30% of nutrients, including vitamins supplied to breeder diets, are incorporated into their eggs, suggesting that the embryo might require an external supply of nutrients for optimum growth. Additionally, an imbalance in available nutrients is triggered by excessive metabolic heat produced by the growing embryo during the late incubation phase (Janke et al., 2004). Interestingly, these nutrient deficiencies occur at a time (especially the late stage of incubation) when embryo energy requirements are usually high. Hence, it is unsurprising that a reduction in embryo growth rate and increased mortality due to nutrient and energy deficiencies at this time

point have been recorded in broiler chickens (Zhai et al., 2011; Ebrahimi et al., 2017). Furthermore, under current commercial poultry settings, chicks often encounter other perinatal nutritional deficiencies that include delayed access to feed that could last about 24-36 hours due to long hatch window and other time-consuming hatchery activities that could include chick sexing, sorting and transportation. Hatchlings are thus unable to meet the energy and thermoregulation nutritional requirements, making them predisposed to immunosuppression, dysbiosis and reduced growth rate (Gholami et al., 2015; Momeneh and Torki, 2018; Nouri et al., 2018). As the late incubation period is critical for enteric embryo development and post-hatch growth development (Uni and Ferket, 2003; Luqman et al., 2019), an optimal supply of nutrients at this time-point must be ensured.

In ovo delivery technology, defined as "the direct inoculation of bioactive substances to the developing embryo to elicit superior lifelong effects, while considering the dynamic physiology of the chicken embryo," offers an opportunity to mitigate the perinatal nutritional deficiencies that chicks encounter (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). The *in ovo* delivery of nutrients has been established as one possible way to enhance hatchability and post-hatch performance in poultry (Najih Jabir Al-Shamery and Mohammed Baqur S. Al-Shuhaib, 2015; Joanna et al., 2017; Bhattacharyya et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). Oladokun and Adewole (2020) have also recently revealed the potential application of *in ovo* technology to deliver several bioactive substances with immunomodulatory properties as alternatives to AGP. To substantiate the efficacy of *in ovo* delivered bioactive substances replacing AGP, the *in ovo* delivery of several nutrients, including trace elements, amino acids, and vitamins, continues to gain interest across several poultry studies (Bakyaraj et al., 2012; Hou and Tako, 2018; Oladokun and Adewole, 2020).

Although scarcely researched, folic acid (FA) is one of several vitamins whose *in ovo* delivery is currently being researched. Folic acid belongs to the water-soluble vitamin B-complex group. It is physiologically important for its role in Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), Ribonucleic acid (RNA), and protein methylation, as well as acting as a coenzyme involved in nucleic and amino acids synthesis and metabolism (Bailey and Gregory, 1999; Choi and Mason, 2000; Leung et al., 2013; El-Azeem et al., 2014). It also plays a crucial role in embryo development and is essential for embryo brain and nerve cell development (Viera, 2007; Hussian et al., 2019). Moreover, breeder hens are reported to have higher FA requirement compared to laying hens (Viera, 2007). The role of FA in red blood cell synthesis and immunocompetence in domestic animals have also been reported (Feng et al., 2011; Asif, 2016). Folate deficiency has been

associated with cardiovascular disease, intra-uterine growth retardation in humans (Boushey et al., 1995), short bones, curved tibia, and beak defects in poultry (Ezzat and Shoeib, 2011). Long-term storage of hatching eggs has been implicated as a possible cause of FA deficiency (Whitehead et al., 1985; Liu et al., 2016).

A few studies have highlighted the potential of the *in ovo* delivery of FA to improve embryo growth and organ development, growth performance indices, immune status, and blood biochemical properties, including plasma cholesterol, glucose, and phosphorus levels in broiler chickens (Bekhet, 2013; El-Azeem et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2016; Nouri et al., 2018; Ismail et al., 2019; Gouda et al., 2022; Tufarelli et al., 2022). Aside from the paucity of studies involving the *in ovo* delivery of FA, conflicting results on the effect of FA on broiler chicken performance exist in the literature. For instance, varying doses of *in ovo* delivered FA have been reported to improve hatchability in poultry (Robel, 2002; Li et al., 2016; Hussian et al., 2019; Ismail et al., 2019). Also, some studies have reported that hatchability and growth performance were not affected by FA supplementation (Robel, 1993a; Nouri et al., 2018; Tufarelli et al., 2022). Therefore, this study sought to investigate the effect of the supplementation of two doses of FA (0.1 and 0.15 mg per egg) and its delivery routes (*in ovo* vs in-feed) on hatch and growth performance, intestinal morphology, blood biochemistry, immune, and antioxidant status of broiler chickens, compared to in-feed antibiotics. To our knowledge, this is the first direct comparison of *in ovo* and in-feed delivered FA in poultry studies.

7.3 Materials and Methods

7.3.1 Ethics statement

The experiment was carried out at the hatchery facility of the Agricultural Campus of Dalhousie University and the broiler rearing facility of the Atlantic Poultry Research Center, Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture. The experiment was conducted following guidelines recommended by the Canadian Council on Animal Care (Rowsell, 1990) and approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Dalhousie University (Protocol number: 2021-032).

7.3.2 Egg incubation and *in ovo* injection procedure

Hatching broiler eggs (Cobb 500, 52 wk old breeders, average weight = 63 ± 1.27 g, n = 1860) were obtained from a commercial hatchery (Cox Atlantic Chick hatchery, Nova scotia) and incubated in a ChickMaster single-stage incubator (ChickMaster G09, Cresskill, NJ, USA), under standard conditions (37.5°C, 55% relative humidity) from embryonic days (**ED**) 1 to 19, and then

to an average of 32°C and 68% from ED 19 to 21. Eggs were candled on ED12, and unviable eggs were discarded. Viable eggs were subsequently assigned to one of four experimental groups: a) non-injected eggs (control; 166 eggs); b) in ovo saline eggs (38 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl, Baxter Corporation, ON, Canada); c) in ovo FA group 1 (53 eggs; injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; ≥97%; Sigma, USA) at 0.1 mg per egg) and d) in ovo FA group 2 (53 eggs; injected with 0.1 mL FA at 0.15 mg per egg). The injection of FA on ED 12 was via the amnion. Treatments were replicated in six similar incubators operated under similar conditions. The injection procedure utilized in this study has been previously described by Oladokun et al. (2021). Briefly, all eggs were disinfected by cleaning with 70% alcohol swabs (BD alcohol swabs-catalogue 326910, ON, Canada), followed by careful punching of the air cell (the blunt end of the egg) using an 18-gauge needle. The injected FA treatments were then delivered to the amnion using a self-refilling injector (Socorex ultra-1810.2.05005, Ecublens, Switzerland) equipped with a 22-gauge needle (injection needle length—3 cm) at a 45-degree angle. After injection, the injection sites were sealed with sterile medical tapes (NexcareTM Flexible Clear Tape-7100187758, 3M, MN, USA). The non-injected eggs were taken out and returned to the incubator simultaneously with other injected treatment groups.

7.3.3 Birds, Housing, and Diets

Hatchlings were weighed and randomly assigned to 5 new treatment groups (Figure 7.1). Chicks from the initial non-injection group were randomly allocated into 3 new treatment groups consisting of (1) chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet (Negative Control treatment; NC); (2) chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (in-feed antibiotics); and (3) chicks fed NC + 5 mg/kg FA (in-feed FA). The *in ovo* FA treatments were placed on the control diet to form treatments (4) *in ovo* FA group 1 and (5) *in ovo* FA group 2. Chicks (mixed sex, n=22) were weighed and assigned to 6 replicate floor pens (0.93 m × 2.14 m)/treatment at a stocking density of 0.076 m²/bird. There were two broiler production rooms. The temperature in the broiler room was monitored daily and was gradually reduced from 32 to 22.5 °C from d 0 through d35. The lighting program was set to 18 h of light and 6 h of darkness throughout the experimental period, and illumination was gradually reduced from 20 lx on d 0 to 5 lx on d 35. Dietary treatments, ingredients, and nutritional composition are presented in Table 7.1. Birds were provided with feed and water ad libitum; diets were fed as mash in the starter (0–14 d) phase and pellets in the grower (15–25 d) and finisher (26-35 d) phases. Diets were formulated to meet Cobb 500 broiler chicken nutrient requirements.



Figure 7.1 Schematic presentation of experimental structure in the hatchery and barn.

In ovo folic acid group 1- eggs injected with 0.1 mg folic acid per egg; *In ovo* folic acid group 2- eggs injected with 0.15 mg folic acid per egg; *In ovo* saline group-injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); In-feed antibiotics-chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; In-feed folic acid- chicks fed NC + 5 mg/kg folic acid; NC- Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet.

	Phases												
In an dian ta		Starter (0-14 d)			Grower (15-25	d)	F	Finisher (26-35 d)					
ingreatents	Negative	In-feed	In-feed	Negative	In-feed	In-feed	Negative	In-feed	In-feed				
	Control	Antibiotics	folic acid	Control	Antibiotics	folic acid	Control	Antibiotics	folic acid				
Ingredient Composition													
Corn (ground)	46.63	46.53	46.63	51.16	51.06	51.16	53.63	53.53	53.62				
Soybean meal-	27.10	27.14	25.12	21.07	21.00	21.07	20.2	20.22	20.21				
46.5	37.12	37.14	37.13	31.87	31.89	31.87	29.2	29.22	29.21				
Wheat	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0	10.0				
Soybean Oil													
(young or	1.80	1.83	1.80	2.18	2.21	2.18	2.75	2.78	2.75				
mature)													
Limestone	1.37	1.37	1.37	1.30	1.30	1.30	1.19	1.19	1.19				
Dicalcium													
Phosphate 21 P	1.45	1.45	1.45	1.35	1.35	1.35	1.18	1.18	1.18				
DL	0.58	0.58	0.58	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.52	0.52	0.52				

Table 7.1 Composition and nutritional contents of experimental diets1 (as-fed basis, percentage (%), unless otherwise stated).

Methionine

premix²

Vitamin/Miner al Premix ^{3, 4}	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
Salt	0.38	0.38	0.38	0.36	0.36	0.36	0.36	0.36	0.36
Lysine HCl	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.17	0.17	0.17
Pellet Binding Agent	-	-	-	-	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
BMD 110G ⁵	-	0.05	-	-	0.05	-	-	0.05	-
Folic acid Sigma	-	-	0.0005	-		0.0005	-	-	0.0005
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Nutrient				Calculated	Composition				
Metabolizable energy,	2,975	2,975	2,975	3,025	3,025	3,025	3,100	3,100	3,100

kcal/kg

Crude protein	22	22	22	20	20	20	19	19	19
Calcium	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.84	0.84	0.84	0.76	0.76	0.76
Available	0.45	0.45	0.45	0.42	0.42	0.42	0.38	0.38	0.38
Sodium	0.18	0.18	0.18	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.17
Digestible lysine	1.22	1.22	1.22	1.12	1.12	1.12	1.02	1.02	1.02
Digestible methionine + cysteine	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.85	0.85	0.85	0.80	0.80	0.80
Digestible Tryptophan	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.22	0.22	0.22	0.20	0.20	0.20
Digestible Threonine	0.84	0.84	0.84	0.76	0.76	0.76	0.72	0.72	0.72

Analyzed Composition

Dry Matter	92.2	92.2	91.6	91.5	92.1	91.4	91.7	91.8	
Crude protein	24.5	24.7	24.3	21.3	21.2	21.6	19.3	20.9	91.6
Crude fat	4.05	4.31	4.09	4.86	4.69	3.67	4.81	4.25	21.3
Calcium	0.81	0.80	1.08	0.89	0.90	0.83	0.83	0.75	4.92
Potassium	1.05	1.00	1.07	0.94	0.91	0.95	0.84	0.92	0.83
Phosphorus	0.62	0.65	0.72	0.66	0.65	0.65	0.57	0.60	0.95
Sodium	0.14	0.15	0.19	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.16	0.15	0.63

¹Basal diet (NC); In-feed antibiotic diet containing NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD); In-feed folic acid diet containing NC + 5 mg/kg FA. ² Supplied/kg premix: DL-Methionine, 0.5 kg; wheat middling, 0.5 kg. ³ Starter vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Capantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁴ Grower and Finisher vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin B3; 25 IU vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 5 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁵ Bacitracin methylene disalicylate (providing 55 mg/kg mixed feed); Alpharma, Inc., Fort Lee, NJ, USA.

7.3.4 Measurements

7.3.4.1 Hatch Parameters and Chick Quality

Hatched chicks were counted and weighed individually. Hatchability was calculated as the percentage of hatched chicks to fertile incubated eggs per replicate. Chick navel quality was evaluated by adopting the scoring method by Reijrink et al. (2009). Navel quality was scored 1— when the navel was completely closed and clean; scored 2—when the navel was discolored (i.e., when the navel color differs from the chick's skin color) with a maximum 2 mm opening; and scored 3—when the navel was discolored and with more than a 2 mm opening. Chick length was also determined by placing the chick on its ventral side and recording its length from the tip of the beak to the middle toe on the right leg.

7.3.4.2 Growth performance parameters

Feed intake and average body weight (BW) were measured on a pen basis weekly. The obtained data was then used to calculate the average feed intake (AFI), average body weight gain (ABWG), and feed conversion ratio (FCR). The FCR was calculated as the amount of feed consumed per unit of body weight gain. Mortality was recorded daily, and dead birds were subsequently weighed and sent to the Nova Scotia Agriculture, Animal Health Laboratory for necropsy. Mortality was then used to correct the FCR.

7.3.4.3 Sampling

On day 25, 1 bird per pen (6 replicate birds per treatment group) was randomly selected, weighed, and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After euthanasia of the bird, blood samples were collected from each bird into 10 mL blood serum collection tubes (BD VacutainerTM Serum Tubes, fisher scientific- BD366430) for further serum assays and 10 mL heparinized tubes (BD VacutainerTM Glass Blood Collection Tubes with Sodium Heparin, fisher scientific-BD366480) for further blood plasma assays. Blood serum and plasma were centrifuged at 1200 g x 10 minutes x 18 degrees °C. The resulting supernatants were stored in aliquots at -80 °C until further analysis.

After slaughter, the weights of the bursa of Fabricius and the spleen were also determined by trained personnel. The small intestinal segments, including the duodenum (region from the gizzard junction to the pancreatic and bile ducts), jejunum (1.5-cm length midway between the point of entry of the bile ducts and Meckel's diverticulum) and ileum (1.5-cm length midway between Meckel's diverticulum and the ileocecal junction), were excised and fixed in neutral buffered formalin (10%) for further histomorphological processing.

7.3.4.4 Relative Weight of Organs

The weights of bursa of Fabricius and spleen were recorded and then specified as a fraction of the live BW (g/Kg BW) of the slaughtered chicken.

7.3.4.5 Serum Immunoglobulins

The concentrations of immunoglobulins (IgG and IgM) in the serum were quantified using chicken-specific immunoglobulins enzyme-link immunosorbent assay (**ELISA**) kits (Bethyl Laboratories, Montgomery, TX, USA; catalog numbers E33-104-200218 and E33-102-180410, respectively) following manufacturer instructions. The values were determined on a microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instrument Inc., Wonooski, VT, USA) using a software program (KC4, version #3.3, Bio Tek Instruments). The four-parameter logistic model was used to extrapolate immunoglobulins concentration from absorbance readings.

7.3.4.6 Blood Biochemistry

Samples for blood biochemical analysis were shipped on ice to Atlantic Veterinary College, University of Prince Edward Island Pathology Laboratory, for analysis using cobas® 6000 analyzer series (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

7.3.4.7 7.3.4.7 Antioxidant Indexes

The activity of superoxide dismutase (**SOD**), and the concentration of Malondialdehyde (**MDA**) in the serum were measured according to the manufacturer's instructions using Cayman's SOD assay kit (catalog number 706002, Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and chicken MDA ELISA kit (catalog number MBS260816, MyBioSource, San Diego, CA, USA) respectively. The Total antioxidant capacity (**TAC**) in blood plasma was analyzed using the Oxiselect Total Antioxidant Capacity assay kit (catalog number STA360; Cell BioLabs Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance for all analysis was measured at recommended wavelengths on a microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instrument Inc., Wonooski, VT, USA) using a software program (KC4, version #3.3, Bio Tek Instruments).

7.3.4.8 Gut morphology

The procedure for intestinal morphometric analysis was as described by Oladokun et al. (2021). Briefly, fixed intestinal tissues were embedded in paraffin, sectioned (0.5 μ m thick), and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for morphological examinations. In each cross-sectioned tissue, ten morphometric measurements including the villus height (from the base of the intestinal mucosa to the tip of the villus excluding the intestinal crypt), villus width (halfway between the base and the tip), crypt depth (from the base upward to the region of transition between the crypt and villi)

(Ozdogan et al., 2014) per slide were carried out using Leica 1CC50 W microscope at 4× Magnification (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany) and an image processing and analysis system (Leica Application Suite, Version 3.4.0, Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany).

7.3.5 7.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Hatch data were analyzed as a randomized complete block design, with the incubator as the blocking factor. Datasets from the grow-out trial were also analyzed in a randomized complete block design, with broiler production rooms being the blocking factor. The normality of all data sets was ascertained by testing residuals by the Anderson-Darling test in Minitab statistical package (v.18.1). Data were analyzed using the generalized linear model in the same statistical package. Significant means were separated using Tukey's honest significant difference test in the same statistical package. Analyzed data were presented as means \pm SEM and probability values. Values were considered statistically different at $P \le 0.05$ and considered a statistical trend at P < 0.1.

7.4 Results

7.4.1 Hatch performance and chick quality

The results on hatch performance and chick quality are presented in Table 7.2. The *in ovo* delivered FA reduced (P < 0.001) hatchability in a dose-dependent manner, with the highest reduction observed in the *in ovo* FA group 2 treatment, having 43% reduction in hatchability compared to the non-injected eggs. In contrast, chicks in the *in ovo* FA group 2 treatment had at least 2% heavier weight (P = 0.02) than those in the non-injected eggs group. All other evaluated parameters, including average chick length and average navel score, were observed to be similar across all treatment groups.

Hatch Parameters	Non-	In ovo	In ovo In ovo		SEM ²	D voluo ³
	injected saline folic acid 1		folic acid 2		i value	
Hatchability, %	96.1ª	95.2ª	75.2 ^b	54.5°	3.43	< 0.001
Average chick weight, g	43.1 ^b	43.8 ^{ab}	43.8 ^{ab}	44.0 ^a	0.14	0.023
Average chick length, cm	19.0	18.9	19.1	19.0	0.18	0.872
Average navel score	1.45	1.38	1.51	1.45	0.07	0.739

Table 7.2 Effect of in ovo delivery of folic acid on hatch performance and chick quality.

¹Treatments include—(1) non-injected eggs; (2) *in ovo* saline group- injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline (0.9% NaCl); (3) *in ovo* folic acid group 1 injected with 0.1 mg folic acid per egg and (4) *in ovo* folic acid group 2 injected with 0.15 mg folic acid per egg. ² SEM = Standard error of means^{. 3}Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b,c} significantly differ.

7.4.2 Growth performance

Table 7.3 highlights the results observed for growth performance parameters across all feeding phases. In the starter phase (d 0-14), only the birds in the in-feed antibiotics treatment consumed more feed (27.5%) (P = 0.01) than the in-feed FA treatment; other treatments were statistically similar to the in-feed antibiotics treatment. No differences in ABWG and FCR amongst treatment groups were recorded in the starter phase. In the grower (d 15-25) and finisher (d 26-35) phases, the in-feed antibiotic treatment recorded higher (P < 0.001) AFI compared to the in-feed FA and *in ovo* FA group 2 treatment. The in-feed antibiotic treatment also recorded higher (P = 0.05) FCR compared to the in-feed FA treatment; other treatments recorded statistically similar FCR values. At the end of the total trial period (d 0-35), only the AFI values were found to be significantly different among treatment groups. A similar trend of the in-feed antibiotic treatment groups. A similar trend of the in-feed antibiotic treatment was also observed. All treatment groups had similar values for ABWG and FCR.

Course the Development of							
Growth Performance Parameters	Negative	In-feed	In-feed	In ovo	In ovo	SEM ²	<i>P</i> value ³
	Control	Antibiotics	folic acid	folic acid 1	folic acid 2	22112	
		St	tarter (0-14d)			
Average feed intake, g	353 ^{ab}	348 ^a	273 ^b	336 ^{ab}	340 ^{ab}	6.16	0.013
Average body weight gain, g	291	314	284	309	250	4.57	0.155
FCR ⁴	1.21	1.11	0.97	1.10	1.34	0.02	0.058
		Gr	rower (15-25	d)			
Average feed intake, g	1,479 ^{abc}	1,643 ^a	1,246 ^{bc}	1,415 ^{ab}	1,072°	22.8	< 0.001
Average body weight gain, g	1,376	1,331	1,220	1,166	1,067	15.6	0.265
FCR ⁴	1.07^{ab}	1.19 ^a	1.03 ^b	1.21 ^{ab}	1.02 ^{ab}	0.02	0.045
		Fin	nisher (26-35	d)			
Average feed intake, g	2,310 ^{abc}	2,348 ^a	1,922 ^{bc}	2,117 ^{ab}	1,780°	25.1	< 0.001
Average body weight gain, g	826	908	797	1068	1000	294	0.922
FCR ⁴	2.69	2.49	2.41	2.03	1.77	0.11	0.981

Table 7.3 Effect of folic acid and its delivery routes on the growth performance of broiler chickens raised for 35 days.

Total Trial Period (0-35d)

Average feed intake, g	3,252 ^{abc}	3,332 ^a	2,610 ^{bc}	2,930 ^{ab}	2,418°	38	< 0.001
Average body weight gain, g	2,566	2,643	2,349	2,548	2,300	292	0.683
FCR ⁴	1.24	1.24	1.13	1.20	1.06	0.03	0.305

¹ Treatments include—(1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed folic acid- chicks fed NC + 5 mg/kg folic acid; (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 1- eggs injected with 0.1 mg folic acid per egg and (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 2- eggs injected with 0.15 mg folic acid per egg. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b,c} significantly differ. ⁴FCR = Feed Conversion Ratio.

7.4.3 Immune organ weight, serum immunoglobulin concentration, and antioxidant indexes Results on the relative weight of immune organs (Bursa of Fabricius and spleen), serum immunoglobulin concentration and antioxidant (SOD, MDA and TAC) indexes are presented in Table 7.4. Of the two immune organs evaluated, only the relative weight of the Bursa of Fabricius (g/Kg BW) recorded a tendency to be increased by the *in ovo* FA group 1 treatment. The relative weight of the Bursa of Fabricius in the *in ovo* FA group 1 was at least 37.8% higher (P = 0.08) than those of other treatment groups. In terms of antioxidant indexes, while the *in ovo* FA group 2 treatment recorded a tendency to increase (P = 0.08) serum SOD activity by at least 50%, compared to other treatments; a marginal increase (P = 0.07) in serum MDA concentration was observed in the *in ovo* FA group 1 treatment, compared to other treatments. There was no effect of treatment on the concentrations of IgG and IgM in the serum. Table 7.4Effect of folic acid and its delivery routes on relative weight of immune organs, serum immunoglobulin concentrations, and
antioxidant indexes.

		1					
Parameters	Negative	In-feed	In-feed	In ovo	In ovo	SEM ²	P value
	Control	Antibiotics	folic acid	tolic acid 1	folic acid 2		
Bursa weight, g/Kg BW	1.86	1.85	2.00	2.55	2.22	0.09	0.076
Spleen weight, g/Kg BW	0.72	0.78	0.81	0.83	0.69	0.03	0.474
Immunoglobulin G,	10.0	2 53	1 1 2	0.80	171	0.32	0.120
Mg/mL	10.9	2.33	1.10	0.80	1./1	0.52	0.120
Immunoglobulin M,	0.86	0 34	0.24	0.30	0.17	0.05	0 589
Mg/mL	0.00	0.54	0.24	0.50	0.17	0.05	0.589
SOD ³ activity, U/ml	0.34	0.36	0.36	0.35	0.51	0.02	0.081
MDA ^{4,} ng/ml	20.9	11.9	13.1	24.8	20.7	1.90	0.068
TAC ⁵ , mM uric acid	0.80	0.68	0.84	0.89	0.76	0.04	0 353
equivalents (UAE)	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.07	0.70	0.04	0.555
¹Treatments include— (1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed folic acid- chicks fed NC + 5 mg/kg folic acid; (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 1- eggs injected with 0.1 mg folic acid per egg and (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 2- eggs injected with 0.15 mg folic acid per egg. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³SOD = Superoxide dismutase. ⁴MDA = Malondialdehyde. ⁵TAC = Total antioxidant capacity.

7.4.4 Blood biochemistry

Table 7.5 shows the results on blood plasma biochemistry indexes. Only the concentrations of plasma electrolyte minerals - sodium and chloride were affected by the evaluated treatment groups. Sodium concentration (mmol. L⁻¹) in the in-feed antibiotics treatment was higher (P = 0.04) than those of the NC treatment. Other treatment groups recorded statistically intermediate values for sodium concentration in the blood plasma. Conversely, chloride concentration (mmol. L⁻¹) in the in-feed antibiotics treatment was higher (P = 0.001) than in the NC and in-feed FA treatment groups. Both levels of *in ovo* delivered FA treatment groups recorded statistically intermediate intermediate values for chloride concentration in the blood plasma.

			Treatments	s ¹					
Parameters	Negative	In-feed	In- feed	In ovo	In ovo	GEM2	л I ³		
	Control	Antibiotics	folic acid	folic acid 1	folic acid 2	SEM ²	P value ³		
Electrolytes, mmol·L ⁻¹									
Sodium	149 ^b	152ª	150 ^{ab}	152 ^{ab}	151 ^{ab}	0.58	0.036		
Potassium	6.96	6.62	6.86	6.62	6.78	0.09	0.666		
Sodium: Potassium	21.4	23.0	22.1	23.0	22.5	0.30	0.382		
Chloride	109 ^b	113 ^a	110 ^b	111 ^{ab}	112 ^{ab}	0.50	0.001		
Calcium	3.06	2.76	3.05	2.99	3.01	0.01	0.373		
Phosphorus	2.46	2.16	2.41	2.42	2.37	0.06	0.221		
Magnesium	0.87	0.80	0.82	0.80	0.81	0.01	0.206		
Metabolites, $mmol \cdot L^{-1}$									
Urea	0.30	0.29	0.32	0.28	0.29	0.10	0.692		
Glucose	15.5	15.3	15.5	16.2	15.1	0.14	0.231		

Table 7.5Effect of folic acid and its delivery routes on broiler chicken plasma biochemistry indices.

3.48	3.51	3.61	3.46	3.91	0.06	0.215			
18.5	20.6	20.2	19.7	20.2	0.01	0.784			
22.2	24.0	21.6	19.3	20.5	0.96	0.716			
361	371	371	424	365	0.01	0.641			
1.95	0.95	1.82	1.17	1.56	0.09	0.117			
Enzymes, $U \cdot L^{-1}$									
589	686	715	889	758	49.4	0.540			
21.0	22.5	18.3	21.4	20.4	0.03	0.839			
6,218	7,937	5,229	8,218	4,791	0.04	0.414			
9,813	7,383	10,506	17,443	10,841	1104	0.112			
2.56	2.21	2.60	2.40	2.88	0.04	0.888			
164	100	166	172	164	0.01	0 288			
104	190	100	175	104	0.01	0.388			
0.07	10.63	10.52	8 67	0.67	0.27	0 129			
9.07	10.03	10.32	0.07	9.07	0.27	0.128			
	3.48 18.5 22.2 361 1.95 589 21.0 6,218 9,813 2.56 164 9.07	3.48 3.51 18.5 20.6 22.2 24.0 361 371 1.95 0.95 Enz 589 686 21.0 22.5 $6,218$ $7,937$ $9,813$ $7,383$ 2.56 2.21 164 190 9.07 10.63	3.48 3.51 3.61 18.5 20.6 20.2 22.2 24.0 21.6 361 371 371 1.95 0.95 1.82 Enzymes, U·L ⁻¹ 589 686 715 21.0 22.5 18.3 $6,218$ $7,937$ $5,229$ $9,813$ $7,383$ $10,506$ 2.56 2.21 2.60 164 190 166 9.07 10.63 10.52	3.48 3.51 3.61 3.46 18.5 20.6 20.2 19.7 22.2 24.0 21.6 19.3 361 371 371 424 1.95 0.95 1.82 1.17 Enzymes, U·L ⁻¹ 589 686 715 889 21.0 22.5 18.3 21.4 $6,218$ $7,937$ $5,229$ $8,218$ $9,813$ $7,383$ $10,506$ $17,443$ 2.56 2.21 2.60 2.40 164 190 166 173 9.07 10.63 10.52 8.67	3.48 3.51 3.61 3.46 3.91 18.5 20.6 20.2 19.7 20.2 22.2 24.0 21.6 19.3 20.5 361 371 371 424 365 1.95 0.95 1.82 1.17 1.56 Enzymes, U·L ⁻¹ 589 686 715 889 758 21.0 22.5 18.3 21.4 20.4 $6,218$ $7,937$ $5,229$ $8,218$ $4,791$ $9,813$ $7,383$ $10,506$ $17,443$ $10,841$ 2.56 2.21 2.60 2.40 2.88 164 190 166 173 164 9.07 10.63 10.52 8.67 9.67	3.48 3.51 3.61 3.46 3.91 0.06 18.5 20.6 20.2 19.7 20.2 0.01 22.2 24.0 21.6 19.3 20.5 0.96 361 371 371 424 365 0.01 1.95 0.95 1.82 1.17 1.56 0.09 Enzymes, U·L ⁻¹ 589 686 715 889 758 49.4 21.0 22.5 18.3 21.4 20.4 0.03 $6,218$ $7,937$ $5,229$ $8,218$ $4,791$ 0.04 $9,813$ $7,383$ $10,506$ $17,443$ $10,841$ 1104 2.56 2.21 2.60 2.40 2.88 0.04 164 190 166 173 164 0.01 9.07 10.63 10.52 8.67 9.67 0.27			

Proteins, $g \cdot L^{-1}$

Total proteins	28.6	27.3	29.2	28.8	29.2	0.001	0.508
Albumin	11.8	11.9	12.1	11.7	12.2	0.14	0.82
Globulin	16.8	15.4	17	17	17	0.002	0.343
Albumin: Globulin	0.70	0.78	0.71	0.69	0.71	0.01	0.310

¹Treatments include—(1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (2) In-feed antibiotics- chicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed folic acid- chicks fed NC + 5 mg/kg folic acid; (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 1- eggs injected with 0.1 mg folic acid per egg and (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 2- eggs injected with 0.15 mg folic acid per egg. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b} significantly differ.

7.4.5 Gut morphology

Table 7.6 shows the effect of FA and its delivery routes on the three intestinal segments. All FA treatments (irrespective of delivery routes) seemed to improve duodenal morphology in this study, as evidenced by increased (P < 0.01) villus height, villus width, villus height to crypt depth ratio, and reduced (P = 0.04) crypt depth, compared to the control treatment. Nonetheless, the *in ovo* FA 2 group recorded the highest increase in villus width, at least 13.6 % wider than other treatments and only statistically comparable to the antibiotic treatment.

Conversely, in the jejunum, the antibiotic treatment recorded the least (P < 0.001) crypt depth and highest villus height to crypt depth ratio compared to the control treatment. Interestingly, the antibiotic treatment equally recorded reduced (P < 0.001) jejunal villus width compared to the control treatment. All other treatments mostly recorded statistically intermediate values for villus width, crypt depth and villus height to crypt depth ratio in the jejunum. No difference in the jejunal villus height was recorded for all treatments in this study.

In the ileum, results on villus height and width were variable. Significant differences were recorded between the in-feed FA group and the *in ovo* FA 1 group for both parameters. While the former increased (P = 0.001) ileal villus height compared to the latter, the latter increased (P = 0.007) the villus width compared to the former. Nonetheless, the antibiotic treatment recorded the lowest (P = 0.002) crypt depth and the highest (P = 0.03) villus height to crypt depth ratio compared to the control treatment. Other treatments had statically intermediate crypt depth and villus height to crypt depth ratios.

		r	Freatments ¹				
Parameters	Negative Control	In-feed Antibiotics	In-feed folic acid	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid 1	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid 2	SEM ²	<i>P</i> value ³
Duodenum							
Villus height, mm	2.04 ^b	2.14 ^{ab}	2.15 ^{ab}	2.28 ^a	2.21 ^a	0.02	< 0.001
Villus width, mm	0.22 ^b	0.24 ^{ab}	0.22 ^b	0.22 ^b	0.25 ^a	0.00	0.003
Crypt depth, mm	0.16 ^a	0.14 ^b	0.14 ^b	0.15a ^b	0.15 ^{ab}	0.00	0.004
Villus height: Crypt depth	12.5 ^b	15.0 ^a	14.7ª	15.5 ^a	14.4 ^a	0.19	< 0.001
Jejunum							
Villus height, mm	1.15	1.17	1.12	1.16	1.11	0.01	0.497
Villus width, mm	0.25 ^a	0.20 ^b	0.23 ^a	0.24 ^a	0.26 ^a	0.00	< 0.001
Crypt depth, mm	0.11 ^{ab}	0.10 ^c	0.10 ^{bc}	0.12 ^a	0.11 ^{abc}	0.00	< 0.001
Villus height: Crypt depth	10.2 ^{bc}	11.8 ^a	10.7^{ab}	9.30 ^{bc}	9.88 ^c	0.18	< 0.001
Ileum							
Villus height, mm	0.76 ^{ab}	0.77 ^{ab}	0.82 ^a	0.70^{b}	0.74^{ab}	0.01	0.001

Table 7.6 Effect of folic acid and its delivery routes on broiler chicken intestinal morphology.

Villus width, mm	0.18 ^{ab}	0.18 ^{ab}	0.17 ^b	0.20 ^a	0.19 ^{ab}	0.00	0.007
Crypt depth, mm	0.15 ^a	0.13 ^{bc}	0.14 ^{ab}	0.13 ^{bc}	0.14^{abc}	0.00	0.002
Villus height: Crypt depth	5.01 ^b	5.74 ^a	5.68 ^{ab}	5.47 ^{ab}	5.21 ^{ab}	0.10	0.028

¹Treatments include—(1) Negative Control treatment- chicks fed a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet; (2) In-feed antibioticschicks fed NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; (3) In-feed folic acid- chicks fed NC + 5 mg/kg folic acid; (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 1- eggs injected with 0.1 mg folic acid per egg and (4) *In ovo* folic acid group 2- eggs injected with 0.15 mg folic acid per egg. ² SEM = Standard error of means. ³ Means within a row with different superscripts ^{a,b,c} significantly differ.

7.5 Discussion

While a few studies have reported the potential of the *in ovo* delivery of FA to improve embryo growth, bird growth performance, and immune and blood biochemical indexes (El-Azeem et al., 2014; Li et al., 2016; Nouri et al., 2018; Ismail et al., 2019; Gouda et al., 2022), we present here the first comparison of FA (across both *in ovo* and in-feed delivery routes) with a classic antibiotic (bacitracin methylene disalicylate) in broiler chicken study, to our knowledge.

This study reports contrasting results on chick hatchability and hatchling weight. While in ovo delivered FA reduced hatchability with increasing dosage, the highest dose (0.15 mg/egg) recorded the highest hatchling weight compared to the non-injected treatment. Conflicting results on the effect of *in ovo* delivered FA on hatchability are reported in the few available literature. While a few studies have reported improved hatchability with in ovo delivered FA (Li et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2016; Gouda et al., 2021, 2022), other studies have recorded no effect of in ovo delivered FA on hatchability (Nouri et al., 2018; Ismail et al., 2019). Abdel-Halim et al. (2020) observed decreased hatchability (91% vs 76%) with in ovo injected eggs (0.2 mg FA/egg via the albumen), compared to non-injected eggs in their study. Similarly, Abdel-Fattah and Shourrap (2013) recorded decreased hatchability values following in ovo delivery of FA (1 mg FA/egg via the air cell). Several factors, including the dosage of injected substance, form or solubility of injected substance, the volume of injection, site of injection, injection needle length, and time of injection, have been reported to influence hatchability outcomes across in ovo studies (Ohta and Kidd, 2001; Zhai et al., 2011; Abdel-Halim et al., 2020; Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). Of all these factors, the form of injected substance, injection needle length and time of injection are speculated to be the key factors that could have contributed to the hatchability outcome observed in this study. While we utilized commercially available FA in its powder form in this study, it would be important for further studies to consider evaluating liquid FA forms, if available. This might aid easy embryo absorption and utilization of this bioactive substance. Also, Ohta and Kidd (2001) have earlier documented that a 13-mm needle length, as opposed to a 19-mm, is optimum for in ovo delivery of amino acids. Our laboratory has successfully established the procedure for the in ovo delivery of probiotics (B. subtilis) in broiler chickens using a 3-cm (30-mm) injection needle length, recording 91% hatchability rate (Oladokun et al., 2021). While we utilized a similar needle length (3 cm) in this study, it is probable that a shorter needle length might be more relevant for the *in ovo* delivery of FA to ensure increased chances of embryo viability. Regarding the time of injection, Sunde et al. (1950) pointed out that embryo mortality would not be affected by FA

deficiency until embryonic d17, suggesting that d17 onwards might be an ideal time for the *in ovo* delivery of FA. Furthermore, our result on increased hatchling weights following *in ovo* delivery of FA is consistent with previous reports on *in ovo*-delivered FA (Abdel-Fattah and Shourrap, 2013; El-Azeem et al., 2014; El Said, 2017; Gouda et al., 2022). Li et al. (2016) equally recorded increased hatchling weight with a similar *in ovo* delivered FA dose as this study. This positive effect of *in ovo*-delivered FA on hatchling weight has been attributed to the critical role folate plays in DNA and RNA synthesis, cell replication, blood protein synthesis, thyroid activity, hepatic expression of Insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF2), antioxidant activities, and nutrient utilization (Robel, 1993b; Abdel-Fattah and Shourrap, 2013; El-Azeem et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2016; Ismail et al., 2019).

The growth performance dataset from this study shows the in-feed antibiotic treatment consistently recording higher AFI values across all feeding phases. Even more interesting, birds in the in ovo folic acid 2 treatment (0.15 mg/egg) were observed to record similar FCR values as the in-feed antibiotic treatment while consistently consuming less quantity of feed at the grower, finisher, and overall feeding phases, suggesting that this treatment possessed some sort of nutrient utilization efficiency. The growth promotion potential of AGP (especially BMD) to improve AFI and FCR values are well substantiated across the literature (Ao and Choct, 2013; Murugesan et al., 2015; Gadde et al., 2017; Manafi et al., 2017; Crisol-Martínez et al., 2017; Walters et al., 2019). Several theories including inhibition of the synthesis of bacteria cell wall (Smith and Weinberg, 1962; Butaye et al., 2003), improved feed intake resulting from enhanced nutrient digestibility by virtue of improved gut microflora structure (Dibner and Richards, 2005; N. Karthikeyan et al., 2017), and an anti-inflammatory effect via reduced production of cytokines and chemokines resulting in reduced incidence of anorexia (Niewold, 2007) have been posited to explain AGP growth-promoting effect. Similar to the result reported here, Gamboa et al. (2022) observed improved FCR in ovo FA injected birds (0.15 mg/egg) at d1-42 compared to control treatment in their study, with similar AFI values and no change in ABWG values. Other studies have also affirmed the capacity of *in ovo* delivered FA to improve FCR in poultry (El-Azeem et al., 2014; Li et al., 2016; Nouri et al., 2018). This nutrient conversion efficiency afforded by higher dosage of in ovo delivered FA is traceable to folate's antioxidant and thyroid activity, as well as its effect on muscular metabolism (Joshi et al., 2001; El-Azeem et al., 2014; Nouri et al., 2018).

Furthermore, no treatment effect on serum immunoglobulins G and M levels was recorded in this study. Although immunoglobulins are a critical component of humoral response to infection and oxidative stress, the results recorded were not surprising as birds were raised under experimentally controlled conditions with no strain on their immune system. Nonetheless, one study (Li et al., 2016) reported that in ovo delivered (100 and 150 µg/egg) FA increased plasma IgG and IgM concentration in broiler chickens at d21 and 42. Based on the limited and conflicting results observed, it would be worthwhile for more studies to research the effect of in ovo delivered FA on immunoglobulin concentrations and other factors, including sampling time and differences in quantification assays that could potentially affect detectable immunoglobulin concentrations. Contrary to the result recorded on serum immunoglobulins concentration, a tendency for the *in* ovo FA 1 treatment to increase the relative weight of the bursa was also observed. This is consistent with the result of El Said (2017), which showed that in ovo delivery of FA (10%, 0.1 ml/egg) increased bursa weight (%). The positive effect of in ovo-delivered FA on lymphoid organ hypertrophy has been linked to the antioxidant properties of FA (Joshi et al., 2001; Akinyemi and Adewole, 2022a). Consistent with this result, we also record a tendency for a higher dosage of in ovo delivered FA to increase serum SOD activity, alongside a tendency to reduce lipid peroxidation product (MDA), compared to a lower dosage of the in ovo delivered FA. Despite the reported antioxidant potential of FA (Joshi et al., 2001; Gliszczyńska-Świgło, 2007), it is interesting to note that this is the first study to actually evaluate the effect of in ovo delivered FA on antioxidant indexes, to our knowledge. Several other studies (El-Din et al., 2008; Gouda et al., 2020; Li et al., 2021; Savaram et al., 2022) have affirmed that in-feed supplementation of FA improves various antioxidant indexes.

Blood sampling continues to be an important diagnostic approach in both human and avian research. In this study, all observed blood biochemical parameters were within the normal physiological range for broiler chickens (Ilo S U et al., 2019). Nonetheless, blood plasma sodium and chloride level in the in-feed antibiotic treatment was observed to be significantly increased compared to the control treatment. Both electrolyte minerals were observed to be within the upper limit of recommended physiological ranges for broiler chickens (Leeson and Summers, 2001). Conditions involving high concentrations of sodium and chloride in the blood are referred to as hypernatremia and hyperchloremia, respectively. Considering the role of these minerals in maintaining acid-base balance and osmotic pressure in body fluids, excessively high levels of these electrolyte minerals have been implicated in the incidences of dehydration, edema, acidosis, poor bone development (tibial dyschondroplasia), and decreased humoral immunity (Pimentel and Cook, 1987; Ruíz-López et al., 1993; Oviedo-Rondón et al., 2001; Pohl et al., 2013). The effect

of antibiotics on the concentrations of these blood minerals is relatively unreported in the literature; this study perhaps provides another justification to encourage the discontinued use of AGP in poultry production.

Additionally, a higher dosage (0.15 mg/egg) of the *in ovo* delivered FA enhanced duodenal, jejunal and ileal morphology in this study; in most cases, as comparable to or even better than the in-feed antibiotic treatment. Considering that an increased villus height, villus width, and reduced crypt depth are frequently linked to improved nutrient absorptive functions, these results could explain the similar trend in growth performance observed for both treatments. Despite the paucity of studies that have evaluated the effect of *in ovo*-delivered FA on the intestinal morphology of poultry, Li et al. (2020) have previously reported enhanced intestinal morphology in lamb's offspring with increasing maternal FA supplementation. A similar positive effect of improved intestinal morphology with antibiotics (especially BMD) supplementation is also well documented in the literature (Viveros et al., 2011; Khodambashi Emami et al., 2012; Adewole and Akinyemi, 2021; Akinyemi and Adewole, 2022a). This positive effect of antibiotics on intestinal morphology is theorized to occur as a result of their antibacterial and gut microbiota modulating properties (Marković et al., 2009; Khodambashi Emami et al., 2012). Given that new cells possess shorter villus height and higher crypt depth, by virtue of a shift in gut microbiota, destruction and the subsequent renewal of gut cells are thus reduced.

7.6 Conclusions

This study showed that both dosages (0.1 and 0.15 mg FA/egg) of *in ovo* delivered FA reduced hatchability in a dose-dependent manner. However, *in ovo*-delivered FA at a higher dosage (0.15 mg FA/egg) afforded heavier hatchling weight. The same dosage of *in ovo*-delivered FA also enhanced broiler chicken intestinal morphology and FCR in a similar capacity as the in-feed antibiotic treatment, with birds consuming less quantity of feed. A marginal tendency to increase serum SOD activity was equally observed in the same *in ovo*-delivered FA at 0.15 mg/egg could offer a similar growth-promoting effect as antibiotics in broiler production. Notwithstanding, it would be important to optimize all possible injection and incubation conditions through further research in order to yield favorable hatchability outcomes.

8 CHAPTER 8 IN OVO DELIVERED BIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES AND HEAT STRESS

SUCCESSIVE DELIVERY OF ESSENTIAL OIL VIA *IN OVO* AND IN-WATER ROUTES IMPROVES BROILER CHICKEN'S GUT INTEGRITY.

8.1 Abstract

Mitigating the negative effects of heat stress (HS) is a critical challenge for the global poultry industry. This study thus evaluated the thermoregulatory potential of three in ovo delivered bioactive substances using selected gut health parameters. Eggs were incubated and allotted to 5 groups, and respective bioactive substances delivered. These groups included- the non-injected group, in ovo saline group, in ovo folic acid (FA), in ovo probiotics (P), and in ovo essential oil (EO) group. At hatch, chicks were assigned to post-hatch treatment combinations, including - (A) a negative control (NC; corn-wheat-soybean diet); (B) antibiotics (Bacitracin methylene disalicylate), (C) In ovo FA, (D) In ovo probiotics and (E) In ovo + in-water EO groups in 8 replicate cages (6 birds/cage) and raised for 28 d. Birds were exposed to either a thermoneutral $(24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2)$ or HS challenge (31°C) condition from d 21 - d 28. The *in ovo* delivered FA and EO treatments reduced (P < 0.001) hatchability by at least 26 % compared to NC. Induced HS reduced (P < 0.001) average body weight gain, total plasma protein, total antioxidant capacity, and villus width in the duodenum and jejunum. The relative mRNA expression of intestinal barrier-related genes (Claudin4, Claudin10 and Mucin2) was also reduced by ($P \le 0.05$) HS. Independent of HS and compared to NC, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment recorded (P < 0.05) at least a 15% increase in villus height: crypt depth across the three gut sections. The *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment also increased the relative mRNA expression of intestinal barrier-related genes (Claudin1,3,4, Occludin, Zona occludens-2, and Mucin 2). Under HS, the in ovo + in-water EO treatment recorded a 3.5-fold upregulation of amino acid transporter gene (SLC1A1), compared to NC. Subject to further hatchability optimization, the in ovo + in-water delivery of EO shows great potential to afford broiler chicken thermotolerance.

8.2 Introduction

According to OECD-FAO, (2018) projection, poultry will be the most consumed animal protein globally in this decade. This is likely due to its affordability and acceptability across several

cultures and religions. Despite the dampened sales that characterized the food sector during the COVID-19 pandemic, poultry meat recorded a meteoric output of 137 million tonnes in 2020 (FAO, 2020). Poultry production also contributes significantly to sustaining the economic livelihoods of millions of rural dwellers, especially in developing countries (De Bruyn et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2017). Despite the poultry industry's importance, the welfare and performance of poultry birds can be impaired by disease incidences and environmental factors. Heat stress has explicitly been regarded as "the main environmental factor" negatively impacting the poultry sector (Zhang et al., 2012).

Heat stress (HS) has been defined as "a continuous adaptive response to thermal perturbations outside the thermal comfort zone of a bird" (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b). The thermal comfort zone of poultry has been stated to be within 18–25 °C (Blas and Scanes, 2015). At temperatures outside this thermal comfort zone, HS has been shown to have adverse effects on poultry wellbeing. Asides from inducing oxidative stress, HS could also cause cellular damage, leading to endocrine disorders, immunosuppression, increased inflammatory conditions, altered microbial ecology, poor gut health, poor meat quality, and the possible onset of enteric diseases in poultry (He et al., 2020; Tavaniello et al., 2020). The economic impact of HS on the poultry industry was recorded to be up to \$165 million in annual losses and up to a 7.2% decrease in egg production in the US alone almost two decades ago (St-Pierre et al., 2003). The annual heat-related losses incurred in the broiler sector alone were estimated at \$51.8 million [(St-Pierre et al., 2003). It is reasonable to infer that these predictions would be much higher today given current climate change realities and the rising demand for poultry. Moreover, IPCC (2021) has predicted a global temperature increase of about 2.5 °C during the next two decades. Current HS mitigation measures have also been deemed "partially efficacious", given that poultry production systems, particularly in the tropics, continue to suffer the negative effect of HS during hot seasons (Green and Xin, 2009). It is thus important that timely and effective HS mitigation options are made available to the poultry industry.

Across the literature, several HS amelioration strategies, including environmental, genetic, and nutritional supplementation, have been reported. Environmental and management approaches will include infrastructural investment in air ventilation and sprinkling systems in poultry houses (Vandana et al., 2021). Marker-assisted selective breeding for thermotolerance in poultry birds is a genetic option to mitigate HS (Chen et al., 2013). Nutritional supplementation of bioactive substances with HS mitigation potential seems to be the most feasible of these options. The

potential of several bioactive substances, including minerals, amino acids, prebiotics, symbiotics, vitamins, probiotics and essential oils (EO), have been reported (Sahin and Kucuk, 2003; Sohail et al., 2011; Tang et al., 2018; Alagawany et al., 2021; Salem et al., 2022). Antibiotics have also been reported to mitigate HS in broiler chickens (Teeter, 1996; Zulkifli et al., 2000). Notwithstanding, using antibiotics to mitigate HS-related symptoms in poultry may drive continuous antibiotic use (Cole and Desphande, 2019), a public health concern. Therefore, it is crucial to research other bioactive substances that mitigate HS whilst potentially replacing antibiotics-use in poultry production.

By acting through differing modes of action, a few researched alternatives to antibiotics have been reported to possess HS mitigating potential, asides from other beneficial performance-enhancing properties (Tavaniello et al., 2020). For instance, several studies have reported the potential of probiotics (defined as "live microorganisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host" (FAO/WHO, 2001)) to enhance the growth performance, immune status, and gut health of heat-stressed poultry (Sugiharto et al., 2017; Salem et al., 2022). This positive effect is theorized to be exerted as a result of probiotics' ability to ensure homeostatic gut microbial diversity (Sugiharto, 2016). Similarly, plant essential oils like oregano, rosemary, thyme, etc. are also reported to improve nutrient digestibility, antioxidant capacity, immune status, and ultimately growth performance of poultry under HS challenge conditions (Ghazi et al., 2015; Khafar et al., 2020; Büyükkılıç Beyzi et al., 2020). These EO contain carvacrol and thymol as active bioactive components; this consequently affords them their beneficial antioxidant properties and ability to reduce gut leakage by upregulating tight-junction related genes in poultry (Patra, 2020; Büyükkılıç Beyzi et al., 2020). Folic acid (FA), a vitamin B-complex with potent radical scavenging activity, is another bioactive substance that shows promising HS mitigating potential. Although scarcely researched, a few studies have reported the increase in feed intake, feed efficiency, egg production, growth performance and health status of birds supplemented with FA under HS (Tolba et al., 2007; El-Din et al., 2008; Gouda et al., 2020; Onuoha and Udo, 2022). Despite the reported benefits of these bioactive substances, several other reports have equally documented their ineffectiveness in mitigating HS in poultry(Sohail et al., 2013, 2015; Dardeer et al., 2018). A possible rationale for the recorded inefficiencies of these substances could be related to differences in dose, form, and delivery routes. Conventionally in the poultry industry, these bioactive substances are either delivered through the feed or the water. These conventional routes suffer a few limitations, including the possibility of negative interaction with other feed additives,

heat instability, and potential water quality issues (Gadde et al., 2017; Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). The *in ovo* delivery of bioactive substances (reviewed by Oladokun and Adewole, 2020) offers the opportunity to surmount all the identified challenges, amongst other advantages. The in ovo route may thus guarantee the efficacy of these bioactive substances against HS. Using several independent studies, our laboratory has been able to report that in ovo delivery of Bacillus subtilis enhanced the intestinal morphology and immune status in broiler chickens without compromising hatch and gut homeostasis under thermoneutral conditions (Oladokun et al., 2021a; Oladokun and Adewole, 2022a). Similarly, our previous study also validated that successive delivery of a blend of essential oils via the in ovo and in-water route improves broiler chicken's antioxidant status and blood biochemical profile with no adverse effect on growth performance (Oladokun et al., 2021b). We also recently determined that the in ovo delivery of FA yields heavier hatchling weight, enhanced gut morphology and improved nutrient conversion efficiency in broiler chickens (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022c). Also, it has been speculated that most alternatives to antibiotics utilized in poultry production are usually more potent under immunological or environmental challenge conditions (Ferket et al., 2002; Patterson and Burkholder, 2003; Yadav et al., 2016). Furthermore, while the antioxidant and gut-enhancing properties of these bioactive substances are well reported (Habibi et al., 2014; Song et al., 2014; Gouda et al., 2020), the molecular basis of their thermo-protective capacity in broiler chickens, especially via the in ovo route, remains largely unknown. Consequently, based on the rationale above, it is hypothesized that the beneficial properties of these bioactive substances across these delivery routes might be more apparent, especially under HS conditions.

Accordingly, by integrating enzyme-link immunosorbent assays, blood biochemistry assays, histology and molecular biology techniques, this study sought to gain a holistic insight into the thermoregulatory capacities of selected *in ovo* delivered bioactive substances (FA, probiotics, and EO). The effect of the delivery of these bioactive substances on hatch and growth performance, blood biochemistry, antioxidant, and immune status in heat-stressed broiler chickens compared to a classic antibiotic was thus specifically evaluated. Additionally, the relative expression of splenic-immune-related genes, cellular stress proteins, jejunal nutrient transporter, and intestinal barrier-related genes were also evaluated. This is perhaps the first study seeking to highlight the molecular responses of major *in ovo* delivered bioactive substances with HS mitigating potential. This study thus has the potential to provide novel insight into the mode of action of these bioactive substances and provide information on the biological mechanisms underpinning thermoregulation

in broiler chickens.

8.3 Methods

8.3.1 Ethics statement

This study was conducted at Dalhousie University, Faculty of Agriculture Hatchery facility and the Atlantic Poultry Research Center. All experimental procedures were approved by Dalhousie University Animal Use and Care Committee (File No- 1035699) and were in accordance with the standards set out by the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC, 2009).

8.3.2 In ovo procedures

A total of 1,252 hatching eggs with an average weight of 65.07 ± 0.30 g (mean \pm SE) from Synergy hatchery, Nova Scotia, Canada were incubated in a ChickMaster single-stage incubator (ChickMaster G09, Cresskill, NJ, USA) under standard conditions (37.5 °C and 55% relative humidity) from embryonic days (EDs) 1 to 17, and then to an average of 32 °C and 68% from EDs 18 to 21. Prior to setting eggs, incubators were preheated for 24 hours to maintain the right temperature and humidity levels. From the time of set until ED 18, egg trays were rotated four times an hour on a 90° arc. Eggs were candled on ED12, and infertile eggs were disposed of, leaving a total of 1,216 eggs for the trial. Afterwards, the remaining eggs were divided into one of five treatment groups: (1) non-injected eggs (control; 98 eggs); (2) in ovo saline group (50 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl, Baxter Corporation, ON, Canada); (3) in ovo FA group (50 eggs, injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg; (4) in ovo probiotics group (50 eggs, injected with 0.2 mL of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent); and (5) in ovo essential oil group (50 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1). All treatments were replicated in four similar incubators operated under the same condition. FA was injected on ED12, while the probiotics and essential oil group were injected on ED18. The Bacillus subtilis product (Strain - Bacillus subtilis 10SI) (concentration of 10×10^{10} CFU/g) and the commercial essential oil blend (containing phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil) used in this study were obtained from Probiotech International Inc., St Hyacinthe, Quebec, Canada. The EO blend is registered by Health Canada as a Veterinary Health Product. Detailed information on the injection procedure used in this investigation have previously been detailed by Oladokun et al.(2021a). Summarily, eggs were cleaned with 70% alcohol swabs (BD alcohol swabs-catalog 326910, ON, Canada), and then an 18-gauge needle was used to carefully puncture the air cell (the blunt end of the egg). A

self-refilling injector (Socorex ultra-1810.2.05005, Ecublens, Switzerland) fitted with a 22-gauge needle at a 45-degree angle was then used to provide FA and probiotics to the amnion and EO to the air cell. After *in ovo* injection, sterile medical tapes (NexcareTM Flexible Clear Tape-7100187758, 3M, MN, USA) were used to close the injection sites. The non-injected eggs were also removed and put back in the incubator at the same time as the other treatment groups that received injections.

8.3.3 Experimental design, animal husbandry and diets

A schematic presentation of this study's experimental layout is presented in Figure 8.1. At hatch, hatchlings (n = 480) were weighed and randomly allotted to five new treatment groups. The noninjected eggs gave rise to treatment (A) Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, and (B) Antibiotics diet- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD). The eggs injected with FA, probiotics and EO were used to create treatments- (C) In ovo FA, (D) In ovo probiotics and (E) In ovo + in-water EO groups, respectively. The *in ovo* + in-water EO treatments included hatchlings from the *in ovo* EO group also supplied EO at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water via the water route. The experiment was conducted as a 5 x 2 factorial design, with 5 in ovo treatments and 2 temperature challenge models as main factors. Chicks-mixed sex (6 birds/cage) were randomly allotted to either a thermoneutral room or an environmentally controlled room, consisting of 40 battery cages each (dimension - 50cm × 60cm; stocking density - 0.076m²/bird), with each treatment group having 8 replicate cages. All treatment groups were evenly represented across both tiers of the cages. Throughout the experiment, the lighting was programmed to generate 18 hours of light and 6 hours of darkness, and illumination was gradually decreased from 20 lux on day 0 to 5 lux on day 28. Ambient temperature in the experimental rooms was monitored daily and gradually decreased from 32°C on d0 to 24°C on d 21. At 11 am on d21, the temperature was increased to 31°C in the environmentally controlled heat challenge room. This temperature was retained for only 8 hr./day from d21 – d28 in the HS group in a bid to mimic a typical summer heatwave. The thermoneutral (TN) or unchallenged group temperature was maintained at $24^{\circ}C \pm$ 0.2. Relative humidity was between 20 and 62% for both rooms. Temperature and relative humidity were continuously monitored and recorded using Extech Instruments (Nashua, USA) for both thermal groups. All birds were offered feed and water ad libitum throughout the trial, which lasted 28 days. Diets were formulated to meet Cobb 500 broiler chicken nutrient requirements.

Diets were offered in mash form during the starter (0-14d) and grower (15-28d) phases. The ingredient, and nutritional composition of the experimental diets are presented in Table 8.1.



Figure 8.1 Schematic presentation of experimental layout in the hatchery and barn.

At the hatchery - *in ovo* saline eggs were injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl, Baxter Corporation, ON, Canada); *in ovo* probiotics eggs were injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent); *in ovo* folic acid eggs were injected with 0.1 mL folic acid (95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA; at 0.15 mg per egg); and *in ovo* essential oil eggs were injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1). At the barn- the non-injected eggs gave rise to treatment (A) Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet, and (B) Antibiotics diet - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD). The eggs injected with folic acid, probiotics and essential oil were used to create treatments - (C) *In ovo* folic acid, (D) *In ovo* probiotics and (E) *In ovo* essential oil groups, respectively

	,	Treatment	'reatments ¹				
Hatch Parameters	Non-	In ovo	In ovo	In ovo	In ovo	SEM ²	P value ³
	injected	Saline	Folic acid	Probiotics	Essential oil		
Hatchability (%)	94.5 ^a	93.2ª	77.3 ^b	92.8 ^a	70.0 ^b	2.78	< 0.001
Average chick weight (g)	46.2	45.9	44.9	46.4	47.4	0.38	0.116
Average chick length (cm)	19.1	19.2	19.0	19.2	19.0	0.06	0.338
Chick BW/ egg weight (%)	0.70	0.71	0.70	0.71	0.72	0.004	0.411
Average navel score	1.32 ^b	1.42 ^{ab}	1.46 ^{ab}	1.60 ^a	1.64 ^a	0.05	0.002

Table 8.1 Effect of *in ovo* delivery of folic acid, probiotics and essential oil on hatch performance and chick quality.

8.3.4 Measurement

8.3.4.1 Hatch Parameters and Chick Quality

The ratio of hatched chicks to viable incubated eggs was used to determine % hatchability on a replicate basis. Each hatched chick was weighed on an individual basis in order to determine the average chick weight per treatment. The BW/initial egg weight ratio of hatched chicks was also determined and recorded. To determine chick length, measurement was taken from the tip of the chick's beak to the middle toe on the right leg. Chick navel quality was also assessed by adapting Reijrink et al. (2009) navel scoring method. Navel quality was scored 1—when the navel was completely closed and clean; scored 2—when the navel was discolored (i.e., when the navel color differs from the chick's skin color) with a maximum 2 mm opening; and scored 3—when the navel was discolored and with more than a 2 mm opening.

8.3.4.2 Growth performance parameters

Feed intake and average body weight (ABW) were measured on a cage basis weekly. The obtained data was then used to calculate the average feed intake (AFI), average body weight gain (ABWG), and feed conversion ratio (FCR). The FCR was calculated as the amount of feed consumed per unit of body weight gain. Mortality was recorded daily and used to correct the FCR. Dead birds were weighed and sent to the Nova Scotia Agriculture, Animal Health Laboratory for necropsy. 8.3.4.3 Sample collection

On d28, 1 bird/cage (males) was randomly selected, weighed, and humanely euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination. After euthanasia of the bird, blood samples were collected from each bird into 10 mL blood serum collection tubes (BD VacutainerTM Serum Tubes, fisher scientific - BD366430) for further serum assays and 10 mL heparinized tubes (BD VacutainerTM Glass Blood Collection Tubes with Sodium Heparin, fisher scientific- BD366480) for further blood plasma assays. Blood serum and plasma were centrifuged at 1,200 g x 10 minutes x 18 °C. The resulting supernatants were stored in aliquots at -80 °C until further analysis. The Bursa of Fabricius, spleen, liver, and intestinal tissues (duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) were also harvested for further analysis.

8.3.4.4 Relative weight of Bursa of Fabricius

At the point of slaughter, the weights of the bursa of Fabricius were recorded and expressed as a percentage of the live BW of the slaughtered chicken (g/Kg BW).

8.3.4.5 8.3.4.5 Rectal temperature

To confirm that the HS protocol induced HS in the birds, rectal temperatures from 2 birds in each

replicate cage were measured using digital thermometer (Accuflex®5; A.M.G. Medical Inc., Montreal, CA) on days 21, 23, 25 and 27 (during HS) in both HS and TN groups. The digital thermometer probe was inserted 4 cm into the cloaca for 5s.

8.3.4.6 Plasma Biochemistry

Plasma samples for blood biochemical analysis were shipped on ice to Atlantic Veterinary College, University of Prince Edward Island Pathology Laboratory, and analyzed using cobas® 6000 analyzer series (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

8.3.4.7 Antioxidant indices

The activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), and the concentration of Malondialdehyde (MDA) in the serum were measured according to the manufacturer's instructions using Cayman's SOD assay kit (catalog number 706002, Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and chicken MDA ELISA kit (catalog number MBS260816, MyBioSource, San Diego, CA, USA) respectively. The Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in blood plasma was analyzed using the Oxiselect Total Antioxidant Capacity assay kit (catalog number STA360; Cell BioLabs Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance for all analysis was measured at recommended wavelengths on a microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instrument Inc., Wonooski, VT, USA) using a software program (KC4, version #3.3, Bio Tek Instruments).

8.3.4.8 Gut morphology

The procedure for gut morphology analysis has previously been described by Oladokun et al. (2021a). Summarily, fixed intestinal tissues were sectioned (0.5 m thick), embedded in paraffin, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Morphometric measurements (n = 6 measurements per replicate slide) were then carried out on each cross-sectioned tissue using a Leica 1CC50 W microscope at 4× Magnification (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany) and an image processing and analysis system (Leica Application Suite, Version 3.4.0, Leica Microsystems, Wetzlay, Germany). Morphometric measurements included the villus height (from the base of the intestinal mucosa to the tip of the villus excluding the intestinal crypt), villus width (halfway between the base and the tip), crypt depth (from the base upward to the region of transition between the crypt and villi).

8.3.4.9 RNA Isolation, Reverse Transcription, and Real-Time Quantitative PCR

Total RNA was extracted from broiler chicken (n=6 per treatment) jejunum, spleen, and liver samples using Trizol reagent (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The concentration and quality of the extracted RNA were then determined using the

Take3 micro-volume plate in a Synergy HT multimode microplate reader (BioTek, Winooski, VT) and the obtained ratio of absorbance (A260/280). Verified pure RNA was then reverse transcribed using qScript cDNA Synthesis Supermix (Quanta Biosciences, Gaithersburg, MD), and amplified by qPCR (Applied Biosystems 7500 Real Time System) with SYBR green master mix (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) as previously described by Dhamad et al. (2020) and Flees et al. (2021). Relative expression of the target genes was then determined using the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method (Schmittgen and Livak, 2008) with 18S rRNA as the housekeeping gene. Chicken-specific oligonucleotide primers used are summarized in 8.2.

		Primer sequence		
Gene	Accession number	$(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Orientation	Product size (bp)
CI DN1	NM_001013611	CCCACGTTTTCCCCTGAAA	Forward	61
CLDNI		GCCAGCCTCACCAGTGTTG	Reverse	01
CI DN3	NIM 204202	CACAGGGTGGTTTCGGTCAG	Forward	70
CLDNS	INIM_204202	GCCCCATAGACATGGTGTCC	Reverse	70
CI DN4	XM 040687502 2	CGAGGTGAGATCCCCGAAA	Forward	71
CLDIN4	AM_040087392.2	GGGCGTTTGGTGCTCTTCT	Reverse	/ 1
CI DN10	XM 0460081531	CCGCTGTCTGTCTGGGTTTC	Forward	50
CLDNIU	AWI_040900133.1	TGTGCACTTCATCCCAACCA	Reverse	55
OCI N	NM 205128	CGCAGATGTCCAGCGGTTA	Forward	50
OCLIV	14141 205120	GTAGGCCTGGCTGCACATG	Reverse	57
70-1 XM 015278975	GGGAACAACACGGGTGACTCT	Forward	80	
20-1		AGGATTATCCCTTCCTCCAGATATTG	Reverse	00
70-2	ZO-2 NM 204918	AGGATTATCCCTTCCTCCAGATATTG	Forward	69
20-2		GCAATTGTATCAGTGGGCACAA	Reverse	07
70-3	XM 015299757	CAAAGCAAGCCGGACATTTAC	Forward	63
20 5	MM_015257757	GTCAAAATGCGTCCGGATGTA	Reverse	05
MUC2	XM 0469422971	GATCTTCCTTGACAGCTTTTGAACT	Forward	145
10002	<u></u>	AAATGATCCATAGGTGTATGCAACTC	Reverse	145
GLUT1	NM 205209 1	TCCTGATCAACCGCAATGAG	Forward	60
GLUII	14141 200200.1	TGCCCCGGAGCTTOTTG	Reverse	00
GLUT2	NM 207178 1	GAAGGTGGAGGAGGCCAAA	Forward	61
02012	1001207170.1	TTTCATCGGGTCACAGTTTCC	Reverse	01
GLUT5	XM 0406891191	CCTCAGCATAGTGTGTGTCATCATT	Forward	62
GLUIS	71010100007117.1	GGATCGGACTGGCTCCAA	Reverse	02
SLC1A1	XM 424930 7	GGTGAAGGCGGACAGGAA	Forward	68
SECHI	1111 12 19 5 0.17	TGCTGAGCAGGAGCCAGTT	Reverse	00
SLC15A1	NM 204365 1	GACAACTTTTCTACAGCCATCTACCA	Forward	65
SECTOR	100120100001	CCCAGGATGGGCGTCAA	Reverse	00
II16	NM 204524	CGAGGAGCAGGGACTTTGC	Forward	71
IL IP		GAAGGTGACGGGCTCAAAAA	Reverse	, <u>-</u>
IL-2	NM 204153.2	CGAGCTCTACACACCAACTGAGA	Forward	62
12 2		CCAGGTAACACTGCAGAGTTTGC	Reverse	-
IL-4	NM 0010079.1	GCTCTCAGTGCCGCTGATG	Forward	60
	1.111.001007911	GAAACCTCTCCCTGGATGTCAT	Reverse	00

Table 8.2 List of qPCR chicken-specific oligonucleotide primers.

II -6	NM 204628 1	GCTTCGACGAGGAGAAATGC	Forward	63	
11-0	10101 204020.1	GGTAGGTCTGAAAGGCGAACAG	Reverse	05	
Π_12Δ	NM 001308447 1	AAACGAGGCACTCCTGAAGGT	Forward	66	
IL-IZA		ACCTCTTCAAGGGTGCACTCA	Reverse	00	
II 12D	NM 212571.2	TGCCCAGTGCCAGAAGGA	Forward	57	
IL-12B INM_215571.2	TCAGTCGGCTGGTGCTCTT	Reverse	57		
IEN	NIM 205140.2	CTGACAAGTCAAAGCCGCAC	Forward	80	
ΠΓΙΝ-γ	INIM_203149.2	CTTCACGCCATCAGGAAGGT	Reverse	80	
SCD	NIM 204900	CAATGCCACCTGGCTAGTGA	Forward	50	
SCD INM	INIVI 204890	CGGCCGATTGCCAAAC	Reverse	32	
SCAD	VM 001221520	TGGCCCAGAGACTCATCATG	Forward	67	
SCAP 2	AM 001251559	GCAGGATCCGTATAAACCAGGAT	Reverse	07	
EAC	102960	ACTGTGGGGCTCCAAATCTTCA	Forward	70	
FA5	103800	CAAGGAGCCATCGTGTAAAGC	Reverse	/0	
CDDED1	A V020224	CATCCATCAACGACAAGATCGT	Forward	01	
SBREPT	AY029224	CTCAGGATCGCCGACTTGTT	Reverse	82	
CDDED1	A TA1 4270	GCCTCTGATTCGGGATCACA	Forward	(2)	
SDKEP2	AJ4145/9	GCTTCCTGGCTCTGAATCAATG	Reverse	05	
110070	102570	GGGAGAGGGTTGGGCTAGAG	Forward	55	
HSP/0	J02579	TTGCCTCCTGCCCAATCA	Reverse	22	
LICDOO	X072(5.1	TGACCTTGTCAACAATCTTGGTACTAT	Forward	(0	
HSP90	A0/203.1	CCTGCAGTGCTTCCATGAAA	Reverse	08	
100	AE172612	TCCCCTCCOGTTACTTGGAT	Forward	(0	
18S	AF1/3012	GCGCTCGTCGGCATGTA	Reverse	60	

8.3.5 Statistical analysis

Hatch data were analyzed as a randomized complete block design, with the incubator as the blocking factor. Datasets from the grow-out trial were analyzed as a 5 x 2 factorial analysis of variance (ANOVA) design. All datasets were analyzed in the Minitab statistical package (v.18.1) using the generalized linear model. When significant main effects and interaction were detected, means were compared using Tukey's honest significant difference test in the same statistical package. Analyzed data were presented as means \pm SEM and probability values. Values were considered statistically different at $P \le 0.05$.

8.4 Results

8.4.1.1 Hatch performance and chick quality

The effect of *in ovo* delivered treatments on hatch performance, and chick quality is presented in Table 8.3. Compared to the non-injected eggs, the *in ovo* delivered FA and EO treatments reduced (P < 0.001) hatchability by 18 and 26 % respectively. Similarly, the *in ovo* probiotics and EO treatments recorded higher (P = 0.002) average navel score values compared to the non-injected eggs. Other treatments had statistically intermediate average navel score values. *In ovo* delivery of evaluated treatments recorded no effect on average chick weight, chick length and the ratio of Chick BW to incubated egg weight in this study.

	,	Treatments ¹					
Hatch Parameters	Non-	In ovo	In ovo	In ovo	In ovo	SEM ²	<i>P</i> value ³
	injected	Saline	Folic acid	Probiotics	Essential oil		
Hatchability (%)	94.5ª	93.2ª	77.3 ^b	92.8 ^a	70.0 ^b	2.78	< 0.001
Average chick weight (g)	46.2	45.9	44.9	46.4	47.4	0.38	0.116
Average chick length (cm)	19.1	19.2	19.0	19.2	19.0	0.06	0.338
Chick BW/ egg weight (%)	0.70	0.71	0.70	0.71	0.72	0.004	0.411
Average navel score	1.32 ^b	1.42 ^{ab}	1.46 ^{ab}	1.60 ^a	1.64 ^a	0.05	0.002

Table 8.3 Effect of in ovo delivery of folic acid, probiotics and essential oil on hatch performance and chick quality.

¹Treatments include— non-injected eggs; *in ovo* saline group- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline; *in ovo* folic acid (FA) group- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg; *in ovo* probiotics group- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent); and *in ovo* essential oil group- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1. 2 SEM = Standard error of means.

8.4.1.2 Growth performance

Treatment effect on growth performance indices for the entire trial period is shown in Table 8.4. In the starter phase (d0-14), while treatment had no effect on bird's AFI and FCR, the antibiotics treatment increased (P < 0.01) ABWG compared to other treatments, with the exception of the *in ovo* + in water EO treatment. At the grower phase (d15-28) and throughout the entire trial period (d0-28), no differences in AFI, ABWG and FCR were recorded between treatments.

Table 8.5 reports the effect of treatments and thermal challenge on growth performance indices of birds exposed to cyclic HS for 1 week. Although the antibiotic treatment showed a tendency to increase (P = 0.08) AFI compared to other treatments, no interaction effect of treatment and temperature was recorded for AFI in this study. Conversely, a significant interaction effect of treatment and temperature was observed for ABWG. While the antibiotic treatment recorded the highest ($P \le 0.001$) ABWG values compared to other treatments under TN condition, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment recorded the highest numerical increase in ABWG values, which was at least 17% higher than other treatments under HS condition. Nonetheless, under HS condition, ABWG values in the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment were higher (P < 0.001) than the in ovo probiotics treatment. When both factors were considered independently, HS was observed to clearly decrease (P < 0.001) ABWG in birds, while the antibiotic treatment increased (P < 0.001) 0.001) ABWG in comparison to other treatments, while still being statistically comparable to the in ovo + in-water EO treatment. Regarding FCR, the antibiotic treatment recorded a lower (P =0.03) FCR than the *in ovo* probiotic treatment; other treatments recorded statistically intermediate FCR values. FCR was also observed to be higher (P = 0.03) under TN condition. This study also detected a significant interaction effect between treatment and temperature model for FCR. Under TN condition, the antibiotic treatment recorded lower (P < 0.001) FCR values than all *in ovo* treatments. However, under HS condition, the *in ovo* + in-water treatment had at least 19% lower (P > 0.05) FCR values than other treatments. Notwithstanding, the FCR values recorded by the *in* ovo + in-water treatment was significantly lower (P < 0.001) than those of the *in ovo* probiotics treatment under HS condition.

	Treatments ¹						
Performance Parameters	Negative Control	Antibiotics	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> + in-water EO	SEM ²	<i>p</i> value ³
Starter (d1-14)							
Average feed intake (g/bird)	253	322	255	262	261	57.8	0.23
Average body weight gain (g/bird)	192 ^b	254 ^a	189 ^b	186 ^b	212 ^{ab}	6.30	< 0.01
Feed conversion ratio	1.28	1.25	1.34	1.37	1.25	0.41	0.90
Grower (d15-28)							
Average feed intake (g/bird)	1387	1459	1405	1346	1341	66.5	0.92
Average body weight gain (g/bird)	498	538	530	525	532	17.8	0.98
Feed conversion ratio	1.48	1.14	1.09	1.02	1.02	0.19	0.47
Total trial period(d1-28)							
Average feed intake (g/bird)	1540	1667	1524	1493	1536	85.4	0.84
Average body weight gain (g/bird)	1037	1142	1028	1012	1071	18.4	0.18
Feed conversion ratio	1.45	1.46	1.48	1.45	1.42	0.09	1.00

Table 8.4 Effect of *in ovo* delivered folic acid, probiotics and *in ovo* + in-water essential oil on broiler chicken growth performance.

¹Treatments groups include- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. 2 SEM = Standard error of means. 3Means that do not share the same superscript are significantly different.

		Per	formance Paran	neters
Main effects		Average feed intake (g/bird)	Average body weight gain (g/bird)	Feed conversion ratio
	Negative Control	739	467 ^b	1.58 ^{ab}
Treatments ¹	Antibiotics	881	653 ^a	1.35 ^b
	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid	837	498 ^b	1.68 ^{ab}
	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	765	426 ^b	1.79 ^a
	In ovo +	815	530 ^{ab}	1.54 ^{ab}
	in-water EO SEM ²	20.5	18.1	0.05
т (3	TN	806 ± 17.1	$570^{a}\pm20.0$	$1.46^{b} \pm 0.08$
I emperature ³	HS	777 ± 37.6	$476^b\pm27.5$	$1.71^{a}\pm0.07$
Interaction				
Treatments	Temperature			
	TN	714 ± 25.3	$512^{bc}\pm34.0$	$1.41^{abc}\pm0.21$
Negative Control	HS	757 ± 35.6	$434^{bc} \pm 22.3$	$1.78^{ab}\pm0.08$
Antibiction	TN	926 ± 21.9	$860^{a} \pm 25.7$	$1.08^{\rm c}\pm0.08$
Anubioucs	HS	817 ± 61.5	$498^{bc}\pm21.0$	$1.69^{ab}\pm0.07$
In ove folic acid	TN	810 ± 22.6	$516^{bc} \pm 45.9$	$1.60^{ab} \pm 0.09$
	HS	836 ± 24.3	$499^{bc}_{i} \pm 29.8$	$1.76^{ab} \pm 0.13$
In ovo probiotics	TN	769 ± 35.7	$494^{bc} \pm 21.0$	$1.58^{ab}\pm0.12$
m ovo problomes	HS	746 ± 45.3	$374^{\circ} \pm 40.0$	$2.03^{a} \pm 0.13$
In ovo	TN	840 ± 22.6	$505^{bc} \pm 31.3$	$1.69^{ab} \pm 0.17$

Table 8.5 Effect of in ovo delivered folic acid, probiotics and in ovo + in-water essential oil on the growth performance of broiler chicken's exposed to 1-week (d21-28) cyclic heat stress.

+ in-water EO	HS	740 ± 148	$586^b \pm 49.0$	$1.37^{bc}\pm0.21$
<i>p</i> value ⁴				
Treatments		0.08	< 0.001	0.03
Temperature		0.39	< 0.001	0.03
Treatments*Temperature		0.51	< 0.001	< 0.001

1Treatments groups include- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. 2 Pooled SEM = Standard error of means. 3Temperature model include- Thermoneutral group (T)- birds were housed at 24° C \pm 0.2 from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31° C for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. 4Means that do not share the same superscript are significantly different.

8.4.1.3 Relative weight of Bursa of Fabricius

Treatment, temperature nor their interaction recorded no effect on the relative weight of the Bursa of Fabricius (g/kg BW) in this study (Table 8.6).

8.4.1.4 Rectal temperature

Rectal temperature measurements revealed that the utilized HS protocol clearly induced HS in the birds, as there was an obvious difference in rectal temperature values between TN and HS birds at each of the four-time points (Figure 8.2). Across the four different time-points, the HS birds recorded higher (P < 0.001) average rectal temperature compared to birds raised under TN condition (HS- 42.0 °C vs TN- 41.2 °C).

Main effects		Relative weight of Bursa of Fabricius (g/kg BW)
	Negative Control	2.32
Treatments ¹	Antibiotics	2.02
	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid	2.04
	In ovo probiotics	1.94
	In ovo +	1.79
	SEM ²	0.13
Temperature ³	TN	2.03 ± 0.09
	HS	2.01 ± 0.09
Interaction		
Treatments	Temperature	
	TN	2.52 ± 0.19
Negative Control	HS	2.12 ± 0.20
Antibiotics	TN	1.70 ± 0.19
	HS	2.33 ± 0.19

Table 8.6Effect of *in ovo* delivered folic acid, probiotics and in ovo + in-water essential oil and temperature on the relative weight of
Bursa of Fabricius (g/kg BW) of broiler chicken on day 28.

In ovo folic acid	TN	2.06 ± 0.19
	HS	2.01 ± 0.19
In ovo probiotics	TN	1.88 ± 0.19
	HS	2.01 ± 0.19
In ovo	TN	1.99 ± 0.19
+ in-water EO	HS	1.58 ± 0.19
<i>p</i> value		
Treatments		0.11
Temperature		0.87
Treatments*Temperature		0.06

¹Treatments groups include- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheatbased diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water.² SEM-Standard error of the means; Temperature model include- Thermoneutral group (TN)- birds were housed at 24°C ± 0.2 from d 21 – 28, and Heat stress group (HS)-birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 – 28.



Figure 8.2 Rectal temperature measurements during heat stress.

Temperature models include- Thermoneutral group (TN)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (HS)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n = 40/thermal group; two birds/cage).
8.4.1.5 Blood plasma Biochemistry

The result of treatment, temperature and their interaction on blood plasma biochemistry indices are shown in Table 8.7. While no interaction effect for both main factors was recorded in this case, significant but independent effects of both treatments and temperature were noted. Birds in the in ovo probiotics treatment recorded higher (P = 0.02) plasma magnesium levels only compared to the NC treatment; other treatments had statistically intermediate plasma levels. Similarly, the in *ovo* probiotics treatment also had higher (P = 0.03) plasma phosphorus levels compared to other treatment groups, except for the in ovo FA treatment. Contrarily, the plasma level of Gammaglutamyl Transferase (GGT) was reduced (P = 0.05) in the *in ovo* probiotics treatment compared to the *in ovo* FA and NC treatment. Compared to other treatments, higher ($P \le 0.01$) plasma Aspartate Transferase (AST) and Albumin to Globulin (A:G) levels were afforded by the antibiotics treatment, with the exception of the in ovo FA treatment for AST levels. Additionally, plasma globulin levels were reduced (P = 0.02) by the antibiotics treatment compared to the *in* ovo FA and in ovo + in-water treatment. With regards to temperature effect, HS is observed to reduce ($P \le 0.02$) the plasma levels of sodium, glucose, AST, albumin, globulin, and total protein in broiler chickens in this study. In contrast, elevated levels ($P \le 0.05$) of plasma phosphorus and bile acids were recorded in heat-stressed birds.

Plasm							mn		Interaction										P value		
a para meter	Treatments ¹ Mode						mp. odel ²	TN					HS					-			
S	NC	BMD	In ovo F	In ovo P	In ovo + In- water EO	TN	HS	NC	BMD	In ovo F	In ovo P	In ovo + In- water EO	NC	BMD	In ovo F	In ovo P	In ovo + In- water EO	SEM	Trt.	Tem p	Trt. * Tem p
									Ele	ectrolyte	s (mmo	lL-1)									
Na ³	146	145	147	146	1.47	147ª	145 ^b	147	146	147	147	148	144	144	147	144	145	1.19	0.62	0.01	0.90
K^4	5.72	5.57	5.71	6.10	5.69	5.80	5.69	5.52	5.55	5.90	6.05	5.55	5.97	5.59	5.55	6.14	5.86	0.20	0.32	0.48	0.48
Na:K ⁵ Cl ⁶	25.4 109	25.9 110	25.6 109	24.6 109	25.6 111	25.7 110	25.1 109	26.5 107	26.4 110	24.8 110	24.1 110	26.6 111	24.1 110	25.4 110	26.3 108	25.2 107	24.5 111	0.46 0.91	0.84 0.21	0.41 0.73	0.28 0.28
\mathbf{P}^7	2.11 ^b	2.03°	2.29 _{ab}	2.39 ª	2.06 ^b	2.09 b	2.25ª	1.96	1.99	2.222	2.23	2.07	2.28	2.07	2.37	2.56	2.05	0.05	0.03	0.05	0.64
Mg ⁸	0.73 ^b	0.75ª	0.76 ab	0.84 a	0.75ª	0.76	0.77	0.70	0.76	0.78	0.83	0.75	0.76	0.75	0.75	0.83	0.75	0.03	0.02	0.89	0.55
234									М	etabolite	es (umo	L ⁻¹)									
100 29	13.5	13.5	13.2	13.1	13.5	13.7 a	13.0 ^b	13.9	13.8	13.4	13.5	13.8	12.9	13.2	13.0	12.6	12.1	0.15	0.34	<0.0 01	0.73
Chole sterol ⁹	2.73	2.88	2.99	2.90	2.96	2.99 ª	2.79 ^b	2.82	3.04	2.97	3.08	3.03	2.64	2.71	3.01	2.69	2.89	0.05	0.52	0.05	0.66
Uric acid	289	324	313	313	293	311	301	295	348	333	273	313	283	302	294	358	275	8.66	0.63	0.55	0.10
Bile acid	18.3	18.7	17.7	17.7	19.8	16.5 b	20.5ª	16.5	17	15.5	15.6	17.7	20.2	20.5	20.1	19.9	21.9	0.62	0.80	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 1 \end{array}$	1
Iron	17.9	16.3	17.7	18.0	17.7	18.1	17.0	18.5	17.4	18.2	18.4	18.1	17.3	15.4	17.2	17.7	17.4	0.35	0.39	0.08	0.91

Table 8.7 Effect of in ovo delivered folic acid, probiotics and in ovo + in-water essential oil and temperature on broiler chicken's plasma biochemistry indices.

Urea ⁹	0.34	0.32	0.36	0.34	0.29	0.33	0.34	0.35	0.33	0.37	0.02 9	0.3	0.34	0.32	0.36	0.40	0.29	0.01	0.14	0.54	0.22
	Enzvmes (UL ⁻¹)																				
Amyl ase	515	609	569	400	697	573	532	632	504	616	402	739	411	723	524	398	638	38.6	0.15	0.58	0.45
ALP ¹⁰	4921	3978	424 3	464 6	4868	455 8	4474	487 6	4094	4357	501 3	4514	496 6	3865	413 3	430 6	5248	344	0.81	0.89	0.96
AST ¹¹	154 ^b	194ª	167 ^q	158 ^b	154 ^b	176 ^a	155 ^b	161	226	171	158	167	146	165	163	158	141	4.44	0.01	0.01	0.19
ALT ¹²	2.17	3.26	2.28	2.91	2.47	3.10	2.16	2.46	3.0	2.72	4.38	3.27	1.92	3.56	1.92	1.93	1.87	0.36	0.65	0.07	0.58
GGT ¹³	11.2ª	10.0ª	11.1 a	9.10 b	10.1ª b	10.1	10.5	10.4	10.2	11.4	8.40	10.3	12.0	9.90	10.9	9.80	9.90	0.26	0.05	0.46	0.46
CK ¹⁴	3847	6463	420 0	431 5	3420	466 1	4043	410 2	9187	3970	340 0	4325	360 9	4548	444 3	547 6	2705	532	0.12	0.36	0.14
_										Proteins	s (UL ⁻¹)										
T. protei n ¹⁵	25.4	24.1	27.4	26.1	26.2	26.9 ª	24.8 ^b	26.9	26.1	27.5	27.0	27.3	24.0	22.1	27.3	25.3	25.1	0.40	0.10	<0.0 01	0.30
Albu min	11.5	11.8	12.1	11.8	11.5	12.1 ª	11.2 ^b	12.0	12.8	12.2	12.2	11.9	10.9	10.7	12.0	11.4	10.9	0.16	0.56	<0.0 01	0.30
Globu lin	13.9 ^a	12.3 ^b	15.2 a	14.0 _{ab}	14.6 ^a	14.7 ª	13.3 ^b	14.8	13.3	15.3	14.7	15.3	13.0	11.4	15.0	13.4	14.0	0.29	0.02	0.02	0.84
A:G ¹⁶	0.83 ^b	0.96ª	0.80 b	0.85 b	0.80 ^b	0.85	0.84	0.81	0.99	0.80	0.84	0.82	0.85	0.93	0.81	0.85	0.78	0.01	< 0.001	0.69	0.66

235

¹Treatments groups include- NC- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet, BMD- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* F- eggs injected with 0.1 mL folic acid (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* P- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + inwater EO- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil (EO) blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. ² Pooled SEM = Standard error of means. ³Temperature model include- Thermoneutral group (TN)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (HS)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. 3 Na-

sodium; ⁴K-potassium; ⁵Na:K-sodium potassium ratio; ⁶Cl-chloride; ⁷P-phosphorus; ⁸Mg-magnesium; ⁹Unit- mmolL-1; ¹⁰ALP- alkaline phosphatase; ¹¹AST- Aspartate transaminase; ¹²ALT-alanine transaminase; ¹³GGT- gamma-Glutamyl Transferase; ¹⁴CK-creatine kinase; ¹⁵T.protein-total protein; ¹⁶A:G-albumin to globulin ratio; Means that do not share the same superscript are significantly different.

8.4.1.6 Antioxidant indices

Table 8.7 shows the results obtained for evaluated antioxidant parameters in this study. Birds in the *in ovo* probiotics treatment recorded the lowest TAC values, which were only significantly lower (P = 0.03) than those of the antibiotics treatment. Furthermore, while HS reduced ($P \le 0.03$) the plasma levels of SOD and TAC, MDA levels were increased (P < 0.001) in heat-stressed birds compared to birds raised under TN condition. The *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment recorded at least 10% lower (P > 0.05) MDA concentration than all other *in ovo* treatments, under HS condition.

Table 8.8 Effect of in ovo delivered folic acid, probiotics and in ovo + in-water essential oil and temperature on broiler chicken's antioxidant indices.

		Antioxidant parameters								
Main effe	cts	Superoxide dismutase Activity (U/ml)	Malondialdehyd e concentration (nmol/mL)	Total antioxidant activity (UAE)						
	Negative Control	0.21	11.1	0.52 ^{ab}						
	Antibiotics	0.20	11.5	0.64 ^a						
Treatments ¹	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid	0.21	11.6	0.62 ^{ab}						
	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	0.23	10.9	0.40 ^b						
	In ovo + in-water FO	0.22	11.1	0.52 ^{ab}						
	SEM ²	0.01	0.40	0.03						
T ()	TN	$0.23^{a}\pm0.01$	$9.4^b\pm0.46$	$0.70^{a} \pm 0.03$						
I emperature ³	HS	$0.20^{\text{b}}\pm0.01$	$13.10^{a} \pm 0.46$	$0.38^b\pm0.04$						
Interaction										
Treatments	Temperatur e									
Negative Control	Negative	0.21 ± 0.03	$9.68^{abc} \pm 1.08$	0.69 ± 0.08						

	Control			
	HS	0.22 ± 0.03	$12.6^{ab} \pm 1.08$	0.35 ± 0.08
A stilling tion	Antibiotics	0.23 ± 0.03	$11.4^{abc}\pm1.01$	0.72 ± 0.08
Anubioucs	HS	0.18 ± 0.03	$11.6^{abc}\pm1.01$	0.55 ± 0.08
In ovo folic acid	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid	0.26 ± 0.03	$8.98^{bc} \pm 1.01$	0.79 ± 0.08
	HS	0.16 ± 0.03	$14.3^a {\pm}~1.01$	0.45 ± 0.08
In ovo probiotics	<i>In ovo</i> probiotics	0.24 ± 0.03	$7.34^{\circ} \pm 1.01$	0.62 ± 0.08
1	HS	0.21 ± 0.03	$14.5^{a} \pm 1.01$	0.19 ± 0.08
In ovo +	In ovo + in-water EO	0.23 ± 0.03	$9.49^{bc} \pm 1.01$	0.69 ± 0.08
in-water EO	HS	0.21 ± 0.03	$12.8^{ab} \pm 1.01$	0.34 ± 0.08
<i>p</i> value ⁴				
Treatments		0.94	0.96	0.03
Temperature		0.03	<0.001	< 0.001
Treatments*Temperatur e		0.50	0.001	0.58

¹Treatments groups include- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatmenteggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. ²SEM-pooled standard error of the means, ³Temperature model include- Thermoneutral group (TN)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (HS)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. ⁴Means that do not share the same superscript are significantly different.

8.4.1.7 Gut morphology

The effect of treatments, temperature, and their interaction on gut morphometric indices of evaluated gut sections (duodenum, jejunum, and ileum) is presented in Table 8.8. All in ovo delivered bioactive substances (probiotics, FA and EO) increased (P < 0.001) the villus width in the duodenum, however, duodenal villus width was reduced (P < 0.001) by HS. The *in ovo* + inwater treatment also increased (P = 0.008) villus height to crypt depth ratio in the duodenum, compared to the antibiotics and NC treatment. In the jejunum, HS is observed to reduce (P <(0.001) villus height, width, and crypt depth. Conversely, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment consistently increased (P < 0.001) villus height and width in the jejunum, compared to the antibiotics and NC treatments. Other treatments recorded statistically intermediate villus height and width values in the jejunum. Similarly, asides the clear reduction (P = 0.001) in crypt depth exhibited by the antibiotics treatment when compared to the NC treatment, every other treatment had statistically similar crypt depth values in the jejunum. Only treatment differences were observed in the ileum, with the *in ovo* + in-water treatment increasing (P < 0.001) villus height and villus height to crypt depth ratio in the ileum, compared to all other treatments. The ileal crypt depth was reduced (P = 0.003) by both the *in ovo* + in-water and probiotics treatment compared to the NC treatment.

Table 8.9 Effect of *in ovo* delivered folic acid, probiotics and *in ovo* + in-water essential oil and temperature on broiler chicken's gut morphology.

				Duod	enum			Jeju	num		Ileum				
Main effects			Villus height (mm)	Villus width (mm)	Crypt depth (mm)	Villus height: Crypt depth	Villus height (mm	Villus width (mm)	Crypt depth (mm)	Villus height: Crypt depth	Villus height (mm)	Villus width (mm)	Crypt depth (mm)	Villus height: Crypt depth	
		Negative Control	1.18	0.14 ^b	0.12	9.48 ^b	0.64 ^b	0.15 ^{bc}	0.11 ^a	5.63 ^b	0.36 ^c	0.14	0.10 ^a	3.72 ^c ± 0.14	
		Antibiotics	1.17	0.14 ^b	0.11	10.1^{ab}	0.59 ^b	0.14 ^c	0.09 ^b	6.94 ^a	0.41^{b}	0.14	0.09^{ab}	4.74 ^b	
	Treatments ¹	<i>In ovo</i> folic acid	1.18	0.16 ^a	0.12	9.73 ^b	0.74 ^a	0.17 ^{ab}	0.10 ^{ab}	7.40 ^a	0.38 ^{bc}	0.15	0.09 ^{ab}	4.39 ^b	
		In ovo probiotics	1.17	0.16 ^a	0.12	9.74 ^{ab}	0.6^{ab}	0.16^{abc}	0.10 ^{ab}	6.71 ^{ab}	0.37 ^c	0.15	0.08 ^b	4.49 ^b	
		In ovo + in-water EO	1.22	0.16 ^a	0.11	10.9ª	$0.75^{a}\pm$	0.18 ^a	0.10 ^{ab}	7.81 ^a	0.45 ^a	0.16	0.08 ^b	5.64 ^a	
-		SEM	0.01	0.01	0.004	0.13	0.01	0.004	0.003	0.41	0.004	0.002	0.003	0.10	
-	Tomporaturo2	TN	$\begin{array}{c} 1.19 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$0.16^{a} \pm 0.009$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.12 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.12 \\ \pm \ 0.24 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.77^a \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$0.17^{a} \pm 0.01$	$0.11^{a} \pm 0.01$	7.10 ± 0.31	$\begin{array}{c} 0.40 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	0.15 ± 0.003	$\begin{array}{c} 0.09 \pm \\ 0.005 \end{array}$	4.45 ± 0.12	
242	1 emperature-	HS	$\begin{array}{c} 1.18 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.15^{b} \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.12 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.84 \pm \\ 0.32 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.60^{b} \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$0.15^{b} \pm 0.005$	$0.09^{b} \pm 0.003$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.63 \pm \\ 0.17 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.39 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.15 \pm \\ 0.003 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \pm \\ 0.004 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.68 \pm \\ 0.17 \end{array}$	
	Treatments	Temperature													
	Negative	Negative Control	$\begin{array}{c} 1.20 \pm \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.15 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.12 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.78 \pm \\ 0.42 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.75 \pm \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.17 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.12 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.10 \pm \\ 0.32 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.36 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.13 \pm \\ 0.005 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.10 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.55 \pm \\ 0.19 \end{array}$	
	Control	HS	$\begin{array}{c} 1.17 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.14 \pm \\ 0.004 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.13 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.19 \pm \\ 0.40 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.55 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.14 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.11 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.20 \pm \\ 0.35 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.36 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.14 \pm \\ 0.008 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.09 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.91 \pm \\ 0.21 \end{array}$	

	Antibiotics	$1.20 \pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.12 \pm$	$10.1 \pm$	$0.65 \pm$	$0.14 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$7.12 \pm$	$0.40 \pm$	$0.14 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$4.59\pm$
Antibiotics	Annoiones	0.03	0.02	0.005	0.34	0.04	0.02	0.01	0.33	0.01	0.007	0.02	0.22
Antiolotics	нс	$1.14 \pm$	$0.14 \pm$	$0.11 \pm$	$10.1 \pm$	$0.53 \pm$	$0.14 \pm$	$0.08 \pm$	$6.77 \pm$	$0.42 \pm$	$0.14 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$4.90 \pm$
	115	0.02	0.006	0.005	0.55	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.33	0.01	0.006	0.003	0.51
	In ovo folic	$1.16 \pm$	$0.16 \pm$	$0.13 \pm$	$9.13 \pm$	$0.88 \pm$	$0.19 \pm$	$0.11 \pm$	$7.12 \pm$	$0.38 \pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$4.20 \pm$
In ovo folic	acid	0.02	0.01	0.005	0.36	0.05	0.01	0.01	1.06	0.01	0.008	0.004	0.20
acid	нс	$1.20 \pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.12 \pm$	$10.3 \pm$	$0.62 \pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$6.97 \pm$	$0.39\pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.08 \pm$	$4.59 \pm$
	115	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.61	0.03	0.01	0.004	0.31	0.01	0.007	0.003	0.51
	In ovo	$1.15 \pm$	$0.18 \pm$	$0.11 \pm$	$9.94\pm$	$0.77\pm$	$0.18 \pm$	$0.12 \pm$	$7.85 \pm$	$0.36 \pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.08 \pm$	$4.56 \pm$
In ovo	probiotics	0.02	0.008	0.03	0.41	0.05	0.01	0.02	0.36	0.01	0.007	0.003	0.36
probiotics	нс	$1.19 \pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.12 \pm$	$9.55 \pm$	$0.59\pm$	$0.14 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$6.81 \pm$	$0.38 \pm$	$0.16 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$4.42 \pm$
	115	0.04	0.02	0.005	0.45	0.01	0.01	0.005	0.60	0.01	0.007	0.003	0.21
	In ovo	1 22 +	0.18 +	$0.12 \pm$	103+	$0.80 \pm$	0 10 +	$0.10 \pm$	$8.02 \pm$	0.44 +	0.15 +	$0.08 \pm$	5 53 +
In ovo	+	1.22 ± 0.02	$0.10 \pm$	0.12 ± 0.01	$10.3 \pm$	$0.00 \pm$	0.17 ± 0.01	$0.10 \pm$	0.89	0.44 ± 0.01	$0.13 \pm$ 0.008	$0.00 \pm$ 0.003	$0.33 \pm$
+	in-water EO	0.02	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.01		0.01	0.000	0.005	0.25
in-water EO	ЦС	$1.22 \pm$	$0.15 \pm$	$0.11 \pm$	$11.4 \pm$	$0.72 \pm$	$0.17 \pm$	$0.09 \pm$	$7.61 \pm$	$0.46 \pm$	$0.16 \pm$	$0.08 \pm$	$5.74 \pm$
	115	0.03	0.04	0.004	1.0	0.02	0.01	0.004	0.37	0.01	0.009	0.003	0.28
<i>p</i> value ³													
Treatments		0.232	< 0.001	0.073	0.008	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.061	0.003	< 0.001
Temperature		0.913	< 0.001	0.222	0.296	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.105	0.127	0.277	0.619	0.134
Treatments*		0 197	0 599	0.076	0.083	0 1 1 4	0 383	0 337	0 693	0.982	0.659	0 531	0 773
Temperature		0.177	0.377	0.070	0.005	0.114	0.505	0.557	0.075	0.702		0.551	0.775

¹Treatments groups include- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. ²Temperature model include- Thermoneutral group (T)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. ³Means that do not share the same superscript are significantly different.

8.4.1.8 Gene expression analysis

8.4.1.8.1 Hepatic expression of cellular stress proteins (Heat Shock Proteins-HSP)

Of the two cellular stress proteins (HSP70 and HSP90) evaluated, significant differences were only recorded for the relative expression of HSP70 in the liver of birds in this study (Figure 8.3 a and b). HS increased (P < 0.01) the relative mRNA expression of HSP70. With regards to treatment effect, the *in ovo* FA and probiotics treatment both caused higher (P < 0.01) HSP70 expression only compared to the NC treatment; other treatments had statistically moderate expression of this stress protein (data not shown).



Figure 8.3 Hepatic heat shock proteins (HSP) expression.

Birds were allocated to treatments groups- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered

a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Birds were allotted to either a thermoneutral group (T)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, or a Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28.

8.4.1.8.2 Hepatic expression of lipogenic genes & their related transcription factors

Treatment, temperature model and their interaction had no effect on the relative mRNA expression of SCD (Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase), FAS (Fas Cell Surface Death Receptor), SBREP1, SBREP2 (Sterol-regulatory element binding proteins) and SCAP (SREBP cleavage activating protein) genes in the liver of broiler chickens in this study (Figure 8.4).



Figure 8.4 Expression of hepatic lipogenic genes and their related transcription factors.

Birds were allocated to treatments groups- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheatbased diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water._Birds were allotted to either a thermoneutral group (T)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, or a Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28.

8.4.1.8.3 Splenic expression of immune-related genes

Figure 8.5 shows the result obtained for all immune-related genes in the spleen. Only treatment differences were detected for IL-2 (interleukin 2) expression in the spleen. The *in ovo* FA treatment had higher (P < 0.05) expression of IL-2, only compared to the NC treatment, the expression levels of other treatments for this gene were statistically intermediate. An interaction of the main effects was observed for IL-4 (interleukin 4) expression. While HS increased (P < 0.001) the relative expression of this gene, the *in ovo* probiotics and *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment recorded higher (P < 0.05) expression of the IL-6 (interleukin 4) gene; however, the *in ovo* FA treatment recorded higher (P < 0.01) the relative expression of the IL-6 (interleukin 4) gene; however, the *in ovo* FA treatment recorded higher (P < 0.01) expression of this gene compared to other treatments (with the exception of the *in ovo* probiotic treatment), irrespective of the thermal challenge model. The expression levels for IFN- γ (Interferon-gamma) and IL-12B (interleukin 12B) genes were also increased by HS in this study. The relative expression of IL-1 β (interleukin 1 β) and IL-12A (interleukin 12A) were not affected by treatments, temperature, nor their interaction in this study.



Figure 8.5 Expression of immune related genes in the spleen.

Birds were allocated to treatments groups- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment-

eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatmenteggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Birds were allotted to either a thermoneutral group (T) - birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, or a Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28.

8.4.1.8.4 Expression of jejunal Glucose transporters genes

In this investigation, there were no differences in the relative mRNA expression of the evaluated glucose transporter genes (GLUT1- glucose transporter protein type 1; GLUT2- Glucose Transporter Type 2, and GLUT5- fructose transporter) in the jejunum (Figure 8.6).











Figure 8.6 Expression of glucose transporter genes in the jejunum.

Birds were allocated to treatments groups- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatmentchicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Birds were allotted to either a thermoneutral group (T)- birds were housed at 24° C ± 0.2 from d 21 - 28, or a Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31° C for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28.

8.4.1.8.5 Expression of Jejunal amino acid transporters

The results of the relative mRNA expression of evaluated amino acid transporter genes (SLC1A1-Excitatory amino acid transporter 3 and SLC15A1- Peptide transporter 1) in the jejunum are detailed in Figure 8.7. HS increased (P < 0.001) the relative expression of the SLC1A1 gene. Interestingly, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment yielded the highest (P > 0.05) expression of this gene under HS condition; this was as much as a 3.5-fold increase (P < 0.05) when compared to the NC treatment. HS only showed a marginal tendency (P = 0.06) to increase the relative expression of the SLC15A1 gene.





Birds were allocated to treatments groups- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment-eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250

mL/1000 L of drinking water._Birds were allotted to either a thermoneutral group (T) - birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, or a Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28.

8.4.1.8.6 Jejunal intestinal barrier-related genes

Figure 8.8 shows the results of evaluated intestinal barrier-related genes in the jejunum. Compared to other treatments, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment consistently recorded higher (P < 0.001) expression of CLDN1 (Claudin 1) and CLDN3 (Claudin 3) genes in the jejunum. This increase was at least 4-fold in both cases. Interaction effect for both considered factors (in ovo treatments and temperature model) was also observed for CLDN4 (Claudin 4), OCLN (Occludin), ZO-2 (Zonula Occludens Protein 2) and MUC2 (Mucin 2) genes. As much as a 3-fold increase (P <0.001) in the relative expression of CLDN4, ZO-2, and MUC2 genes in the ovo + in-water EO treatment is observed under TN condition compared to other treatments, however, the expression rate for these genes were unchanged under HS condition. Despite being non-significant, the relative expression of the MUC2 gene in the ovo + in-water EO treatment under HS condition was at least 17% higher (P > 0.05) than in other treatments. In a similar manner, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment also recorded a 2-fold increase (P < 0.001) in the relative expression of the OCLN gene under TN condition. Conversely, under HS condition, the antibiotic treatment recorded higher (P < 0.001) expression of the OCLN gene compared to the *in ovo* FA and NC treatment. The antibiotic, in ovo probiotics and the in ovo + in-water EO treatments all exhibited statistical similarity in the expression of the OCLN gene under HS condition. HS also reduced ($P \le 0.05$) the relative expression of CLDN4, CLDN10 and MUC2 genes. The relative expression of ZO-1 (Zonula Occludens Protein 1) and ZO-3 (Zonula Occludens Protein 3) genes were not affected by treatments, temperature model, or their interaction in this study.



Figure 8.8 Expression of intestinal barrier-related genes in the jejunum.

Birds were allocated to treatments groups- Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean mealwheat-based diet, Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate, *In ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and *In ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Birds were allotted to either a thermoneutral group (T) - birds were housed at 24°C \pm 0.2 from d 21 – 28, or a Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 – 28.

8.5 Discussion

The challenges resulting from heat-induced hyperthermia in poultry which includes metabolic disorders, nutrient malabsorption, compromised gut health, immune dysregulation, oxidative stress, and poor growth performance, have made the need to combat HS a top priority for the global poultry industry. By utilizing a nutrigenomic approach, this study investigated the HS mitigating potential of three distinct *in ovo* delivered bioactive substances (probiotics, FA, and EO) optimized from previous independent studies (Oladokun et al., 2021a, 2021b; Oladokun and Adewole, 2022a). Data from this study provides preliminary evidence suggesting that successive delivery of EO blend (containing phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme) via *in ovo* and in-water routes might afford broiler chickens thermotolerance, especially via the regulation of amino acids transporter gene.

Of the three in ovo delivered bioactive substances in this study, only the probiotics recorded positive hatchability outcomes. Both in ovo delivered FA and EO recorded reduced hatchability. These hatchability outcomes are consistent with our previous report for the same *in ovo* delivered bioactive substances (Oladokun et al., 2021a, 2021b; Oladokun and Adewole, 2022a). Our laboratory has successfully validated the procedure for the in ovo delivery of probiotics (Bacillus subtilis), recording ~91 and ~ 96% hatchability rates in two different experiments (Oladokun et al., 2021a; Oladokun and Adewole, 2022a). Reported results on hatchability of in ovo delivered FA and EO, are quite variable in the few available literature. Increased (Gouda et al., 2021, 2022), decreased (Abdel-Halim et al., 2020; Abdel-Fattah and Shourrap, 2013) or unchanged hatchability values have been reported for in ovo delivered FA (Nouri et al., 2018; Ismail et al., 2019). Similarly, the few available results on *in ovo* delivered EO have also reported increased (Nadia et al., 2008; Sulaiman and Tayeb, 2020) or no effect of *in ovo* delivery of EO on hatchability outcomes (Saki and Salary, 2015; Toosi et al., 2016). Conceptually, the in ovo delivery of antioxidant-rich bioactive substances like FA and EO is expected to induce improved hatchability rates by abating free radical production (Nadia et al., 2008). Nonetheless, across the literature, it is apparent that asides the type of bioactive substances, other factors related to injected dose, volume, time and form of bioactive substances could also potentially influence hatchability outcomes (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). We have previously reiterated that the forms of both in ovo delivered bioactive substances could be critical factors that influenced the observed hatchability outcomes (Oladokun et al., 2021b; Oladokun and Adewole, 2022a). While FA in its

powder form was utilized in this study, further studies are enjoined to consider evaluating liquid FA forms, if available, to ensure easy embryo absorption and utilization. The *in ovo* delivered EO blend was also formulated for in-water delivery; hence it contained emulsifiers. It would be necessary for other studies to utilize EO blends strictly formulated for *in ovo* delivery, if available. Furthermore, the in ovo probiotics and EO treatments recorded higher average chick navel score values (1.60 and 1.64) compared to the non-injected eggs (1.32), all modest average navel scores. Insignificant effects of this parameter were observed in previous studies involving these bioactive substances (Oladokun et al., 2021a, 2021b; Oladokun and Adewole, 2022a). The determinants of chick navel quality include the length of egg storage, age of breeder flock, health status of breeder flock, yolk absorption rate, incubation conditions (CO2 concentration, temperature, and post-hatch conditions (access to feed and water) (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1951; Maatjens et al., 2014; Van Der Pol et al., 2014; Narinç and Aydemir, 2021). As all our injected eggs were obtained from the same source and subjected to similar conditions, none of these factors could possibly explain the observed results. Nonetheless, it is important to state that chick navel scoring is quite subjective and based on scorer's experience. To limit variability due to this subjectivity, only one experienced scorer was utilized in this experiment. Poor chick navel score has previously been correlated with poor chick post-hatch performance (Fasenko and O'Dea, 2008). However, recent studies have reported even improved post-hatch performance from chicks with poor navel scores (De Jong et al., 2019; de Jong et al., 2020; Heijmans et al., 2022), a trend consistent with this study. These reports suggest that chick navel scores should probably not be used as absolute indicators of chick quality but, at best, to complement other chick quality metrics.

In terms of growth performance, the antibiotics treatment is observed to improve ABWG at the starter phase (d1-14) and ABWG and FCR at d21-28 period, respectively, all in the absence of HS. This was not surprising, as the growth-promoting effects of antibiotics in poultry production are well substantiated across the literature (Engberg et al., 2000; Singh et al., 2000; Miles et al., 2006; Manafi et al., 2017). Consistent with the results presented here, other studies utilizing BMD, a common antibiotic used in poultry, have also reported improved ABWG and FCR in broiler chickens (Singh et al., 2000; Raza et al., 2019; Park et al., 2020; Li et al., 2022). Antibiotics are theorized to confer this growth-enhancing benefits by reducing growth-depressing microbial metabolites and increasing nutrient utilization efficiency (Reddy, 2011). Interestingly, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment afforded similar growth performance benefits (in terms of ABWG and

FCR) as the antibiotic treatment during the same period. In agreement with reported results, a few studies have also reported similar growth-enhancing capacity between antibiotics and EO blends under TN condition (Murugesan et al., 2015; Barbarestani et al., 2020). The antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and digestibility-enhancing properties inherent in the active components of most EO blends are deemed responsible for their growth-enhancing properties (Amad et al., 2011; Christaki et al., 2011; Feizi et al., 2014). Nonetheless, the growth-promoting properties of EO blends are reported to be variable depending on inclusion levels, bird age, and physiological and environmental conditions (Yang et al., 2009; Zeng et al., 2015).

Furthermore, an environmental (HS) challenge model was successfully validated in this study, as revealed by obtained results on rectal temperature measurements, specific blood biochemistry and antioxidant indices and molecular HS biomarkers. Considering that an increase in body temperature is a characteristic of homeotherms when exposed to temperature outside their thermoneutral zone, rectal temperature values are thus useful indicators of body temperature. The HS-challenged broiler chickens in this study consistently recorded significantly higher rectal temperatures across the four different time points evaluated. This observation is also true for other studies with effective HS regimes (Wan et al., 2017; He et al., 2019; Akinyemi and Adewole, 2022b). Under our experimental HS regime, ABWG and feed efficiency were reduced by HS. A plethora of studies has affirmed the negative effects of hyperthermia on growth performance indices, particularly ABWG and FCR in poultry (Farooqi et al., 2005; Azad et al., 2010; Quinteiro-Filho et al., 2010, 2012; Jahejo et al., 2016; Wen et al., 2019). A recent meta-analysis of 12 broiler chicken studies involving HS also concluded that HS significantly decreases ABWG and feed efficiency (Liu et al., 2020). A possible rationale for the hyperthermia-related growth depression observed includes increased energy devotion for physiological responses to HS (acclimation) at the expense of growth (Mujahid et al., 2007; Renaudeau et al., 2012). Intriguingly, under HS conditions, although insignificant, the in ovo + in-water EO treatment recorded the highest numerical improvement in ABWG, and feed efficiency compared to other treatments. The insignificant FCR values of the in ovo + in-water EO treatment were at least 19% lower than other treatments. The *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment FCR values were significantly lower than those of the in ovo probiotic treatment. As noted previously, the reported effects of EO blends in the literature are quite inconsistent, as EO bioactivities could be affected by bird age, host physiological status and administered dose (Zeng et al., 2015). While EO has been reported to

improve growth performance under HS condition (Ghazi et al., 2015; Saadat Shad et al., 2016), others have equally recorded no effect in poultry (Khosravinia, 2015; Büyükkılıç Beyzi et al., 2020). It is plausible that at higher dosages of the delivered EO blends, our observed beneficial result on growth performance could become more apparent.

Blood biochemical indices are typically valid predictors of general health, including responses to stress, as well as internal and external stimuli. Upon exposure to HS, the plasma levels of sodium, glucose, AST, albumin, globulin, and total protein were all reduced in broiler chickens in this study. Contrastingly, elevated levels of phosphorus and bile acids were detected in heatchallenged chickens. The reduction in plasma sodium and proteins were not unexpected and were in conformation with results reported in similar HS studies (Bonnet et al., 1997; Borges et al., 2004, 2007; Beckford et al., 2020; El-Gharib et al., 2021; Jimoh et al., 2022). While reduced sodium has been attributed to increased water consumption typical of heat-stressed birds (Borges et al., 2004), an increased rate of protein catabolism during HS triggers reduced protein deposition (Belhadj Slimen et al., 2016). Also higher blood levels of phosphorus reported by a few HS studies (Huang et al., 2018; Aslam et al., 2021) have been regarded to be an anti-stress defense mechanism triggered by glucocorticoid secretion (Weller et al., 2013). Notwithstanding, a few studies (Usayran et al., 2001; Rizk et al., 2017) have also reported decreased levels of blood phosphorus following HS, suggesting that the role of phosphorus in HS response is yet to be fully elucidated. Both AST and bile acid levels could be useful indicators of liver health. Presented values for both plasma metabolites were within published normal ranges for broiler chickens (Jaensch et al., 2000), suggesting that our HS regime did not cause hepatic damage. Our result on the effect of HS on blood glucose was more intriguing. Increased plasma glucose levels via hepatic gluconeogenesis triggered by corticosteroids secretion have been reported to be a neuroendocrine response to HS (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b). This theory is well-buttressed across the literature (Qin et al., 2018; Chand et al., 2018; Ding et al., 2020a). However, McCormick et al. (1979) have previously reported that mild HS resulted in reduced blood glucose levels in nonfasted chickens compared to fasted ones. Wang et al. (2018a) have equally reported that Fayoumi chicken breeds respond uniquely to HS via blood glucose reduction compared to Leghorn breeds. The authors speculated that reducing blood glucose levels could be an adaptive physiological mechanism to "wait out" stress acquired by the Fayoumi breed. From the foregoing, it appears there could be a breed, HS intensity, and anorexic effect on blood glucose response to HS. More

studies are thus needed to provide clearer insight into these highlighted variables. Independent of HS, treatment effects on evaluated blood biochemical parameters were quite variable. The antibiotic treatment increased plasma levels of AST and A:G. This study provides another justification to encourage the discontinued use of antibiotics in poultry. While AST has been specified as a non-specific biomarker of liver health, reduced A:G has been correlated with an improved immune response (Dawson and Whittow, 2000). The use of several phytogenic bioactive substances, probiotics and the in ovo + in-water EO treatment have afforded reduced levels of both blood metabolites (Bityutskyy et al., 2019; Krauze et al., 2020; Oladokun et al., 2021b; Gazwi et al., 2022). The *in ovo* probiotics treatment recorded increased plasma levels of magnesium, phosphorus and reduced GGT levels. While magnesium plays a crucial role in ensuring immunocompetence (Sahin et al., 2005), phosphorus is involved in skeletal growth and energy production (Pond, 2005). Levels of both minerals have been reported to be increased following probiotics delivery (Capcarova et al., 2010). Blood GGT level is another useful index of liver function. Both probiotics and EO have been reported to reduce levels of this blood enzyme (Krauze et al., 2020). Plasma globulin levels were also increased by the *in ovo* FA and *in ovo* + inwater EO treatments. Globulins also play an important role in ensuring immunocompetence and maintaining liver function and has been reported to be enhanced by FA and EO supplementation (El-Gogary and El-Said, 2019; Rewatkar et al., 2019).

Furthermore, HS is known to undermine the redox status and induces oxidative damage in poultry (Zhang et al., 2018). Induced oxidative damage is often characterized by decreased levels of cellular antioxidant activities (SOD, TAC, etc.) and increased lipid peroxidation products (MDA). In the current study, HS decreased plasma levels of SOD and TAC alongside increased MDA levels. This result is consistent with reported results on HS in the literature (Ramnath et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2014; Safdari-Rostamabad et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2020; Moustafa et al., 2021). Of all the treatments evaluated in this study, the *in ovo* probiotics treatments recorded the least TAC values, being significantly lower than those of the antibiotic treatment. Both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defense systems are delineated by the TAC values. Considering the reported antioxidant properties of the other *in ovo* delivered treatments (FA and EO), this was not surprising (Büyükkılıç Beyzi et al., 2020; Gouda et al., 2020). Additionally, under HS conditions, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment recorded MDA levels that were at least 10% numerically lower than those of other *in ovo* treatments are affirmed the antioxidants capacity of

EO either as a unit or blend (Montazeri et al., 2014; Ghazi et al., 2015; Yarmohammadi Barbarestani et al., 2020; Büyükkılıç Beyzi et al., 2020; Abdelnour et al., 2022)

The gastrointestinal tract (GIT) segments which are the main site of intestinal digestion and absorption, are considered highly vulnerable to HS, eliciting several adverse effects, including reduced villi height and increased crypt depth, resulting in reduced villi height:crypt depth (Liu et al., 2019; Song et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020). In this study, HS is seen to reduce duodenal villus width, as well as villus height and width in the jejunum. These morphometric and histopathological changes, possibly resulting from ischemia and hypoxia accompanied by epithelial shedding are consistent with other reports in heat-stressed birds (Burkholder et al., 2008; Silva et al., 2010; Deng et al., 2012; Ashraf et al., 2017; Li et al., 2020). Conversely, Quinteiro-Filho (2010) reported that HS (31 \pm 1 and 36 \pm 1°C/10 h per d) evoked no significant changes in villus and crypt morphology in broiler chickens. Fast intestinal mucosal re-epithelialization (usually occurring in less than 36 h after a stressful situation in chickens) might explain this insignificant effect (Burkholder et al., 2008). Although we recorded no significant interaction effects for our evaluated factors for this parameter, the in ovo + in-water EO treatment clearly increased villus height to crypt depth ratio across the three gut sections (duodenum, jejunum, and ileum), compared to the control treatment. This is to a great extent, consistent with our earlier report for the same treatment (Oladokun et al., 2021b). Several aromatic plants and their extracts are reported to enhance the intestinal morphology of broiler chickens owing to the antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant properties of their bioactive components (Ding et al., 2020; Hong et al., 2012).

The cellular stress protein; HSP70 have been documented as a biomarker of HS in poultry (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b). In fact, HSP70 has been reviewed to be the most relevant to thermal tolerance of all HSP (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b). As a confirmation of induced HS, a corresponding increase in hepatic expression of HSP70 was recorded for the birds in the HS group. In terms of *in ovo* delivered treatments, the *in ovo* FA and probiotics treatments recorded higher expression of this gene, compared to the control treatment, with the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment recording intermediate expression of this gene. Oladokun and Adewole (2022b) provided insight into the relevance of this gene, suggesting that it is indeed a functional measure of cell restoration against stressors, and its expression level might be inversely proportional to a bird's thermal tolerance. Several studies involving probiotics and EO delivery have reported significant downregulation of this gene in heat-stressed poultry and have related this to improved

thermo-protective capacities (Hosseini et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2018b; Zhang et al., 2017). Interestingly, the reported treatment effect on HSP70 expression in this study followed a similar trend for accumulated MDA under HS among the *in ovo* delivered treatments, suggesting that the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment shows a potential to afford better thermo-protection than the other *in ovo* treatments.

A growing body of evidence affirms the immunomodulatory role of HS in poultry (Niu et al., 2009; Quinteiro-Filho et al., 2010; Song et al., 2017). In consonance with previous reports (Helwig and Leon, 2011; Ohtsu et al., 2015; Adu-Asiamah et al., 2021; Patra and Kar, 2021), here we report that HS induces the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-4, IL-6, IL-12B, and IFN- γ) and mediators in the spleen of broiler chickens. With regards to treatments, the *in ovo* FA group induced higher splenic expression of IL-2 and IL-6, at least compared to the control group. An interaction effect was also observed for the IL-4 cytokines, with the antibiotic treatment recording the lowest numerical expression of this cytokine under HS. Notwithstanding, amongst all in ovo treatments, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment recorded the lowest numerical expression of this cytokine under HS. The Pro-inflammatory cytokine family plays an active role in the inflammatory response under HS condition. A possible hypothesis is that inflammatory activities are triggered at the expense of a humoral immune response following an HS event. Considering that our ABWG values under HS follow similar trend as IL-4 expression under HS condition. It is reasonable to speculate that heat-triggered inflammatory responses occur at an energy expense detrimental to growth performance. In any case, given the importance of cytokines in immunological development, response, and cell communication (Giansanti et al., 2006), the exact mechanism bordering their modulation under HS requires further elucidation.

Furthermore, nutrient transporters are known to play a major role in the absorption of digestion products in the gut (Goodman, 2010). While HS is observed to increase the mRNA expression of the SLC1A1 gene, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment yielded the highest expression of this gene under HS condition; this was as much as a 3.5-fold increase compared to the control group. The SLC1A1 gene belongs to the glutamate transporter family and is actively absorbed in the ileum and jejunum (Tauqir, 2016). Cellular circulation of the SLC1A1 gene is reportedly involved in providing energy to the intestinal cells (Iwanaga et al., 2006). While a few studies have reported the downregulation of this gene under HS conditions (Jahromi et al., 2016; Orhan et al., 2020), others have also reported its upregulation (Santos et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2021). Despite this

disparity in results, most studies (Chuang et al., 2020; Orhan et al., 2020; Wassie et al., 2022) have been unanimous in their report that external supplementation of phytogenics are capable of inducing increased SLC1A1 expression as a result of the integral role it plays in providing energy needed for the maintenance of optimum gut permeability and health. While a complete understanding of HS-induced regulation of the SLC1A1 gene is yet to be known, other factors such as genetic selection and dietary protein source and quality could potentially influence its regulation (Gilbert et al., 2010). More studies are thus needed in this regard to provide clearer insights. In any case, our results clearly show that under HS condition the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment could improve poultry gut health via upregulation of the SLC1A1 gene.

Additionally, a critical part of optimum gut health is the maintenance of intestinal integrity or barrier function. The intestinal mucosa is regarded as the first line of defense against ingested pathogens, such as Salmonella spp. (Fagarasan, 2006). Several poultry studies have shown that HS could compromise the integrity of the intestinal barrier by disrupting the tight junction proteins, leading to increased intestinal permeability, of which gut inflammation is an innate response (Quinteiro-Filho et al., 2010; Alhenaky et al., 2017; Ruff et al., 2020). Claudins and Occludins are functional components of the tight junctions. Similarly, mucins (denoted as MUC2) secreted by the intestinal goblet cells are an important component of the chemical barrier critical to ensuring optimum intestinal integrity. In this study, HS downregulated the mRNA expression CLDN4, CLDN10 and MUC2 in the jejunum of broiler chickens. Our results are in conformation with several other studies in the literature that revealed that hyperthermia compromises the integrity of tight junctions in the gut (Schneeberger and Lynch, 2004; Varasteh et al., 2015; Mohyuddin et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2022). Independent of HS, our results showed that the in ovo + in-water EO treatment increased the expression levels of CLDN1, CLDN3, CLDN4, OCLN, ZO-2, and MUC₂. This suggests that the successive delivery of this EO blend is capable of maintaining intestinal barrier integrity and barrier function via the assembly of tight junction proteins. Several other studies involving various phytogenics have reported similar result and attributed this beneficial effect to the antioxidant properties of delivered bioactive substances (Humam et al., 2021; Lin and Lee, 2021; Liu et al., 2021; Ruan et al., 2021; Khalid et al., 2022; Mao et al., 2022). Besides under HS condition, the in ovo + in-water EO treatment also recorded about 17% higher expression of the MUC₂ gene in the jejunum compared to other treatments, although this did not reach statistical significance. Perhaps at a higher dosage of the in ovo + in-water EO treatment this benefit might

become statistically evident.

8.6 Conclusions

Summarily results from this study showed that induced HS impaired broiler chicken's growth performance (ABWG: -16% and feed conversion efficiency: -15%), antioxidant status (SOD: - 13%, TAC: -46%, MDA: +39%), immune status, gut morphology, and intestinal barrier integrity. Independent of HS, the *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment improved broiler chicken gut morphology and intestinal barrier integrity. However, compared to the control treatment and other treatments in most cases the *in ovo* + in-water delivery of the EO treatment to heat-stressed birds induced a numerical improvement in feed conversion efficiency (+30%) and as much as a 3.5-fold significant upregulation of amino acid transporter gene (SLC1A1). Subject to further optimization of the successive delivery of this EO blend via the *in ovo* and in-water routes could potentially provide solutions to two critical challenges facing the poultry industry- finding effective alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters and HS mitigation. Indeed, more studies are needed to optimize EO dosages that would guarantee the utmost benefits.

CHAPTER 9 IN OVO DELIVERED BIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES AND GUT MICROBIOTA UNDER HEAT STRESS

MICROBIOCENOSIS OF THE CHICKEN CECA: IMPACT OF *IN OVO* DELIVERED BIOACTIVE SUBSTANCES, HEAT STRESS, AND ANTIBIOTIC GROWTH PROMOTERS

This section has been submitted for publication elsewhere:

Oladokun, S., and Adewole, D.I. 2022. Microbiocenosis of the chicken ceca: impact of *in ovo* delivered bioactive substances, heat stress, and antibiotic growth promoters. Scientific Reports (submitted).

9.1 Abstract

Although, the chicken gut microbiota plays important roles in host physiology and well-being, it can be impacted by several management and environmental factors such as the use of antibiotic growth promoters (AGP) and exposure to heat stress (HS). Probiotics, essential oils (EO), and vitamins (such as folic acid) are bioactive substances that could potentially modulate the gut microbiota and promote its resilience to stressful environmental factors, especially when supplied as early as during embryonic development. Consequently, this study evaluated the gut microbiota modulating potential of *in ovo* delivered probiotics, folic acid (FA), and *in ovo* + in-water delivered EO in broiler chickens, as compared to an in-feed AGP, under an HS challenge condition.

The results revealed alpha diversity was not affected by treatments, HS, or their interaction. AGPtreated birds had distinct beta diversity measure compared to all other treatments and HS combinations. Regarding taxonomic composition, HS reduced the proportion of members of the *Actinobacteria* phylum, while AGP supplementation, especially under thermoneutral condition, increased the proportion of members of this phylum compared to all other treatments. The cumulative proportions of bacteria in the genera *lachnoclostridium and Sellimonas* were increased by the *in ovo* + in-water EO and AGP treatments. The AGP treatment also increased the cumulative proportions of bacteria in the genera *Blautia*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Anaerostipes*, *lachnoclostridium*, *Sellimonas*, all in the *Lachnospiraceae* family, while reducing the proportion of bacteria in the genera *Faecalibacterium*, *Negativibacillus*, *Oscillibacter*, and Romboutsia in the ceca. On the other hand, HS reduced the proportion of bacteria in the genera *Ruminococcus*, *Eubacterium, Blautia,* and *Candidatus Soleaferrea*. Metagenomic prediction revealed that the AGP treatment enriched carbohydrate degradation, carbohydrate synthesis, and vitamin and amino acid biosynthesis-related pathways. Similarly, HS increased the pyruvate fermentation to acetate and lactate II, and polyamine biosynthesis I metabolic pathways.

Results from this study indicate that HS, AGP, and *in ovo* + in-water EO modified chicken cecal bacterial populations and suggest that the microbiota-mediated role of AGP in growth promotion is related to improved biosynthesis of essential nutrients (amino acids and vitamins especially) and utilization of carbon sources derived from host diet and microbiome.

9.2 Introduction

Poultry accounted for approximately one-third of global meat production in 2020 and is currently projected to constitute 47% of the protein consumed from all meat sources in 2031 (FAO, 2019; OECD/FAO, 2022). It is increasingly evident that much of the success of the global poultry industry can be traced to the use of antibiotic growth promoters (**AGP**) (Swaggerty et al., 2022). The beneficial effect of AGP on poultry production is thought to be exerted by AGP's capacity to modulate the birds' gut microbiota in favor of less growth-depressing metabolites like ammonia and bile degradation products (Niewold, 2007; Swaggerty et al., 2022). Despite this benefit accruing from AGP use in poultry production, it comes with a cost of drug competition with humans, as well as the dual burdens of antibiotic resistance in poultry products. The poultry industry is thus saddled with the challenge of finding other sustainable modulators of the gut microbiota.

The chicken gut microbiota constitutes a complex and dynamic microbial community comprising > 900 bacteria species (Zhu et al., 2002; Borda-Molina et al., 2018). In fact, it has been reported that about 80% of the bacteria species in the chicken cecum are yet to be cultured (Oakley et al., 2013; Torok et al., 2008). However, with advancement in 16S rRNA gene sequencing, metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, and metabolomics technologies in recent years, our understanding of this 'organ' previously referred to as a 'silent organ', has been enormous. It is now clear that the gut microbiota plays a critical role in gut development, nutrient digestion, metabolism, absorption, competitive exclusion of pathogens, and immunity (Rinttilä and Apajalahti, 2013; Clavijo and Flórez, 2018; Aggeletopoulou et al., 2019). Indeed, "dysbiosis"- a term used to describe an imbalance in the gut microbial structure in favor of pathogenic microbes has been linked to the pathologies of infectious bronchitis virus (Xu et al., 2022), influenza
(Yitbarek et al., 2018), Marek's disease (Perumbakkam et al., 2014), coccidiosis (Chen et al., 2020), and necrotic enteritis in poultry (Kiu et al., 2019). By reviewing the interrelationship between poultry gut microbiota and chicken performance, Carrasco et al. (2019) were able to infer that bird productivity might be correlated with microbial diversity. Notwithstanding, such productivity correlation might indeed be taxa and gut section specific rather than contingent on overall diversity.

As the gut microbiota is constantly interacting with the host, it is not surprising that a myriad of host-linked and environmental factors can modulate the composition and structure of the gut microbiota. These factors will include the host's age, breed, sex, sampled gut section, diet (including antibiotic use), housing conditions, management system, biosecurity, environmental stressors, particularly heat stress (HS) (Kers et al., 2018; Rostagno, 2019). Of all dietary modulators of the gut microbiota, perhaps AGP use has been the most successful. Several studies allege to AGP gut modulating potential (Schokker et al., 2017; Wisselink et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2020). In spite of the success recorded with AGP, the potential of AGP inducing dysbiosis by having a more significant effect on the host's commensal microbiota rather than pathogenic microbiota has also been reported (Kogut, 2019). Croswell et al. (2009) have also reported that microbiota alterations after AGP withdrawal may persist even after several weeks. Additionally, bacterial-induced mucosa inflammation and susceptibility to pathogenic microbiota colonization may persist when animals are infected post-AGP withdrawal (Croswell et al., 2009; Kogut, 2019). Furthermore, amongst all environmental factors capable of modulating the gut microbiota, HS has been reported to possess the most significant effect (Cao et al., 2021). Oladokun and Adewole (2022b) have reported that heat-induced dysbiosis is indeed one of the physiological responses to HS in poultry. Lower levels of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* and higher levels of *Clostridium* and total coliforms are reported examples of HS-induced microbiota alterations (Shi et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2022). In terms of phyla, reported HS-induced gut microbiota signatures include increased Firmicutes, Tenericutes, Proteobacteria and reduced Bacteroidetes and Cyanobacteria. Several other genera with reported growth and feed efficiency correlation, including Acinetobacter, Bacteroides, Coprococcus, Dorea, Faecalibacterium, Lactobacillus, and Streptococcus have been reported to have unique responses to HS (He et al., 2021). With poultry known to have poor thermoregulatory capacity and projected global temperature increase (Masson-Delmotte et al., 2021; Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b), it is thus important that sustainable and timely solutions are proffered to the challenge of HS-induced gut microbiota

perturbations in poultry.

Research into several sustainable ways to modulate the poultry gut microbiota, especially via the use of several feed additives like prebiotics, probiotics, synbiotics, enzymes, organic acids, and essential oils, are on the rise (Aggeletopoulou et al., 2019; Kogut, 2019; Yadav and Jha 2019). The use of probiotics (defined as "live microorganisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host" (FAO/WHO, 2001) shows promising gut-modulating potential. For instance, the supplementation of Lactobacillus johnsonii, Lactobacillus acidophilus and Bacillus have been reported to increase the prevalence of favourable lactic acid bacteria population in the gut, whilst also showing potential to alleviate the incidence of necrotic enteritis in broiler chickens (Li et al., 2017; Qing et al., 2017; Hernandez-Patlan et al., 2019a). Similarly, although varying results have been reported, the capacity of essential oils (EO) to favorably modulate the gut microbiota has also been reported (Cross et al., 2007; Yin et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2020). Oregano EO has been reported to reduce gut coliform counts compared to AGPsupplemented birds (Skoufos et al., 2016). Similarly, thymol supplementation has been reported to reduce Escherichia coli counts in the gut of broiler chickens (Jang et al., 2007). Furthermore, vitamins are another category of feed additives that show the potential to modulate the gut microbiota (Biesalski, 2016), although they are scarcely researched. For instance, Riccio and Rossano (Riccio and Rossano, 2018) have reported the capacity of vitamin A to modulate gut microbiota resulting in increased intestinal barrier integrity and immune status. Vitamin E, an antioxidant-rich vitamin, has also been shown to reduce total anaerobes (pathobionts) count compared to control birds (Scocco et al., 2017). Folic acid (FA) is another B-complex vitamin rich in antioxidant activity whose effect on gut microbiota is largely unreported in the literature. Despite the foregoing, it is important to state that inconsistencies in the activities of these additives continue to be recorded in the literature due to several reasons, including differences in dose, form, and delivery routes (Oladokun et al., 2021a; Oladokun et al., 2021b). Under current poultry production systems, conventional in-feed or in-water routes constitute the major routes for bioactive substance delivery. However, the efficacy of bioactive substances delivered via these routes might be impaired due to several reasons, including potential negative interaction with other feed additives, thermal instability, and potential water quality limitations (Gadde et al., 2017; Oladokun and Adewole, 2020).

In ovo technology has thus been proposed as one means to ensure the efficacy of these gutmodulating bioactive substances (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). Considering that the hen, which used to be the status quo source of gut colonization, has been eliminated in the commercial poultry industry, the *in ovo* technology offers the opportunity to colonize the embryonic gut with beneficial microbiota very early on. *In ovo* delivery of several bioactive substances, including phytobiotics, prebiotics and probiotics showing promising results as a gut-optimizing strategy in poultry production (Oladokun and Adewole, 2020). Through several independent studies (Oladokun et al., 2021a; Oladokun et al., 2021b; Oladokun et al., 2022), our laboratory has reported that *in ovo* delivery of a probiotic product (*Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract), as well as *in ovo* + in-water delivery of a commercial EO blend enhanced broiler chicken gut morphology, without compromising growth performance and gut homeostasis.

Additionally, divergence in reported results is observed in several HS-related poultry studies in the literature, possibly due to the complexity of the gut microbiota and all possible confounding factors highlighted above that could influence gut structure and diversity (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b). Nevertheless, it is obvious that more studies are needed to better delineate the complete mechanism (s) underlying HS-induced gut microbiota responses in poultry. Accordingly, this study sought to evaluate the gut microbiota modulating potential of *in ovo* delivered probiotics, FA, and *in ovo* + in-water delivered EO in broiler chickens, compared to an AGP (Bacitracin), under an HS challenge condition.

9.3 Methods

9.3.1 In ovo procedure

Hatching eggs (n = 1,252; average weight of 65.07 ± 0.30 g (mean ± SE)) were sourced from 34week-old Cobb 500 broiler breeders from Synergy hatchery, Nova Scotia, Canada, and incubated in a ChickMaster single-stage incubator (ChickMaster G09, Cresskill, NJ, USA) at the Hatchery facility of Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture for 21 days. Incubation conditions were standard (37.5 °C and 55% relative humidity) from embryonic days (**ED**) 1 to 17 and then to an average of 32 °C and 68% from EDs 18 to 21. Eggs were candled on ED 12, and infertile eggs were disposed of. The remaining eggs (n = 1,216) were then allotted one of five treatment groups: (1) noninjected eggs (control; 98 eggs); (2) *in ovo* saline group (50 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl, Baxter Corporation, ON, Canada); (3) *in ovo* FA group (50 eggs, injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg; (4) *in ovo* probiotics group (50 eggs, injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10 × 10⁶ CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent); and (5) *in ovo* essential oil group (50 eggs; injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1). All treatments were replicated in four similar incubators operated under the same condition. FA were injected on ED 12, while the probiotics and essential oil group were injected on ED 18 following methods described by Oladokun et al. (2021a). Briefly, this procedure involved disinfecting the eggs with 70% alcohol swabs (BD alcohol swabs-catalog 326910, ON, Canada), followed by careful puncture of the air cell using an 18-gauge needle. A self-refilling injector (Socorex ultra-1810.2.05005, Ecublens, Switzerland) fitted with a 22-gauge needle (injection needle length—3 cm) at a 45-degree angle was then used to deliver the bioactive substances into the amnion and subsequent sealing of the punctured sites with sterile medical tapes (NexcareTM Flexible Clear Tape-7100187758, 3M, MN, USA). To reduce treatment variability, the non-injected eggs were also removed and put back in the incubator simultaneously as the other injected treatments. The injected *Bacillus subtilis* product (concentration of 10×10^{10} CFU/g) and the commercial essential oil blend (containing phytonutrients star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme oil) were obtained from Probiotech International Inc., St Hyacinthe, Quebec, Canada. The EO blend is registered by Health Canada as a Veterinary Health Product (**VHP**).

9.3.2 Experimental design, birds, diets, and management

Figure 9.1 gives an overview of the experimental layout utilized in this study. The experiment was conducted as a 5 x 2 factorial arrangement, 5 in ovo treatments and 2 temperature model as main factors. Hatched chicks (n = 480) were weighed and randomly allotted to five new treatment groups at the Atlantic Poultry Research Center, Dalhousie Faculty of Agriculture. Hatched chicks from the prior non-injected eggs treatment were assigned to treatment A) Negative control treatment (NC) - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, and (B) AGP diet - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD). The eggs injected with FA, probiotics, and EO were also retained as treatments - (C) In ovo FA, (D) In ovo probiotics and (E) In ovo + in-water EO groups, respectively. The in ovo + in-water EO treatments included hatchlings from the in ovo EO group that also received EO at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water via the water route. Chicks (mixed sex; 6 birds/cage) were randomly placed in either a thermoneutral room (TN) or environmentally controlled room (HS room) consisting of 40 battery cages each (dimension - $50 \text{cm} \times 60 \text{cm}$; stocking density -0.076m²/bird), with each treatment group having 8 replicate cages. Treatments were evenly represented at all cage tier levels. All birds had access to feed and water *ad libitum* throughout the study period (28 d). Diets (Table 9.1) were provided in mash form in both the starter (0-14d) and grower (15-28d) phases. Lighting regime was set to generate 18 h light/ 6 h dark throughout the experiment and illumination was gradually decreased from 20 lux on day 0 to 5 lux on d 28. Rearing temperature in both experimental rooms were gradually decreased from 32 °C (d 0) to 24 °C (d 21). From d 21 to 28, birds in the TN room were raised under thermoneutral condition (24 °C \pm 0.2) while birds in the environmentally controlled rooms were subjected to cyclic HS (8 h/d, 31 °C). Temperature and relative humidity in the rooms were continuously monitored and recorded using Extech Instruments (Nashua, USA) for both thermal groups.



Figure 9.1 Schematic presentation of experimental layout in the hatchery and barn.

At the hatchery - *in ovo* saline eggs were injected with 0.2 mL of physiological saline, i.e., 0.9% NaCl, Baxter Corporation, ON, Canada); *in ovo* probiotics eggs were injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract (each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent); *in ovo* folic acid eggs were injected with 0.1 mL folic acid (95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA; at 0.15 mg per egg); and *in ovo* essential oil eggs were injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1). At the barn- the non-injected eggs gave rise to treatment (A) Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet, and (B) Antibiotics diet - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD). The eggs injected with folic acid, probiotics and essential oil were used to create treatments - (C) *In ovo* folic acid, (D) *In ovo* probiotics and (E) *In ovo* essential oil groups, respectively.

	Phases				
Items	Starter	r (0-14 d)	Grower	· (15-28 d)	
	Control diet	Antibiotic diet	Control diet	Antibiotic diet	
	Ingredient	t Composition			
Corn (ground)	51.1	51.00	45.4	45.3	
Soybean meal-46.5	41.4	41.5	36.3	36.3	
Wheat	-	-	10	10	
Animal/vegetable fat	2.93	2.97	4.22	4.26	
Limestone	1.80	1.80	1.65	1.65	
Dicalcium Phosphate	1.24	1.24	1.06	1.06	
DL Methionine premix ²	0.59	0.59	0.53	0.53	
Vitamin/Mineral Premix ^{3, 4}	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	
Salt	0.41	0.41	0.37	0.37	
Lysine HCl	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	
BMD 110G ⁵	-	0.05	-	0.05	
Total	100	100	100	100	
	Calculate	d composition			
Metabolizable energy (kcal/kg)	3,000	3,000	3,100	3,100	
Crude protein	23	23	21.5	21.5	
Calcium	0.96	0.96	0.87	0.87	
Available phosphorus	0.48	0.48	0.44	0.44	
Sodium	0.19	0.19	0.18	0.18	
Digestible lysine	1.28	1.28	1.15	1.16	
Digestible methionine + cysteine	0.95	0.95	0.87	0.87	
Digestible Tryptophan	0.25	0.25	0.23	0.23	
Digestible Threonine	0.89	0.89	0.82	0.82	
C	Analyzed	l composition			
Dry Matter	90.7	90.8	93.2	93.5	
Crude protein	24.8	25	22.5	23.8	
Crude fat	5.50	5.79	6.84	6.85	
Calcium	1.06	1.13	1.00	0.96	

Table 9.1 Composition and nutritional contents of experimental diets1 (as-fed basis, percentage (%), unless otherwise stated).

Potassium	1.14	1.16	0.99	1.04
Phosphorus	0.69	0.70	0.67	0.62
Sodium	0.19	0.21	0.21	0.16

¹Basal diet (Control diet-NC) and antibiotic diet containing NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate; ²DL-Methionine, 0.5 kg; wheat middling, 0.5 kg. ³Starter vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁴ Grower and Finisher vitamin-mineral premix contained the following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg wheat following per kg of diet: 9750 IU vitamin A; 2000 IU vitamin D3; 25 IU vitamin E; 2.97 mg vitamin K; 7.6 mg riboflavin; 13.5 mg Dl Ca-pantothenate; 0.012 mg vitamin B12; 29.7 mg niacin; 1.0 mg folic acid, 801 mg choline; 0.3 mg biotin; 4.9 mg pyridoxine; 2.9 mg thiamine; 70.2 mg manganese; 80.0 mg zinc; 25 mg copper; 0.15 mg selenium; 50 mg ethoxyquin; 1543 mg wheat middling's; 500 mg ground limestone. ⁵ Bacitracin methylene disalicylate (providing 55 mg/kg mixed feed); Alpharma, Inc., Fort Lee, NJ, USA.

9.3.3 16S rRNA gene sequencing and bioinformatics

On d28, 1 bird/cage (males) was randomly selected, weighed, and euthanized by electrical stunning and exsanguination and cecal digesta was collected. Microbial genomic DNA was subsequently isolated using the Qiagen DNeasy[®] PowerSoil Pro Kit (50) (Cat. No./ID: 47014) following the manufacturer's protocol. The concentration and purity of extracted DNA were then determined by spectrophotometry (Nanodrop ND1000, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). 16S rRNA gene amplicon libraries were then generated following the 16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation workflow from Illumina (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA) using PCR primers targeting the variable V3–V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene at Integrated Microbiome Resource, Dalhousie University in Halifax, Nova Scotia (Klindworth et al., 2013; Comeau et al., 2017). Bioinformatics analysis of microbiota data was as described by Oladokun et al. (2022), which followed protocols described in the Microbiome Helper pipeline (https://github.com/LangilleLab/microbiome_helper/wiki), based on the Quantitative Insight Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME) software package. Rarefaction curves were used to examine the individual alpha diversity for all samples (with the default observed OTUs as the metric). Alpha diversity comparisons were determined using the Shannon index and differences were tested by the Kruskal–Wallis statistical test set at P < 0.05. Beta diversity was visualized using Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) based on weighted UniFrac distance matrix. The relative abundance at different taxonomic levels was visualized using stacked bar charts, while significant microbiota proportions were determined in the Statistical Analysis of Metagenomic Profiles (STAMP) software (Park et al., 2014) with an analysis of variance (ANOVA) test using the Benjamin-Hochberg false discovery rate as multiple test correction for treatments comparison and T-test for temperature model comparison. Corrected *p*-value was set at P < 0.05. To predict the function of cecal microbiota, data analysis was carried out using the Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUST2) pipeline (Douglas et al., 2020). The PICRUST2 output was then analyzed using the ANOVA test and the Benjamin-Hochberg false discovery rate as multiple test correction for treatments comparison and T-test for temperature model comparison in the STAMP software.

9.4 Results

Sequencing yielded ~4.4 million raw reads from 80 broiler chicken cecal samples with an average of ~55 thousand reads per sample (Table 9.2). A total of ~3 million merged sequences were obtained, with an average of 38, 231 sequences per sample.

S/N	Sample-id	Total raw reads	Total filtered reads	% Filtered	Total denoised	Total merged	% Merged	Total non- chimeric	% non- chimeric
1	Sample-1	34747	27610	79.46	26082	23315	67.1	19609	56.43
2	Sample-2	67154	53414	79.54	51446	45344	67.52	32155	47.88
3	Sample-3	56033	44920	80.17	42855	37426	66.79	27870	49.74
4	Sample-4	79522	64418	81.01	61999	54328	68.32	39374	49.51
5	Sample-5	124710	100577	80.65	98666	89071	71.42	47829	38.35
6	Sample-7	56679	45494	80.27	43806	38657	68.2	27928	49.27
7	Sample-8	53147	41435	77.96	39661	36227	68.16	31238	58.78
8	Sample-9	73398	59500	81.06	57279	51175	69.72	38527	52.49
9	Sample-10	32635	26280	80.53	25335	23271	71.31	20114	61.63
10	Sample-11	27060	21616	79.88	20599	18426	68.09	14675	54.23
11	Sample-12	65974	54200	82.15	52821	48206	73.07	36114	54.74
12	Sample-14	44626	36402	81.57	35083	32178	72.11	27787	62.27
13	Sample-16	62148	51237	82.44	49901	46282	74.47	39013	62.77
14	Sample-17	63777	51976	81.5	50374	46044	72.2	34777	54.53
15	Sample-18	50222	41056	81.75	39535	35033	69.76	26389	52.54
16	Sample-20	38760	31526	81.34	30291	27402	70.7	22668	58.48
17	Sample-21	6630	5394	81.36	5190	4867	73.41	4763	71.84
18	Sample-22	40273	32891	81.67	32028	29836	74.08	26851	66.67
19	Sample-23	42119	34717	82.43	34008	32138	76.3	25587	60.75
20	Sample-24	91348	74744	81.82	71699	63537	69.55	46208	50.58
21	Sample-25	64009	52725	82.37	50474	45153	70.54	34069	53.23
22	Sample-26	27976	22914	81.91	21911	19746	70.58	17546	62.72
23	Sample-27	40970	32972	80.48	31561	28749	70.17	24850	60.65
24	Sample-29	48839	40209	82.33	38782	35542	72.77	30551	62.55
25	Sample-30	33132	26775	80.81	25470	22860	69	18297	55.22
26	Sample-31	39846	31901	80.06	30656	26397	66.25	19407	48.71
27	Sample-32	57461	45123	78.53	42690	37135	64.63	27646	48.11

Table 9.2 Sequencing data quality control metrics for 80 ceca digesta samples.

28	Sample-33	34739	28137	81	26972	24889	71.65	23078	66.43
29	Sample-34	39339	32365	82.27	31067	27389	69.62	21190	53.87
30	Sample-35	49942	40561	81.22	39451	36047	72.18	28173	56.41
31	Sample-36	37042	29903	80.73	28871	26055	70.34	18809	50.78
32	Sample-38	37950	30877	81.36	29742	26942	70.99	21840	57.55
33	Sample-40	39046	32161	82.37	30763	28114	72	23366	59.84
34	Sample-41	37062	30431	82.11	29220	26542	71.62	21372	57.67
35	Sample-42	57111	47249	82.73	45561	41028	71.84	29611	51.85
36	Sample-43	37509	30735	81.94	29570	26715	71.22	19530	52.07
37	Sample-45	75601	63441	83.92	61730	56921	75.29	41839	55.34
38	Sample-46	70904	58389	82.35	56560	51182	72.18	39473	55.67
39	Sample-47	41015	33645	82.03	32323	29374	71.62	25124	61.26
40	Sample-48	76672	63330	82.6	60903	55350	72.19	45426	59.25
41	Sample-49	41887	32882	78.5	31130	27170	64.86	22796	54.42
42	Sample-51	42926	33733	78.58	32261	29229	68.09	23696	55.2
43	Sample-52	62466	50091	80.19	47925	41599	66.59	30077	48.15
44	Sample-53	35178	28492	80.99	27065	24336	69.18	19920	56.63
45	Sample-54	66794	54846	82.11	53056	48207	72.17	38263	57.29
46	Sample-55	48873	39350	80.51	38246	35742	73.13	31706	64.87
47	Sample-56	25445	20390	80.13	19502	17920	70.43	16328	64.17
48	Sample-57	33729	27286	80.9	25949	24056	71.32	21533	63.84
49	Sample-59	55731	45164	81.04	43325	38593	69.25	30061	53.94
50	Sample-60	37149	29294	78.86	27939	24838	66.86	20408	54.94
51	Sample-62	58344	46308	79.37	44559	40446	69.32	31574	54.12
52	Sample-63	90129	73162	81.17	70390	62379	69.21	42598	47.26
53	Sample-64	93415	76046	81.41	73155	63338	67.8	44602	47.75
54	Sample-65	84669	67607	79.85	65266	59235	69.96	44278	52.3
55	Sample-66	70657	56641	80.16	54138	48420	68.53	36751	52.01
56	Sample-67	49158	39621	80.6	37684	33656	68.46	27681	56.31
57	Sample-68	56237	45466	80.85	43977	40123	71.35	30454	54.15
58	Sample-69	38144	30414	79.73	28673	25444	66.71	19903	52.18
59	Sample-70	80190	66116	82.45	64585	58731	73.24	40687	50.74
60	Sample-72	75556	60433	79.98	58339	52442	69.41	36349	48.11

61	Sample-73	77214	62462	80.89	59828	51962	67.3	38003	49.22
62	Sample-74	71556	56263	78.63	53679	47295	66.1	35857	50.11
63	Sample-75	52194	42061	80.59	39808	35552	68.12	27858	53.37
64	Sample-76	64021	51494	80.43	49403	44800	69.98	31965	49.93
65	Sample-77	45309	36755	81.12	35402	31085	68.61	22168	48.93
66	Sample-78	35506	28371	79.9	27024	24070	67.79	20253	57.04
67	Sample-80	61498	49807	80.99	46932	38809	63.11	26543	43.16
68	Sample-81	42312	31985	75.59	30694	27779	65.65	24297	57.42
69	Sample-82	85004	68544	80.64	66278	58667	69.02	39673	46.67
70	Sample-83	71708	56773	79.17	54752	48259	67.3	35412	49.38
71	Sample-84	55817	45386	81.31	43310	36966	66.23	25694	46.03
72	Sample-86	24618	19761	80.27	18400	15877	64.49	13804	56.07
73	Sample-87	55533	45197	81.39	43274	37433	67.41	25295	45.55
74	Sample-89	62657	50477	80.56	48366	42912	68.49	29711	47.42
75	Sample-90	44924	36763	81.83	34944	31178	69.4	25289	56.29
76	Sample-92	78177	62817	80.35	59565	51182	65.47	35455	45.35
77	Sample-93	89225	71565	80.21	69311	63464	71.13	49424	55.39
78	Sample-94	64364	50946	79.15	48134	38956	60.52	26537	41.23
79	Sample-95	55704	45223	81.18	42978	37305	66.97	25090	45.04
80	Sample-96	68656	55849	81.35	52920	44149	64.3	29259	42.62

9.4.1 Alpha diversity—cecal microbiota richness

Rarefaction curves of observed features (richness) were used to estimate internal sample alpha diversity. The results revealed that sequencing depth was adequate to cover the bacterial diversity in the cecal samples (Figure 9.2).

Alpha diversity index (Shannon index) as affected by treatments, temperature model or their interaction in this study is presented in Figure 9.3. Both main factors (treatments and temperature model) evaluated in this study recorded no effect on (P > 0.05) species richness in this study. Similarly, there was no significant interaction (P = 0.822) between evaluated treatments and temperature model on cecal microbial richness in this study. Notwithstanding, AGP treatment under the HS challenge recorded the highest numerical increase in alpha-Shannon index (Figure 9.3c).



Figure 9.2 Rarefaction curves of observed features and number of samples obtained from 16S rRNA gene V3–V4 sequences.

Based on a) treatments, b) temperature model, and c) treatment and temperature model interaction. Treatments groups include- A) Negative control treatmentchicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) in ovo folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) In ovo probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract, each egg received 10 × 106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) in ovo + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature models include- Thermoneutral group- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 -28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 -28. Interaction effects include- AH) Negative control treatment under heat stress challenge, AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) in ovo FA treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) in ovo FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) In ovo probiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) In ovo probiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT)) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition. The box plots in the upper figure represent the distribution of the selected alpha diversity metric for each group of samples at each even sampling depth. The lower and upper whiskers of the box plot are the 9th and 91st percentiles of the distribution (respectively), while the lower and upper extents of the box are the 25th and 75th percentiles of the distribution (respectively). The horizontal bar through the middle of the box is the median of the distribution (i.e., the 50th percentile). Outlier points of these distributions are not shown. The line chart in the upper figure connects the median values of the alpha diversity metric distribution across the sampling depths. If a sampling depth is higher than the

number of sequences in a sample, that sample will not be included in the rarefaction plot at that sampling depth. The line chart in the lower figure illustrates the number of samples in each group (i.e., the sample size for each box plot) at each sampling depth.





Alpha diversity (Shannon index) box plots show (a) no significant difference (P = 0.285, Kruskal-Wallis test) between evaluated treatments, (b) no significant difference (P = 0.908, Kruskal-Wallis test) between Heat stress (H) and

Thermoneutral (T) groups, and (c) no significant interaction effect (P = 0.822, Kruskal-Wallis test) between treatment and temperature groups. Treatments groups include- A) Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal cornsoybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) in ovo folic acid (FA) treatment - eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) In ovo probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) in ovo + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment - eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature groups include - Thermoneutral group-birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 – 28. Interaction effects include-AH) Negative control treatment under heat stress challenge, AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) in ovo FA treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) in ovo FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) In ovo probiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) In ovo probiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT)) in ovo + inwater EO treatment under thermoneutral condition. Boxes in the boxplots denote interquartile range, solid middle line in the boxes denote the median, all other symbols outside the boxes represent outliers.

9.4.2 Beta diversity— shaping the cecal microbiota

Multidimensional scaling (PCoA) based on weighted UniFrac distances was done to graphically explore the bacterial community heterogeneity (Figure 9.4). On a treatment basis, the AGP treatment showed an almost clear cluster separation (except for n = 4 outliers), compared to other treatments (Figure 9.4a). On the other hand, no unique cluster separation was observed between the cecal microbiota profile of HS and TN birds. When the interaction effect between evaluated treatments and thermal challenge was considered, the ceca microbiota profile of birds offered AGP under TN conditions showed clear cluster separation when compared to all other treatment*temperature combinations (Figure 9.4c).



Figure 9.4 PCoA plots based on weighted UniFrac metric.

a) treatment comparison, b) temperature comparison, and c) treatment and temperature group interaction comparison. Treatments groups include - A)
Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05%

bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) in ovo folic acid (FA) treatmenteggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) In ovo probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) in ovo + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature groups include- Thermoneutral group (T) - birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 – 28. Interaction effects include- AH) Negative control treatment under heat stress challenge, AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) in ovo FA treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) in ovo FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) In ovo probiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) In ovo probiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT)) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition.

9.4.3 Taxonomic composition

Irrespective of treatment, temperature, and treatment*temperature effects, phyla *Firmicutes*, *Proteobacteria* and *Actinobacteria* were the most abundant (> 95%) phyla in this study (Figure 9.5). The relative abundance of the most dominant bacteria at the class, order and family taxa are presented in Figure 9.6. The relative abundance of the top ten most abundant bacteria genera, as influenced by treatments, temperature model or their interaction, is shown in Figure 9.7.

To confirm differences in ceca microbiota taxonomic profile, significant differences in cumulative proportion of bacteria across all taxa was also evaluated. Taxa with significantly different microbiota proportions are thus presented in Figures 9.8.1 and 9.8.2. At the phylum level, an interaction effect was observed for both treatment and temperature challenge. While HS alone reduced the proportion of members of the Actinobacteria phylum, AGP supplementation, especially under TN condition, increased the proportion of members of this phylum compared to all other treatment and temperature conditions. The only exception to this effect was observed in the in ovo + in-water EO treatment under TN condition, which had a similar proportion of the Actinobacteria phylum as the AGP treatment under the same condition. Both AGP treatment and HS challenge independently increased the proportion of bacteria in the genus Ruminococcus. However, the cecal microbiota of birds fed the AGP treatment under TN condition recorded a higher (P < 0.05) proportion of bacteria in this genus compared to other treatments, irrespective of temperature challenge model. Also, the *in ovo* + in-water treatment recorded a similar increase (P < 0.05) in proportion of bacteria in the genus *Ruminococcus torques* group compared to other treatments. Furthermore, while AGP treatment increased (P < 0.05) the proportion of bacteria in the genus *Eubacterium*, HS independently reduced (P < 0.001) it. However, none of the *in ovo* delivered treatments could reverse this decrease (P < 0.02) under HS condition, compared to the AGP-treated birds under TN condition. A similar trend of AGP-induced increase (P < 0.001) in genus *Blautia* and HS-induced reduction (P < 0.01) of the same genus was also observed. Notwithstanding, the AGP-induced bacteria increase in the genus *Blautia* was higher (P < 0.001) than every other treatment and temperature combination. The proportion of bacteria in the genus Lachnospiraceae was also increased (P < 0.01) by both AGP and HS treatment independently. However, under HS challenge, the AGP treatment only recorded a higher (P < 0.05) proportion of this genus than the probiotic treatment, every other treatment exhibited statistical similarity. No effect of HS on the proportion of bacteria in the genus Gordonibacter was recorded in this study. However, the AGP treatment increased (P < 0.01) the proportion of this genus compared to other treatments. While the AGP treatment was observed to reduce the proportion of bacteria in the genera Faecalibacterium, Negativibacillus, Oscillibacter, and Romboutsia, no effect of thermal challenge on the proportion of bacteria in these genera was observed. However, AGP treated birds reduced bacteria in these genera, compared to all other treatments.

Only treatment effect was recorded for the cumulative proportions of bacteria in the genera *Anaerostipes, Butyricicoccus, lachnoclostridium, Monoglobus, Sellimonas, Turicibacter, and Incertae_Sedis* (undefined). The AGP treatment increased (P < 0.05) the proportion of bacteria in these genera compared to other treatment groups. The only exception was for the *lachnoclostridium and Sellimonas genera* where the *in ovo* + in-water treatment had a similar increase of this genera as the AGP treatment. When thermal challenge was considered independently, HS was observed to increase (P < 0.01) the proportion of bacteria in the genera *Anaerotruncus, Candidatus Soleaferrea, Flavonifractor*, and *Lactobacillus* compared to TN condition.



Figure 9.5 Ceca microbiota taxonomic composition of the dominant phyla.Based on based on a) treatments, b) temperature model, and c) treatment and

temperature model interaction. Treatments groups include- A) Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) in ovo folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) In ovo probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) in ovo + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature models include- Thermoneutral group(T)- birds were housed at 24°C \pm 0.2 from d 21 – 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. Interaction effects include- AH) Negative control treatment under heat stress challenge, AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) in ovo FA treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) in ovo FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) In ovo probiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) In ovo probiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT)) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition.



(a)





d Bacteria;p Firmicutes;c Clostridia

d__Bscteris;p__Actinobacteriota;c__Actinobacteria

d_Bacteris;p_Firmicutes;c_Bacilli d_Bacteris;p_Proteobacteris;c_Gammaproteob d_Bacteris;p_Actinobacteriots;c_Coriobacteriis

d_Bacteria;p_Firmicutes;c_Clostridia;o_Clostridia

(b)





Figure 9.6 Ceca microbiota taxonomic profile at the (a) class, (b) order and (c) family level.

For Interaction effects AH) Negative control treatment (chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat–based diet) under heat stress challenge (birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 – 28), AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition (birds were housed at 24°C \pm 0.2 from d 21 – 28), BH) Antibiotics treatment (chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate) under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) *in ovo* folic acid (eggs injected with 0.1 mL folic acid (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg) treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) *in ovo* FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) *In ovo* probiotics (eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×10^6 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent) treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) *In ovo* probiotics treatment under

thermoneutral condition, FH) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment (eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + essential oil blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the essential oil via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water) under heat stress challenge, and FT)) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil treatment under thermoneutral condition.











(c)

Figure 9.7 Microbiota profile of the most dominant genera in broiler chicken ceca.

Based on a) treatments, b) temperature model, and c) treatment and temperature model interaction. Treatments groups include- A) Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) in ovo folic acid (FA) treatmenteggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) In ovo probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) in ovo + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature models include-Thermoneutral group (T)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 – 28. Interaction effects include-AH) Negative control treatment under heat stress challenge, AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) in ovo FA treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) in ovo FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) In ovo probiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) In ovo probiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT)) in ovo + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition



(c)

Figure 9.8 Significant differences (ANOVA and T-test, B–H FDR corrected p value, P < 0.05) in cumulative proportions of bacteria in the phylum Actinobacteria.

Based on a) treatments, b) temperature model, and c) treatment and temperature model interaction. Treatments groups include - A) Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) *in ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment - eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) *In ovo* probiotics treatment - eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) *in*

ovo + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blendmixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at therecommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature models include- $Thermoneutral group (T) - birds were housed at 24°C <math>\pm$ 0.2 from d 21 – 28, and Heat stress group (H) -birds were housed at 31°C for 8hrs/day from d 21 – 28. Interaction effects include - AH) Negative control treatment under heat stress challenge, AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) *in ovo* FA treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) *in ovo* FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) *In ovo* probiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) *In ovo* probiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT)) *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition.



>0.1

>0.1

2.5

2.0

302

00

D : A

Mean proportion (%)

-0

0.0

-0

0.5

10

Difference in mean proportions (%)

-

-0.5

2.3 -1.0

🗖 A 🗖 D 🗖 F **B B E**



g_[Ruminococcus]_gauvreauii_group	95% confidence intervals	g_Faecalibacterium	95% confidence intervals	AH	DH DT	ET FH
BT - FT			<0.001	BH BH	EH EH	FT FT
			<0.001	L BI		
BT : FT						
		AT : BT	<0.001			
BT : AH			<0.001			
		BH : BT	<0.05			
g [Eubacterium] brachy group				-		
	95% confidence intervals	g_Gordonibacter	95% confidence intervals			
BT : FH	<0.00	1 BT : FT	<0.001			
BT : EH	<0.00	1 BT : EH	<0.001			
BT : DH	→ → → <0.00	1 BT : DT	<0.001			
BT : AH		1 BT : DH	<0.001			
BT : FT	│	BT : AH	│			
BT : DT	<0.01	BT : FH				
BT : ET	<0.02	BT : ET	→ <0.01			
BT : AT	← <0.02	BT : AT	<0.01			
g_[Ruminococcus]_torques_group	95% confidence intervals	g_Lachnospiraceae_UCG-010	95% confidence intervals	-		
			55% confidence intervais			
BT : FT	<0.01	BT : EH	<0.05			
	<0.01	BH : EH	<0.05			
		BT : FH	<0.1			
	<0.01					
	<0.02					
g_Blautia	95% confidence intervals	g_Negativibacillus	95% confidence intervals	-		
BT : FT	<0.001	BT - FT				
BT : FH		BT : FH				
BT : ET	<0.001	BT : ET				
BT : EH	<0.001	BT : EH				

BT : FT	<0.001
BT : FH	 <0.001
BT : ET	<0.001
BT : EH	<0.001
BT : DT	<0.001
BT : DH	<0.001
BT : BH	 <0.001
BT : AT	 <0.001
BT : AH	<0.001

BT : FT	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	< 0.001
BT : FH		< 0.001
BT : ET		< 0.001
BT : EH		< 0.001
BT : DT		< 0.001
BT : DH		< 0.001
BT : AT		< 0.001
BT : AH		< 0.001

g_Oscillibacter

BT : FH		< 0.01
BT : EH	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	< 0.01
BT : DT		< 0.01
BT : DH		< 0.01
BT : AT		< 0.01
BT : AH		< 0.01
BT : FT		< 0.02
BT : ET	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	< 0.02

g__Romboutsia

95% confidence intervals

95% confidence intervals

BT : FH	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	< 0.001
BT : ET		< 0.001
BT : EH		< 0.001
BT : DT		< 0.001
BT : AT		< 0.001
BT : DH		< 0.01
BT : BH		< 0.01
BT : AH		<0.01
BT : FT		< 0.05
Figure 9.9 Significant differences (ANOVA and T-test, B–H FDR corrected p value, P < 0.05) in cumulative proportions of bacteria at the Genus taxa.

Based on a) treatments, b) temperature model, and c) treatment and temperature model interaction. Treatments groups include - A) Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) *in ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) *In ovo* probiotics treatment - eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in -water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature models include - Thermoneutral group (T) - birds were housed at 24° C \pm 0.2 from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31° C for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. Interaction effects include- AH) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) *in ovo* FA treatment under heat stress challenge, DT) *in ovo* FA treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition, EH) *In ovo* probiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT) *j in ovo* + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition.

9.4.4 Predicted function of ceca microbiota

The predicted microbiota function is presented in Figures 9.9.1 and 9.9.2. The AGP treatment under TN conditions increased (P < 0.01) the number of functional genes involved in superpathways of tetrahydrofolate biosynthesis, superpathway of β-D-glucuronosides degradation, methanogenesis from acetate, L-fucose degradation 1, dTDP-N-acetylthomosamine biosynthesis, 6-hydroxymethyl-dihydropterin diphosphate biosynthesis, tetrapyrrole biosynthesis, purine nucleobases degradation 1, D-galacturonate degradation, L-tryptophan biosynthesis, thiazole component of thiamine diphosphate biosynthesis 1, and galacturonate and glucuronate pathways compared to other treatments, irrespective of thermal challenge conditions. Conversely, the same AGP treatment under TN conditions decreased (P < 0.05) the number of functional genes involved in the pyrimidine deoxyribonucleosides salvage, UDP-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine biosynthesis 1, peptidoglycan biosynthesis IV, O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis, and CMPlegionaminate biosynthesis 1 pathway. Only treatments effect was observed for genes involved in Glucuronic acid pathways, GDP-D-glycero-a-D-manno-heptose-biosynthesis, D-fructuronate degradation, L-ornithine biosynthesis 1, adenine and adenosine salvage III, and sucrose degradation IV pathways. In this case, the AGP treatment recorded higher (P < 0.001) number of genes involved in GDP-D-glycero-α-D-manno-heptose-biosynthesis, D-fructuronate degradation, L-ornithine biosynthesis 1 and Glucuronic acid pathways. On the contrary, the same AGP treatment recorded a lower (P < 0.001) number of functional genes involved in adenine and adenosine salvage III, and sucrose degradation IV pathways. Furthermore, genes involved in pyruvate fermentation to acetate and lactate II and superpathway of polyamine biosynthesis I were increased (P = 0.04) by HS in this study.



glucuronic acid pathway	B : F B : C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis	↓ ↓ <0.001 ↓ ↓ <0.001 ↓ ↓ <0.001 ↓ ↓ <0.001
tetrapyrrole biosynthesis II	B : F B : C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	L-tryptophan biosynthesis	O.001 O.001
D-galacturonate degradation I	B : F	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	6-hydroxymethyl-dihydropterin diphosphate biosynthesis III B : A B : A	O.001 O.001
GDP-D-glycero-α-D-manno- heptose biosynthesis	B : F B : D B : A A : A B : A B : A B : A B : A A : A B : A A : A A : A A : A A : A :	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	B : F B : F	 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001
tetrapyrrole biosynthesis I	B : F B : A A : A B : A A : A A : A A : A A : A A : A A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A & A : A &A : A & A : A &A	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	sucrose degradation IV E : B C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	O O
L-ornithine biosynthesis I	B : F B : E B : D B : A	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	pyrimidine deoxyribonucleosides salvage	
dTDP-N-acetylthomosamine biosynthesis	B : F B : E B : D B : A A : A : A : A : A :	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	peptidoglycan biosynthesis IV E : B D : B A : B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B	
superpathway of tetrahydrofolate biosynthesis	B : F B : E B : D B : A A : A A : A : A : A :	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	galacturonate and glucuronate pathway B : E B : D B : D B : A B : D B : A B : D B : A B : D B : A B : D B : A B : B : D B : A B : B : B : B : B : B : B : B : B	O 001 O 001
D-fructuronate degradation	B : F B : E B : D B : A A : A A : A A : A :	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	CMP-legionaminate biosynthesis I	
adenine and adenosine salvage III	F : B	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001	A : B	

307



(b)

Figure 9.10 Predicted functions of ceca microbiota.

Based on a) treatments, and b) temperature model. Treatments groups include - A) Negative control treatment - chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment - chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) *in ovo* folic acid (FA) treatment - eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment - eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature models include- Thermoneutral group (T) - birds were housed at 24° C \pm 0.2 from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at 31° C for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28.



Figure 9.11 Predicted functions of ceca microbiota based on treatment and temperature model interaction.

Treatments groups include- A) Negative control treatment- chicks were offered a basal corn-soybean meal-wheat-based diet, B) Antibiotics treatment- chicks were offered NC + 0.05% bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), D) in ovo folic acid (FA)

309

treatment- eggs injected with 0.1 mL FA (FA; 95-102%; Thermo Scientific, USA) at 0.15 mg per egg, E) *In ovo* probiotics treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract, each egg received 10×106 CFU of the bacterium/0.2 mL saline diluent, and F) *in ovo* + in-water essential oil (EO) treatment- eggs injected with 0.2 mL of a saline + EO blend mixture at a dilution ratio of 2:1 and supplied the EO via the in-water route at the recommended dosage of 250 mL/1000 L of drinking water. Temperature models include- Thermoneutral group (T)- birds were housed at $24^{\circ}C \pm 0.2$ from d 21 - 28, and Heat stress group (H)-birds were housed at $31^{\circ}C$ for 8hrs/day from d 21 - 28. Interaction effects include- AH) Negative control treatment under heat stress challenge, AT) Negative control treatment under thermoneutral condition, BH) Antibiotics treatment under heat stress challenge, BT) Antibiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, DH) *in ovo* FA treatment under heat stress challenge, ET) *In ovo* probiotics treatment under thermoneutral condition, FH) *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment under heat stress challenge, and FT)) *in ovo* + in-water EO treatment under thermoneutral condition.

9.5 Discussion

Given the importance of ceca microbiota in poultry performance and health (Stanley et al., 2013; Proszkowiec-Weglarz et al., 2020), an exposition on the interactions between the host and its resident microbiota, especially under varying management condition, would be insightful. AGP has been theorized to improve growth promotion in poultry by the modulation of cecal microbiota dynamics (Zhou et al., 2020). Here, we provide evidence on microbiota-mediated mode of action of AGP and *in ovo* delivered bioactive substances under varying thermal conditions.

Alpha diversity (Shannon index) was not affected by *in ovo* delivered treatments, AGP, and HS in this study, suggesting similarity in the number of resident species. Similar to this outcome, several other studies have also reported no effect of nutritional supplements (Bortoluzzi et al., 2017; Chang et al., 2020; Proszkowiec-Weglarz et al., 2020; Oladokun et al., 2021a; Kouzounis et al., 2022; Oladokun et al., 2022), AGP (Danzeisen et al., 2011; Pourabedin et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2018; Proctor et al., 2019) and HS (Xing et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020; Nelson et al., 2020; Emami et al., 2022) on alpha diversity metrics in poultry. Notwithstanding, extreme events that trigger gut dysbiosis have been reported as capable of altering bacteria counts and ecological niches (Thibodeau et al., 2015). Considering that intestinal dysbiosis has been reported to be a physiological response to HS (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b) it is only rational to expect HS-induced changes in alpha diversity. However, the effect of HS on alpha diversity might depend on the intensity and duration of thermal challenge. For instance, HS-induced changes in specie richness after 2 wk heat exposure have been reported in broiler chickens and laying hens (Hsieh et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2018c). Furthermore, unlike the results reported for alpha diversity, AGP, especially under TN condition, caused a shift in beta diversity compared to other evaluated treatments in this study. This indicates that AGP triggered a spatial turnover in taxonomic profile abundances in the ceca. Unsurprisingly, the modification of gut microbial diversity is purportedly AGP's growth-promoting mode of action (Dibner and Richards, 2005). In conformation with the result presented here, several other studies have reported the capacity of several AGPs (bacitracin inclusive) to induce a shift in beta diversity in poultry (Czerwiński et al., 2012; Costa et al., 2017; Banerjee et al., 2018; Kumar et al., 2018; Le Roy et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2019; Adewole, 2020; Elokil et al., 2020; Lemos et al., 2020). Nonetheless, more studies are needed to provide holistic insights into the cause and effect of such AGP-induced shift in microbial diversity. Moreover, AGP-driven shifts in microbial structure have been associated with decreased adaptive immune system stimulation in chickens (Czerwiński et al., 2012; Costa et al., 2017; Banerjee et al., 2018; Le Roy et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2019; Yitbarek et al., 2019; Elokil et al., 2020; Lemos et al., 2020) and is reported to be dose-dependent (Johnson et al., 2019).

Furthermore, independent of treatment combinations from this study, the ceca microbial composition at the phylum taxa was majorly dominated by *Firmicutes*, *Proteobacteria* and *Actinobacteria*. This is consistent with reported ceca microbiota census (Corrigan et al., 2015; Rodrigues et al., 2020; Oladokun et al., 2021a; Erinle et al., 2022a; Oladokun et al., 2022). Nevertheless, both the *in ovo* + in-water EO and the AGP treatments increased the proportion of bacteria in the phylum *Actinobacteria* in this study. Phylum *Actinobacteria* consists of non-motile, anaerobic Gram-positive bacteria with varying metagenomic functions reported in the literature. While *Actinobacteria* have been negatively correlated with vitamin B6 metabolism, glycolysis/gluconeogenesis, and increased susceptibility to *S. Enteritidis* infections (Mon et al., 2015; Hernandez-Patlan et al., 2019b), other studies have equally reported beneficial role of this phylum related to primary bile acid biosynthesis and drug metabolism, anti-infectives, gut homeostasis and improved growth performance (Ogawara, 2014; Landwehr et al., 2016; Binda et al., 2018; Das et al., 2020). A recent study has also highlighted *Actinobacteria*'s role in shortchain fatty acid (**SCFA**) production (Mazalli et al., 2022). Given the healthy state of the flock in this study, it is probable that the beneficial effect of this phylum was in effect.

At the genus taxa, AGP increased the proportion of bacteria in the genera *Blautia*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Anaerostipes*, *lachnoclostridium*, *Sellimonas* in this study. The proportions of bacteria in the genera *lachnoclostridium and Sellimonas* were also increased by the *in ovo* + inwater EO treatment. Intriguingly, all of the highlighted bacteria genera belong to the family *Lachnospiraceae*. The *Lachnospiraceae* family comprises anaerobic, fermentative, and chemoorganotrophic bacteria with strong hydrolyzing activities. They are early gut colonizers known for their ability to utilize diet-derived polysaccharides in the production of SCFA, especially butyrate, important energy source for the host (Vacca et al., 2020; Hankel et al., 2021). In agreement with the results presented here, an increased proportion of members of this bacteria family following AGP supplementation are well reported in the literature (Zhu et al., 2019; Trela et al., 2020; Erinle et al., 2022b). Our laboratory has also reported increased proportion of members of this bacteria family in AGP supplemented birds, alongside improved growth performance in the same birds (Oladokun et al., 2022), suggesting that the *in ovo* + in water EO treatment might also be able to exploit similar microbiota-mediated approach to improve growth performance in poultry. In a similar manner, AGP was found to increase the proportion of other

genera associated with increased SCFA production, including Ruminococcus groups (alongside the *in ovo* + in water EO treatment), *Eubacterium*, *Butyricicoccus*, and *Monoglobus*. Members of these genera are able to positively modulate improved gut homeostasis via fiber degradation to yield SCFA as energy metabolites (Fernández-Rubio et al., 2009; Torok et al., 2013; Geirnaert et al., 2014; Adewole, 2020; Adewole et al., 2021; Hao et al., 2022). These metabolites positively influence gut health by acting as energy sources for the enteric cells, maintaining intestinal barrier integrity, inhibiting proinflammatory pathways, and countering colonic oxidative stress (Geirnaert et al., 2014). Additionally, AGP was found to differentially increase the proportions of members of genera Gordonibacter, Turicibacter, while reducing the proportions of Faecalibacterium, Negativibacillus, Oscillibacter, and Romboutsia in the ceca. The Faecalibacterium, Turicibacter, and Romboutsia genera are commensal SCFA-producing species capable of inducing antiinflammatory actions in the gut (Wang et al., 2016; Clavijo and Flórez, 2018; Adewole et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2022). The Negativibacillus genus has also been positively correlated with improved body weights in rats (Yan et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2019). Conversely, the Gordonibacter genus has been implicated in immunological stress conditions (Kong et al., 2022), as well as in the etiology of inflammatory bowel disease conditions in humans (Würdemann et al., 2009). Our team has previously buttressed the cost-benefit microbiota properties of AGP use in broiler production (Oladokun et al., 2022). These incidental properties give another ground to question the sustainability of AGP use in broiler production. Is there a possibility that at an undefined timepoint, the genera associated with negative effects outweigh those with reported positive effects either via competitive exclusion, dominance, or succession? Additionally, in view of HS dysbiotic role in ceca microbiota homeostasis (Oladokun and Adewole, 2022b) its reduction of SCFA-producing genera (Ruminococcus, Eubacterium, and Blautia) and Candidatus Soleaferrea) in this study was not surprising. The genus Candidatus Soleaferrea have been negatively correlated with body weight in chicken (Xiang et al., 201), as well as increased susceptibility to subclinical necrotic enteritis infection (Zhao et al., 2022). What was more surprising, was the increased proportion of other potentially beneficial genera (Lachnospiraceae, Anaerotruncus, Flavonifractor, and Lactobacillus) with reported SCFA-producing capacity (Gong et al., 2002b; Polansky et al., 2016; Clavijo and Flórez, 2018; Hankel et al., 2021) under HS condition. Lactobacillus, for instance, are popular probiotic candidate in poultry production as a result of their bacteriostatic and SCFA-producing abilities (Gong et al., 2002b) and are generally reported to be reduced by HS in poultry (Al-Fataftah et al., 2014; Song et al., 2014;

Zhang et al., 2017). Despite the paucity of studies in this respect, one study reported an increased proportion of the *Lactobacillus* genus following a heat stress challenge (34–38 °C for 28 d) with no rationale offered. It is possible that the reported beneficial effects of the *Lactobacillus* genus are indeed species-specific, with HS potentially increasing the proportions of species with putatively non-beneficial effects. In any case, more studies are needed to provide comprehensive insight in this regard.

Finally, using PICRUSt2 (Douglas et al., 2020), the metagenomes of broiler chicken ceca microbiome were predicted. The prediction revealed AGP treatment significantly enriched metabolic pathways related to carbohydrate/sugar degradation (β-D-glucuronosides degradation, L-fucose degradation 1, D-galacturonate degradation, D-fructuronate degradation, glucuronic acid, and galacturonate and glucuronate pathways), energy generation and carbohydrate biosynthesis (methanogenesis from acetate, purine nucleobases degradation 1, dTDP-Nacetylthomosamine biosynthesis, and GDP-D-glycero-a-D-manno-heptose-biosynthesis), vitamin biosynthesis (tetrahydrofolate biosynthesis, 6-hydroxymethyl-dihydropterin diphosphate biosynthesis, tetrapyrrole biosynthesis, thiazole component of thiamine diphosphate biosynthesis 1) and amino acid biosynthesis (L-tryptophan biosynthesis and L-ornithine biosynthesis 1). In contrast, metabolic pathways related to nucleotide and nucleoside biosynthesis (pyrimidine deoxyribonucleosides salvage and UDP-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine biosynthesis 1), cell structure biosynthesis (peptidoglycan biosynthesis IV) and specific carbohydrate synthesis (O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis, CMP-legionaminate biosynthesis 1) were depleted with AGP supplementation. The highlighted metabolic pathways induced by our treatments combinations in this study are, to a great extent, consistent with the presented results on taxonomic composition and growth performance (data not shown). Consistent with our report, previous studies have strongly correlated the *Ruminococcus* genus with increased enrichment of the tetrahydrofolate biosynthesis and methanogenesis from acetate pathways (Hu et al., 2021; Van Heck et al., 2022). Similarly, mice microbiota treated with AGP has also presented an increase in the carbohydrate biosynthesis (dTDP-N-acetylthomosamine biosynthesis) pathway (Eslabão et al., 2022). Dglucuronic acid— an end product of microbial glucuronide deconjugation catalyzed by β glucuronidase has also been associated with AGP (vancomycin) treatment of human microbiota (Sunwoo et al., 2020). Higher abundance of microbial genes involved in the L-tryptophan biosynthesis pathway has also been reported in AGP (vancomycin) treated humans (Madany et al., 2022). O-antigens from the AGP-induced reduction of O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis metabolic pathway are a critical part of lipopolysaccharide membrane, an immunotolerance response of microbial community in the gut (Delcour et al., 2009). However, it is unclear if a reduced microbial O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis directly correlates with reduced lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis. Downregulated O-antigen building blocks biosynthesis has been associated with microbial inhibitory effect of a live bacterial product in humans (Dizman et al., 2022). Furthermore, it is rational that HS increases the pyruvate fermentation to acetate and lactate II pathway, as presented in this study: considering that this pathway has been reported to be utilized by *Thermotoga maritima*, a hyperthermophilic anaerobic eubacterium which produces fermentation products (like acetate and acetate) using glucose as a substrate (Schröder et al., 1994). In summary, the differentially enriched metabolic pathways suggest that the AGP treatment afforded high potency for biosynthesis of essential nutrients (amino acids and vitamins especially) and utilization of carbon sources derived from both diet and the host in order to ensure improved growth performance, particularly under TN condition.

9.6 Conclusions

Under the reported experimental conditions, AGP supplementation caused a significant shift in microbial diversity than HS did. Both in ovo delivered treatments and thermal challenge differentially influenced ceca microbiota taxonomic composition. While HS reduced the proportion of members of the Actinobacteria phylum, the in ovo + in-water EO and AGP treatments increased the proportion of bacteria in this phylum. The cumulative proportions of bacteria in the genera lachnoclostridium and Sellimonas were both increased by the in ovo + inwater EO and AGP treatment. The AGP treatment also increased the cumulative proportions of bacteria in the genera Blautia, Lachnospiraceae, Anaerostipes, lachnoclostridium, Sellimonas, all in the Lachnospiraceae family, while reducing the proportion of bacteria in the genera Faecalibacterium, Negativibacillus, Oscillibacter, and Romboutsia in the ceca. On the other hand, HS reduced the proportion of bacteria in the genera Ruminococcus, Eubacterium, Blautia, and Candidatus Soleaferrea in this study. Metagenomic prediction revealed that the AGP treatment enriched carbohydrate degradation, carbohydrate synthesis, vitamin biosynthesis, and amino acid biosynthesis-related pathways. Similarly, HS increased the pyruvate fermentation to acetate and lactate II and polyamine biosynthesis I metabolic pathways. This study provides critical insight into microbiota-mediated role of AGP in growth promotion. Results from this study suggests that the microbiota-mediated role of AGP in growth promotion is related to improved biosynthesis of essential nutrients (amino acids and vitamins especially) and utilization of carbon sources derived from the host diet and microbiome. Also, considering the close similarities in taxonomic profile between the *in ovo* + in-water EO and AGP treatment in this study, the *in ovo* + in water EO treatment might be a good candidate for further optimization study as a potential alternative to AGP. Additionally, all differentially regulated bacteria genera highlighted from this study could be potential candidates for precision biotics development, especially when supplied as synbiotics as a result of the fiber degrading ability to yield SCFA reported for most of these bacteria.

CHAPTER 10 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Global restrictions on the use of AGP have necessitated new approaches to maintaining poultry gut health. In the post-AGP era, if birds are to reach their maximum genetic potential, maximum attention needs to be placed on the early establishment of immunocompetence and optimum gut health. Consequently, this thesis has extensively evaluated the *in ovo* delivery of bioactive substances and its effect on growth performance and different aspects of gut health (morphology, microbiota, and immune system). As a strategic means of optimizing poultry gut health and performance, results from this thesis reveal that the *in ovo* delivery of probiotics, EO, and FA shows promising benefits as alternatives to AGP in the post-AGP era.

It is apparent that the successful development of effective alternatives to AGP is contingent upon a good understanding of AGP's gut modifying mechanisms. This thesis provided mechanistic insights into the gut microbiota-mediated mode of action of AGP. From four different experiments, this thesis suggests that AGP is able to improve growth performance in broiler chickens by increasing the abundance of bacteria in the family Lachnospiraceae. The increased abundance of bacteria in this family in the AGP treatments was parallel with growth performance data for the same treatment in this thesis. Increased abundance of bacteria in the family Lachnospiraceae has been associated with increased butyrate production (Vacca et al., 2020; Hankel et al., 2021), a supplementary source of energy for the gut enteric cells, which leads to improved weight gain. Members of the Lachnospiraceae are thus potential candidates for precision post-biotics development. Despite the growth-enhancing benefits obtainable from AGP use in poultry, this thesis shows that such benefits come at a metabolic cost. For the first time in the literature, this thesis reports that AGP might be capable of increasing the concentrations of blood electrolytes- sodium and chloride (Chapters 4 and 7). High concentrations of these electrolytes are implicated in the incidences of dehydration, edema, acidosis, poor bone development, and decreased humoral immunity (Oviedo-Rondón et al., 2001; Pohl et al., 2013). The antibiotic treatment was also found to increase plasma levels of AST (Chapter 5), a non-specific biomarker of liver health. At the molecular level, the AGP treatment downregulated the hepatic expression of the CLCA1 (chloride channel accessory 1) gene in male broiler chicken transcripts (Chapter 6). The downregulation of this gene is reported to enhance the pro-inflammatory cytokines associated with increased energy demands (Dietert et al., 2014; Mamber et al., 2020). These findings further justify the unsustainability of the continuous use of AGP in the poultry industry. This thesis also provided information on the effect of AGP on the broiler chicken ceca metagenome. The growthpromoting effect of AGP is shown to be exerted by differential enrichment of metabolic pathways related to the biosynthesis of essential nutrients (amino acids and vitamins especially) and utilization of carbon sources derived from both diet and the host (Chapter 9).

Furthermore, this thesis showed that the in ovo delivery of probiotics (Bacillus subtilis fermentation extract) was mostly comparable with the AGP treatments' ability to ensure gut microbiota homeostasis, enhanced gut morphology, and feed conversion efficiency (Chapters 3 and 4). The procedure for amniotic delivery of *Bacillus subtilis* fermentation extract was also successfully validated in two separate experiments, recording > 90% hatchability. An optimum dosage (10×10^6 CFU) of this probiotics product was also validated (Chapter 4). Additionally, in ovo delivery of FA (0.15 mg FA/egg) was also comparable to AGP in performance effect in this thesis (Chapter 7). In ovo delivery of FA (0.15 mg FA/egg) enhanced broiler chicken gut morphology and FCR in a similar capacity as the in-feed antibiotic treatment, with birds consuming less quantity of feed. However, the in ovo delivery of FA recorded a negative hatchability outcome. Furthermore, this thesis showed that maximum benefits are derivable from successive delivery of EO via in ovo and in-water route rather than either of these routes independently (Chapter 5). Successive delivery of a commercial EO blend (containing star anise, cinnamon, rosemary, and thyme) via in ovo and in-water route improved broiler chicken's antioxidant status (TAC: +400%) and blood biochemical profile (creatine kinase: -69.5% and AST: -23%). Also, successive delivery of EO via in in ovo and in-water route improves broiler chicken gut integrity under TN condition and show potential thermotolerance effect (a 3.5-fold significant upregulation of SLC1A1) under HS condition.

Based on the findings from this thesis, a few future research leads are recommended. To guarantee positive hatchability outcomes from the *in ovo* delivery of FA and EO, the use of liquid FA forms and EO formulated for *in ovo* delivery is advised. Subsequent in-feed supplementation of probiotics following *in ovo* delivery to stimulate significant post-hatch performance is another area that warrants further investigation. Also, considering the observed result on probiotics' role on immunoglobulin concentration, it would be worthwhile to investigate the effect of *in ovo* delivered probiotics under a disease challenge model. This thesis also provides preliminary evidence suggesting unique sex-controlled hepatic differential gene expression in broiler chickens offered *in ovo* EO treatments. *In vivo* studies that take sex into consideration are needed to validate

the results presented here fully. Finally, as most of the gut-promoting benefits derived from the successive delivery of EO via *in ovo* + in-water was under TN condition, further optimization of EO dosages via these routes to guarantee maximum benefits under HS condition is needed.

Finally, considering that questions and not answers are the basis of scientific inquiry, further hypotheses thus arise from this thesis. Based on the results of *in ovo* delivery of probiotics in this study and previously reported speculation that a single time point delivery of *in ovo* probiotics might not guarantee maximum growth performance gains, it is rational to inquire; are the benefits accruing from *in ovo* probiotics use transient? Additionally, it was reported that AGP upregulated the hepatic expression of SLC5A10 (solute carrier family 5-member 10) in male broiler chicken transcripts in this thesis. Slc5a10 (encoding SGLT5) is a mannose, fructose, and to a less degree, a glucose and galactose transporter (Wright, 2013; Chittka et al., 2018). Although glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) is considered the main sugar transporter relevant to liver function (Leturque et al., 2005). Fukuzawa et al. (2013) have reported exacerbated hepatic steatosis induced by diminished sodium-dependent fructose uptake in SGLT5-deficient mice. Based on this, it is necessary to ask, is the SLC5A10 gene a valid biomarker of liver health?

Conclusively, all *in ovo*-delivered bioactive substances were mostly comparable to the AGP treatment in their ability to optimize broiler chicken gut health and performance. However, the successive delivery of EO via *in ovo* and in-water routes seemed to afford the most gut-optimizing benefits. Nonetheless, the hatchability outcome of this delivery route would need to be optimized through further studies. While this thesis may not have provided answers to all our inquiry, it is hopeful that it has indeed provided sufficient background to justify that someday in the near future we might only need to "feed the egg and not the chick" our bioactive substances.

REFERENCES

- Aami-Azghadi, M., A. Golian, H. Kermanshahi, and M. Sedghi. 2010. Comparison of dietary supplementation with cumin essential oil and prebiotic fermacto on humoral immune response, blood metabolites and performance of broiler chickens. Glob. Vet. 4:380–387.
- Abd El-Latif, A. S., N. S. Saleh, T. S. Allam, and E. W. Ghazy. 2013. The effects of rosemary (Rosemarinus afficinalis) and garlic (Allium sativum) essential oils on performance, hematological, biochemical and immunological parameters of broiler chickens. Br. J. Poult. Sci. 2:16–24.
- Abdel-Ghaney, D. M., A. H. El-Far, K. M. Sadek, Y. S. El-Sayed, and M. A. Abdel-Latif. 2017. Impact of dietary thyme (Thymus vulgaris) on broiler chickens concerning immunity, antioxidant status, and performance. Alex. J. Vet. Sci. 55:169–179.
- Abdel-Halim, A. A., F. R. Mohamed, M. A. R. El-menawey, and H. B. Gharib. 2020. Impact of In-Ovo Injection of Folic Acid and Glucose on Hatchability, and Post-Hatching Performance of Broiler Chicken. World's Vet. J. 10:481–491.
- Abdelli, N., J. F. Pérez, E. Vilarrasa, I. C. Luna, D. Melo-Duran, M. D'Angelo, and D. Solà-Oriol.
 2020. Targeted-Release Organic Acids and Essential Oils Improve Performance and Digestive Function in Broilers under a Necrotic Enteritis Challenge. Animals. 10:259.
- Abdelnour, S. A., I. T. El-Ratel, S. I. Peris, A. A. El-Raghi, and S. F. Fouda. 2022. Effects of dietary thyme essential oil on blood haematobiochemical, redox status, immunological and reproductive variables of rabbit does exposed to high environmental temperature. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 21:51–61.
- Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska, M., and D. Szczerbińska. 2017. Use of essential oils in broiler chicken production-a review. Ann. Anim. Sci. 17:317–335.
- Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska, M., D. Szczerbińska, and S. Zych. 2021. The Use of Lavender (Lavandula angustifolia) Essential Oil as an Additive to Drinking Water for Broiler Chickens and Its In Vitro Reaction with Enrofloxacin. Animals. 11:1535.
- Adewole, D. 2020. Effect of dietary supplementation with coarse or extruded oat hulls on growth performance, blood biochemical parameters, ceca microbiota and short chain fatty acids in broiler chickens. Animals. 10:1429.

- Adewole, D. I., S. Oladokun, and E. Santin. 2021. Effect of organic acids-essential oils blend and oat fiber combination on broiler chicken growth performance, blood parameters, and intestinal health. Anim Nutr.7:1039-1051.
- Adewole, D., and F. Akinyemi. 2021. Gut microbiota dynamics, growth performance, and gut morphology in broiler chickens fed diets varying in energy density with or without bacitracin methylene disalicylate (Bmd). Microorganisms. 9:787.
- Adhikari, P. A., and W. K. Kim. 2017. Overview of prebiotics and probiotics: Focus on performance, gut health and immunity A review. Ann. Anim. Sci. 17:949–966.
- Adu-Asiamah, P., Y. Zhang, K. Amoah, Q. Y. Leng, J. H. Zheng, H. Yang, W. L. Zhang, and L. Zhang. 2021. Evaluation of physiological and molecular responses to acute heat stress in two chicken breeds. Animal. 15:100106.
- Aengwanich, W., and S. Simaraks. 2004. Pathology of heart, lung, liver and kidney in broilers under chronic heat stress. Songklanakarin J. Sci. Technol. 26:417–424.
- AFRC, R. F. 1989. Probiotics in man and animals. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 66:365–378.
- Afsharmanesh, M., and B. Sadaghi. 2014. Effects of dietary alternatives (probiotics, green tea powder, and Kombucha tea) as antimicrobial growth promoters on growth, ileal nutrient digestibility, blood parameters, and immune response of broiler chickens. Comp. Clin. Path. 23:717–724.
- Aggeletopoulou, I., C. Konstantakis, S. F. Assimakopoulos, and C. Triantos. 2019. The role of the gut microbiota in the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases. Microb Pathog. 137:103774.
- Ajuwon, K. M. 2016. Toward a better understanding of mechanisms of probiotics and prebiotics action in poultry species. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 25:277–283.
- Akbarian, A., A. Golian, A. Gilani, H. Kermanshahi, S. Zhaleh, A. Akhavan, S. De Smet, and J. Michiels. 2013. Effect of feeding citrus peel extracts on growth performance, serum components, and intestinal morphology of broilers exposed to high ambient temperature during the finisher phase. Livest. Sci. 157:490–497.

- Akbarian, A., A. Golian, H. Kermanshahi, S. De Smet, and J. Michiels. 2015. Antioxidant enzyme activities, plasma hormone levels and serum metabolites of finishing broiler chickens reared under high ambient temperature and fed lemon and orange peel extracts and Curcuma xanthorrhiza essential oil. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 99:150–162.
- Akinyemi, F. T., and D. I. Adewole. 2022a. Effect of dietary folic acid and energy density on immune response, gut morphology, and oxidative status in blood and breast muscle of broiler chickens. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 102:243–254.
- Akinyemi, F., and D. Adewole. 2022b. Effects of brown seaweed products on growth performance, plasma biochemistry, immune response, and antioxidant capacity of broiler chickens challenged with heat stress. Poult. Sci. 101:102215.
- Alagawany, M., M. E. Abd El-Hack, M. R. Farag, H. M. Shaheen, M. A. Abdel-Latif, A. E. Noreldin, and A. K. Patra. 2018. The usefulness of oregano and its derivatives in poultry nutrition. World's Poult. Sci. J. 74:463–474.
- Alagawany, M., S. S. Elnesr, M. R. Farag, R. Tiwari, M. I. Yatoo, K. Karthik, I. Michalak, and K. Dhama. 2021. Nutritional significance of amino acids, vitamins and minerals as nutraceuticals in poultry production and health–a comprehensive review. Vet. Q. 41:1–29.
- Alcicek, A., M. Bozkurt, and M. Çabuk. 2004. The effect of a mixture of herbal essential oils, an organic acid or a probiotic on broiler performance. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 34:217–222.
- Aleksandrzak-Piekarczyk, T., W. Puzia, J. Żylińska, J. Cieśla, K. A. Gulewicz, J. K. Bardowski, and R. K. Górecki. 2019. Potential of Lactobacillus plantarum IBB3036 and Lactobacillus salivarius IBB3154 to persistence in chicken after *in ovo* delivery. Microbiologyopen. 8:e00620.
- Al-Fataftah, A. R., and A. Abdelqader. 2014. Effects of dietary Bacillus subtilis on heat-stressed broilers performance, intestinal morphology and microflora composition. Anim Feed Sci Technol.198:279–285.
- Alhajj, M. S., M. Alhobaishi, A. R. Nabi, and S. I. Al-Mufarrej. 2017. Effect of Chinese star anise (Illicium verum Hook. f) on the blood biochemical parameters and antioxidant status in the serum and tissues of broiler chickens. Agric. Sci 27:15–23.

- Alhenaky, A., A. Abdelqader, M. Abuajamieh, and A. R. Al-Fataftah. 2017. The effect of heat stress on intestinal integrity and Salmonella invasion in broiler birds. J. Therm. Biol. 70:9– 14.
- Al-hijazeen, M. 2021. The combination effect of adding rosemary extract and oregano essential oil on ground chicken meat quality. Food Sci. Technol. 42:e57120.
- Ali, M. N., M. S. Hassan, and F. A. Abd El-Ghany. 2007. Effect of strain, type of natural antioxidant and sulphate ion on productive, physiological and hatching performance of native laying hens. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 6:539–554.
- Aliakbarpour, H. R., M. Chamani, G. Rahimi, A. A. Sadeghi, and D. Qujeq. 2012. The *Bacillus subtilis* and lactic acid bacteria probiotics influences intestinal mucin gene expression, histomorphology and growth performance in broilers. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 25:1285–1293.
- Alizadeh, M., B. Shojadoost, J. Astill, K. Taha-Abdelaziz, S. H. Karimi, J. Bavananthasivam, R. R. Kulkarni, and S. Sharif. 2020. Effects of *in ovo* Inoculation of Multi-Strain Lactobacilli on Cytokine Gene Expression and Antibody-Mediated Immune Responses in Chickens. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:105.
- Al-Kassie, G. A. M. 2008. The effect of anise and rosemary on broiler performance. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 7:243–245.
- Al-Kassie, G. A. M. 2009. Influence of two plant extracts derived from thyme and cinnamon on broiler performance. Pak. Vet. J. 29:169–173.
- Alp, M., M. Midilli, N. Kocabağlı, H. Yılmaz, N. Turan, A. Gargılı, and N. Acar. 2012. The effects of dietary oregano essential oil on live performance, carcass yield, serum immunoglobulin G level, and oocyst count in broilers. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 21:630–636.
- Amad, A. A., K. Männer, K. R. Wendler, K. Neumann, and J. Zentek. 2011. Effects of a phytogenic feed additive on growth performance and ileal nutrient digestibility in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 90:2811–2816.
- Amir, A., D. McDonald, J. A. Navas-Molina, E. Kopylova, J. T. Morton, Z. Zech Xu, E. P. Kightley, L. R. Thompson, E. R. Hyde, A. Gonzalez, R. Knight. 2017. Deblur Rapidly Resolves Single-Nucleotide Community Sequence Patterns. MSystems. 2:e00191-16.

- Anand, P., S. V. Kumar, K. Ravi, and T. Simmi. 2021. Differential gene expression in duodenum of colored broiler chicken divergently selected for residual feed intake. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 53:1-10.
- Anandan, R., D. Dharumadurai, and G. P. Manogaran. 2016. An introduction to actinobacteria. In
 D. Dhanasekaran, & Y. Jiang (Eds.), Actinobacteria Basics and Biotechnological
 Applications. IntechOpen.
- Anders, S., P. T. Pyl, and W. Huber. 2015. HTSeq—A Python framework to work with high-throughput sequencing data. Bioinformatics. 31:166–169.
- Andreatti Filho, R. L., A. S. Okamoto, E. T. Lima, P. R. Gratão, and S. R. DelBem. 2006. Effect of cecal microbiota and Lactobacillus salivarius inoculated *in ovo* in birds challenged with Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis. Arq. Bras. Med. Vet. e Zootec. 58:467–471.
- Andrée, B., A. Fleige, H. -H. Arnold, and T. Brand. 2002. Mouse Pop1 Is Required for Muscle Regeneration in Adult Skeletal Muscle. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:1504–1512.
- Angwech, H., S. Tavaniello, A. Ongwech, A. N. Kaaya, and G. Maiorano. 2019. Efficacy of *in ovo* delivered prebiotics on growth performance, meat quality and gut health of kuroiler chickens in the face of a natural coccidiosis challenge. Animals 9:1–13.
- Annett, C. B., J. R. Viste, M. Chirino-Trejo, H. L. Classen, D. M. Middleton, and E. Simko. 2002. Necrotic enteritis: effect of barley, wheat and corn diets on proliferation of Clostridium perfringens type A. Avian Pathol. 31:598–601.
- Ao, Z., A. Kocher, and M. Choct. 2012. Effects of dietary additives and early feeding on performance, gut development and immune status of broiler chickens challenged with clostridium perfringens. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 25:541–551.
- Ao, Z., and M. Choct. 2013. Oligosaccharides affect performance and gut development of broiler chickens. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 26:116–121.
- Applegate, T. J., V. Klose, T. Steiner, A. Ganner, and G. Schatzmayr. 2010. Probiotics and phytogenics for poultry: Myth or reality? J. Appl. Poult. Res. 19:194–210.

- Arreguin-Nava, M. A., B. D. Graham, B. Adhikari, M. Agnello, C. M. Selby, X. Hernandez-Velasco, C. N. Vuong, B. Solis-Cruz, D. Hernandez-Patlan, J. D. Latorre, G. Tellez, B. M. Hargis, and G. Tellez-Isaias. 2019. Evaluation of in ovo Bacillus spp. based probiotic administration on horizontal transmission of virulent Escherichia coli in neonatal broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 98:6483–6491.
- Asai, T., K. Harada, K. Ishihara, A. Kojima, T. Sameshima, Y. Tamura, and T. Takahashi. 2007. Association of antimicrobial resistance in Campylobacter isolated from food-producing animals with antimicrobial use on farms. Jpn. J. Infect. Dis. 60:290–294.
- Ashraf, S., H. Zaneb, S. Masood, S. Yousaf, M. M. Usman, H. F. Rehman, A. Sikandar, and H. Rehman. 2017. Influence of β-galacto-oligosaccharide on growth performance and components of intestinal barrier in broilers during heat stress. South African J. Anim. Sci. 47:616–625.
- Asif, M. 2016. A review on adverse effects of overdose vitamins on human health. Persian J. Med. Sci. 3:44-61.
- Aslam, M. A., E. İpek, R. Riaz, Ş. Y. Özsoy, W. Shahzad, and Özay Güleş. 2021. Exposure of broiler chickens to chronic heat stress increases the severity of white striping on the pectoralis major muscle. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 53:1-10.
- Attia, Y. A., A. A. Bakhashwain, and N. K. Bertu. 2017. Thyme oil (Thyme vulgaris L.) as a natural growth promoter for broiler chickens reared under hot climate. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 16:275–282.
- Avakian, A., P. S. Wakenell, T. Bryan, J. L. Schaeffer, C. J. Williams, and C. E. Whitfill. 2002. *In ovo* administration of Marek's disease vaccine: Importance of vaccine deposition site in the fertile egg. Proc. 51st Western Poultry Disease Conf., Puerto Vallarta, Mexico. Veterinary Software Publishing Inc., O'Fallon, IL.
- Avila-Ramos, F., A. Pro-Martínez, E. Sosa-Montes, J. M. Cuca-García, C. M. Becerril-Pérez, J. L. Figueroa-Velasco, and C. Narciso-Gaytán. 2012. Effects of dietary oregano essential oil and vitamin E on the lipid oxidation stability of cooked chicken breast meat. Poult. Sci. 91:505–511.

- Awad, W. A., K. Ghareeb, and J. Böhm. 2010. Effect of addition of a probiotic micro-organism to broiler diet on intestinal mucosal architecture and electrophysiological parameters. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 94:486–494.
- Awad, W. A., K. Ghareeb, S. Abdel-Raheem, and J. Böhm. 2009. Effects of dietary inclusion of probiotics and synbiotic on growth performance, organ weights, and intestinal histomorphology of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 88:49–55.
- Awad, W., K. Ghareeb, and J. Böhm. 2008. Intestinal structure and function of broiler chickens on diets supplemented with a synbiotic containing Enterococcus faecium and oligosaccharides. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 9:2205–2216.
- Aydın, Ö. D., and G. Yıldız. 2020. Using of Essential Oil Mixture in Quail Breeders (Coturnix Coturnix Japonica) for Improving Cecal Short-Chain Fatty Acid Concentrations. Turk. J. Agric.-Food Sci. Technol. 8:2021–2024.
- Azad, M. A. K., M. Kikusato, T. Maekawa, H. Shirakawa, and M. Toyomizu. 2010. Metabolic characteristics and oxidative damage to skeletal muscle in broiler chickens exposed to chronic heat stress. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. - A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 155:401–406.
- Babu, P. S., S. Prabuseenivasan, and S. Ignacimuthu. 2007. Cinnamaldehyde—A potential antidiabetic agent. Phytomedicine. 14:15–22.
- Bagheri, S., H. Janmohammadi, R. Maleki, A. Ostadrahimi, and R. Kianfar. 2019. Laying hen performance, egg quality improved and yolk 5-methyltetrahydrofolate content increased by dietary supplementation of folic acid. Anim. Nutr. 5:130–133.
- Bai, K., Q. Huang, J. Zhang, J. He, L. Zhang, and T. Wang. 2017. Supplemental effects of probiotic *Bacillus subtilis* fmbJ on growth performance, antioxidant capacity, and meat quality of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 96:74–82.
- Bai, S. P., A. M. Wu, X. M. Ding, Y. Lei, J. Bai, K. Y. Zhang, and J. S. Chio. 2013. Effects of probiotic-supplemented diets on growth performance and intestinal immune characteristics of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 92:663–670.
- Bailey, L. B., and J. F. Gregory. 1999. Folate metabolism and requirements. J. Nutr. 129:779–782.

- Baillat, D., M. -A. Hakimi, A. M. Näär, A. Shilatifard. N. Cooch, and R. Shiekhattar. 2005. Integrator, a Multiprotein Mediator of Small Nuclear RNA Processing, Associates with the C-Terminal Repeat of RNA Polymerase II. Cell. 123:265–276.
- Bajagai Y. S., A. V. Klieve, P. J. Dart and W. L. Bryden. 2016. Probiotics in animal nutrition -Production, impact and regulation. Pages 1-89. Animal Production and Health Div. FAO, Rome (Italy).
- Bajagai, Y., A. Radovanovic, J. Steel, D. Stanley. 2021. The Effects of Continual Consumption of Origanum Vulgare on Liver Transcriptomics. Animals. 11:398.
- Bakyaraj, S., S. K. Bhanja, S. Majumdar, and B. Dash. 2012. Modulation of post-hatch growth and immunity through *in ovo* supplemented nutrients in broiler chickens. J. Sci. Food Agric. 92:313–320.
- Balla, T. 2013. Phosphoinositides: Tiny Lipids with Giant Impact on Cell Regulation. Physiol. Rev. 93:1019–1137.
- Banday, M. T., S. Adil, A. A. Khan, and M. Untoo. 2015. A study on efficacy of fumaric acid supplementation in diet of broiler chicken. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 14:589–594.
- Banerjee, S., A. Sar, A. Misra, S. Pal, A. Chakraborty and B. Dam. 2018. Increased productivity in poultry birds by sub-lethal dose of antibiotics is arbitrated by selective enrichment of gut microbiota, particularly short-chain fatty acid producers. Microbiology. 164:142–153.
- Baratta, M. T., H. D. Dorman, S. G. Deans, A. C. Figueiredo, J. G. Barroso, and G. Ruberto. 1998. Antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of some commercial essential oils. Flavour Fragr. J. 13:235–244.
- Barbarestani, S. Y., V. Jazi, H. Mohebodini, A. Ashayerizadeh, A. Shabani, and M. Toghyani. 2020. Effects of dietary lavender essential oil on growth performance, intestinal function, and antioxidant status of broiler chickens. Livest. Sci. 233:103958.
- Baron, S., E. Jouy, E. Larvor, F. Eono, S. Bougeard, and I. Kempf. 2014. Impact of thirdgeneration-cephalosporin administration in hatcheries on fecal Escherichia coli antimicrobial resistance in broilers and layers. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58:5428–5434.

- Barroeta, A. C., M. D. Baucells, S. Calsamiglia, R. Casals, R. C. Briz, R. Davin, G. Gonzalez, J. M. Hernandez, B. Isabel, C. L. Bote, I. a Rey, M. Rodriguez, J. Sanz, and G. Weber. 2012. Optimum Vitamin Nutrition. 5M Publishing: Sheffield, UK.
- Basaga, H., C. Tekkaya, and F. Acikel. 1997. Antioxidative and free radical scavenging properties of rosemary extract. LWT-Food Sci. Technol. 30:105–108.
- Basmacioğlu Malayoğlu, H., Ş. Baysal, Z. Misirlioğlu, M. Polat, H. Yilmaz, and N. Turan. 2010. Effects of oregano essential oil with or without feed enzymes on growth performance, digestive enzyme, nutrient digestibility, lipid metabolism and immune response of broilers fed on wheat–soybean meal diets. Br. Poult. Sci. 51:67–80.
- Basmacioğlu, H., Ö. Tokuşoğlu, and M. Ergül. 2004. The effect of oregano and rosemary essential oils or alpha-tocopheryl acetate on performance and lipid oxidation of meat enriched with n-3 PUFA'S in broilers. South African J. Anim. Sci. 34:197–210.
- Bassolé, I. H. N., and H. R. Juliani. 2012. Essential oils in combination and their antimicrobial properties. Molecules. 17:3989–4006.
- Bastos, M. S., A. P. Del Vesco, T. P. Santana, T. S. Santos, G. M. De Oliveira Junior, R. P. M. Fernandes, L. T. Barbosa, and E. Gasparino. 2017. The role of cinnamon as a modulator of the expression of genes related to antioxidant activity and lipid metabolism of laying quails. PLoS ONE. 12:e0189619.
- Bauer, B. W., S. Gangadoo, Y. S. Bajagai, T. T. H. Van, R. J. Moore, and D. Stanley. 2019. Oregano powder reduces Streptococcus and increases SCFA concentration in a mixed bacterial culture assay. PLoS One 14:e0216853.
- Beck, C. N., C. D. McDaniel, K. G. S. Wamsley, and A. S. Kiess. 2019. The potential for inoculating Lactobacillus animalis and Enterococcus faecium alone or in combination using commercial in ovo technology without negatively impacting hatch and post-hatch performance. Poult. Sci. 98:7050–7062.
- Beckford, R. C., L. E. Ellestad, M. Proszkowiec-Weglarz, L. Farley, K. Brady, R. Angel, H.-C. Liu, and T. E. Porter. 2020. Effects of heat stress on performance, blood chemistry, and hypothalamic and pituitary mRNA expression in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 99:6317–6325.

- Bednarczyk, M., K. Stadnicka, I. Kozłowska, C. Abiuso, S. Tavaniello, A. Dankowiakowska, A. Sławińska, and G. Maiorano. 2016. Influence of different prebiotics and mode of their administration on broiler chicken performance. Animal 10:1271–1279.
- Bednarczyk, M., M. Urbanowski, P. Gulewicz, K. Kasperczyk, G. Maiorano, and T. Szwaczkowski. 2011. Field and in vitro study on prebiotic effect of raffinose family oligosaccharides in chickens. Bull Vet Inst Pulawy. 55:465-469.
- Bekhet, M. 2013. The protective effects of vitamin C and folic acid against methylmercury teratogenicity in chick embryo. J. Cell Anim. Biol. 7:77–84.
- Belhadj Slimen, I., T. Najar, A. Ghram, and M. Abdrrabba. 2016. Heat stress effects on livestock: Molecular, cellular and metabolic aspects, a review. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 100:401–412.
- Bello, A., W. Zhai, P. D. Gerard, and E. D. Peebles. 2013. Effects of the commercial in ovo injection of 25-hydroxycholecalciferol on the hatchability and hatching chick quality of broilers. Poult. Sci. 92:2551–2559.
- Bernardeau, M., M. J. Lehtinen, S. D. Forssten, and P. Nurminen. 2017. Importance of the gastrointestinal life cycle of Bacillus for probiotic functionality. J. Food Sci. Technol. 54:2570–2584.
- Berrocoso, J. D., R. Kida, A. K. Singh, Y. S. Kim, and R. Jha. 2017. Effect of in ovo injection of raffinose on growth performance and gut health parameters of broiler chicken. Poult. Sci. 96:1573–1580.
- Bhanja, S. K., A. Goel, N. Pandey, M. Mehra, S. Majumdar, and A. B. Mandal. 2015. In ovo carbohydrate supplementation modulates growth and immunity-related genes in broiler chickens. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 99:163–173.
- Bhattacharyya, A., S. Majumdar, S. K. Bhanja, A. B. Mandal, and M. Kadam. 2018. Effect of maternal dietary manipulation and *in ovo* injection of nutrients on the hatchability indices, post-hatch growth, feed consumption, feed conversion ratio and immunocompetence traits of turkey poults. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 46:287–294.
- Biesalski, H. K. 2016. Nutrition meets the microbiome: micronutrients and the microbiota. Ann N Y Acad Sci. Blackwell Publishing Inc.1372:53–64.

- Bilia, A. R., C. Guccione, B. Isacchi, C. Righeschi, F. Firenzuoli, and M. C. Bergonzi. 2014. Essential oils loaded in nanosystems: A developing strategy for a successful therapeutic approach. Evidence-Based Complement. Altern. Med. 2014:651593.
- Binda, C., L. R. Lopetuso, G. Rizzatti , G. Gibiino, V. Cennamo, and A. Gasbarrini. 2018. Actinobacteria: A relevant minority for the maintenance of gut homeostasis. Dig Liver Dis. Elsevier B.V. 50:421–428.
- Bityutskyy, V., S. Tsekhmistrenko, O. Tsekhmistrenko, O. Melnychenko, and V. Kharchyshyn. 2019. Effects of different dietary selenium sources including probiotics mixture on growth performance, feed utilization and serum biochemical profile of quails. Mod. Dev. Paths Agric. Prod. Trends Innov. 623–632.
- Blankenship, K., A. Gilley, A. Piekarski, S. Orlowski, E. Greene, W. Bottje, N. Anthony, and S. Dridi. 2016. Differential expression of feeding-related hypothalamic neuropeptides in the first generation of quails divergently selected for low or high feed efficiency. Neuropeptides. 58:31–40.
- Blas, J., and C. G. Scanes. 2015. Sturkie's avian physiology.
- Bogucka, J., A. Dankowiakowska, G. Elminowska-Wenda, A. Sobolewska, A. Szczerba, and M. Bednarczyk. 2016. Effects of prebiotics and synbiotics delivered in ovo on broiler small intestine histomorphology during the first days after hatching. Folia Biol. 64:131–143.
- Bogusławska-Tryk, M., E. Ziółkowska, A. Sławińska, M. Siwek, and J. Bogucka. 2021. Modulation of intestinal histology by probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics delivered *in ovo* in distinct chicken genotypes. Animals 11:3293.
- Boles, M. K., B. M. Wilkinson, L. G. Wilming, B. Liu, F. J. Probst, J. Harrow, D. Grafham, K. E. Hentges, L. P. Woodward, A. Maxwell, ... and M. J. Justice. 2009. Discovery of Candidate Disease Genes in ENU-Induced Mouse Mutants by Large-Scale Sequencing, Including a Splice-Site Mutation in Nucleoredoxin. PLoS Genet. 5:e1000759.
- Bolger, A. M., M. Lohse, and B. Usadel. 2014. Trimmomatic: A flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. Bioinformatics. 30:2114–2120.

- Bolukbasi, S. C. 2008. The effect of feeding thyme, sage and rosemary oil on laying hen performance, cholesterol and some proteins ratio of egg yolk and Escherichia coli count in feces. Arch. Geflugelkd. 72:231–237.
- Bolyen, E., J. R. Rideout, M. R. Dillon, N. A. Bokulich, C. C. Abnet, G. A. Al-Ghalith, H. Alexander, E. J. Alm, M. Arumugam, F. Asnicar, Y. Bai, J. E. Bisanz, K. Bittinger, A. Brejnrod, C. J. Brislawn, C. T. Brown, B. J. Callahan, A. M. Caraballo-Rodríguez, J. Chase, E. K. Cope, ... J. G. Caporaso. 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nat. Biotechnol. 37:852–857.
- Bonnet, L., E. Karkeni, C. Couturier, J. Astier, J. Dalifard, C. Defoort, L. Svilar, J. -C. Martin, F. Tourniaire, and J. -F. Landrier. 2018. Gene Expression Pattern in Response to Cholecalciferol Supplementation Highlights Cubilin as a Major Protein of 25(OH)D Uptake in Adipocytes and Male Mice White Adipose Tissue. Endocrinology. 159:957–966.
- Bonnet, S., P. A. Geraert, M. Lessire, B. Carre, and S. Guillaumin. 1997. Effect of high ambient temperature on feed digestibility in broilers. Poult. Sci. 76:857–863.
- Borda-Molina, D., J. Seifert, and A. Camarinha-Silva. 2018. Current Perspectives of the Chicken Gastrointestinal Tract and Its Microbiome. Comput Struct Biotechnol J. 16:131–139.
- Borges, S. A., A. V. F. Da Silva, and A. Maiorka. 2007. Acid-base balance in broilers. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 63:73–81.
- Borges, S. A., A. V. Fischer Da Silva, A. Majorka, D. M. Hooge, and K. R. Cummings. 2004. Physiological responses of broiler chickens to heat stress and dietary electrolyte balance (sodium plus potassium minus chloride, milliequivalents per kilogram). Poult. Sci. 83:1551– 1558.
- Bortoluzzi, C., A. A. Pedroso, J. J. Mallo, M. Puyalto, W. K. Kim, and T. J. Applegate. 2017. Sodium butyrate improved performance while modulating the cecal microbiota and regulating the expression of intestinal immune-related genes of broiler chickens. Poult Sci. 96:3981–3993.
- Botsoglou, N. A., E. Christaki, P. Florou-Paneri, I. Giannenas, G. Papageorgiou, and A. B. Spais. 2004. The effect of a mixture of herbal essential oils or α-tocopheryl acetate on performance parameters and oxidation of body lipid in broilers. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 34:52–61.

- Botsoglou, N. A., P. Florou-Paneri, E. Christaki, D. J. Fletouris, and A. B. Spais. 2002. Effect of dietary oregano essential oil on performance of chickens and on iron-induced lipid oxidation of breast, thigh and abdominal fat tissues. Br. Poult. Sci. 43:223–230.
- Bourgey, M., R. Dali, R. Eveleigh, K. C. Chen, L. Letourneau, J. Fillon, M. Michaud, M. Caron, J. Sandoval, F. Lefebvre, and G. Leveque. 2019. GenPipes: an open-source framework for distributed and scalable genomic analyses. Gigascience 8:giz037.
- Boushey, C. J., S. A. A. Beresford, G. S. Omenn, and A. G. Motulsky. 1995. A Quantitative Assessment of Plasma Homocysteine as a Risk Factor for Vascular Disease: Probable Benefits of Increasing Folic Acid Intakes. JAMA J. Am. Med. Assoc. 274:1049–1057.
- Bozkurt, M., G. Ege, N. Aysul, H. Akşit, A. E. Tüzün, K. Küçükyılmaz, A. E. Borum, M. Uygun,
 D. Akşit, and S. Aypak. 2016. Effect of anticoccidial monensin with oregano essential oil on broilers experimentally challenged with mixed Eimeria spp. Poult. Sci. 95:1858–1868.
- Bozkurt, M., K. Küçükyilmaz, M. Pamukçu, M. Çabuk, A. Alçiçek, and A. U. Çatli. 2012a. Longterm effects of dietary supplementation with an essential oil mixture on the growth and laying performance of two-layer strains. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 11:e5.
- Bozkurt, M., Ö. Tokuşoğlu, K. Küçükyilmaz, H. Akşit, M. Çabuk, A. Uğur Çatli, K. Seyrek, and M. Çinar. 2012b. Effects of dietary mannan oligosaccharide and herbal essential oil blend supplementation on performance and oxidative stability of eggs and liver in laying hens. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 11:e41.
- Bravo, D., V. Pirgozliev, and S. P. Rose. 2014. A mixture of carvacrol, cinnamaldehyde, and capsicum oleoresin improves energy utilization and growth performance of broiler chickens fed maize-based diet. J. Anim. Sci. 92:1531–1536.
- Brenes, A., and E. Roura. 2010. Essential oils in poultry nutrition: Main effects and modes of action. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 158:1–14.
- Briskey, D., M. Heritage, L. A. Jaskowski, J. Peake, G. Gobe, V. N. Subramaniam, D. Crawford,C. Campbell, and L. Vitetta. 2016. Probiotics modify tight-junction proteins in an animal model of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Therap. Adv. Gastroenterol. 9:463–472.

- Burkholder, K. M., K. L. Thompson, M. E. Einstein, T. Applegate, and J. A. Patterson. 2008. Influence of Stressors on Normal Intestinal Microbiota, Intestinal Morphology, and Susceptibility to Salmonella Enteritidis Colonization in Broilers. Poult. Sci. 87:1734–1741.
- Butaye, P., L. A. Devriese, and F. Haesebrouck. 2003. Antimicrobial Growth Promoters Used in Animal Feed: Effects of Less Well-Known Antibiotics on Gram-Positive Bacteria. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 16:175–188.
- Büyükkılıç Beyzi, S., Y. Konca, M. Kaliber, S. Sarıözkan, B. Kocaoğlu Güçlü, E. Aktuğ, and M. Şentürk. 2020. Effects of thyme essential oil and A, C, and E vitamin combinations to diets on performance, egg quality, MDA, and 8-OHdG of laying hens under heat stress. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 48:126–132.
- Buzala, M., M. B. Ponczek, A. Slomka, A. Roslewska, B. Janicki, E. Zekanowska, and M. Bednarczyk. 2016. A pilot study of tissue factor-tissue factor pathway inhibitor axis and other selected coagulation parameters in broiler chickens administered in ovo with selected prebiotics. Folia Biol. 64:213–224.
- Byerly, T. C., and M. W. Olsen. 1937. Egg turning, pipping position and malpositions. Poult. Sci. 16:371–373.
- Callahan, B. J., P. J. Mcmurdie, M. J. Rosen, A. W. Han, A. J. A. Johnson, and S. P. Holmes. 2016. dada2: high-resolution sample inference from illumina amplicon data. Nat. Methods 13:581–583.
- Canadian Council on Animal Care. (CCAC). 2009. Guide to the care and use of experimental animals. Accessed Nov. 2020. https://www.ccac.ca/en/CCAC_Programs/Guidelines_Policies/GUIDES/ENGLISH/toc_v1. htm.
- Cao, C., V. S. Chowdhury, M. A. Cline, and E. R. Gilbert. 2021. The Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis During Heat Stress in Chickens: A Review. Front Physiol. Frontiers Media S.A. 12:1850.
- Cao, G. T., X. F. Zeng, A. G. Chen, L. Zhou, L. Zhang, Y. P. Xiao, and C. M. Yang. 2013. Effects of a probiotics, Enterococcus faecium, on growth performance, intestinal morphology, immune response, and cecal microflora in broiler chickens challenged with Escherichia coli K88. Poult. Sci. 92:2949–2955.

- Capcarova, M., J. Weiss, C. Hrncar, A. Kolesarova, and G. Pal. 2010. Effect of Lactobacillus fermentum and Enterococcus faecium strains on internal milieu, antioxidant status and body weight of broiler chickens. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 94:e215-e224.
- Capcarova, M., P. Hascik, A. Kolesarova, M. Kacaniova, M. Mihok, and G. Pal. 2011. The effect of selected microbial strains on internal milieu of broiler chickens after peroral administration. Res. Vet. Sci. 91:132–137.
- Carrasco, J. M. D., N. A. Casanova, and M. E. Miyakawa. 2019. Microbiota, gut health and chicken productivity: What is the connection? Microorganisms. 7:374.
- Cartman, S. T., R. M. La Ragione, and M. J. Woodward. 2008. *Bacillus subtilis* spores germinate in the chicken gastrointestinal tract. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74:5254–5258.
- Case, G. L., L. He, H. Mo, and C. E. Elson. 1995. Induction of geranyl pyrophosphate pyrophosphatase activity by cholesterol-suppressive isoprenoids. Lipids. 30:357–359.
- Castañeda, C. D., D. K. Dittoe, K. G. S. Wamsley, C. D. McDaniel, A. Blanch, D. Sandvang, and A. S. Kiess. 2020. *In ovo* inoculation of an Enterococcus faecium–based product to enhance broiler hatchability, live performance, and intestinal morphology. Poult. Sci. 99:6163–6172.
- Castañeda, C. D., J. N. Gamble, K. G. S. Wamsley, C. D. McDaniel, and A. S. Kiess. 2021. *In ovo* administration of *Bacillus subtilis* serotypes effect hatchability, 21-day performance, and intestinal microflora. Poult. Sci. 100:101125.
- Castanon, J. I. R. 2007. History of the Use of Antibiotic as Growth Promoters in European Poultry Feeds. Poult. Sci. 86:2466–2471.
- Cavazzoni, V., A. Adami, and C. Castrovilli. 1998. Performance of broiler chickens supplemented with Bacillus coagulons as probiotic. Br. Poult. Sci. 39:526–529.
- Çelikbilek, A. 2014. Effects of a combination of dietary organic acid blend and oregano essential oil (Lunacompacid® Herbex Dry) on the performance and Clostridium perfringens proliferation in the ileum of broiler chickens. J. Biol. Environ. Sci. 8:61–69.
- Chand, N., S. Naz, Z. Rehman, and R. U. Khan. 2018. Blood biochemical profile of four fastgrowing broiler strains under high ambient temperature. Appl. Biol. Chem. 61:273–279.

- Chang, C. H., P. Y. Teng, T. T. Lee, and B. Yu. 2020. Effects of multi-strain probiotic supplementation on intestinal microbiota, tight junctions, and inflammation in young broiler chickens challenged with Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 33:1797–1808.
- Chattopadhyay, M. K. 2014. Use of antibiotics as feed additives: A burning question. Front. Microbiol. 5:334.
- Chen, H. -L., X. -Y. Zhao, G. -X. Zhao, H. -B. Huang, H. -R.; Li, C. -W. Shi, W. -C. Yang, Y. -L. Jiang, J. -Z. Wang, L. -P. Ye, Q. Zhao, C. -F. Wang and G. -L. Yang. 2020. Dissection of the cecal microbial community in chickens after Eimeria tenella infection. Parasites Vectors. 13:1-15.
- Chen, K. L., W. L. Kho, S. H. You, R. H. Yeh, S. W. Tang, and C. W. Hsieh. 2009. Effects of Bacillus subtilis var. natto and Saccharomyces cerevisiae mixed fermented feed on the enhanced growth performance of broilers. Poult. Sci. 88:309–315.
- Chen, Q., Z. Wang, D. Shao, and S. Shi. 2022. Effects of heat stress on the intestinal microorganisms in poultry and its nutritional regulations: a review. Worlds Poult Sci J. 78:1– 18.
- Chen, Z. Y., J. K. Gan, X. Xiao, L. Y. Jiang, X. Q. Zhang, and Q. Bin Luo. 2013. The association of SNPs in Hsp90β gene 5' flanking region with thermo tolerance traits and tissue mRNA expression in two chicken breeds. Mol. Biol. Rep. 40:5295–5306.
- Cheng, G., H. Hao, S. Xie, X. Wang, M. Dai, L. Huang, and Z. Yuan. 2014. Antibiotic alternatives: The substitution of antibiotics in animal husbandry? Front. Microbiol. 5:217.
- Cheng, Y., X. Gu, P. Bednarczyk, F. Wiedemann, G. Haddad, and D. Siemen. 2008. Hypoxia Increases Activity of the BK-Channel in the Inner Mitochondrial Membrane and Reduces Activity of the Permeability Transition Pore. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 22:127–136.
- Chiang, G., W. Q. Lu, X. S. Piao, J. K. Hu, L. M. Gong, and P. A. Thacker. 2009. Effects of feeding solid-state fermented rapeseed meal on performance, nutrient digestibility, intestinal ecology and intestinal morphology of broiler chickens. Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 23:263–271.

- Chicken Farmers of Canada. Antibiotics. Accessed July 2021. https://www.chickenfarmers.ca/antibiotics/.
- Chittka, D., B. Banas, L. Lennartz, F. J. Putz, K. Eidenschink, S. Beck, T. Stempfl, C. Moehle, S. Reichelt-Wurm, and M. C. Banas. 2018. Long-term expression of glomerular genes in diabetic nephropathy. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 33:1533–1544.
- Cho, I., S. Yamanishi, L. Cox, B. A. Methé, J. Zavadil, K. Li, Z. Gao, D. Mahana, K. Raju, I. Teitler, H. Li, A. V. Alekseyenko, and M. J. Blaser. 2012. Antibiotics in early life alter the murine colonic microbiome and adiposity. Nature 488:621–626.
- Cho, J., H. Kim, and I. Kim. 2014. Effects of phytogenic feed additive on growth performance, digestibility, blood metabolites, intestinal microbiota, meat color and relative organ weight after oral challenge with Clostridium perfringens in broilers. Livest. Sci. 160:82–88.
- Choct, M. 2009. Managing gut health through nutrition. Br. Poult. Sci. 50:9–15.
- Choi, J. H., G. B. Kim, and C. J. Cha. 2014. Spatial heterogeneity and stability of bacterial community in the gastrointestinal tracts of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 93:1942–1950.
- Choi, J. -H., K. Lee, D. -W. Kim, D. Y. Kil, G. -B. Kim, and C. -J. Cha. 2018. Influence of dietary avilamycin on ileal and cecal microbiota in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 97:970–979.
- Choi, K. Y., T. K. Lee, and W. J. Sul. 2015. Metagenomic analysis of chicken gut microbiota for improving metabolism and health of chickens - a review. Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 28:1217–1225.
- Choi, S. W., and J. B. Mason. 2000. Folate and carcinogenesis: An integrated scheme. J. Nutr. 130:129–132.
- Chowdhury, S., G. P. Mandal, A. K. Patra, P. Kumar, I. Samanta, S. Pradhan, A. K. Samanta. 2018. Different essential oils in diets of broiler chickens: 2. Gut microbes and morphology, immune response, and some blood profile and antioxidant enzymes. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 236:39–47.
- Christaki, E. V., M. Bonos, and P. C. Florou-Paneri. 2011. Comparative evaluation of dietary Oregano, anise and olive leaves in laying Japanese quails. Rev. Bras. Cienc. Avic. 13:97– 101.

- Christensen, E. I., and H. Birn. 2002. Megalin and cubilin: Multifunctional endocytic receptors. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 3:258–267.
- Chuang, W. Y., C. L. Liu, C. F. Tsai, W. C. Lin, S. C. Chang, H. Der Shih, Y. M. Shy, and T. T. Lee. 2020. Evaluation of waste mushroom compost as a feed supplement and its effects on the fat metabolism and antioxidant capacity of broilers. Animals 10:445.
- Cisek, A. A., and M. Binek. 2014. Chicken intestinal microbiota function with a special emphasis on the role of probiotics bacteria. Pol. J. Vet. Sci. 17:385–394.
- Clavel, T., P. Lepage, and C. Charrier. 2014. The Family Coriobacteriaceae. Pages 201–238 in The Prokaryotes. E. Rosenberg, E. F. DeLong, S. Lory, E. Stackebrandt, and F. Thompson, eds. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany.
- Clavijo, V., and M. J. V. Flórez. 2018. The gastrointestinal microbiome and its association with the control of pathogens in broiler chicken production: A review. Poult. Sci. 3:1006-1021.
- Clinical Diagnostic Division. 1990. A Summary of Reference Intervals for use with KODAK AKTACHEM Products. In Veterinary Reference Guide; Eastman Kodak Company: Rochester, NY, USA.
- Clinton, M., S. Nandi, D. Zhao, S. Olson, P. Peterson, T. Burdon, and D. McBride. 2016. Realtime sexing of chicken embryos and compatibility with in ovo protocols. Sex. Dev. 10:210– 216.
- Cobb. 2018. Cobb500 Broiler Performance & Nutrition Supplement. Accessed Sep 2022. Available at chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.cobbvantress.com/assets/5a88f2e793/Broiler-Performance-Nutrition-Supplement.pdf.

Cobb-Vantress. 2020. Cobb. Accessed April 2020. https://www.cobbvantress.com/.

- Coco, C. M., B. M. Hargis, and P. S. Hargis. 1992. Research note: effect of in ovo 17-betaestradiol or tamoxifen administration on sexual differentiation of the external genitalia. Poult. Sci. 71:1947–1951.
- Cole, J., and J. Desphande. 2019. Poultry farming, climate change, and drivers of antimicrobial resistance in India. Lancet Planet. Heal. 3:e494–e495.

- Collett, S. R. 2004. Controlling gastrointestinal disease to improve absorptive membrane integrity and optimize digestion efficiency. Pages 77–91 in Interfacing Immunity, Gut Health. Performance. L. A. Tucker, ed. J. A. Taylor-Pickard. Nottingham Univ. Press. Nottingham, UK.
- Collison, K. S., Z. Maqbool, S. M. Saleh, A. Inglis, N. J. Makhoul, R. Bakheet, M. Al-Johi, R. Al-Rabiah, M. Z. Zaidi, and F. A. Al-Mohanna. 2009. Effect of dietary monosodium glutamate on trans fat-induced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J. Lipid Res. 50:1521–1537.
- Comeau, A. M., G. M. Douglas, and M. G. I. Langille. 2017. Microbiome Helper: a Custom and Streamlined Workflow for Microbiome Research. mSystems. 2:e00127-16.
- Corr, S. C., Y. Li, C. U. Riedel, P. W. O'Toole, C. Hill, and C. G. M. Gahan. 2007. Bacteriocin production as a mechanism for the antiinfective activity of Lactobacillus salivarius UCC118. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104:7617–7621.
- Corrigan, A., M. De Leeuw, S. Penaud-Frézet, D. Dimova, and R. A. Murphya. 2015. Phylogenetic and functional alterations in bacterial community compositions in broiler ceca as a result of mannan oligosaccharide supplementation. Appl Environ Microbiol. 81:3460– 3470.
- Coskun, I., F. Korkmaz, A. Altop, H. Cayan, G. Filik, A. Sahin, H. E. Samli, and G. Erener. 2017. The effects of in ovo pollen extract injection on growth parameters, ileal histomorphology and caecal microflora in fasted broiler chicks. Indian J. Anim. Res. 51:1033–1037.
- Costa, M. C., J. A. Bessegatto, A. A. Alfieri, J. S. Weese, J. A. B. Filho, and A. Oba. 2017. Different antibiotic growth promoters induce specific changes in the cecal microbiota membership of broiler chicken. PLoS One.12: e0171642.
- Cox, C. M., and R. A. Dalloul. 2015. Immunomodulatory role of probiotics in poultry and potential *in ovo* application. Benef. Microbes 6:45–52.
- Cox, N. A., J. S. Bailey, L. C. Blankenship, and R. P. Gildersleeve. 1992. Research note: in ovo administration of a competitive exclusion culture treatment to broiler embryos. Poult. Sci. 71:1781–1784.

- Craig, A. D., F. Khattak, P. Hastie, M. R. Bedford, and O. A. Olukosi. 2020. Xylanase and xylooligosaccharide prebiotic improve the growth performance and concentration of potentially prebiotic oligosaccharides in the ileum of broiler chickens. Br. Poult. Sci. 61:70–78.
- Craven, S. E. 2000. Colonization of the intestinal tract by Clostridium perfringens and fecal shedding in diet-stressed and unstressed broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 79:843–849.
- Craven, S. E., N. A. Cox, Stern, and J. M. Mauldin. 2001. Prevalence of Clostridium perfringens in commercial broiler hatcheries. Avian Dis. 45:1050–1053.
- Crisol-Martínez, E., D. Stanley, M. S. Geier, R. J. Hughes, and R. J. Moore. 2017. Understanding the mechanisms of zinc bacitracin and avilamycin on animal production: linking gut microbiota and growth performance in chickens. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 101:4547– 4559.
- Cross, D. E., R. M. McDevitt, K. Hillman, and T. Acamovic. 2007 The effect of herbs and their associated essential oils on performance, dietary digestibility and gut microflora in chickens from 7 to 28 days of age. Br Poult Sci. 48:496–506.
- Croswell, A, E., Amir, P. Teggatz, M. Barman, and N. H. Salzman. 2009. Prolonged impact of antibiotics on intestinal microbial ecology and susceptibility to enteric Salmonella infection. Infect Immun. 77:2741–2753.
- Cuperus, T., M. D. Kraaij, A. L. Zomer, A. Van Dijk, and H. P. Haagsman. 2018. Immunomodulation and effects on microbiota after in ovo administration of chicken cathelicidin-2. PLoS One 13:1–20.
- Czerwiński, J., O. Højberg, S. Smulikowska, R.M. Engberg, and A. Mieczkowska. 2012. Effects of sodium butyrate and salinomycin upon intestinal microbiota, mucosal morphology and performance of broiler chickens. Arch Anim Nutr. 66:102–116.
- Dal Pont, G. C., E. C. Goes, K. F. da Silva, S. G. de Oliveira, C. da Rocha, and A. Miorka. 2019. Glycerol in ovo feeding as an energy substrate improves performance of broilers from young breeders. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 103:1453–1461.

- Dankowiakowska, A., J. Bogucka, A. Sobolewska, S. Tavaniello, G. Maiorano, and M. Bednarczyk. 2019. Effects of in ovo injection of prebiotics and synbiotics on the productive performance and microstructural features of the superficial pectoral muscle in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 98: 5157-5165.
- Danzeisen, J. L., H. B. Kim, R. E. Isaacson, Z. J. Tu, and T. J. Johnson. 2011. Modulations of the chicken cecal microbiome and metagenome in response to anticoccidial and growth promoter treatment. PLoS One.6:e27949.
- Dardeer, R., El Shoukary, and M. A. Mousa. 2018. The impact of some feed additives on behavior, welfare and performance of heat-stressed. Int. J. Appl. Sci. 4:1–14.
- Das, Q., M. R. Islam, D. Lepp, J. Tang, X. Yin, and L. Mats. 2020. Gut Microbiota, Blood Metabolites, and Spleen Immunity in Broiler Chickens Fed Berry Pomaces and Phenolic-Enriched Extractives. Front Vet Sci. 7:150.
- Dawson, W. R., and G. C. Whittow. 2000. Regulation of body temperature. Pages 343–390 in Sturkie's avian physiology. Elsevier.
- De Bruyn, J., J. Wong, B. Bagnol, B. Pengelly, and R. Alders. 2015. Family poultry and food and nutrition security. CAB Rev. Perspect. Agric. Vet. Sci. Nutr. Nat. Resour. 10:1-9.
- De Jong, I. C., H. Gunnink, T. Van Hattum, J. W. Van Riel, M. M. P. Raaijmakers, E. S. Zoet, and H. Van Den Brand. 2019. Comparison of performance, health and welfare aspects between commercially housed hatchery-hatched and on-farm hatched broiler flocks. Animal 13:1269–1277.
- De Jong, I. C., T. van Hattum, J. W. van Riel, K. De Baere, I. Kempen, S. Cardinaels, and H. Gunnink. 2020. Effects of on-farm and traditional hatching on welfare, health, and performance of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 99:4662–4671.
- De Oliveira, J. E., E. Van Der Hoeven-Hangoor, I. B. Van De Linde, R. C. Montijn, and J. M. B.
 M. Van Der Vossen. 2014. In ovo inoculation of chicken embryos with probiotic bacteria and its effect on posthatch Salmonella susceptibility. Poult. Sci. 93:818–829.
- De Smit, L., V. Bruggeman, J. K. Tona, M. Debonne, O. Onagbesan, L. Arckens, J. De Baerdemaeker, and E. Decuypere. 2006. Embryonic developmental plasticity of the chick: Increased CO2 during early stages of incubation changes the developmental trajectories during prenatal and postnatal growth. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 145:166–175.
- Deeming, D. C. 2005. Yolk sac, body dimensions and hatchling quality of ducklings, chicks and poults. Br. Poult. Sci. 46:560–564.
- Delcour, A. H. 2009. Outer membrane permeability and antibiotic resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta - Proteins Proteomics. 1794:808–816.
- Demir, E., K. Kilinc, Y. Yildirim, F. Dincer, and H. Eseceli. 2008. Comparative effects of mint, sage, thyme and flavomycin in wheat-based broiler diets. Arch. Zootech. 11:54–63.
- Deng, S., S. Hu, J. Xue, K. Yang, R. Zhuo, Y. Xiao, and R. Fang. 2022. Productive Performance, Serum Antioxidant Status, Tissue Selenium Deposition, and Gut Health Analysis of Broiler Chickens Supplemented with Selenium and Probiotics—A Pilot Study. Animals 12:1086.
- Deng, W., X. F. Dong, J. M. Tong, and Q. Zhang. 2012. The probiotic Bacillus licheniformis ameliorates heat stress-induced impairment of egg production, gut morphology, and intestinal mucosal immunity in laying hens. Poult. Sci. 91:575–582.
- Devi, K. P., S. A. Nisha, R. Sakthivel, and S. K. Pandian. 2010. Eugenol (an essential oil of clove) acts as an antibacterial agent against Salmonella typhi by disrupting the cellular membrane. J. Ethnopharmacol. 130:107–115.
- Dhamad, A. E., E. Greene, M. Sales, P. Nguyen, L. Beer, R. Liyanage, and S. Dridi. 2020. 75kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP75) is a novel molecular signature for heat stress response in avian species. Am. J. Physiol. - Cell Physiol. 318:C289–C303.
- Dhariwal, A., J. Chong, S. Habib, I. L. King, L. B. Agellon, and J. Xia. 2017. MicrobiomeAnalyst: a web-based tool for comprehensive statistical, visual and meta-analysis of microbiome data. Nucleic Acids Res. 45:W180–W188.
- DiAngelo, J. R., T. K. Vasavada, W. Cain, and M. K. Duncan. 2001. Production of Monoclonal Antibodies Against Chicken Pop1 (BVES). Hybrid. Hybridomics. 20:377–381.

- Diarra, M. S., and F. Malouin. 2014. Antibiotics in Canadian poultry productions and anticipated alternatives. Front. Microbiol. 5:282.
- Dibner, J. J., and J. D. Richards. 2005. Antibiotic growth promoters in agriculture: History and mode of action. Poult Sci. 84:634–643.
- Dietert, K., K. Reppe, L. Mundhenk, M. Witzenrath, and A. D. Gruber. 2014. mCLCA3 Modulates IL-17 and CXCL-1 Induction and Leukocyte Recruitment in Murine Staphylococcus aureus Pneumonia. PLoS ONE. 9:e102606.
- Ding, J., S. He, Y. Xiong, D. Liu, S. Dai, and H. Hu. 2020a. Effects of dietary supplementation of fumaric acid on growth performance, blood hematological and biochemical profile of broiler
- Ding, X., C. Yang, P. Wang, Z. Yang, and X. Ren. 2020b. Effects of star anise (Illicium verum Hook. f) and its extractions on carcass traits, relative organ weight, intestinal development, and meat quality of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 99:5673–5680.
- Dizman N., L. Meza, P. Bergerot, M. Alcantara, T. Dorff, and Y. Lyou. 2022. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab with or without live bacterial supplementation in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomized phase 1 trial. Nat Med. 28:704–712.
- Dobin, A., C. A. Davis, F. Schlesinger, J. Drenkow, C. Zaleski, S. Jha, P. Batut, M. Chaisson, and T. R. Gingeras. 2013. STAR: Ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. Bioinformatics. 29:15– 21.
- Dorman, H., and S. G. Deans. 2000. Antimicrobial agents from plants: Antibacterial activity of plant volatile oils. J. Appl. Microbiol. 88:308–316.
- Douglas G. M., V. J. Maffei, J. R. Zaneveld, S.N. Yurgel, J. R. Brown, and C.M. Taylor. 2020. PICRUSt2 for prediction of metagenome functions. Nat Biotechnol. Nature Research. 38:685–688.
- Dragan, L., A. Györke, J. F. S. Ferreira, I. A. Pop, I. Dunca, M. Dragan, V. Mircean, I. Dan, and V. Cozma. 2014. Effects of Artemisia annua and Foeniculum vulgare on chickens highly infected with Eimeria tenella (Phylum Apicomplexa). Acta Vet. Scand. 56:22.
- Drury, R., and E. Wallington. 1980. Pages 41–54 in Carleton's Histological Techniques. 5th ed. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.

- Du, E., W. Wang, L. Gan, Z. Li, S. Guo, and Y. Guo. 2016. Effects of thymol and carvacrol supplementation on intestinal integrity and immune responses of broiler chickens challenged with Clostridium perfringens. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 7:1-10.
- Duc, L. H., H. A. Hong, T. M. Barbosa, A. O. Henriques, and S. M. Cutting. 2004. Characterization of Bacillus Probiotics Available for Human Use. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70:2161–2171.
- Ducatelle, R., V. Eeckhaut, F. Haesebrouck, and F. Van Immerseel. 2014. A review on prebiotics and probiotics for the control of dysbiosis: Present status and future perspectives. Animal 9:43–48.
- Duke, J. A., M. J. Bogenschutz-Godwin, J. duCellier, and P. A. K. Duke. 2002. Handbook of medicinal herbs. Handb. Med. Herbs, Second Ed. 1–870.
- Duneska, C., and C. Bustillo. 2020. Early administration of probiotics through *in ovo* inoculation and their impact on gut microflora, immune response, and growth performance of broiler chicks. PhD Diss. Mississippi State University, Mississippi.
- Dunislawska, A., A. Slawinska, K. Stadnicka, M. Bednarczyk, P. Gulewicz, D. Jozefiak, and M. Siwek. 2017. Synbiotics for broiler chickens in vitro design and evaluation of the influence on host and selected microbiota populations following in ovo delivery. PLoS One 12:1–21.
- E Malik, H. E., R. H. H Hafzalla, A. O. H A, E. M. M O, B. M. Dousa, A. M. Ali, and K. M. Elamin. 2016. Effect of Probiotics and Acidifiers on Carcass Yield, Internal Organs, Cuts and Meat to Bone Ratio of Broiler Chicken. J. Agric. Vet. Sci. 9:18–23.
- Ebrahimi, M., H. Janmohammadi, H. D. Kia, G. Moghaddam, Z. Rajabi, S. A. Rafat, and A. Javanmaard. 2017. The effect of L-lysine *in ovo* feeding on body weight characteristics and small intestine morphology in a day-old Ross broiler chicks. Rev. Med. Vet. (Toulouse). 168:116–124.
- Edens, F. W., C. R. Parkhurst, I. A. Casas, and W. J. Dobrogosz. 1997. Principles of Ex ovo competitive exclusion and in ovo administration of Lactobacillus reuteri. Poult. Sci. 76:179– 196.

- Eeckhaut, V., F. Van Immerseel, S. Croubels, S. De Baere, F. Haesebrouck, R. Ducatelle, P. Louis, and P. Vandamme. 2011. Butyrate production in phylogenetically diverse Firmicutes isolated from the chicken caecum. Microb. Biotechnol. 4:503–512.
- El Said, E. 2017. Effect of Fortification of Eggs with Folic Acid During Incubation and Post Hatch Ascorbic Acid Supplementation on Productive Performance, Blood Constituents and Immune Status of Broiler Chicks. Egypt. J. Nutr. Feed. 20:277–285.
- El-Azeem, N. A. A., M. S. Abdo, M. Madkour, and I. El-Wardany. 2014. Physiological and histological responses of broiler chicks to *in ovo* injection with folic acid or L-carnitine during embryogenesis. Glob. Vet. 13:544–551.
- El-Din, T., R. Hassan, A. El-Samra, and A. Hanaa. 2008. Effects of Vitamin C and/or Folic Acid Supplementations in Alleviating the Negative Effects of Heat Stress in Local Laying Hens. Egypt. J. Anim. Prod. 45:333–346.
- El-Gharib, M., S. Hagag, O. Ramadan, M. Bader Elnile, and F. Zahran. 2021. The Protective Role of Ginger (Zingiber Officinale) on Alleviation of Heat Stress in Broiler Chicken. Alfarama J. Basic Appl. Sci. 2:205–213.
- El-Gogary, M. R., E. A. El-Said, A. M. Mansour. 2018. Physiological and immunological effects of rosemary essential oil in growing rabbit diets. J. Agric. Sci. 10:485–491.
- El-Gogary, M., and E. El-Said. 2019. Effect of in-Ovo Injection With Iron–Methionine Chelates or Iron Nano-Particles and Post Hatch Dietary Folic Acid on Growth Performance and Physiological Responses of Broiler Chickens. Egypt. Poult. Sci. J. 39:753–770.
- El-Husseiny, O. M., A. Z. M. Soliman, and H. M. R. Elsherif. 2018. Influence of dietary methionine, folic acid and cyanocobalamin and their interactions on the performance of broiler breeder. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 4:189–196.
- El-Katcha, M. I., A. S. Mosaad, E. Karima, and A. D. Ahmed. 2017. Effect of partial replacement of soybean protein by sunflower meal without or with essential oil mixture supplementation on growth performance, immune response and intestinal histopathology of broiler chicken. Alex. J. Vet. Sci. 54:68–83.

- El-Kholy, K. H., D. M. A. Sarhan, and E. A. El-Said. 2021. Effect of In-ovo Injection of Herbal Extracts on Post-hatch Performance, Immunological, and Physiological Responses of Broiler Chickens. J. World's Poult. Res. 11:183–192.
- Elkhouly, M., M. Khairy, A.-E. A. Abd- El Alim, and A. Ali. 2016. Effect of Phytobiotics, Probiotics and Toltrazuril on Chicken Coccidiosis. Zagazig Vet. J. 44:214–223.
- El-Moneim, A. E. M. E. A., I. El-Wardany, A. M. Abu-Taleb, M. M. Wakwak, T. A. Ebeid, and A. A. Saleh. 2020. Assessment of in ovo Administration of Bifidobacterium bifidum and Bifidobacterium longum on Performance, Ileal Histomorphometry, Blood Hematological, and Biochemical Parameters of Broilers. Probiotics Antimicrob. Proteins. 12:439–450.
- Elokil, A. A., K. F.M. Abouelezz, H. I. Ahmad, Y. Pan, and S. Li. 2020. Investigation of the impacts of antibiotic exposure on the diversity of the gut microbiota in chicks. Animals. 10:896.
- El-Senousey, H. K., B. Chen, J. Y. Wang, A. M. Atta, F. R. Mohamed, and Q. H. Nie. 2018. In ovo injection of ascorbic acid modulates antioxidant defense system and immune gene expression in newly hatched local Chinese yellow broiler chicks. Poult. Sci. 97:425–429.
- Emami, N. K., L. L. Schreier, E. Greene, T. Tabler, S. K. Orlowski, and N. B. Anthony. 2022. Ileal microbial composition in genetically distinct chicken lines reared under normal or high ambient temperatures. Anim Microbiome. 4:1-16.
- Engberg, R. M., M. S. Hedemann, T. D. Leser, and B. B. Jensen. 2000. Effect of zinc bacitracin and salinomycin on intestinal microflora and performance of broilers. Poult. Sci. 79:1311–1319.
- Ensminger, A. 1986. Food for Health: A Nutrition Encyclopedia; Pegasus Elliot Mackenzie Publishers: Cambridge, UK. ISBN 0941218074.
- Erinle, T. J., J. MacIsaac, C. Yang., and D. I. Adewole. 2022a. Effect of red osier dogwood extract on growth performance, blood biochemical parameters, and gut functionality of broiler chickens challenged or unchallenged intraperitoneally with Salmonella Enteritidis lipopolysaccharide. Poult Sci. 101:101861.

- Erinle, T. J., S. Oladokun, J. MacIsaac, B. Rathgeber, and D. Adewole. 2022b. Dietary grape pomace – effects on growth performance, intestinal health, blood parameters, and breast muscle myopathies of broiler chickens. Poult Sci. 101:101519.
- Erwin, E. A., L. M. Jaramillo, B. Smith, P. G. Kruszewski, B. Kahwash, M. H. Grayson, A. Mejias, and O. Ramilo. 2021. Sex Differences in Blood Transcriptional Profiles and Clinical Phenotypes in Pediatric Patients with Eosinophilic Esophagitis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. Pract. 9:3350–3358.
- Eslabão, L. B., G. F. Gubert, L. C. Beltrame, I. M. A. Mello, O. Bruna-Romero, and C. R. Zárate-Bladés. 2022. Prophylactic Treatment of Undernourished Mice with Cotrimoxazole Induces a Different Profile of Dysbiosis with Functional Metabolic Alterations. Cells. 11:2278.
- Estevez, M., R. Ramírez, S. Ventanas, and R. Cava. 2007. Sage and rosemary essential oils versus BHT for the inhibition of lipid oxidative reactions in liver pâté. LWT-Food Sci. Technol. 40:58–65.
- Ezzat, W. and M. S. Shoeib. 2011. Impact of Betaine, Vitamin C and Folic Acid Supplementations to the Diet on Productive and Reproductive Performance of Matrouh Poultry. Egypt. Poult. Sci. 31:521–537.
- Fagarasan, S. 2006. Intestinal IgA synthesis: a primitive form of adaptive immunity that regulates microbial communities in the gut. Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissues. CT Microbiology. 308:137–153.
- Fåk, F., and F. Bäckhed. 2012. Lactobacillus reuteri Prevents diet-induced Obesity, but not Atherosclerosis, in a strain dependent Fashion in Apoe-/- mice. PLoS One 7:e46837.
- Fallis, A. 2013. The overuse of antibiotics in food animals threatens public health. J. Chem. Inf. Model. 53:1689–1699.
- Fan, Y. K., J. Croom, V. L. Christensen, B. L. Black, A. R. Bird, L. R. Daniel, B. W. Mcbride, and E. J. Eisen. 1997. Jejunal Glucose Uptake and Oxygen Consumption in Turkey Poults selected for Rapid growth. Poult. Sci. 76:1738–1745.

FAO. 2011. Mapping Supply and Demand for Animal-Source Foods to 2030. Rome, Italy.

- FAO. 2020. Food Outlook Biannual Report on Global Food Markets. Food Outlook Biannu. Rep. Glob. Food Mark. Available at https://scholar.google.com/scholar?start=10&q=%22Food+Outlook:+Biannual+Report+on +Global+Food+Markets%22+%222020%22&hl=en&as sdt=0,5 (verified 3 October 2022).
- FAO. 2020. Meat market review, overview of global meat market developments in 2019. Rome, Italy.
- FAO/WHO. 2001. Health and Nutritional Properties of Probiotics in Food including Powder Milk with Live Lactic Acid Bacteria. Pages 1-10 in Report of a Joint FAO/WHO Expert Consultation on Evaluation of Health and Nutritional Properties of Probiotics in Food Including Powder Milk with Live Lactic Acid Bacteria. Amerian Córdoba Park Hotel, Córdoba, Argentina.
- Farag, R. S., Z. Y. Daw, and S. H. Abo-Raya. 1989a. Influence of Some Spice Essential Oils on Aspergillus Parasiticus Growth and Production of Aflatoxins in a Synthetic Medium. J. Food Sci. 54:74–76.
- Farag, R. S., Z. Y. Daw, F. M. Hewedi, and G. S. A. El-Baroty. 1989b. Antimicrobial activity of some Egyptian spice essential oils. J. Food Prot. 52:665–667.
- Faramarzi, S., M. H. Bozorgmehrifard, A. Khaki, H. Moomivand, M. S. Ezati, S. Rasoulinezhad, A. J. Bahnamiri, and B. R. Dizaji. 2013. Study on the effect of Thymus vulgaris essential oil on humoral immunity and performance of broiler chickens after La Sota vaccination. Ann. Biol. Res. 4:290–294.
- Farmahin, R., A. M. Gannon, R. Gagné, A. Rowan-Carroll, B. Kuo, A.Williams, I. Curran, and C. L. Yauk. 2019. Hepatic transcriptional dose-response analysis of male and female Fischer rats exposed to hexabromocyclododecane. Food Chem. Toxicol. 133:110262.
- Farooqi, H. A. G., M. S. Khan, M. A. Khan, M. Rabbani, K. Pervez, and J. A. Khan. 2005. Evaluation of Betaine and Vitamin C in Alleviation of Heat Stress in Broilers. Int. J. Agric. Biol. 7:744–746.

- Farouk, M., G. Jean-Francois, and M. Betrand. 2020. Effects of a specific blend of oreosins of spices and essential oil on growth performance of broilers is influenced by challenge acuity. In Proceedings of the International Poultry Scientific Forum IPSF, Atlanta, GA, USA. T166.
- Faruq, A. Al, C. Veterinary, M. L. Rahman, C. Veterinary, K. H. N. Islam, and C. Veterinary. 2019. Development of small intestinal morphology on the basis of growth and absorption rate in broiler chicken (Cobb 500) of Bangladesh. Bangladesh J. Vet. Anim. Sci. 7:9–14.
- Fasenko, G. M., and E. E. O'Dea. 2008. Evaluating broiler growth and mortality in chicks with minor navel conditions at hatching. Poult. Sci. 87:594–597.
- Fasina, Y. O., and Y. L. Olowo. 2013. Effect of a commercial yeast-based product (Maxigen®) on intestinal villi morphology and growth performance of broiler chickens. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 12:09–14.
- Faucz, F. R., A. Horvath, A. Rothenbuhler, M. Q. Almeida, R. Libe, M. -L. Raffin-Sanson, J. Bertherat, D. Carraro, F. A. Soares, G. D. C. Molina, ... and C. A. Stratakis. 2011. Phosphodiesterase 11A (PDE11A) Genetic Variants May Increase Susceptibility to Prostatic Cancer. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96:e135–e140.
- Fayol-Messaoudi, D., C. N. Berger, M. H. Coconnier-Polter, V. Liévin- Le Moal, and A. L. Servin. 2005. pH-, lactic acid-, and non-lactic acid-dependent activities of probiotics lactobacilli against Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71:6008–6013.
- Fazli, N., A. Hassanabadi, M. Mottaghitalab, and H. Hajati. 2015. Manipulation of broiler chickens sex differentiation by in ovo injection of aromatase inhibitors, and garlic and tomato extracts. Poult. Sci. 94:2778–2783.
- FDA. 2012. Guidance for Industry on the Judicious Use of Medically Important Antimicrobial Drugs in Food-Producing Animals; Availability. Available at https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/fdas-strategyantimicrobial-resistance-questions-and-answers.

- FDA. 2013. Guidance for Industry #213–New Animal Drugs and New Animal Drug Combination Products Administered in or on Medicated Feed or Drinking Water of Food- Producing Animals: Recommendations for Drug Sponsors for Voluntarily Aligning Product Use Conditions with. Guid. Ind. #213, 18. Accessed April 2021. https://www.fda.gov/regulatoryinformation/searchfda-guidance-documents/cvm-gfi-213-new-animal-drugs-and-newanimal-drug-combination-products-administered-ormedicated-feed.
- Feizi, A., P. Bijanzad, H. Asfaram, T. M. Khiavi, M. Alimardan, S. Hamzei, H. Ghabel, and S. Faramarzi. 2014. Effect of thyme extract on hematological factors and performance of broiler chickens. Eur. J. Exp. Biol. 4:125–128.
- Feng, D., Y. Zhou, M. Xia, and J. Ma. 2011. Folic acid inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response in RAW264.7 macrophages by suppressing MAPKs and NF-κB activation. Inflamm. Res. 60:817–822.
- Ferket, P. R., C. W. Parks, and J. L. Grimes. 2002. Benefits of Dietary Antibiotic and Mannanoligosaccharide Supplementation for Poultry.
- Fernández-Rubio, C., C. Ordóñez, J. Abad-González, A. Garcia-Gallego, M. P. Honrubia, and J. J. Mallo. 2009. Butyric acid-based feed additives help protect broiler chickens from Salmonella enteritidis infection. Poult Sci. 88:943–948.
- Figueroa-González, I., G. Rodríguez-Serrano, L. Gómez-Ruiz, M. García-Garibay, and A. Cruz-Guerrero. 2019. Prebiotic effect of commercial saccharides on probiotic bacteria isolated from commercial products. Food Sci. Technol. 39:747–753.
- Finucane, M., P. Spring, and N. K. 1999. Incidence of mannosesensitive adhesions in enteric bacteria. Poult. Sci. 78:139.
- Fioranelli, M., A. Sepehri, M. G. Roccia, C. Rossi, P. Vojvodic, J. Lotti, V. Barygina, A. Vojvodic, U. Wollina, M. Tirant, and N. Van Thuong. 2019. In ovo sexing of chicken eggs by virus spectroscopy. Maced J. Med. Sci. 7:3106–3109.
- Flees, J. J., N. K. Emami, E. Greene, B. Ganguly, and S. Dridi. 2021. Phytogenic water additives improve broiler growth performance via modulation of intermediary metabolism-related signaling pathways. Animals 11:1–13.

- Flint, J. F., and M. R. Garner. 2009. Feeding beneficial bacteria: A natural solution for increasing efficiency and decreasing pathogens in animal agriculture. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 18:367–378.
- Florou-Paneri, P., I. Nikolakakis, I. Giannenas, A. Koidis, E. Botsoglou, V. Dotas, and I. Mitsopoulos. 2005. Hen performance and egg quality as affected by dietary oregano essential oil and tocopheryl acetate supplementation. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 4:449–454.
- Froese, A., S. S. Breher, C. Waldeyer, R. F. Schindler, V. O. Nikolaev, S. Rinné, E. Wischmeyer, J. Schlueter, J. Becher, S. Simrick, ... T. Brand. 2012. Popeye domain containing proteins are essential for stress-mediated modulation of cardiac pacemaking in mice. J. Clin. Investig. 122:1119–1130.
- Fujiwara, K., M. Yamazaki, H. Abe, K. Nakashima, Y. Yakabe, M. Otsuka, Y. Ohbayashi, Y. Kato, K. Namai, A. Toyoda, Y. Miyaguchi, and Y. Nakamura. 2009. Effect of bacillus subtilis var. natto fermented soybean on growth performance, microbial activity in the caeca and cytokine gene expression of domestic meat type chickens. J. Poult. Sci. 46:116–122.
- Fukuzawa, T., M. Fukazawa, O. Ueda, H. Shimada, A. Kito, M. Kakefuda, Y. Kawase, N. A. Wada, C. Goto, N. Fukushima, ... and Y. Kawabe. 2013. SGLT5 Reabsorbs Fructose in the Kidney but Its Deficiency Paradoxically Exacerbates Hepatic Steatosis Induced by Fructose. PLoS ONE 8:e56681.
- Furuse, M., and H. Yokota. 1985. Effect of the Gut Microflora on Chick Growth and Utilisation of Protein and Energy at Different Concentrations of Dietary Protein. Br. Poult. Sci. 26:97– 104.
- Gaby, A. R. 2005. Adverse effects of dietary fructose. Altern. Med. Rev. J. Clin. Ther. 10:294–306.
- Gadde, U., S. T. Oh, Y. S. Lee, E. Davis, N. Zimmerman, T. Rehberger, and H. S. Lillehoj. 2017b. The Effects of Direct-fed Microbial Supplementation, as an Alternative to Antibiotics, on Growth Performance, Intestinal Immune Status, and Epithelial Barrier Gene Expression in Broiler Chickens. Probiotics Antimicrob. Proteins 9:397–405.
- Gadde, U., W. H. Kim, S. T. Oh, and H. S. Lillehoj. 2017a. Alternatives to antibiotics for maximizing growth performance and feed efficiency in poultry: A review. Anim. Health. Res. Rev. 18:26–45.

- Gaggìa, F., P. Mattarelli, and B. Biavati. 2010. Probiotics and prebiotics in animal feeding for safe food production. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 141:S15–S28.
- Galobart, J., A. C. Barroeta, M. D. Baucells, R. Codony, and W. Ternes. 2001. Effect of dietary supplementation with rosemary extract and α-tocopheryl acetate on lipid oxidation in eggs enriched with ω3-fatty acids. Poult. Sci. 80:460–467.
- Gamboa Gonzales, N. F., A. P. Alves Leão, R. Ribeiro Alvarenga, and M. G. Zangeronimo. 2022. The effects of *in ovo* injection with sulfur amino acids and folic acid on the gene expression, relative organ weights, hematologic parameters, performance, and carcass characteristics of broiler chickens. Anim. Biotechnol. 33:1-12.
- Gao, T., M. Zhao, L. Zhang, J. Li, L. Yu, F. Gao, and G. Zhou. 2018. In ovo feeding of l-arginine regulates intestinal barrier functions of posthatch broilers by activating the mTOR signaling pathway. J. Sci. Food Agric. 98:1416–1425.
- García-López, R., F. Cornejo-Granados, A. A. Lopez-Zavala, F. Sánchez-López, A. Cota-Huízar,
 R. R. Sotelo-Mundo, A. Guerrero, A. Mendoza-Vargas, B. Gómez-Gil, and A. Ochoa- Leyva.
 2020. Doing more with less: a comparison of 16S hypervariable regions in Search of defining the Shrimp microbiota. Microorganisms 8:134.
- Garcia-Migura, L., R. S. Hendriksen, L. Fraile, and F. M. Aarestrup. 2014. Antimicrobial resistance of zoonotic and commensal bacteria in Europe: The missing link between consumption and resistance in veterinary medicine. Vet. Microbiol. 170:1–9.
- Gaskins, H. R., C. T. Collier, and D. B. Anderson. 2002. Antibiotics as Growth Promotants: Mode of action. Anim. Biotechnol. 13:29–42.
- Gazwi, H. S. S., M. E. Mahmoud, and E. M. A. Toson. 2022. Analysis of the phytochemicals of Coriandrum sativum and Cichorium intybus aqueous extracts and their biological effects on broiler chickens. Sci. Rep. 12:1-11.
- Geirnaert, A., A. Steyaert, V. Eeckhaut, B. Debruyne, J. B. A. Arends, and F. Van Immerseel. 2014. Butyricicoccus pullicaecorum, a butyrate producer with probiotic potential, is intrinsically tolerant to stomach and small intestine conditions. Anaerobe. 30:70–74.

- Ghazanfari, S., M. Adib Moradi, and M. Mahmoodi Bardzardi. 2014. Intestinal morphology and microbiology of broiler chicken fed diets containing myrtle (Myrtus communis) essential oil supplementation. Iran. J. Appl. Anim. Sci. 4:549–554.
- Ghazi, S., T. Amjadian, and S. Norouzi. 2015. Single and combined effects of vitamin C and oregano essential oil in diet, on growth performance, and blood parameters of broiler chicks reared under heat stress condition. Int. J. Biometeorol. 59:1019–1024.
- Gholami, J., A. A. Qotbi, A. Seidavi, A. Meluzzi, S. Tavaniello, and G. Maiorano. 2015. Effects of *in ovo* administration of betaine and choline on hatchability results, growth and carcass characteristics and immune response of broiler chickens. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 14:187–192.
- Giansanti, F., M. F. Giardi, and D. Botti. 2006. Avian cytokines-an overview. Curr. Pharm. Des. 12:3083–3099.
- Gibson, G. R., and M. B. Roberfroid. 1995. Dietary Modulation of the Human Colonic Microbiota: Introducing the Concept of Prebiotics. J. Nutr. 125:1401–1412.
- Gibson, G. R., and R. Fuller. 2000. Aspects of in vitro and in vivo research approaches directed toward identifying probiotics and prebiotics for human use. J. Nutr. 130:391S–395S.
- Gilbert, E. R., H. Li, D. A. Emmerson, J. E. Webb, and E. A. Wong. 2010. Dietary protein composition influences abundance of peptide and amino acid transporter messenger ribonucleic acid in the small intestine of 2 lines of broiler chicks. Poult. Sci. 89:1663–1676.
- Glahn, R. P., W. J. Mitsos, and R. F. Wideman. 1987. Evaluation of Sex Differences in Embryonic Heart Rates. Poult. Sci. 66:1398–1401.
- Glendinning, L., K. A. Watson, and M. Watson. 2019. Development of the duodenal, ileal, jejunal and caecal microbiota in chickens. Anim. Microbiome. 1:1-11.
- Gliszczyńska-Świgło, A. 2007. Folates as antioxidants. Food Chem. 101:1480–1483.
- Goel, A., S. K. Bhanja, M. Mehra, S. Majumdar, and A. Mandal. 2017. In ovo silver nanoparticle supplementation for improving the post-hatch immunity status of broiler chickens. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 71:384–394.

- Gong, J., H. Yu, T. Liu, J. Gill, J. Chambers, R. Wheatcroft, and P. Sabour. 2008. Effects of zinc bacitracin, bird age and access to range on bacterial microbiota in the ileum and caeca of broiler chickens. J. Appl. Microbiol. 104:1372–1382.
- Gong, J., J. R. Chambers, R. Wheatcroft, S. Chen, R. J. Forster, H. Yu, and P. M. Sabour. 2002a. Molecular analysis of bacterial populations in the ileum of broiler chickens and comparison with bacteria in the cecum. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 41:171–179.
- Gong, J., R. J. Forster, H. Yu, J. R. Chambers, P. M. Sabour, and R. Wheatcroft. 2002b. Diversity and phylogenetic analysis of bacteria in the mucosa of chicken ceca and comparison with bacteria in the cecal lumen. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 208:1–7.
- Gong, J., W. Si, R. J. Forster, R. Huang, H. Yu, Y. Yin, C. Yang, and Y. Han. 2007. 16S rRNA gene-based analysis of mucosa-associated bacterial community and phylogeny in the chicken gastrointestinal tracts: From crops to ceca. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59:147–157.
- González-Mariscal, L., A. Betanzos, P. Nava, and B. Jaramillo. 2003. Tight junction proteins. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 81:1–44.
- Goodman, B. E. 2010. Insights into digestion and absorption of major nutrients in humans. Am.J. Physiol. Adv. Physiol. Educ. 34:44–53.
- Gopi, M., K. Karthik, H. V. Manjunathachar, P. Tamilmahan, M. Kesavan, M. Dashprakash, B. L. Balaraju, and M. R. Purushothaman. 2014. Essential oils as a feed additive in poultry nutrition. Adv. Anim. Vet. Sci 2:1–7.
- Gouda, A., S. A. Amer, S. Gabr, and S. A. Tolba. 2020. Effect of dietary supplemental ascorbic acid and folic acid on the growth performance, redox status, and immune status of broiler chickens under heat stress. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 52:2987–2996.
- Gouda, A., S. A. Tolba, and K. M. Mahrose. 2022. Influences of vitamin A, L-carnitine, and folic acid in ovo feeding on embryo and hatchling characteristics and general health status in ducks. Anim. Biotechnol. 33:150–158.
- Gouda, A., S. A. Tolba, and M. M. El-Moniary. 2021. Impact of in ovo injection of certain vitamins to improve the physiological conditions of hatching chicks. Pakistan J. Biol. Sci. 24:268–273.

- Government of Canada. 2018. Responsible use of Medically Important Antimicrobials in Animals. Antimicrob. Resist. Anim. Actions Available at https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/antibiotic-antimicrobial-resistance/animals/actions/responsible-use-antimicrobials.html#shr-pg0.
- Grant, A., C. G. Gay, and H. S. Lillehoj. 2018. Bacillus spp. as direct-fed microbial antibiotic alternatives to enhance growth, immunity, and gut health in poultry. Avian Pathol. 47:339– 351.
- Green, A. R., and H. Xin. 2009. Effects of stocking density and group size on thermoregulatory responses of laying hens under heat-challenging conditions. Trans. ASABE 52:2033–2038.
- Greenberg, B. 1969. Salmonella Suppression by Known Populations of Bacteria in Flies. J. Bacteriol. 99:629-635.
- Griggs, J. P., and J. P. Jacob. 2005. Alternatives to antibiotics for organic poultry production. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 14:750–756.
- Groff-Urayama, P., J. Padilha, S. Einsfeld, S. Pertile, M. Gorges, M. de Andrade, A. Di Domenico, E. M. Maeda, and S. Takahashi. 2019. Performance, intestinal morphometry, and incubation parameters of broiler chickens submitted to in ovo feeding with different techniques and amino acids. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 99:732–740.
- Gu, J., Q. Liang, C. Liu, and S. Li. 2020. Genomic Analyses Reveal Adaptation to Hot Arid and Harsh Environments in Native Chickens of China. Front. Genet. 11:582355.
- Guaadaoui, A., S. Benaicha, N. Elmajdoub, M. Bellaoui, and A. Hamal. 2014. What is a bioactive compound? A combined definition for a preliminary consensus. Int. J. Nutr. Food Sci. 3:174– 179.
- Gulewicz, K., and M. Bednarczyk. 2008. Sposób Stymulacji Korzystnego Profilu Bakteryjnego Wylężonych Piskląt. Patent: Polish Nb PL197726.
- Guo, S., Y. Xi, Y. Xia, T. Wu, D. Zhao, Z. Zhang, and B. Ding. 2021. Dietary Lactobacillus fermentum and Bacillus coagulans Supplementation Modulates Intestinal Immunity and Microbiota of Broiler Chickens Challenged by Clostridium perfringens. Front. Vet. Sci. 8: 680742.

- Gyawali, I., Y. Zeng, J. Zhou, J. Li, T. Wu, G. Shu, Q. Jiang, C. Zhu. 2022. Effect of Novel Lactobacillus paracaesi microcapsule on growth performance, gut health and microbiome community of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 8:101912.
- Habibi, R., G. H. Sadeghi, and A. Karimi. 2014. Effect of different concentrations of ginger root powder and its essential oil on growth performance, serum metabolites and antioxidant status in broiler chicks under heat stress. Br. Poult. Sci. 55:228–237.
- Hager, H., and D. M. Bader. 2009. Bves: Ten years after. Histol. Histopathol. 24:777-787.
- Haghighi, H. R., J. Gong, C. L. Gyles, M. A. Hayes, H. Zhou, B. Sanei, J. R. Chambers, and S. Sharif. 2006. Probiotics stimulate production of natural antibodies in chickens. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 13:975–980.
- Hamburger, V., and H. L. Hamilton. 1951. A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo. J. Morphol. 88:49–92.
- Hankel, J., B. Bodmann, M. Todte, E. Galvez, T. Strowig, and D. Radko. 2021. Comparison of chicken cecal microbiota after metaphylactic treatment or following administration of feed additives in a broiler farm with enterococcal spondylitis history. Pathogens. 10:1068.
- Hao, Y., Z. Ji, Z. Shen, Y. Xue, B. Zhang, D. Yu., ... and M. Xie. 2022. Increase Dietary Fiber Intake Ameliorates Cecal Morphology and Drives Cecal Species-Specific of Short-Chain Fatty Acids in White Pekin Ducks. Front Microbiol. 13:853797-853797.
- Hashemipour, H., V. Khaksar, L. Rubio, T. Veldkamp, and M. Van Krimpen. 2016. Effect of feed supplementation with a thymol plus carvacrol mixture, in combination or not with an NSPdegrading enzyme, on productive and physiological parameters of broilers fed on wheatbased diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 211:117–131.
- Hayakawa, T., J. I. Shiraishi, and Y. Ohta. 2019. Effects of in ovo vitamin D3 injection on subsequent growth of broilers. J. Poult. Sci. 56:220–223.
- Hayashi, R. M., M. C. Lourenço, A. L. Kraieski, R. B. Araujo, R. Gonzalez-Esquerra, E. Leonardecz, A. F. da Cunha, M. F. Carazzolle, P. S. Monzani, and E. Santin. 2018. Effect of feeding *Bacillus subtilis* spores to broilers challenged with Salmonella enterica serovar Heidelberg Brazilian strain UFPR1 on performance, immune response, and gut health. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:13.

- He, S., L. Chen, Y. He, F. Chen, Y. Ma, Di. Xiao, and J. He. 2020. Alleviates heat stress-induced impairment of intestinal morphology, barrier integrity and inflammation in yellow-feather broilers. Anim. Prod. Sci. 60:1547–1556.
- He, S., S. Li, M. A. Arowolo, Q. Yu, F. Chen, R. Hu, and J. He. 2019. Effect of resveratrol on growth performance, rectal temperature and serum parameters of yellow-feather broilers under heat stress. Anim. Sci. J. 90:401–411.
- He, Y., C. Maltecca, and F. Tiezzi. 2021. Potential use of gut microbiota composition as a biomarker of heat stress in monogastric species: A review. Animals. 11:1833.
- Heak, C., P. Sukon, S. Kongpechr, B. Tengjaroenkul, and K. Chuachan. 2017. Effect of direct-fed microbials on intestinal villus height in broiler chickens: a systematic review and metaanalysis of controlled trials. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 16:403–414.
- Hebert, K., J. D. House, and W. Guenter. 2005. Effect of dietary folic acid supplementation on egg folate content and the performance and folate status of two strains of laying hens. Poult. Sci. 84:1533–1538.
- Hedayati, M., S. Khalaji, and M. Manafi. 2022. Lactobacilli spp. and Zataria multiflora essence as antibiotic substituent on broiler health and performance parameters. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 21:1–7.
- Hedman, H. D., K. A. Vasco, and L. Zhang. 2020. A review of antimicrobial resistance in poultry farming within low-resource settings. Animals 10:1–39.
- Heijmans, J., M. Duijster, W. J. J. Gerrits, B. Kemp, R. P. Kwakkel, and H. Van den Brand. 2022. Impact of growth curve and dietary energy-to-protein ratio of broiler breeders on offspring quality and performance. Poult. Sci. 101:101946.
- Helwig, B. G., and L. R. Leon. 2011. Tissue and circulating expression of IL-1 family members following heat stroke. Physiol. Genomics 43:1096–1104.
- Hernandez, F., J. Madrid, V. Garcia, J. Orengo, and M. D. Megias. 2004. Influence of two plant extracts on broilers performance, digestibility, and digestive organ size. Poult. Sci. 83:169– 174.

- Hernandez-Patlan, D., B. Solis-Cruz, B. Adhikari, K. P. Pontin, J. D. Latorre, and M. F. A. Baxter. 2019b. Evaluation of the antimicrobial and intestinal integrity properties of boric acid in broiler chickens infected with Salmonella enteritidis: Proof of concept. Res Vet Sci. 123:7– 13.
- Hernandez-Patlan, D., B. Solis-Cruz, K. P. Pontin, X. Hernandez-Velasco, R. Merino-Guzman,
 B. Adhikari, R. López-Arellano, Y. M. Kwon, B. M. Hargis, M. A. Arreguin-Nava, G. Tellez-Isaias, and J. D. Latorre. 2019a. Impact of a Bacillus direct-fed microbial on growth performance, intestinal Barrier Integrity, necrotic enteritis lesions, and ileal microbiota in broiler chickens using a Laboratory challenge model. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:108.
- Heydarian, M., Y. Ebrahimnezhad, A. Meimandipour, S. A. Hosseini, and M. H. Banabazi. 2020. Effects of Dietary Inclusion of the Encapsulated Thyme and Oregano Essential Oils Mixture and Probiotic on Growth Performance, Immune Response and Intestinal Morphology of Broiler Chickens. Poult. Sci. J. 8:17–25.
- Hill, D. 2001. Chick length uniformity profiles as a field measurement of chick quality. Avian Poult. Biol. Rev. 12:188.
- Hoffman-Pennesi, D., and C. Wu. 2010. The effect of thymol and thyme oil feed supplementation on growth performance, serum antioxidant levels, and cecal Salmonella population in broilers. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 19:432–443.
- Hong, J. -C., T. Steiner, A. Aufy, and T. -F. Lien. 2012. Effects of supplemental essential oil on growth performance, lipid metabolites and immunity, intestinal characteristics, microbiota and carcass traits in broilers. Livest. Sci. 144:253–262.
- Hong, Y., Y. Cheng, L. Guan, Z. Zhou, X. Li, D. Shi, and Y. Xiao. 2021. Bacillus amyloliquefaciens TL Downregulates the Ileal Expression of Genes Involved in Immune Responses in Broiler Chickens to Improve Growth Performance. Microorganisms. 9:382.
- Hooge, D. M., J. L. Pierce, K. W. McBride, and P. J. Rigolin. 2010. Meta-analysis of laying hen trials using diets with or without allzyme[®] SSF enzyme complex. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 9:824– 827.

- Hosseini, S. M., H. Nazarizadeh, S. Ahani, and M. Vakili Azghandi. 2016. Effects of mannan oligosaccharide and Curcuma xanthorrhiza essential oil on the intestinal morphology and stress indicators of broilers subjected to cyclic heat stress. Arch. Anim. Breed. 59:285–291.
- Hou, B., X. Meng, L. Zhang, J. Guo, S. Li, and H. Jin. 2015. Development of a sensitive and specific multiplex PCR method for the simultaneous detection of chicken, duck and goose DNA in meat products. Meat Sci. 101:90–94.
- Hou, T., and E. Tako. 2018. The in ovo feeding administration (Gallus gallus)—an emerging in vivo approach to assess bioactive compounds with potential nutritional benefits. Nutrients 10:418.
- Houshmand, M., K. Azhar, I. Zulkifli, M. H. Bejo, and A. Kamyab. 2012. Effects of prebiotic, protein level, and stocking density on performance, immunity, and stress indicators of broilers. Poult. Sci. 91:393–401.
- Hsieh, J. C. F., N. Barett, T. Looft, M. E. Persia, and S. J. Lamont. 2017 Cecal Microbiome Characterization for Layers underHeat Stress. Iowa State Univ. Anim. Ind. Rep.14.
- Hu, X., H. Li, X. Zhao, R. Zhou, H. Liu, and Y. Sun. 2021. Multi-omics study reveals that statin therapy is associated with restoration of gut microbiota homeostasis and improvement in outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Theranostics. 11:5778–5793.
- Huang, M. K., Y. J. Choi, R. Houde, J. W. Lee, B. Lee, and X. Zhao. 2004. Effects of lactobacilli and an acidophilic fungus on the production performance and immune responses in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 83:788–795.
- Huang, R. F. S., Y. C. Hsu, H. L. Lin, and F. L. Yang. 2001. Folate depletion and elevated plasma homocysteine promote oxidative stress in rat livers. J. Nutr. 131:33–38.
- Huang, S., H. Yang, M. Ur Rehman, and Z. Tong. 2018. Acute heat stress in broiler chickens and its impact on serum biochemical and electrolyte parameters. Indian J. Anim. Res. 52:683– 686.
- Huang, Z., S. Jin, and Z. Lv. 2021. Dietary genistein supplementation alters mRNA expression profile and alternative splicing signature in the thymus of chicks with lipopolysaccharide challenge. Poult. Sci. 101:101561.

- Huhtanen, C. N., and J. M. Pensack. 1965. the Role of Streptococcus Faecalis in the Antibiotic Growth Effect in. Poult. Sci. 44:830–834.
- Humam, A. M., T. C. Loh, H. L. Foo, W. I. Izuddin, I. Zulkifli, A. A. Samsudin, and N. M. Mustapha. 2021. Supplementation of postbiotic RI11 improves antioxidant enzyme activity, upregulated gut barrier genes, and reduced cytokine, acute phase protein, and heat shock protein 70 gene expression levels in heat-stressed broilers. Poult. Sci. 100:100908.
- Hung, D. -Y., Y. -H. Cheng, W. -J. Chen, K. -F. Hua, A. Pietruszka, A. Dybus, C. -S. Lin, and Y.
 -H. Yu. 2019. Bacillus licheniformis-Fermented Products Reduce Diarrhea Incidence and Alter the Fecal Microbiota Community in Weaning Piglets. Animals. 9:1145.
- Hussian, A. S., M. A. Hassan, J. K. Menati, R. A. Al-Ziadi, and B. F. Shaker. 2019. Effect of in ovo injection with folic acid on some hatching traits of Chinese white duck eggs. Plant Arch. 19:605–608.
- Huyghebaert, G., R. Ducatelle, and F. Van Immerseel. 2011. An update on alternatives to antimicrobial growth promoters for broilers. Vet. J. 187:182–188.
- Ikeda-Ohtsubo, W., S. Brugman, C. H. Warden, J. M. J. Rebel, G. Folkerts, and C. M. J. Pieterse. 2018. How can We define "Optimal microbiota?": A Comparative review of structure and functions of microbiota of animals, fish, and Plants in Agriculture. Front. Nutr. 5:90.
- Ilo, S. U., F. C. Maduneme, O. C. Ogbu, and M. N. Okonkwo. 2019. Haematological and Biochemical Characteristics of Broiler Finisher Fed Different Feed Forms (Pelleted and Mash). J. Agric. and Sus. 12:175-184.
- Isabel, B. and Y. Santos. 2009. Effects of dietary organic acids and essential oils on growth performance and carcass characteristics of broiler chickens. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 18:472–476.
- Ismail, F. S. H., M. M. Beshara, and M. El –Gayar. 2019. Effect of In-Ovo Injection of Ascorbic, Folic Acids and their Combination on Hachability and Subsequent Growth Performance of Broiler Chicks. J. Anim. Poult. Prod. 10:289–295.
- Ito, M., C. -X. Yuan, H. J. Okano, R. Darnell, and R. G. Roeder. 2000. Involvement of the TRAP220 Component of the TRAP/SMCC Coactivator Complex in Embryonic Development and Thyroid Hormone Action. Mol. Cell. 5:683–693.

- Ito, M., H. J. Okano, R. B. Darnell, and R. G. Roeder. 2002. The TRAP100 component of the TRAP/Mediator complex is essential in broad transcriptional events and development. EMBO J. 2002, 21, 3464–3475.
- Iwanaga, T., M. Goto, and M. Watanabe. 2006. Cellular distribution of glutamate transporters in the gastrointestinal tract of mice. An immunohistochemical and in situ hybridization approach. Biomed. Res. 26:271–278.
- Jackson, M., and K. Hanford. 2014. Statistical meta-analysis of pen trials conducted testing heatsensitive β-mannanase (Hemicell) feed enzyme in male broilers grown to market age. Poult. Sci. 93:66.
- Jacquier, V., A. Nelson, M. Jlali, L. Rhayat, K. Brinch, and E. Devillard. 2019. Bacillus subtilis 29784 induces a shift in broiler gut microbiome toward butyrate-producing bacteria and improves intestinal histomorphology and animal performance. Poult. Sci. 98:2548–2554.
- Jadavji, N. M., L. Deng, O. Malysheva, M. A. Caudill, and R. Rozen. 2015. MTHFR deficiency or reduced intake of folate or choline in pregnant mice results in impaired short-term memory and increased apoptosis in the hippocampus of wild-type offspring. Neuroscience 300:1–9.
- Jaensch, S. M., L. Cullen, and S. R. Raidal. 2000. Assessment of liver function in chickens using galactose and indocyanine green clearances. Avian Pathol. 29:109–116.
- Jahejo, A. R., N. Rajput, N. M. Rajput, I. H. Leghari, and R. R. Kaleri. 2016. Effects of heat stress on the performance of Hubbard broiler chicken. Cells Anim. Ther. 2:1–5.
- Jahromi, M. F., Y. W. Altaher, P. Shokryazdan, R. Ebrahimi, M. Ebrahimi, Z. Idrus, V. Tufarelli, and J. B. Liang. 2016. Dietary supplementation of a mixture of Lactobacillus strains enhances performance of broiler chickens raised under heat stress conditions. Int. J. Biometeorol. 60:1099–1110.
- Jamroz, D., J. Orda, C. Kamel, A. Wiliczkiewicz, T. Wertelecki, and J. Skorupińska. 2003. The influence of phytogenic extracts on performance, nutrient digestibility, carcass characteristics, and gut microbial status in broiler chickens. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 12:583–596.
- Jang, I. S., Y. H. Ko, S. Y. Kang, and C.Y. Lee. 2007. Effect of a commercial essential oil on growth performance, digestive enzyme activity and intestinal microflora population in broiler chickens. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 134:304–315.

- Janke, O., B. Tzschentke, and M. Boerjan. 2004. Comparative investigations of heat production and body temperature in embryos of modern chicken breeds. Avian Poult. Biol. Rev. 15:191– 196.
- Jasim, M. S., and N. E. A. Al-Qaisy. 2019. Effect of in ovo injection of zinc methonine on hatching traits, production performance and immunity response of broiler chickens. Plant Arch. 19:1235–1240.
- Jeong, J. S., and I. H. Kim. 2014. Effect of Bacillus subtilis C-3102 spores as a probiotics feed supplement on growth performance, noxious gas emission, and intestinal microflora in broilers. Poult. Sci. 93:3097–3103.
- Jeurissen, S. H. M., F. Lewis, J. D. van der Klis, Z. Mroz, J. M. J. Rebel, and A. A. H. M. ter Huurne. 2002. Parameters and techniques to determine intestinal health of poultry as constituted by immunity, integrity, and functionality. Curr. Issues Intest. Microbiol. 3:1–14.
- Jha, R., A. K. Singh, S. Yadav, J. F. D. Berrocoso, and B. Mishra. 2019. Early Nutrition Programming (in ovo and Post-hatch Feeding) as a Strategy to Modulate Gut Health of Poultry. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:82.
- Jiang, J. X., and S. Penuela. 2016. Connexin and pannexin channels in cancer. BMC Cell Biol. 17:105–120.
- Jimoh, O., O. Daramola, H. Okin-Aminu, and O. Ojo. 2022. Performance, hemato-biochemical indices and oxidative stress markers of broiler chicken fed phytogenic during heat stress condition. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 64:970–984.
- Jin, L. Z., Y. W. Ho, N. Abdullah, and S. Jalaludin. 2000. Digestive and bacterial enzyme activities in broilers fed diets supplemented with Lactobacillus cultures. Poult. Sci. 79:886–891.
- Joanna, K. G., K. Emilia, and D. Michalina. 2017. *In ovo* feeding Technology of the future A review. Ann. Anim. Sci. 17:997–992.
- Johnson, T. A., M. J. Sylte, and T. Looft. 2019. In-feed bacitracin methylene disalicylate modulates the turkey microbiota and metabolome in a dose-dependent manner. Sci Rep. 9:1-11.

- Johnston, P. A., H. Liu, T. O'Connell, P. Phelps, M. Bland, J. Tyczkowski, A. Kemper, T. Harding, A. Avakian, and E. Haddad. 1997. Applications in in ovo technology. Poult. Sci. 76:165–178.
- Joshi, R., S. Adhikari, B. S. Patro, S. Chattopadhyay, and T. Mukherjee. 2001. Free radical scavenging behavior of folic acid: Evidence for possible antioxidant activity. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 30:1390–1399.
- Jumpertz, R., D. S. Le, P. J. Turnbaugh, C. Trinidad, C. Bogardus, J. I. Gordon, and J. Krakoff. 2011. Energy-balance studies reveal associations between gut microbes, caloric load, and nutrient absorption in humans. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 94:58–65.
- Jung, S. J., R. Houde, B. Baurhoo, X. Zhao, and B. H. Lee. 2008. Effects of galactooligosaccharides and a Bifidobacteria lactis-based probiotic strain on the growth performance and fecal microflora of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 87:1694–1699.
- Kabir, S. M. L., M. M. Rahman, M. B. Rahman, M. M. Rahman, and S. U. Ahmed. 2004. The dynamics of probiotics on growth performance and immune response in broilers. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 3:361–364.
- Kadam, M. M., M. R. Barekatain, S. K Bhanja, and P. A. Iji. 2013. Prospects of in ovo feeding and nutrient supplementation for poultry: The science and commercial applications-a review. J. Sci. Food Agric. 93:3654–3661.
- Kaldhusdal, M. I. 2000. Necrotic enteritis as affected by dietary ingredients. World Poult. 16:42– 43.
- Kanagaraju, P., S. Ravichandran, K. Kumanan, P. Muthusamy, S. Rathnapraba, and G. Srinivasan. 2019. Effect of In ovo Injection of Lactobacillus Acidophilus on the Serum Bio-Chemistry of Commercial Broiler Chicken. Int. J. Livest. Res. 9:106–111.
- Karadas, F., A. Beccaccia, V. Pirgozliev, S. P. Rose, D. Dimitrov, and D. Bravo. 2013. Dietary essential oils improve hepatic vitamin E concentration of chickens reared on recycled litter. Proc. Br. Poult. Abstr. 9:31–32.
- Kennedy, D. O. 2016. B vitamins and the brain: Mechanisms, dose and efficacy—A review. Nutrients 8:68.

- Kers, J. G., F. C. Velkers, E. A. J. Fischer, G. D. A. Hermes, J.A. Stegeman, and H. Smidt. 2018. Host and environmental factors affecting the intestinal microbiota in chickens. Front Microbiol. 9:235.
- Khafar, K. R., A. Mojtahedin, N. Rastegar, M. K. Neytali, and A. Olfati. 2020. Dietary inclusion of thyme essential oil alleviative effects of heat stress on growth performance and immune system of broiler chicks. Iran. J. Appl. Anim. Sci. 9:509–517.
- Khalid, A. R., T. B. Yasoob, Z. Zhang, X. Zhu, and S. Hang. 2022. Dietary Moringa oleifera leaf powder improves jejunal permeability and digestive function by modulating the microbiota composition and mucosal immunity in heat stressed rabbits. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 29:1– 16.
- Khaligh, F., A. Hassanabadi, H. Nassiri-Moghaddam, and G. . Kalidari. 2018. Effect of Probiotic Administration Route and Dietary Nutrient Density on Growth Performance, Gut Health, and some Hematological Variables in Healthy or Eimeria Infected Broiler Chickens. Iran. J. Appl. Anim. Sci. 8:305–315.
- Khalil, O. A., K. S. Ramadan, E. N. Danial, H. S. Alnahdi, and N.O. Ayaz. 2012. Antidiabetic activity of Rosmarinus officinalis and its relationship with the antioxidant property. Afr. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 6:1031–1036.
- Khan, S. and K. K. Chousalkar. 2020. Salmonella Typhimurium infection disrupts but continuous feeding of Bacillus based probiotic restores gut microbiota in infected hens. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:1-16.
- Khattak, F., A. Ronchi, P. Castelli, and N. Sparks. 2014. Effects of natural blend of essential oil on growth performance, blood biochemistry, cecal morphology, and carcass quality of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 93:132–137.
- Khodambashi Emami, N., A. Samie, H. R. Rahmani, and C. A. Ruiz-Feria. 2012. The effect of peppermint essential oil and fructooligosaccharides, as alternatives to virginiamycin, on growth performance, digestibility, gut morphology and immune response of male broilers. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 175:57–64.

- Khoobani, M., S. H. Hasheminezhad, F. Javandel, M. Nosrati, A. Seidavi, I. T. Kadim, V. Laudadio, and V. Tufarelli. 2020. Effects of dietary chicory (Chicorium intybus 1.) and probiotic blend as natural feed additives on performance traits, blood biochemistry, and gut microbiota of broiler chickens. Antibiotics 9:5.
- Khosravinia, H. 2015. Effects of Satureja khuzistanica essential oils in drinking water on mortality, production performance, water intake, and organ weights in broiler chickens reared under heat stress condition. Int. J. Biometeorol. 59:1711–1719.
- Khosravinia, H. 2016. Mortality, production performance, water intake and organ weight of the heat stressed broiler chicken given savory (Satureja khuzistanica) essential oils through drinking water. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 44:273–280.
- Kim, D. K., H. S. Lillehoj, S. H. Lee, S. I. Jang, and D. Bravo. 2010. High-throughput gene expression analysis of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes after oral feeding of carvacrol, cinnamaldehyde, or Capsicum oleoresin. Poult. Sci. 89:68–81.
- Kim, G. B., Y. M. Seo, C. H. Kim, and I. K. Paik. 2011. Effect of dietary prebiotic supplementation on the performance, intestinal microflora, and immune response of broilers. Poult. Sci. 90:75–82.
- Kim, J. A., J. Bayo, J. Cha, Y. J. Choi, M. Y. Jung, D. H. Kim, and Y. Kim. 2018. Investigating the probiotic characteristics of four microbial strains with potential application in feed industry. PLoS One 14: e0218922.
- Kim, S. K., E. Brotslaw, V. Thome, J. Mitchell, R. Ventrella, C. Collins, and B. Mitchell. 2020. A role for Cep70 in centriole amplification in multiciliated cells. Dev. Biol. 471 :10–17.
- Kirkpinar, F., H. B. Ünlü, and G. Özdemir. 2011. Effects of oregano and garlic essential oils on performance, carcase, organ and blood characteristics and intestinal microflora of broilers. Livest. Sci. 137:219–225.
- Kirkpinar, F., H. B. Unlü, M. Serdaroğlu, and G. Y. Turp. 2014. Effects of dietary oregano and garlic essential oils on carcass characteristics, meat composition, colour, pH and sensory quality of broiler meat. Br. Poult. Sci. 55:157–166.

- Kiu, R., J. Brown, H. Bedwell, C. Leclaire, S. Caim, and D. Pickard. 2019. Genomic analysis on broiler-associated Clostridium perfringens strains and exploratory caecal microbiome investigation reveals key factors linked to poultry necrotic enteritis. Anim Microbiome. 1:1-14.
- Klindworth, A., E. Pruesse, T. Schweer, J. Peplies, C. Quast, and M. Horn. 2013. Evaluation of general 16S ribosomal RNA gene PCR primers for classical and next-generation sequencingbased diversity studies. Nucleic Acids Res. 41:e1.
- Knap, I., A. B. Kehlet, M. Bennedsen, G. F. Mathis, C. L. Hofacre, B. S. Lumpkins, M. M. Jensen,M. Raun, and A. Lay. 2011. Bacillus subtilis (DSM17299) significantly reduces Salmonella in broilers. Poult. Sci. 90:1690–1694.
- Knepper, P., M. O'hayer, J. Hoopes, and E. Gabbai. 2019. System and method for in ovo sexing of avian embryos. Novatrans Group Sa Israel, as-signee. Google Patents. U.S. Pat. No. 16/321,261.
- Kogut, M. H. 2019. The effect of microbiome modulation on the intestinal health of poultry. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 250:32-40.
- Kong, L., Z. Wang, C. Xiao, Q. Zhu, and Z. Song. 2022. Glycerol monolaurate attenuated immunological stress and intestinal mucosal injury by regulating the gut microbiota and activating AMPK/Nrf2 signaling pathway in lipopolysaccharide-challenged broilers. Anim Nutr. 10:347–359.
- Kop-Bozbay, C., and N. Ocak. 2019. In ovo injection of branched-chain amino acids: Embryonic development, hatchability and hatching quality of turkey poults. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 103:1135–1142.
- Kouzounis, D., J. G. Kers, N. Soares, H. Smidt, M. A. Kabel, and H. A Schols. 2022. Cereal type and combined xylanase/glucanase supplementation influence the cecal microbiota composition in broilers. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. 13:1-12.
- Krauze, M., K. Abramowicz, and K. Ognik. 2020. The Effect of Addition of Probiotic Bacteria (Bacillus Subtilis or Enterococcus faecium) or Phytobiotic Containing Cinnamon Oil to Drinking Water on the Health and Performance of Broiler Chickens. Ann. Anim. Sci. 20:191–205.

- Kreuzer, S., P. MacHnowska, J. Amus, M. Sieber, R. Pieper, M. F. Schmidt, G. A. Brockmann, L. Scharek-Tedin, and R. Johne. 2012. Feeding of the probiotic bacterium Enterococcus faecium NCIMB 10415 differentially affects shedding of enteric viruses in pigs. Vet. Res. 43:1-12.
- Krisnan, R., Y. Retnani, B. Tangendjaja, R. Mutia, and A. Jayanegara. 2019. In ovo Feeding of Butyric Acid Replacing Antibiotics Function to Increase Poultry Productivity. Indones. Bull. Anim. Vet. Sci. 29:35-42.
- Kulshreshtha, G., B. Rathgeber, J. MacIsaac, M. Boulianne, L. Brigitte, G. Stratton, N. A. Thomas, A. T. Critchley, J. Hafting, and B. Prithiviraj. 2017. Feed Supplementation with Red Seaweeds, Chondrus crispus and Sarcodiotheca gaudichaudii, Reduce Salmonella Enteritidis in Laying Hens. Front. Microbiol. 8:567.
- Kumar, B., R. P. Bhatt, and M. C. Joshi. 1994. Influence of egg weight on hatching indices and posthatching growth of white rock X red cornish broilers at 1200m altitude. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 6:161–165.
- Kumar, S. C., Chen, N. Indugu, G. O. Werlang, M. Singh, and W. K. Kim. 2018. Effect of antibiotic withdrawal in feed on chicken gut microbial dynamics, immunity, growth performance and prevalence of foodborne pathogens. PLoS One.13:e0192450.
- Kwon, T. -J., D. -B, Kim, J. W. Bae, B. Sagong, S. -Y. Choi, H. -J. Cho, U. -K. Kim, and K. -Y. Lee. 2014. Molecular cloning, characterization, and expression of pannexin genes in chicken. Poult. Sci. 93:2253–2261.
- Lan, P. T. N., L. T. Binh, and Y. Benno. 2003. Impact of two probiotics Lactobacillus strains feeding on fecal lactobacilli and weight gains in chicken. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 49:29–36.
- Landwehr, W. C. Wolf, and J. Wink. 2016. Actinobacteria and myxobacteria-two of the most important bacterial resources for novel antibiotics. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 398:273– 302.
- Lapão, C., L. T. Gama, and M. C. Soares. 1999. Effects of broiler breeder age and length of egg storage on albumen characteristics and hatchability. Poult. Sci. 78:640–645.

- Latorre, J. D., X. Hernandez-Velasco, G. Kallapura, A. Menconi, N. R. Pumford, M. J. Morgan, S. L. Layton, L. R. Bielke, B. M. Hargis, and G. Téllez. 2014. Evaluation of germination, distribution, and persistence of *Bacillus subtilis* spores through the gastrointestinal tract of chickens. Poult. Sci. 93:1793–1800.
- Lawrence, B. M., and R. J. Reynolds. 1984. Progress in essential oils. Perfum. Flavorist. 9:61-71.
- Le Roy, C. I., M. J. Woodward, R. J. Ellis, R.M. La Ragione, and S. P. Claus. 2019. Antibiotic treatment triggers gut dysbiosis and modulates metabolism in a chicken model of gastro-intestinal infection. BMC Vet Res. 15:1-13.
- Leão, A. P. A., R. R. Alvarenga, and M. G. Zangeronimo. 2021. *In ovo* inoculation of probiotics for broiler chickens: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 280: 115080.
- Lee, H. -S., and Y. -J. Ahn. 1998. Growth-inhibiting effects of Cinnamomum cassia bark-derived materials on human intestinal bacteria. J. Agric. Food Chem. 46:8–12.
- Lee, J., A. B. Karnuah, R. Rekaya, N. B. Anthony, and S. E. Aggrey. 2015. Transcriptomic analysis to elucidate the molecular mechanisms that underlie feed efficiency in meat-type chickens. Mol. Gen. Genet. MGG. 290:1673–1682.
- Lee, K. -C., D. Y. Kil, and W. J. Sul. 2017. Cecal microbiome divergence of broiler chickens by sex and body weight. J. Microbiol. 55:939–945.
- Lee, K. W., H. Everts, H. J. Kappert, M. Frehner, R. Losa, and A. C. Beynen. 2003. Effects of dietary essential oil components on growth performance, digestive enzymes and lipid metabolism in female broiler chickens. Br. Poult. Sci. 44:450–457.
- Lee, K. W., H. S. Lillehoj, S. I. Jang, and S. H. Lee. 2014. Effects of salinomycin and *Bacillus subtilis* on growth performance and immune responses in broiler chickens. Res. Vet. Sci. 97:305–309.
- Lee, K., and T. Shibamoto. 2002. Determination of antioxidant potential of volatile extracts isolated from various herbs and spices. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50:4947–4952.
- Lee, S. H., H. S. Lillehoj, R. A. Dalloul, D. W. Park, Y. H. Hong, and J. J. Lin. 2007. Influence of Pediococcus-based probiotic on coccidiosis in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 86:63–66.

- Leeson, S., and J. D. Summers. 2001. Scott's nutrition of the chicken. Chapter 5. 4th ed. University books, Guelph, Ontario, Canada.
- Lekshmi, M., P. Ammini, S. Kumar, and M. F. Varela. 2017. The food production environment and the development of antimicrobial resistance in human pathogens of animal origin. Microorganisms 5:11.
- Lemos, M. P. L., M. M.S. Saraiva, E.L. Leite, N.M.V. Silva, P. C. Vasconcelos, and P.F. Giachetto. 2020. The posthatch prophylactic use of ceftiofur affects the cecal microbiota similar to the dietary sanguinarine supplementation in broilers. Poult Sci. 99:6013–6021.
- Leturque, A., E. Brot-Laroche, M. Le Gall, E. Stolarczyk, and V. Tobin. 2005. The role of GLUT2 in dietary sugar handling. J. Physiol. Biochem. 61:529–537.
- Leung, K. Y., S. C. P. De Castro, F. Cabreiro, P. Gustavsson, A. J. Copp, and N. D. E. Greene. 2013. Folate metabolite profiling of different cell types and embryos suggests variation in folate one-carbon metabolism, including developmental changes in human embryonic brain. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 378:229–236.
- Li, C. L., J. Wang, H. J. Zhang, S. G. Wu, Q. R. Hui, C. B. Yang, R. J. Fang, and G. H. Qi. 2019. Erratum: Intestinal morphologic and microbiota responses to dietary Bacillusspp. In a broiler chicken model Frontiers in Physiology 9:1968.
- Li, H., T. Wang, C. Xu, D. Wang, J. Ren, Y. Li, Y. Tian, Y. Wang, Y. Jiao, X. Kang, and X. Liu. 2015. Transcriptome profile of liver at different physiological stages reveals potential mode for lipid metabolism in laying hens. BMC Genom. 16:763.
- Li, J., Y. Xiao, Q. Fan, H. Yang, C. Yang, G. Zhang, and S. Chen. 2022. Dietary Bacitracin Methylene Disalicylate Improves Growth Performance by Mediating the Gut Microbiota in Broilers. Antibiotics 11:818.
- Li, L., D. -Z Lu, Y. -M. Li, X. -Q. Zhang, X. -X. Zhou, and X. Jin. 2014. Proteomic analysis of liver mitochondria from rats with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. World J. Gastroenterol. 20:4778–4786.
- Li, N., Y. Zhao, Y. Shen, Y. Cheng, M. Qiao, L. Song, and X. Huang. 2021. Protective effects of folic acid on oxidative damage of rat spleen induced by lead acetate. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 211:111917.

- Li, Q., G. Wan, C. Peng, L. Xu, Y. Yu, L. Li, and G. Li. 2020. Effect of probiotic supplementation on growth performance, intestinal morphology, barrier integrity, and inflammatory response in broilers subjected to cyclic heat stress. Anim. Sci. J. 91:e13433.
- Li, S., L. Zhi, Y. Liu, J. Shen, L. Liu, J. Yao, and X. Yang. 2016. Effect of *in ovo* feeding of folic acid on the folate metabolism, immune function and epigenetic modification of immune effector molecules of broiler. Br. J. Nutr. 115:411–421.
- Li, W., Z. -Q. He, X. -Y. Zhang, Y. -J. Chen, J. -J. Zuo, and Y. Cao. 2020. Proteome and Transcriptome Analysis of the Antioxidant Mechanism in Chicken Regulated by Eucalyptus Leaf Polyphenols Extract. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev. 2020:1384907.
- Li, X., S. Wu, X. Li, T. Yan, Y. Duan, X. Yang, Y. Duan, Q. Sun, and X. Yang. 2018. Simultaneous supplementation of bacillus subtilisand antibiotic growth promoters by stages improved intestinal function of pullets by altering gut microbiota. Front. Microbiol. 9:2328.
- Li, Y., Q. Xu, Z. Huang, L. Lv, X. Liu, C. Yin, H. Yan, and J. Yuan. 2016. Effect of Bacillus subtilis CGMCC 1.1086 on the growth performance and intestinal microbiota of broilers. J. Appl. Microbiol. 120:195–204.
- Li, Z., B. Wang, H. Li, L. Jian, H. Luo, B. Wang, C. Zhang, X. Zhao, Y. Xue, S. Peng, and S. Zuo. 2020. Maternal Folic Acid Supplementation Differently Affects the Small Intestinal Phenotype and Gene Expression of Newborn Lambs from Differing Litter Sizes. Animals 10:2183.
- Li, Z., W. Wang, D. Liu, and Y. Guo. 2017. Effects of Lactobacillus acidophilus on gut microbiota composition in broilers challenged with Clostridium perfringens. PLoS One. 12:e0188634.
- Libe, R., A. Horvath, D. Vezzosi, A. Fratticci, J. Coste, K. Perlemoine, B. Ragazzon, M. Guillaud-Bataille, L. Groussin, E. Clauser, ... and C. A. Stratakis. 2011. Frequent Phosphodiesterase 11A Gene (PDE11A) Defects in Patients with Carney Complex (CNC) Caused byPRKAR1AMutations:PDE11AMay Contribute to Adrenal and Testicular Tumors in CNC as a Modifier of the Phenotype. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96:E208–E214.
- Lilja, C. A. 1983. Comparative study of postnatal growth and organ development in some species of birds. Growth Dev. Aging. 47:317–339.

- Lillehoj, H. S., D. K. Kim, D. M. Bravo, and S. H. Lee. 2011. Effects of dietary plant-derived phytonutrients on the genome-wide profiles and coccidiosis resistance in the broiler chickens. BMC Proc. 5:S34.
- Lin, W. C., and T. T. Lee. 2021. The laetiporus sulphureus fermented product enhances the antioxidant status, intestinal tight junction, and morphology of broiler chickens. Animals 11:1–15.
- Liu, G., H. Zhu, T. Ma, Z. Yan, Y. Zhang, and Y. Geng. 2020. Effect of chronic cyclic heat stress on the intestinal morphology, oxidative status and cecal bacterial communities in broilers. J Therm Biol. 91:102619.
- Liu, L., M. Ren, K. Ren, Y. Jin, and M. Yan. 2020. Heat stress impacts on broiler performance: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Poult. Sci. 99:6205–6211.
- Liu, W. C., Y. R. Zhu, Z. H. Zhao, P. Jiang, and F. Q. Yin. 2021. Effects of dietary supplementation of algae-derived polysaccharides on morphology, tight junctions, antioxidant capacity and immune response of duodenum in broilers under heat stress. Animals 11:2279.
- Liu, W. C., Z. Y. Pan, Y. Zhao, Y. Guo, S. J. Qiu, B. Balasubramanian, and R. Jha. 2022. Effects of Heat Stress on Production Performance, Redox Status, Intestinal Morphology and Barrier-Related Gene Expression, Cecal Microbiome, and Metabolome in Indigenous Broiler Chickens. Front. Physiol. 13:761.
- Liu, W., Y. Yuan, C. Sun, B. Balasubramanian, Z. Zhao, and L. An. 2019. Effects of dietary betaine on growth performance, digestive function, carcass traits, and meat quality in indigenous yellow-feathered broilers under long-term heat stress. Animals. 9:506.
- Liu, X., W. Liu, Y. Deng, C. He, B. Xiao, S. Guo, X. Zhou, S. Tang, and X. Qu. 2020. Use of encapsulated Bacillus subtilis and essential oils to improve antioxidant and immune status of blood and production and hatching performance of laying hens. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 19:1573– 1581.
- Liu, Y., L. Zhi, J. Shen, S. Li, J. Yao, and X. Yang. 2016. Effect of *in ovo* folic acid injection on hepatic IGF2 expression and embryo growth of broilers. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 7:1-9.

- Love, M. I., W. Huber, and S. Anders. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol. 15:550.
- Lu, J., U. Idris, B. Harmon, C. Hofacre, J. J. Maurer, and M. D. Lee. 2003. Diversity and Succession of the Intestinal Bacterial Community of the Maturing Broiler Chicken. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69:6816–6824.
- Luqman, Z., S. Masood, H. Zaneb, K. A. Majeed, S. Hameed, U. Ikram, S. A. Hadi, W. Haroon,
 M. Zeeshan, M. Farhab, S. Gulzar, S. Ashraf, H. Faseeh, M. Altaf, M. Ali, I. Khan, and A.
 Rehman. 2019. Effect of *in ovo* inoculation on productive performances and histo-physiological traits in commercial birds. IJSER 10:1664-1673.
- Ma, B., L. Zhang, J. Li, T. Xing, Y. Jiang, and F. Gao. 2021. Heat stress alters muscle protein and amino acid metabolism and accelerates liver gluconeogenesis for energy supply in broilers. Poult. Sci. 100:215–223.
- Ma, F., S. Xu, Z. Tang, Z. Li, and L. Zhang. 2021. Use of antimicrobials in food animals and impact of transmission of antimicrobial resistance on humans. Biosaf. Health. 3:32–38.
- Ma, X., Q. Wang, H. Li, C. Xu, N. Cui, and X. Zhao. 2017. 16S rRNA genes Illumina sequencing revealed differential cecal microbiome in specific pathogen free chickens infected with different subgroup of avian leukosis viruses. Veter. Microbiol. 207:195–204.
- Ma, Y. 2013. Effects of dietary inclusion of plant extract mixture and copper into layer diets on egg yield and quality, yolk cholesterol and fatty acid composition. Kafkas Üniversitesi Vet. Fakültesi Derg. 19:4.
- Maatjens, C. M., I. A. M. Reijrink, R. Molenaar, C. W. Van Der Pol, B. Kemp, and H. Van Den Brand. 2014. Temperature and CO2 during the hatching phase. I. Effects on chick quality and organ development. Am. Hist. Rev. 119:645–654.
- Madany, A. M., H. K. Hughes, and P. Ashwood. 2022. Antibiotic Treatment during Pregnancy Alters Offspring Gut Microbiota in a Sex-Dependent Manner. Biomedicines. 10:1042.
- Maenner, K., W. Vahjen, and O. Simon. 2011. Studies on the effects of essential-oil-based feed additives on performance, ileal nutrient digestibility, and selected bacterial groups in the gastrointestinal tract of piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 89:2106–2112.

- Maharshak, N., C. D. Packey, M. Ellermann, S. Manick, J. P. Siddle, E. Young Huh, S. Plevy, R.
 B. Sartor, and I. M. Carroll. 2013. Altered enteric microbiota ecology in interleukin 10deficient mice during development and progression of intestinal inflammation. Gut Microbes 4:316–324.
- Mahmood, T., and Y. Guo. 2020. Dietary fiber and chicken microbiome interaction: Where will it lead to? Anim. Nutr. 6:1–8.
- Maiorano, G., A. Sobolewska, D. Cianciullo, K. Walasik, G. Elminowska-Wenda, A. Slawińska, S. Tavaniello, J. Zylińska, J. Bardowski, and M. Bednarczyk. 2012. Influence of in ovo prebiotic and synbiotic administration on meat quality of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 91:2963–2969.
- Maiorano, G., K. Stadnicka, S. Tavaniello, C. Abiuso, J. Bogucka, and M. Bednarczyk. 2017. In ovo validation model to assess the efficacy of commercial prebiotics on broiler performance and oxidative stability of meat. Poult. Sci. 96:511–518.
- Majidi-Mosleh, A., A. A. Sadeghi, S. N. Mousavi, M. Chamani, and A. Zarei. 2017a. Ileal MUC2 gene expression and microbial population, but not growth performance and immune response, are influenced by in ovo injection of probiotics in broiler chickens. Br. Poult. Sci. 58:40–45.
- Majidi-Mosleh, A., A. A. Sadeghi, S. N. Mousavi, M. Chamani, and A. Zarei. 2017b. Effects of *in ovo* infusion of probiotic strains on performance parameters, jejunal bacterial population and mucin gene expression in broiler chicken. Rev. Bras. Cienc. Avic. 19:97–102.
- Malayoğlu, H. B., Ş. Baysal, Z. Misirlioğlu, M. Polat, H. Yilmaz, and N. Turan. 2010. Effects of oregano essential oil with or without feed enzymes on growth performance, digestive enzyme, nutrient digestibility, lipid metabolism and immune response of broilers fed on wheat–soybean meal diets. Br. Poult. Sci. 51:67–80.
- Mamber, S. W., V. Gurel, J. Lins, F. Ferri, S. Beseme, and J. McMichael. 2020. Effects of cannabis oil extract on immune response gene expression in human small airway epithelial cells (HSAEpC): Implications for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). J. Cannabis Res. 2:5.

- Manafi, M., S. Khalaji, M. Hedayati, and N. Pirany. 2017. Efficacy of Bacillus subtilis and bacitracin methylene disalicylate on growth performance, digestibility, blood metabolites, immunity, and intestinal microbiota after intramuscular inoculation with Escherichia coli in broilers. Poult. Sci. 96:1174–1183.
- Mao, J., Y. Wang, W. Wang, T. Duan, N. Yin, H. Guo, N. Liu, and J. Qi. 2022. Potential Application of Dandelion (Taraxacum Mongolicum Hand.-Mazz.) on Broiler Chickens: Growth Performance, Expression of Tight Junction Protein and Mucin Genes, and Microbiota Composition in Helium.
- Marković, R., D. Šefer, M. Krstić, and B. Petrujkić. 2009. Effect of different growth promoters on broiler performance and gut morphology. Arch. Med. Vet. 41:163–169.
- Martin, M. 2011. Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. EMBnet J. 17:10–12.
- Martínez, I., D. J. Perdicaro, A.W. Brown, S. Hammons, T. J. Carden, T. P. Carr, K. M. Eskridge, and J. Walter. 2013. Diet-induced alterations of host cholesterol metabolism are likely to affect the gut microbiota composition in hamsters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:516–524.
- Mašek, T. and K. Starčević. 2014. Mikulec Einfluss des zusatzes von Thymol, Gerbsäure oder Gallussäure zum Futter auf Leis-tung, Malondialdehyd-Gehalt im serum und die fermentationsleistung im Blinddarm von Broilern. Eur. Poult. Sci. 78:1–8.
- Masood, A., A. S. Qureshi, R. U. Shahid, and H. Jamil. 2020. Effects of Oral Administration of Essential Oil (Mix Oil®) on Growth Performance and Intestinal Morphometry of Japanese Quails (Coturnix coturnix japonica). Pak. Vet. J. 40:2074–7764.
- Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, J. B. R. Matthews, S. Berger, M. Huang, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, B. Zhou, E. Lonnoy, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, K. Leitzell, and N. Caud. 2021. Climate change 2021: the physical science basis. ipcc.ch.
- Mast, J., J. Buyse, and B. M. Goddeeris. 2000. Dietary L-carnitine supplementation increases antigen-specific immunoglobulin G production in broiler chickens. Br. J. Nutr. 83:161–166.

- Mathlouthi, N., T. Bouzaienne, I. Oueslati, F. Recoquillay, M. Hamdi, M. Urdaci, and R. Bergaoui. 2012. Use of rosemary, oregano, and a commercial blend of essential oils in broiler chickens: In vitro antimicrobial activities and effects on growth performance. J. Anim. Sci. 90:813–823.
- Mazalli, M. R., R. R. Maldonado, and E. Aguiar-Oliveira. 2022. Screening and Analysis of Probiotic Actinobacteria in Poultry Farming. 563–569.
- McCormick, C. C., J. D. Garlich, and F. W. Edens. 1979. Fasting and diet affect the tolerance of young chickens exposed to acute heat stress. J. Nutr. 109:1797–1809.
- McDowell, L. 1989. Vitamins in animal nutritional: vitamin C, folacin (L. McDowell, Ed.). Comparativ. Academic Press, London, UK.
- McGruder, B. M., W. Zhai, M. M. Keralapurath, P. D. Gerard, and E. D. Peebles. 2011. Effects of in ovo injection of theophylline and electrolyte solutions on hatchability and growth of broilers from day 0 to day 10 post-hatch. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 10:927–932.
- McKenna, A., U. Z. Ijaz, C. Kelly, M. Linton, W. T. Sloan, B. D. Green, U. Lavery, N. Dorrell, B. W. Wren, A. Richmond, N. Corcionivoschi and O. Gundogdu. 2020. Impact of industrial production system parameters on chicken microbiomes: Mechanisms to improve performance and reduce Campylobacter. Microbiome. 8:1-13.
- Mead, G. C. 1989. Microbes of the avian cecum: Types present and substrates utilized. J Exp Zool. 252:48–54.
- Meehan, C., and R. G. Beiko. 2014. A Phylogenomic View of Ecological Specialization in the Lachnospiraceae, a Family of Digestive Tract-Associated Bacteria. Genome Biol. Evol. 6:703–713.
- Meijerhof, R., and R. M. Hulet. 1997. *In ovo* injection of competitive exclusion culture in broiler hatching eggs. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 6:260–266.
- Meimandipour, A., M. Shuhaimi, A. F. Soleimani, K. Azhar, M. HairBejo, B. M. Kabeir, A. Javanmard, O. Muhammad Anas, and A. M. Yazid. 2010. Selected microbial groups and short-chain fatty acids profile in a simulated chicken cecum supplemented with two strains of Lactobacillus. Poult. Sci. 89:470–476.

- Memon, F. U., Y. Yang, G. Zhang, I. H. Leghari, F. Lv, Y. Wang, F. Laghari, F. A. Khushk, and H. Si. 2022. Chicken Gut Microbiota Responses to Dietary *Bacillus subtilis* Probiotic in the Presence and Absence of Eimeria Infection. Microorganisms 10:1548.
- Mi, H., D. Ebert, A. Muruganujan, C. Mills, L. -P. Albou, T. Mushayamaha, and P. D. Thomas. 2021. PANTHER version 16: A revised family classification, tree-based classification tool, enhancer regions and extensive API. Nucleic Acids Res. 49:D394–D403.
- Miles, R. D., G. D. Butcher, P. R. Henry, and R. C. Littell. 2006. Effect of antibiotic growth promoters on broiler performance, intestinal growth parameters, and quantitative morphology. Poult. Sci. 85:476–485.
- Miśta, D., B. Króliczewska, E. Pecka-Kiełb, V. Kapuśniak, W. Zawadzki, S. Graczyk, A. Kowalczyk, E. Łukaszewicz, and M. Bednarczyk. 2017. Effect of in ovo injected prebiotics and synbiotics on the caecal fermentation and intestinal morphology of broiler chickens. Anim. Prod. Sci. 57:1884–1892.
- Mitsch, P., K. Zitterl-Eglseer, B. Köhler, C. Gabler, R. Losa, and I. Zimpernik. 2004. The effect of two different blends of essential oil components on the proliferation of Clostridium perfringens in the intestines of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 83:669–675.
- Moghadasian, M. H. 2000. Pharmacological properties of plant sterols: In vivo and in vitro observations. Life Sci. 67:605–615.
- Mohd Shaufi, M. A., C. C. Sieo, C. W. Chong, H. M. Gan, and Y. W. Ho. 2015. Deciphering chicken gut microbial dynamics based on high-throughput 16S rRNA metagenomics analyses. Gut Pathog. 7:1-12.
- Mohebodini, H., V. Jazi, A. Ashayerizadeh, M. Toghyani, and G. Tellez-Isaias. 2021. Productive parameters, cecal microflora, nutrient digestibility, antioxidant status, and thigh muscle fatty acid profile in broiler chickens fed with Eucalyptus globulus essential oil. Poult. Sci. 100:10092.
- Mohyuddin, S. G., A. Qamar, C. ying Hu, Y. Li, S. W. Chen, J. ying Wen, M. L. Bao, and X. H. Ju. 2021. Terpinen4-ol inhibits heat stress induced inflammation in colonic tissue by Activating Occludin, Claudin-2 and TLR4/NF-κB signaling pathway. Int. Immunopharmacol. 99:107727.

- Momeneh, T., and M. Torki. 2018. Effects of *in ovo* injection of vitamins B6 and B12 in fertile eggs subjected to ethanol stress on hatching traits, performance and visceral organs of broiler chicks reared under cold stress condition. Iran. J. Appl. Anim. Sci. 8:491–498.
- Mon, K. K. Z., P. Saelao, M.M. Halstead, G. Chanthavixay, H.C. Chang, and L. Garas. 2015. Salmonella enterica serovars enteritidis infection alters the indigenous microbiota diversity in young layer chicks. Front Vet Sci. 2:61.
- Montazeri, S., M. Jafari, and S. Khojasteh. 2014. The Effect of Powder and Essential Oil of Savory Medicinal Plant Me (Satureja hortensis) on Performance and Antioxidant Status of Broiler Chicks under Heat Stress. Iran. J. Appl. Anim. Sci. 4:573–577.
- Moore, J., M. Yousef, and E. Tsiani. 2016. Anticancer effects of rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis L.) extract and rosemary extract polyphenols. Nutrients. 8:731.
- Moreno, S., T. Scheyer, C. S. Romano, and A. A. Vojnov. 2006. Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of rosemary extracts linked to their polyphenol composition. Free Radic. Res. 40:223–231.
- Morovat, M., M. Chamani, A. Zarei, and A. A. Sadeghi. 2016. Dietary but not in ovo feeding of Silybum marianum extract resulted in an improvement in performance, immunity and carcass characteristics and decreased the adverse effects of high temperatures in broilers. Br. Poult. Sci. 57:105–113.
- Mountzouris, K. C., C. Balaskas, I. Xanthakos, A. Tzivinikou, and K. Fegeros. 2009. Effects of a multi-species probiotics on biomarkers of competitive exclusion efficacy in broilers challenged with Salmonella enteritidis. Br. Poult. Sci. 50:467–478.
- Mountzouris, K. C., P. Tsirtsikos, E. Kalamara, S. Nitsch, G. Schatzmayr, and K. Fegeros. 2007. Evaluation of the efficacy of a probiotics containing Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium, Enterococcus, and Pediococcus strains in promoting broiler performance and modulating cecal microflora composition and metabolic activities. Poult. Sci. 86:309–317.
- Mountzouris, K. C., P. Tsitrsikos, I. Palamidi, A. Arvaniti, M. Mohnl, G. Schatzmayr, and K. Fegeros. 2010. Effects of probiotic inclusion levels in broiler nutrition on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, plasma immunoglobulins, and cecal microflora composition. Poult. Sci. 89:58–67.
- Mountzouris, K., V. Paraskevas, P. Tsirtsikos, I. Palamidi, T. Steiner, G. Schatzmayr, and K. Fegeros. 2011. Assessment of a phytogenic feed additive effect on broiler growth performance, nutrient digestibility and caecal microflora composition. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 168:223–231.
- Moustafa, E. S., W. F. Alsanie, A. Gaber, N. N. Kamel, A. A. Alaqil, and A. O. Abbas. 2021. Blue-green algae (Spirulina platensis) alleviates the negative impact of heat stress on broiler production performance and redox status. Animals 11:1243.
- Movahhedkhah, S., B. Rasouli, A. Seidavi, D. Mazzei, V. Laudadio, and V. Tufarelli. 2019. Summer savory (Satureja hortensis L.) extract as natural feed additive in broilers: Effects on growth, plasma constituents, immune response, and ileal microflora. Animals. 9:87.
- Muaz, K., M. Riaz, S. Akhtar, S. Park, and A. Ismail. 2018. Antibiotic residues in chicken meat: Global prevalence, threats, and decontamination strategies: A review. J. Food Prot. 81:619– 627.
- Mujahid, A., Y. Akiba, and M. Toyomizu. 2007. Acute heat stress induces oxidative stress and decreases adaptation in young white leghorn cockerels by downregulation of avian uncoupling protein. Poult. Sci. 86:364–371.
- Munyaka, P. M., H. Echeverry, A. Yitbarek, G. Camelo-Jaimes, S. Sharif, W. Guenter, J. D. House, and J. C. Rodriguez- Lecompte. 2012. Local and systemic innate immunity in broiler chickens supplemented with yeast-derived carbohydrates. Poult. Sci. 91:2164–2172.
- Murugesan, G. R., B. Syed, S. Haldar, and C. Pender. 2015. Phytogenic feed additives as an alternative to antibiotic growth promoters in broiler chickens. Front. Vet. Sci. 2:21.
- N. Karthikeyan, S. N., R. N. B. P. Veeramani, and S. Sivaramakrishnan. 2017. Effect of Organic Acid Salts as an Alternative to Antibiotic Growth Promoters on the Production Performance of Commercial Broiler Chicken. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. Appl. Sci. 6:3470–3480.
- Naderi, N., and J. D. House. 2018. Recent Developments in Folate Nutrition. Adv. Food Nutr. Res. 83:195–213.
- Nadia, R. L., R. A. Hassan, E. M. Qota, and H. M. Fayek. 2008. Effect of natural antioxidant on oxidative stability of eggs and productive and reproductive performance of laying hens. Int. J. Poult. Sci. 7:134–150.

- Najih Jabir Al-Shamery, and and Mohammed Baqur S. Al-Shuhaib. 2015. Effect of *In ovo* Injection of Various Nutrients on the Hatchability, Mortality Ratio and Weight of the Broiler Chickens. IOSR J. Agric. Vet. Sci. 8:30–33.
- Narinç, D., and E. Aydemir. 2021. Chick quality: an overview of measurement techniques and influencing factors. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 77:313–329.
- National Research Council. 1994. Nutrient Requirements of Poultry; The National Academies Press: Washington, DC, USA.
- Nava, G. M., L. R. Bielke, T. R. Callaway, and M. P. Castañeda. 2005. Probiotic alternatives to reduce gastrointestinal infections: the poultry experience. Anim. Heal. Res. Rev. 6:105–118.
- Naveenkumar, S., N. Karthikeyan, R. N. Babu, P. Veeramani, and S. Sivaramakrishnan. 2017. Effect of Organic Acid Salts as an Alternative to Antibiotic Growth Promoters on the Production Performance of Commercial Broiler Chicken. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. Appl. Sci. 6:3470–3480.
- Nawaz, H., M. A. Irshad, M. Ali, and Ahsan-Ul-Haq. 2016. Effect of probiotics on growth performance, nutrient digestibility and carcass characteristics in broilers. J. Anim. Plant Sci. 26:599–604.
- Nazzaro, F., F. Fratianni, L. De Martino, R. Coppola, and V. De Feo. 2013. Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. Pharmaceuticals. 6:1451–1474.
- Negash, T., S. O. Al-Garib, and E. Gruys. 2004. Comparison of in ovo and post-hatch vaccination with particular reference to infectious bursal disease. A. Review. Vet. Q. 26:76–87.
- Nelson, J. R., M.M.A. Ibrahim, E. B. Sobotik, G. Athrey, and G. S. Archer. 2020. Effects of yeast fermentate supplementation on cecal microbiome, plasma biochemistry and ileal histomorphology in stressed broiler chickens. Livest Sci. 240:104149.
- Niewold, T. A. 2007. The nonantibiotic anti-inflammatory effect of antimicrobial growth promoters, the real mode of action? A hypothesis. Poult. Sci. 86:605–609.
- Nigg, E. A., and J. Raff. 2009. Centrioles, Centrosomes, and Cilia in Health and Disease. Cell. 139:663–678.

- Niu, Z. Y., F. Z. Liu, Q. L. Yan, and W. C. Li. 2009. Effects of different levels of vitamin E on growth performance and immune responses of broilers under heat stress. Poult. Sci. 88:2101– 2107.
- N'nanle, O., A. Tété-Bénissan, K. Tona, A. Teteh, K. Voemesse, E. Decuypere, and M. Gbeassor. 2017. Einfluss der in ovo -inokulation eines extraktes aus Moringa olifeira blättern auf die brutfähigkeit und das wachstum der eintagsküken. Eur. Poult. Sci. 81:1–9.
- Nouri, S., J. G. Ghalehkandi, S. Hassanpour, and H. Aghdam-Shahryar. 2018. Effect of In ovo Feeding of Folic Acid on Subsequent Growth Performance and Blood Constituents Levels in Broilers. Int. J. Pept. Res. Ther. 24:463–470.
- Noy, Y., and Z. Uni. 2010. Early nutritional strategies. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 66:639-646.
- NRC. 1994. Nutrient Requirements of Poultry. National Academies Press, Washington DC.
- Nunes, J. O., A. G. Bertechini, J. Á. G. De Brito, É. J. Fassani, F. R. Mesquita, L. Makiyama, and C. Meneghetti. 2012. Evaluation of the use of probiotic (*Bacillus subtilis* C-3102) as additive to improve performance in broiler chicken diets. Rev. Bras. Zootec. 41:2374–2378.
- Nurmi, E., and M. Rantala. 1973. New aspects of Salmonella infection in broiler production. Nature 241:210-211.
- Nykjaer, A., J. C. Fyfe, R. Kozyraki, J. -R. Leheste, C. Jacobsen, M. S. Nielsen, P. J. Verroust, M. Aminoff, A. de la Chapelle, S. K. Moestrup, R. Ray, J. Gliemann, T. E. Willnow, and E. I. Christensen. 2001. Cubilin dysfunction causes abnormal metabolism of the steroid hormone 25(OH) vitamin D3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 98:13895–13900.
- O'Neill, J. 2016. Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations. HM Gov Welcome Trust UK.
- Oakley, B. B, C. A. Morales, J. Line, M.E. Berrang, R.J. Meinersmann, and G.E. Tillman. 2013. The Poultry-Associated Microbiome: Network Analysis and Farm-to-Fork Characterizations. PLoS One.8:e57190.
- Oakley, B. B., H. S. Lillehoj, M. H. Kogut, W. K. Kim, J. J. Maurer, A. Pedroso, M. D. Lee, S. R. Collett, T. J. Johnson, and N. A. Cox. 2014. The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 360:100–112.

- OECD/FAO. 2019. OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2019-2028. OECD. Accessed on April 2020. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/agr_outlook-2019en/1/2/6/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/agr_outlook-2019en&_csp_=4afab97664e9d04bf156440570ccafad&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book
- OECD/FAO. 2022 OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2022–2031. OECD Publishing Paris, France
- OECD-FAO. 2018. Agricultural Outlook 2018-2027. Paris, France.
- Ogawara, H. 2014. Penicillin-binding proteins in Actinobacteria. J Antibiot (Tokyo). Nature Publishing Group. 68:223–245.
- Oh, J. K., E. A. B. Pajarillo, J. P. Chae, I. H. Kim, D. S. Yang, and D. K. Kang. 2017. Effects of Bacillus subtilis CSL2 on the composition and functional diversity of the faecal microbiota of broiler chickens challenged with Salmonella Gallinarum. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 8:1-9.
- Ohimain, E. I., and R. T. S. Ofongo. 2012. The Effect of Probiotic and Prebiotic Feed Supplementation on Chicken Health and Gut Microflora : A Review. Int. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 4:135–143.
- Ohta, Y., and M. T. Kidd. 2001. Optimum site for in ovo amino acid injection in broiler breeder eggs. Poult. Sci. 80:1425–1429.
- Ohta, Y., M. T. Kidd, and T. Ishibashi. 2001. Embryo growth and amino acid concentration profiles of broiler breeder eggs, embryos, and chicks after *in ovo* administration of amino acids. Poult. Sci. 80:1430–143.
- Ohtsu, H., M. Yamazaki, H. Abe, H. Murakami, and M. Toyomizu. 2015. Heat stress modulates cytokine gene expression in the spleen of broiler chickens. 52:282-287.
- Oladokun, S. and D. Adewole. 2022a. Effect of Bacillus subtilis and its delivery route on hatch and growth performance, blood biochemistry, and immune status of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci Annual Meetings. 115. (Abstr.)

- Oladokun, S., A. Koehler, J. MacIsaac, E. M. Ibeagha-Awemu, and D. I. Adewole. 2021b. *Bacillus subtilis* delivery route: effect on growth performance, intestinal morphology, cecal short-chain fatty acid concentration, and cecal microbiota in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 100:100809.
- Oladokun, S., and D. Adewole. 2022b. Biomarkers of heat stress and mechanism of heat stress response in Avian species: Current insights and future perspectives from poultry science. J. Therm. Biol. 110:103332.
- Oladokun, S., and D. I. Adewole. 2020. In ovo delivery of bioactive substances: an alternative to the use of antibiotic growth promoters in poultry production—a review. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 29:744–763.
- Oladokun, S., and D. I. Adewole. 2022c. PSIII-A-3 An Investigation of the Effect of Folic Acid and its Delivery Routes on Broiler Chickens' Hatch and Growth Performance, Blood Biochemistry, and Antioxidant Status. J. Anim. Sci. 100:299–299.
- Oladokun, S., J. Macisaac, B. Rathgeber, and D. Adewole. 2021a. Essential oil delivery route: Effect on broiler chicken's growth performance, blood biochemistry, intestinal morphology, immune, and antioxidant status. Animals 11:3386.
- Oladokun, S., K. F. Clark, and D. I. Adewole. 2022. Microbiota and Transcriptomic Effects of an Essential Oil Blend and Its Delivery Route Compared to an Antibiotic Growth Promoter in Broiler Chickens. Microorganisms 10:861.
- Olgun, O. 2016. The effect of dietary essential oil mixture supplementation on performance, egg quality and bone characteristics in laying hens. Ann. Anim. Sci. 16:1115-1125.
- Olgun, O., and A. Ö. Yıldız. 2014. Effect of dietary supplementation of essential oils mixture on performance, eggshell quality, hatchability, and mineral excretion in quail breeders. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21:13434–13439.
- Olnood, C. G., S. S. M. Beski, P. A. Iji, and M. Choct. 2015. Delivery routes for probiotics: effects on broiler performance, intestinal morphology and gut microflora. Anim. Nutr. 1:192–202.

- Omidi, S., M. Ebrahimi, H. Janmohammadi, G. Moghaddam, Z. Rajabi, and B. Hosseintabar-Ghasemabad. 2020. The impact of in ovo injection of l-arginine on hatchability, immune system and caecum microflora of broiler chickens. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 104:178–185.
- Onuoha, O. I., and H. Udo. 2022. Effect of vitamin C and folate on heat-stressed chickens' egg quality and daily egg production. irjstem.com 2:204–215.
- Opoola, E., C. Z. Kahuwai, and T. S. Olugbemi. 2021. Evaluation of the performance characteristics, nutrient digestibility and carcass quality of broiler chickens fed Lacto acidophilus® as a replacement for a commercial antibiotic. Niger. J. Anim. Prod. 48:166–174.
- Orhan, C., O. Kucuk, N. Sahin, M. Tuzcu, and K. Sahin. 2020. Effects of taurine supplementation on productive performance, nutrient digestibility and gene expression of nutrient transporters in quails reared under heat stress. J. Therm. Biol. 92:102668.
- Osler, M. E., M. S. Chang, and D. M. Bader. 2005. Bves modulates epithelial integrity through an interaction at the tight junction. J. Cell Sci. 118:4667–4678.
- Osman, M., H. M. Yakout, H. F. Motawe, and W. F. E. El-Arab. 2010. Productive, physiological, immunological and economical effects of supplementing natural feed additives to broiler diets. Egypt. Poult. Sci. J. 30:25–53.
- Oviedo-Rondón, E. O., A. E. Murakami, A. C. Furlan, I. Moreira, and M. Macari. 2001. Sodium and chloride requirements of young broiler chickens fed corn-soybean diets (one to twentyone days of age). Poult. Sci. 80:592–598.
- Oviedo-Rondón, E. O., M. E. Hume, N. A. Barbosa, N. K. Sakomura, G. Weber, J. W. Wilson. 2010. Ileal and Caecal Microbial Populations in Broilers Given Specific Essential Oil Blends and Probiotics in two Consecutive Grow-Outs. Avian Biol. Res. 3:157–169.
- Owens, B., L. Tucker, M. A. Collins, and K. J. McCracken. 2008. Effects of different feed additives alone or in combination on broiler performance, gut microflora and ileal histology. Br. Poult. Sci. 49:202–212.

- Ozdogan, M., E. Topal, E. P. Paksuz, and S. Kirkan. 2014. Effect of different levels of crude glycerol on the morphology and some pathogenic bacteria of the small intestine in male broilers. Animal 8:36–42.
- Padmashree, A., N. Roopa, A. D. Semwal, G. K. Sharma, G. Agathian, and A. S. Bawa. 2007. Star-anise (Illicium verum) and black caraway (Carum nigrum) as natural antioxidants. Food Chem. 104:59–66.
- Paiva, D., and A. McElroy. 2014. Necrotic enteritis: Applications for the poultry industry. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 23:557–566.
- Pandit, R. J., A. T. Hinsu, N. V. Patel, P. G. Koringa, S. J. Jakhesara, J. R. Thakkar, T. M. Shah, G. Limon, A. Psifidi, J. Guitian, D. A. Hume, F. M. Tomley, D. N. Rank, M. Raman, K. G. Tirumurugaan, D. P. Blake, and C. G. Joshi. 2018. Microbial diversity and community composition of caecal microbiota in commercial and indigenous Indian chickens determined using 16s rDNA amplicon sequencing. Microbiome. 6:1-13.
- Paraskeuas, V., and K. C. Mountzouris. 2019. Broiler gut microbiota and expressions of gut barrier genes affected by cereal type and phytogenic inclusion. Anim. Nutr. 5:22–31.
- Park, I., Y. Lee, D. Goo, N. Zimmerman, A. Smith, T. Rehberger, and H. S. Lillehoj. 2020. The effects of dietary Bacillus subtilis supplementation, as an alternative to antibiotics, on growth performance, intestinal immunity, and epithelial barrier. Poult. Sci. 99:725–733.
- Parks, D. H., G. W. Tyson, P. Hugenholtz, and R. G. Beiko. 2014. STAMP: Statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles. Bioinformatics. 30:3123–3124.
- Pathak, M., G. P. Mandal, A. K. Patra, I. Samanta, S. Pradhan, and S. Haldar. 2017. Effects of dietary supplementation of cinnamaldehyde and formic acid on growth performance, intestinal microbiota and immune response in broiler chickens. Anim. Prod. Sci. 57:821–827.
- Patra, A. K. 2020. Influence of Plant Bioactive Compounds on Intestinal Epithelial Barrier in Poultry. Mini-Reviews Med. Chem. 20:566–577.
- Patra, A. K., and I. Kar. 2021. Heat stress on microbiota composition, barrier integrity, and nutrient transport in gut, production performance, and its amelioration in farm animals. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 63:211–247.

- Patric Joshua, P., C. Valli, and V. Balakrishnan. 2016. Effect of in ovo supplementation of nano forms of zinc, copper, and selenium on post-hatch performance of broiler chicken. Vet. World 9:287–294.
- Patterson, J. A., and K. M. Burkholder. 2003. Application of prebiotics and probiotics in poultry production. Poult. Sci. 82:627–631.
- Paul, S. K., G. Halder, M. K. Mondal, and G. Samanta. 2007. Effect of organic acid salt on the performance and gut health of broiler chicken. Poult. Sci. 44:389-395.
- Paulson, J. N., O. Colin Stine, H. C. Bravo, and M. Pop. 2013. Differential abundance analysis for microbial marker-gene surveys. Nat. Methods 10:1200–1202.
- Pearson, J. T., M. A. Haque, P. C. L. Hou, and H. Tazawa. 1996. Developmental patterns of O2 consumption, heart rate and O2 pulse in unturned eggs. Respir. Physiol. 103:83–87.
- Pedroso, A. A. 2009. Which came first : the egg or its microbiota? Poult. Inf. Prof. 109:1–5.
- Pedroso, A. A., A. B. Batal, and M. D. Lee. 2016. Effect of in ovo administration of an adultderived microbiota on establishment of the intestinal microbiome in chickens. Am. J. Vet. Res. 77:514–526.
- Peebles, E. D. 2018. In ovo applications in poultry: A review. Poult. Sci. 97:2322–2338.
- Peebles, E. D. 2019. *In ovo* development of the chicken gut microbiome and its impact on later gut function. taylorfrancis.com. 95–120.
- Pender, C. M., S. Kim, T. D. Potter, M. M. Ritzi, M. Young, and R. A. Dalloul. 2016. Effects of in ovo supplementation of probiotics on performance and immunocompetence of broiler chicks to an Eimeria challenge. Benef. Microbes 7:699–705.
- Pender, C. M., S. Kim, T. D. Potter, M. M. Ritzi, M. Young, and R. A. Dalloul. 2017. *In ovo* supplementation of probiotics and its effects on performance and immune-related gene expression in broiler chicks. Poult. Sci. 96:1052–1062.
- Peng, Q. Y., J. D. Li, Z. Li, Z. Y. Duan, and Y. P. Wu. 2016. Effects of dietary supplementation with oregano essential oil on growth performance, carcass traits and jejunal morphology in broiler chickens. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 214:148–153.

- Perai, A. H., H. Kermanshahi, H. N. Moghaddam, and A. Zarban. 2015. Effects of chromium and chromium+ vitamin C combination on metabolic, oxidative, and fear responses of broilers transported under summer conditions. Int. J. Biometeorol. 59:453–462.
- Perloff, B. P., and R. R. Butrum. 1977. Folacin in selected foods. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 70:161–172.
- Perumbakkam, S., H.D. Hunt, and H. H. Cheng. 2014. Marek's disease virus influences the core gut microbiome of the chicken during the early and late phases of viral replication. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 90:300–312.
- Pham, V. H., L. Kan, J. Huang, Y. Geng, W. Zhen, Y. Guo, W. Abbas, and Z. Wang. 2020. Dietary encapsulated essential oils and organic acids mixture improves gut health in broiler chickens challenged with necrotic enteritis. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:1-18.
- Pilarski, R., M. Bednarczyk, M. Lisowski, A. Rutkowski, Z. Bernacki, M. Wardeńska, and K. Gulewicz. 2005. Assessment of the effect of α-galactosides injected during embryogenesis on selected chicken traits. Folia Biol. (Praha). 53:13–20.
- Pimentel, J. L., and M. E. Cook. 1987. Suppressed humoral immunity in chicks fed diets deficient in sodium, chloride, or both sodium and chloride. Poult. Sci. 66:2005–2010.
- Pinchasov, Y. 1991. Relationship between the weight of hatching eggs and subsequent early performance of broiler chicks. Br. Poult. Sci. 32:109–115.
- Pizzale, L., R. Bortolomeazzi, S. Vichi, E. Überegger, and L. S. Conte. 2002. Antioxidant activity of sage (Salvia officinalis and S fruticosa) and oregano (Origanum onites and O indercedens) extracts related to their phenolic compound content. J. Sci. Food Agric. 82:1645–1651.
- Pohl, H. R., J. S. Wheeler, and H. E. Murray. 2013. Sodium and potassium in health and disease. Met. Ions Life Sci. 13:29–47.
- Polansky, O., Z. Sekelova, M. Faldynova, A. Sebkova, F. Sisak, and I. Rychlik. 2016. Important Metabolic Pathways and Biological Processes Expressed by Chicken Cecal Microbiota. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 82:1569–1576.
- Pond, W. 2005. Basic Animal Nutriton and Feeding. 5th ed. John Willey and Sons Inc, New York.

- Pourabedin, M., L. Guan, and X. Zhao. 2015. Xylo-oligosaccharides and virginiamycin differentially modulate gut microbial composition in chickens. Microbiome. BioMed Central Ltd. 3:1-12.
- Prabakar, G., S. Pavulraj, S. Shanmuganathan, A. Kirubakaran, and N. Mohana. 2016. Early nutrition and its importance in poultry: a review. Indian J. Anim. Nutr. 33:245-252.
- Proctor, A., and G. J. Phillips. 2019. Differential effects of bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD) on the distal colon and cecal microbiota of young broiler chickens. Front Vet Sci. 6:114.
- Proszkowiec-Weglarz, M., K. B. Miska, L. L. Schreier, C. J. Grim, K. G. Jarvis, J. Shao, S. Vaessen, R. Sygall, M. C. Jenkins, S. Kahl, and B. Russell. 2020. Research Note: Effect of butyric acid glycerol esters on ileal and cecal mucosal and luminal microbiota in chickens challenged with Eimeria maxima. Poult. Sci. 99:5143–5148.
- Qin, C., L. Gong, X. Zhang, Y. Wang, Y. Wang, B. Wang, Y. Li, and W. Li. 2018. Effect of Saccharomyces boulardii and *Bacillus subtilis* B10 on gut microbiota modulation in broilers. Anim. Nutr. 4:358–366.
- Qing, X., D.Zeng, H.Wang, X.Ni, L.Liu, J.Lai. 2017. Preventing subclinical necrotic enteritis through Lactobacillus johnsonii BS15 by ameliorating lipid metabolism and intestinal microflora in broiler chickens. AMB Express. Springer Verlag. 7:1-12.
- Quinteiro-Filho, W. M., A. Ribeiro, V. Ferraz-de-Paula, M. L. Pinheiro, M. Sakai, L. R. M. Sá, A. J. P. Ferreira, and J. Palermo-Neto. 2010. Heat stress impairs performance parameters, induces intestinal injury, and decreases macrophage activity in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 89:1905–1914.
- Quinteiro-Filho, W. M., A. V. S. Gomes, M. L. Pinheiro, A. Ribeiro, V. Ferraz-de-Paula, C. S. Astolfi-Ferreira, A. J. P. Ferreira, and J. Palermo-Neto. 2012. Heat stress impairs performance and induces intestinal inflammation in broiler chickens infected with Salmonella Enteritidis. Avian Pathol. 41:421–427.
- Ramnath, V., P. S. Rekha, and K. S. Sujatha. 2008. Amelioration of heat stress induced disturbances of antioxidant defense system in chicken by Brahma Rasayana. Evidence-based Complement. Altern. Med. 5:77–84.

- Raza, M., A. Biswas, N. A. Mir, and A. B. Mandal. 2019. Butyric acid as a promising alternative to antibiotic growth promoters in broiler chicken production. J. Agric. Sci. 157:55–62.
- Reddy, D. V. 2011. Feed Additive and their Use in Livestock and Poultry Feeding. 2nd edition. Oxford and IBH Publications, New Delhi.
- Reijrink, I. A. M., R. Meijerhof, B. Kemp, E. A. M. Graat, and H. van den Brand. 2009. Influence of prestorage incubation on embryonic development, hatchability, and chick quality. Poult. Sci. 88:2649–2660.
- Reis, L. H., L. T. Gama, and M. Chaveiro Soares. 1997. Effects of Short Storage Conditions and Broiler Breeder Age on Hatchability, Hatching Time, and Chick Weights. Poult. Sci. 76:1459–1466.
- Ren, H., W. Vahjen, T. Dadi, E. -M. Saliu, F. G. Boroojeni, and J. Zentek. 2019. Synergistic Effects of Probiotics and Phytobiotics on the Intestinal Microbiota in Young Broiler Chicken. Microorganisms. 7:684.
- Ren, J., Y. Li, N. Xu, H. Li, C. Li, R. Han, Y. Wang, Z. Li, X. Kang, X. Liu, and Y. Tian. 2017. Association of estradiol on expression of melanocortin receptors and their accessory proteins in the liver of chicken (Gallus gallus). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 240:182–190.
- Renaudeau, D., A. Collin, S. Yahav, V. De Basilio, J. L. Gourdine, and R. J. Collier. 2012. Adaptation to hot climate and strategies to alleviate heat stress in livestock production. Animal. 6:707–728.
- Retes, P. L., A. H. S. Clemente, D. G. Neves, M. Espósito, L. Makiyama, R. R. Alvarenga, L. J. Pereira, and M. G. Zangeronimo. 2018. In ovo feeding of carbohydrates for broilers—a systematic review. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 102:361–369.
- Rewatkar, H., S. Wankhede, J. Agashe, R. Padole, A. jadhao, and G. Jadhao. 2019. The Effect of Supplementation of Oregano Oil and Probiotic on Intestinal Microbes (E. coli spp, Salmonella spp, Clostridia spp.) of the Broiler Chicken. Int. J. Livest. Res. 8:1.
- Reyer, H., J. Zentek, K. Männer, I. M. I. Youssef, T. Aumiller, J. Weghuber, K. Wimmers, and A. S. Mueller. 2017. Possible molecular mechanisms by which an essential oil blend from star anise, rosemary, thyme, and oregano and saponins increase the performance and ileal protein digestibility of growing broilers. J. Agric. Food Chem. 65:6821–6830.

- Ri, C. -S., X. -R. Jiang, M. -H. Kim, J. Wang, H. -J. Zhang, S. -G. Wu, V. Bontempo, and G. -H Qi. 2017. Effects of dietary oregano powder supplementation on the growth performance, antioxidant status and meat quality of broiler chicks. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 16:246–252.
- Riccio, P., and R.Rossano. 2018. Diet, Gut Microbiota, and Vitamins D + A in Multiple Sclerosis. Neurotherapeutics. Springer New York LLC. 15:75–91.
- Ricks, C. A., A. Avakian, T. Bryan, R. Gildersleeve, E. Haddad, R. Ilich, S. King, L. Murray, P. Phelps, and R. Poston. 1999. In ovo vaccination technology. Adv. Vet. Med. 41:495–515.
- Ricks, C. A., N. Mendu, and P. V Phelps. 2003. The embryonated egg: a practical target for genetic based advances to improve poultry production. Poult. Sci. 82:931–938.
- Ringer, R. K., H. S. Weiss, and P. D. Sturkie. 1957. Heart Rate of Chickens as Influenced by Age and Gonadal Hormones. Am. J. Physiol. Content. 191:145–147.
- Rinttilä, T., and J. Apajalahti. 2013. Intestinal microbiota and metabolites—Implications for broiler chicken health and performance. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 22:647–658.
- Rizk, Y. S., A F Ibrahim, M. K. Mansour, H. S. Mohamed, A. E. El-Slamony, and A. A. M. Soliman. 2017. Effect of Dietary Source of Selenium on Productive and Reproductive Performance of Sinai Laying Hens Under Heat Stress Conditions. Poult. Sci. 37:461–489.
- Robel, E. J. 1993a. Evaluation of egg injection method of pantothenic acid in turkey eggs and effect of supplemental pantothenic acid on hatchability. Poult. Sci. 72:1740–1745.
- Robel, E. J. 1993b. Evaluation of egg injection of folic acid and effect of supplemental folic acid on hatchability and poult weight. Poult. Sci. 72:546–553.
- Robel, E. J. 2002. Assessment of dietary and egg injected d-biotin, pyridoxine and folic acid on turkey hatchability: Folic acid and poult weight. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 58:305–315.
- Roberfroid, M. 2007. Prebiotics: The Concept Revisited. J. Nutr. 137:830S-837S.
- Rodrigues, D. R., W.Briggs, A.Duff, K.Chasser, R.Murugesan, and C.Pender. 2020. Cecal microbiome composition and metabolic function in probiotic treated broilers. PLoS One. 15:e0225921.
- Rognes, T., T. Flouri, B. Nichols, C. Quince, F. Mahé. 2016. VSEARCH: A versatile open source tool for metagenomics. PeerJ. 4:e2584.

Rostagno, M. H. 2020. Effects of heat stress on the gut health of poultry. J Anim Sci. 98:90.

- Roto, S. M., P. M. Rubinelli, and S. C. Ricke. 2015. An introduction to the avian gut microbiota and the effects of yeast-based prebiotictype compounds as potential feed additives. Front. Vet. Sci. 2:28.
- Roto, S. M., Y. M. Kwon, and S. C. Ricke. 2016. Applications of In Ovo technique for the optimal development of the gastrointestinal tract and the potential influence on the establishment of its microbiome in poultry. Front. Vet. Sci. 3:1–13.
- Rowland, I., G. Gibson, A. Heinken, K. Scott, J. Swann, I. Thiele, and K. Tuohy. 2018. Gut microbiota functions: Metabolism of nutrients and other food components. Eur. J. Nutr. 57:1– 24.
- Rowsell, H. C. 1990. Canadian Council on Animal Care: Its Role. ILAR J. 32:39-40.
- Rowsell, H. C. 2021. Canadian Council on Animal Care: Its Role. Accessed on Oct 2021. https://www.ccac.ca/en/CCAC_Programs/Guidelines_Policies/GUIDES/ENGLISH/toc_v1. htm.
- Royan, M. 2017. The immune-genes regulation mediated mechanisms of probiotics to control salmonella infection in chicken. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 73:603–610.
- Ruan, D., Q. Fan, A. M. Fouad, Y. Sun, S. Huang, A. Wu, C. Lin, Z. Kuang, C. Zhang, and S. Jiang. 2021. Effects of dietary oregano essential oil supplementation on growth performance, intestinal antioxidative capacity, immunity, and intestinal microbiota in yellow-feathered chickens. J. Anim. Sci. 99:skab033.
- Ruff, J., T. L. Barros, G. Tellez, J. Blankenship, H. Lester, B. D. Graham, C. A. M. Selby, C. N. Vuong, S. Dridi, E. S. Greene, X. Hernandez-Velasco, B. M. Hargis, and G. Tellez-Isaias. 2020. Research Note: Evaluation of a heat stress model to induce gastrointestinal leakage in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 99:1687–1692.
- Ruíz-López, B., M. Rangel-Lugo, and R. E. Austic. 1993. Effects of selected minerals on acidbase balance and tibial dyschondroplasia in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 72:1693–1704.
- Russ, P. K., A. I. Kupperman, S. H. Presley, and F. R. Haselton. 2010. Chang, M.S. Inhibition of RhoA Signaling with Increased Bves in Trabecular Meshwork Cells. Investig. Opthalmol. Vis. Sci. 51:223–230.

- Ryzner, M., J. Takáčová, K. Čobanová, I. Plachá, K. Venglovská, and Š. Faix. 2013. Effect of dietary Salvia officinalis essential oil and sodium selenite supplementation on antioxidative status and blood phagocytic activity in broiler chickens. Acta Vet. Brno. 82:43–48.
- Saadat Shad, H., M. Mazhari, O. Esmaeilipour, and H. Khosravinia. 2016. Effects of thymol and carvacrol on productive performance, antioxidant enzyme activity and certain blood metabolites in heat stressed broilers. Iran. J. Appl. Anim. Sci. 6:195–202.
- Sabino, M., S. Capomaccio, K. Cappelli, A. Verini-Supplizi, L. Bomba, P. A. Marsan, G. Cobellis,
 O. Olivieri, C. Pieramati, and M. Trabalza-Marinucci. 2018. Oregano dietary supplementation modifies the liver transcriptome profile in broilers: RNASeq analysis. Res. Veter. Sci. 117:85–91.
- Safdari-Rostamabad, M., S. J. Hosseini-Vashan, A. H. Perai, and H. Sarir. 2017. Nanoselenium Supplementation of Heat-Stressed Broilers: Effects on Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Blood Metabolites, Immune Response, Antioxidant Status, and Jejunal Morphology. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 178:105–116.
- Sahin, K., and O. Kucuk. 2003. Heat stress and dietary vitamin supplementation of poultry diets. CABI Rev. 2003.
- Sahin, K., M. O. Smith, M. Onderci, N. Sahin, M. F. Gursu, and O. Kucuk. 2005. Supplementation of zinc from organic or inorganic source improves performance and antioxidant status of heat-distressed quail. Poult. Sci. 84:882–887.
- Saki, A. A., and J. Salary. 2015. The impact of in ovo injection of silver nanoparticles, thyme and savory extracts in broiler breeder eggs on growth performance, lymphoid-organ weights, and blood and immune parameters of broiler chicks. Poult. Sci. J. 3:165–172.
- Salahi, A., S. N. Mousavi, F. Foroudi, M. M. Khabisi, and M. Norozi. 2011. Effects of in ovo injection of butyric acid in broiler breeder eggs on hatching parameters, chick quality and performance. Glob. Vet. 7:468–477.
- Salehifar, E., N. N. Kashani, and A. H. Nameghi. 2017. Effect of lemon pulp powder on growth performance, serum components and intestinal morphology of broilers exposed to high ambient temperature. J. Livest. Sci. 8:155–162.

- Salem, H. M., A. H. Alqhtani, A. A. Swelum, A. O. Babalghith, S. J. Melebary, S. M. Soliman,
 A. F. Khafaga, S. Selim, M. T. El-Saadony, K. A. El-Tarabily, and M. E. Abd El-Hack. 2022.
 Heat stress in poultry with particular reference to the role of probiotics in its amelioration:
 An updated review. J. Therm. Biol. 108:103302.
- Salim, H. M., H. K. Kang, N. Akter, D. W. Kim, J. H. Kim, M. J. Kim, J. C. Na, H. B. Jong, H. C. Choi, O. S. Suh, and W. K. Kim. 2013. Supplementation of direct-fed microbials as an alternative to antibiotic on growth performance, immune response, cecal microbial population, and ileal morphology of broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 92:2084–2090.
- Salmanzadeh, M., H. Aghdam Shahryar, and A. Lotfi. 2015. Effect of in ovo Feeding of Butyric Acid on Hatchability, Performance and Small Intestinal Morphology of Turkey Poults. Kafkas Univ. Vet. Fak. Derg. 21:19–25.
- Sang-Oh, P., R. Chae-Min, P. Byung-Sung, and H. Jong. 2013. The meat quality and growth performance in broiler chickens fed diet with cinnamon powder. J. Environ. Biol. 34:127.
- Santos, A., F. J. Giráldez, E. Trevisi, L. Lucini, J. Frutos, and S. Andrés. 2018. Liver transcriptomic and plasma metabolomic profiles of fattening lambs are modified by feed restriction during the suckling period1. J. Anim. Sci. 96:1495–1507.
- Santos, R. R., A. Awati, P. J. Roubos-van den Hil, T. A. T. G. van Kempen, M. H. G. Tersteeg-Zijderveld, P. A. Koolmees, C. Smits, and J. Fink-Gremmels. 2019. Effects of a feed additive blend on broilers challenged with heat stress. Avian Pathol. 48:582–601.
- Santoso, U., S. Ohtani, K. Tanaka, and M. Sakaida. 1999. Dried Bacillus subtilis Culture reduced Ammonia gas Release in poultry House. Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 12:806–809.
- Savaram, V. R. R., V. L. N. R. Mantena, S. S. Paul, N. Devanaboyina, S. Thota, P. Bhukya, and R. Ullengala. 2022. Enhancement of performance and anti-oxidant variables in broiler chicken fed diets containing sub-optimal methionine level with graded concentrations of sulphur and folic acid. Anim. Biosci. 35:721–729.
- Schijns, V. E. J. C., S. van de Zande, B. Lupiani, and S. M. Reddy. 2014. Practical aspects of poultry vaccination. Avian Immunol 345–362.
- Schmittgen, T. D., and K. J. Livak. 2008. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. Nat. Protoc. 3:1101–1108.

- Schneeberger, E. E., and R. D. Lynch. 2004. The tight junction: A multifunctional complex. Am. J. Physiol. - Cell Physiol. 286:c1213-c1228.
- Schokker, D., A. J. M. Jansman, G. Veninga, N. de Bruin, S. A. Vastenhouw, and F. M. de Bree. 2017. Perturbation of microbiota in one-day old broiler chickens with antibiotic for 24 hours negatively affects intestinal immune development. BMC Genomics. 18:1
- Schröder, C., M. Selig, and P.Schönheit. 1994. Glucose fermentation to acetate, CO2 and H2 in the anaerobic hyperthermophilic eubacterium Thermotoga maritima: involvement of the Embden-Meyerhof pathway. Arch Microbiol. 161:460–70.
- Scocco, P., C.Forte, M.P.Franciosini, F.Mercati, P.Casagrande-Proietti, and C. Dall'Aglio. 2017. Gut complex carbohydrates and intestinal microflora in broiler chickens fed with oregano (Origanum vulgare L.) aqueous extract and vitamin E. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. 101:676–84.
- Scott, K. P., I. Lenoir-wijnkoop, G. R. Gibson, K. P. Scott, R. A. Rastall, K. M. Tuohy, A. Hotchkiss, A. Dubert-ferrandon, M. Gareau, E. F. Murphy, D. Saulnier, G. Loh, S. Macfarlane, and N. Delzenne. 2016. Dietary prebiotics : Current status and new definition Dietary prebiotics : current status and new definition. Food Sci Technol Bull Funct Foods. 7:1-19.
- Seifert, S., and B. Watzl. 2007. Inulin and Oligofructose: Review of Experimental Data on Immune Modulation. J. Nutr. 137:2563S–2567S.
- Sekizaki, T., H. Nishiya, S. Nakajima, M. Nishizono, M. Kawano, M. Okura, D. Takamatsu, H. Nishino, T. Ishiji, and R. Osawa. 2008. Endocarditis in chickens caused by Subclinical infection of Streptococcus gallolyticus subsp. gallolyticus. Avian Dis. 52:183–186.
- Sen, S., S. L. Ingale, Y. W. Kim, J. S. Kim, K. H. Kim, J. D. Lohakare, E. K. Kim, H. S. Kim, M. H. Ryu, I. K. Kwon, and B. J. Chae. 2012. Effect of supplementation of Bacillus subtilis LS 1-2 to broiler diets on growth performance, nutrient retention, caecal microbiology and small intestinal morphology. Res. Vet. Sci. 93:264–268.
- Sender, R., S. Fuchs, and R. Milo. 2016. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol. 14: e1002533.

- Sethiya, N. K. 2016. Review on natural growth promoters available for improving gut health of poultry: An alternative to antibiotic growth promoters. Asian J. Poult. Sci. 10:1–29.
- Shaik, A. P., A. H. AlSaeed, S. Kiranmayee, V. Bammidi, and A. Sultana. 2013. Phylogenetic analysis of cubilin (CUBN) gene. Bioinformation. 9:29–36.
- Shang, Q., S. Liu, T. He, H. Liu, S. Mahfuz, X. Ma, and X. Piao. 2020. Effects of wheat bran in comparison to antibiotics on growth performance, intestinal immunity, barrier function, and microbial composition in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 99:4929–4938.
- Shang, Y., A. Regassa, J. H. Kim, and W. K. Kim. 2015. The effect of dietary fructooligosaccharide supplementation on growth performance, intestinal morphology, and immune responses in broiler chickens challenged with Salmonella Enteritidis lipopolysaccharides. Poult. Sci. 94:2887–2897.
- Shang, Y., S. Kumar, B. Oakley, and W. K. Kim. 2018. Chicken GutMicrobiota: Importance and Detection Technology. Front. Veter. Sci. 5:254.
- Shanmugavelu, S., T. Acamovic, and A. J. Cowieson. 2004. Spring meeting of the WPSA UK branch posters: Effect of thyme oil and garlic powder on the nutritive value of soybean meal. Br. Poult. Sci. 45:S54–S55.
- Sharma, J. M., and B. R. Burmester. 1982. Resistance of Marek's Disease at Hatching in Chickens Vaccinated as Embryos with the Turkey Herpesvirus. Avian Dis. 26:134-149.
- Sharma, J. M., and B. R. Burmester. 1984. Disease control in avian species by embryonal vaccination. US Department of Agriculture. U.S. Pat No. 4,458,630.
- Shi, D., L. Bai, Q. Qu, S. Zhou, M. Yang, S. Guo, Q. Li, and C. Liu. 2019. Impact of gut microbiota structure in heat-stressed broilers. Poult. Sci. 98:2405–2413.
- Shi, X., J. Wang, Y. Yang, J. Ren, J. Zhou, D. Li. 2012. Cep70 promotes microtubule assembly in vitro by increasing microtubule elongation. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. 44:450–454.
- Shi, X., Y. Yao, Y. Wang, Y. Zhang, Q. Huang, J. Zhou, M. Liu, and D. Li. 2015. Cep70 regulates microtubule stability by interacting with HDAC6. FEBS Lett. 589:1771–1777.
- Shojadoost, B., A. R. Vince, and J. F. Prescott. 2012. The successful experimental induction of necrotic enteritis in chickens by Clostridium perfringens: a critical review. Vet. Res. 43:74.

- Shourrap, M. I. 2013. Expression in Broiler Chicks As Affected By Folic Acid Administration and Embryonic Thermal Conditioning . Egypt. J. Nutr. Feed. 16:295–306.
- Silva, V. K., J. D. T. da Silva, R. A. Gravena, R. H. Marques, F. H. Hada, and V. M. B. de Moraes. 2010. Yeast extract and prebiotic in pre-initial phase diet for broiler chickens raised under different temperatures. Rev. Bras. Zootec. 39:165–174.
- Silva-Guillen, Y., C. Arellano, G. Martínez, and E. Van Heugten. 2020. Growth performance, oxidative stress, and antioxidant capacity of newly weaned piglets fed dietary peroxidized lipids with vitamin E or phytogenic compounds in drinking water. Appl. Anim. Sci. 36:341– 351.
- Singh, G., I. P. S. Kapoor, S. K. Pandey, U. K.; Singh, and R. K. Singh. 2002. Studies on essential oils: Part 10; antibacterial activity of volatile oils of some spices. Phyther. Res. Int. J. Devoted Pharmacol. Toxicol. Eval. Nat. Prod. Deriv. 16:680–682.
- Singh, M., R. K. Srivastava, S. S. Chauhan, and K. S. Singh. 2000. Responses of virginiamycin and bacitracin methylene disalicylate on the weight gains and nutrient utilization of broiler chicken. Indian J. Poult. Sci. 35:272–275.
- Siwek, M., A. Slawinska, K. Stadnicka, J. Bogucka, A. Dunislawska, and M. Bednarczyk. 2018. Prebiotics and synbiotics – in ovo delivery for improved lifespan condition in chicken. BMC Vet. Res. 14:402.
- Skjøt-Rasmussen, L., D. Sandvang, A. Blanch, J. M. Nielsen, T. Styrishave, J. Schnabl, E. Brockmann, C. N. Beck, and A. S. Kiess. 2019. Post hatch recovery of a probiotic Enterococcus faecium strain in the yolk sac and intestinal tract of broiler chickens after in ovo injection. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 366:1–5.
- Skoufos, I., I. Giannenas, D.Tontis, T.Bartzanas, C.Kittas , and P. Panagakis. 2016. Effects of oregano essential oil and attapulgite on growth performance, intestinal microbiota and morphometry in broilers. S Afr J Anim Sci. 46:77.
- Slawinska, A., A. Plowiec, M. Siwek, M. Jaroszewski, and M. Bednarczyk. 2016. Long-Term Transcriptomic Effects of Prebiotics and Synbiotics Delivered In Ovo in Broiler Chickens. PLoS ONE. 11:e0168899.

- Slawinska, A., M. Zampiga, F. Sirri, A. Meluzzi, M. Bertocchi, S. Tavaniello, and G. Maiorano. 2020. Impact of galactooligosaccharides delivered in ovo on mitigating negative effects of heat stress on performance and welfare of broilers. Poult. Sci. 99:407–415.
- Smith, I. A., B. R. Knezevic, J. U. Ammann, D. A. Rhodes, D. Aw, D. B. Palmer, I. H. Mather, and J. Trowsdale. 2010. BTN1A1, the Mammary Gland Butyrophilin, and BTN2A2 Are Both Inhibitors of T Cell Activation. J. Immunol. 184:3514–3525.
- Smith, J. L., and E. D. Weinberg. 1962. Mechanisms of antibacterial action of bacitracin. J. Gen. Microbiol. 28:559–569.
- Smith, M. W., M. A. Mitchell, and M. A. Peacock. 1990. Effects of genetic selection on growth rate and intestinal structure in the domestic fowl (Callus domesticus). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. -- Part A Physiol. 97:57–63.
- Sobolewska, A., G. Elminowska-Wenda, J. Bogucka, A. Dankowiakowska, A. Kułakowska, A. Szczerba, K. Stadnicka, M. Szpinda, and M. Bednarczyk. 2017b. The influence of in ovo injection with the prebiotic DiNovo® on the development of histomorphological parameters of the duodenum, body mass and productivity in large-scale poultry production conditions. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 8:1–8.
- Sobolewska, A., J. Bogucka, A. Dankowiakowska, G. Elminowska-Wenda, K. Stadnicka, and M. Bednarczyk. 2017a. The impact of synbiotic administration through in ovo technology on the microstructure of a broiler chicken small intestine tissue on the 1st and 42nd day of rearing. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 8:1–9.
- Sohail, M. U., A. Ijaz, M. Younus, M. Z. Shabbir, Z. Kamran, S. Ahmad, H. Anwar, M. S. Yousaf, K. Ashraf, A. H. Shahzad, and H. Rehman. 2013. Effect of supplementation of mannan oligosaccharide and probiotic on growth performance, relative weights of viscera, and population of selected intestinal bacteria in cyclic heat-stressed broilers. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 22:485–491.
- Sohail, M. U., M. E. Hume, J. A. Byrd, D. J. Nisbet, M. Z. Shabbir, A. Ijaz, and H. Rehman. 2015. Molecular analysis of the caecal and tracheal microbiome of heat-stressed broilers supplemented with prebiotic and probiotic. Avian Pathol. 44:67–74.

- Sohail, M. U., Z. U. Rahman, A. Ijaz, M. S. Yousaf, K. Ashraf, T. Yaqub, H. Zaneb, H. Anwar, and H. Rehman. 2011. Single or combined effects of mannan-oligosaccharides and probiotic supplements on the total oxidants, total antioxidants, enzymatic antioxidants, liver enzymes, and serum trace minerals in cyclic heat-stressed broilers. Poult. Sci. 90:2573–2577.
- Sokale, A. O., W. Zhai, L. M. Pote, C. J. Williams, and E. D. Peebles. 2017. Effects of coccidiosis vaccination administered by in ovo injection on Ross 708 broiler performance through 14 days of post-hatch age. Poult. Sci. 96:2546–2551.
- Song, J., K. Xiao, Y. L. Ke, L. F. Jiao, C. H. Hu, Q. Y. Diao, B. Shi, and X. T. Zou. 2014. Effect of a probiotic mixture on intestinal microflora, morphology, and barrier integrity of broilers subjected to heat stress. Poult. Sci. 93:581–588.
- Song, J., X. Lei, J. Luo, N. Everaert, G. Zhao, J. Wen, and Y. Yang. 2019. The effect of Epigallocatechin-3-gallate on small intestinal morphology, antioxidant capacity and antiinflammatory effect in heat-stressed broilers. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 103:1030–1038.
- Song, Z., K. Cheng, L. Zhang, and T. Wang. 2017. Dietary supplementation of enzymatically treated Artemisia annua could alleviate the intestinal inflammatory response in heat-stressed broilers. J. Therm. Biol. 69:184–190.
- Srivastava, S., Z. Li, L. Lin, G. Liu, K. Ko, W. A. Coetzee, and E. Y. Skolnik. 2005. The Phosphatidylinositol 3-Phosphate Phosphatase Myotubularin- Related Protein 6 (MTMR6) Is a Negative Regulator of the Ca2+ -Activated K+ Channel K Ca 3.1. Mol. Cell. Biol. 25:3630–3638.
- Stanley, D., M.S. Geier, R.J. Hughes, S.E. Denman, and R. J. Moore. 2013. Highly variable microbiota development in the chicken gastrointestinal tract. PLoS One. 8: e84290.
- Stanley, D., R. J. Hughes, and R. J. Moore. 2014. Microbiota of the chicken gastrointestinal tract: Influence on health, productivity and disease. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 98:4301–4310.
- Stanley, D., R. J. Hughes, M. S. Geier, and R. J. Moore. 2016. Bacteria within the Gastrointestinal Tract Microbiota Correlated with Improved Growth and Feed Conversion: Challenges Presented for the Identification of Performance Enhancing Probiotic Bacteria. Front. Microbiol. 7:187.

- Stefaniak, T., J. P. Madej, S. Graczyk, M. Siwek, E. Łukaszewicz, A. Kowalczyk, M. Sieńczyk, and M. Bednarczyk. 2019. Selected prebiotics and synbiotics administered in ovo can modify innate immunity in chicken broilers. BMC Vet. Res. 15:105.
- Steinbrecher, K. A., E. Harmel-Laws, M. P. Garin-Laflam, E. A. Mann, L. D. Bezerra, S. P. Hogan, and M. B. Cohen. 2011. Murine Guanylate Cyclase C Regulates Colonic Injury and Inflammation. J. Immunol. 186:7205–7214.
- Stevanović, Z. D., J. Bošnjak-Neumüller, I. Pajić-Lijaković, J. Raj, and M. Vasiljević. 2018. Essential Oils as Feed Additives—Future Perspectives. Molecules. 23:1717.
- Stiborova, H., O. Kronusova, P. Kastanek, L. Brazdova, P. Lovecka, M. Jiru, B. Belkova, J. Poustka, M. Stranska, J. Hajslova, and K. Demnerova. 2020. Waste products from the poultry industry: A source of high-value dietary supplements. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 95:985–999.
- Stoll, S., J. Gadau, R. Gross, and H. Feldhaar. 2007. Bacterial microbiota associated with ants of the genus Tetraponera. Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 90:399–412.
- St-Pierre, N. R., B. Cobanov, and G. Schnitkey. 2003. Economic losses from heat stress by US livestock industries 1. J. Dairy Sci. 86.
- Su, G., L. Wang, X. Zhou, X. Wu, D. Chen, B. Yu, Z. Huang, Y. Luo, X. Mao, and P. Zheng. 2021. Effects of essential oil on growth performance, digestibility, immunity, and intestinal health in broilers. Poult. Sci. 100:101242.
- Sugiharto, S. 2016. Role of nutraceuticals in gut health and growth performance of poultry. J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci. 15:99–111.
- Sugiharto, S., T. Yudiarti, I. Isroli, E. Widiastuti, and E. Kusumanti. 2017. Dietary supplementation of probiotics in poultry exposed to heat stress A review. Ann. Anim. Sci. 17:591–604.
- Sulaiman, K. M., and I. T. Tayeb. 2021. Response Of Broiler Chicken To Inovo Administration Of Different Levels Of Rosemary Oil(Rosmarinus Officinalis). Iraqi J. Agric. Sci. 52:896– 903.

- Sulaiman, K., and I. T. Tayeb. 2020. Effect of in-ovo injection of some natural oils on the hatchability and subsequent physiological responses of post hatch broilers. Acad. J. Nawroz Univ. 9:233–241.
- Sulaiman, L. K., O. A. Oladele, I. A. Shittu, B. O. Emikpe, A. T. Oladokun, and C. A. Meseko. 2011. In-ovo evaluation of the antiviral activity of methanolic root-bark extract of the African Baobab (Adansonia digitata Lin). African J. Biotechnol. 10:4256–4258.
- Sun, B., L. Hou, and Y. Yang. 2020. Effects of Altered Dietary Fiber on the Gut Microbiota, Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Cecum of Chickens during Different Growth Periods. Anim. Sci. Zool.-Prepr.
- Sun, H., R. Jiang, S. Xu, Z. Zhang, G. Xu, J. Zheng, and L. Qu. 2015. Transcriptome responses to heat stress in hypothalamus of a meat-type chicken. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 6:6.
- Sunde, M. L., W. W. Cravens, C. A. Elvehjem, and J. G. Halpin. 1950. The Effect of Folic Acid on Embryonic Development of the Domestic Fowl. Poult. Sci. 29:696–702.
- Sunwoo, J., S. C. Ji, A.H.J. Kim, K.S.Yu, J.Y. Cho, and I.J Jang. 2020. Impact of Vancomycin-Induced Changes in the Intestinal Microbiota on the Pharmacokinetics of Simvastatin. Clin Transl Sci. 13:752–60.
- Surai, A. P., P. F. Surai, W. Steinberg, W. G. Wakeman, B. K. Speake, and N. H. C. Sparks. 2003. Effect of canthaxanthin content of the maternal diet on the antioxidant system of the developing chick. Br. Poult. Sci. 44:612–619.
- Svihus, B. 2014. Function of the digestive system. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 23:306–314.
- Swaggerty, C. L., C.Bortoluzzi, A.Lee, C.Eyng, G.D.Pont, and M. H.Kogut. 2022. Potential Replacements for Antibiotic Growth Promoters in Poultry: Interactions at the Gut Level and Their Impact on Host Immunity. Adv Exp Med Biol. Springer; 1354:145–159.
- Swamy, M. K., M. S. Akhtar, and U. R. Sinniah. 2016. Antimicrobial properties of plant essential oils against human pathogens and their mode of action: An updated review. Evidence-Based Complement. Altern. Med. 2016:3012462.
- Tahir, M., H. Cervantes, C. W. Farmer, M. Y. Shim, and G. M. Pesti. 2011. Broiler performance, hatching egg, and age relationships of progeny from standard and dwarf broiler dams. Poult. Sci. 90:1364–1370.

- Tako, E., P. R. Ferket, and Z. Uni. 2004. Effects of in ovo feeding of carbohydrates and β-hydroxy β- methylbutyrate on the development of chicken intestine. Poult. Sci. 83:2023–2028.
- Tako, E., R. P. Glahn, M. Knez, and J. C. Stangoulis. 2014. The effect of wheat prebiotics on the gut bacterial population and iron status of iron deficient broiler chickens. Nutr. J. 13:58.
- Tang, S., B. Yin, J. Xu, and E. Bao. 2018. Rosemary reduces heat stress by inducing CRYAB and HSP70 expression in broiler chickens. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2018:7014126.
- Tang, W., S. Ahmad, V. I. Shestopalov, and X. Lin. 2008. Pannexins are new molecular candidates for assembling gap junctions in the cochlea. NeuroReport. 19:1253–1257.
- Tauqir, N. A. 2016. Absorption and transportation of amino acids in animals: A review. J. Environ. Agric. Sci. 9:96–109.
- Tavaniello, S., A. Slawinska, D. Prioriello, V. Petrecca, M. Bertocchi, M. Zampiga, G. Salvatori, and G. Maiorano. 2020. Effect of galactooligosaccharides delivered in ovo on meat quality traits of broiler chickens exposed to heat stress. Poult. Sci. 99:612–619.
- Tavaniello, S., G. Maiorano, K. Stadnicka, R. Mucci, J. Bogucka, and M. Bednarczyk. 2018. Prebiotics offered to broiler chicken exert positive effect on meat quality traits irrespective of delivery route. Poult. Sci. 97:2979–2987.
- Tayeb, I. T., N. H. R. Artoshi, and B. Sögüt. 2019. Performance of broiler chicken fed different levels thyme, adiantum, rosemary and their combination. Iraqi J. Agric. Sci. 50:1522–1532.
- Teague, K. D., L. E. Graham, J. R. Dunn, H. H. Cheng, N. Anthony, J. D. Latorre, A. Menconi, R. E. Wolfenden, A. D. Wolfenden, B. D. Mahaffey, M. Baxter, X. Hernandez-Velasco, R. Merino-Guzman, L. R. Bielke, B. M. Hargis, and G. Tellez. 2017. In ovo evaluation of FloraMax®B11 on Marek's disease HVT vaccine protective efficacy, hatchability, microbiota composition, morphometric analysis, and Salmonella enteritidis infection in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 96:2074–2082.
- Teeter, R. G. 1996. Optimizing Production of Heat Stressed Broilers. J. Agric. Mar. Sci. [JAMS] 1:129.
- Terčič, D., and M. Pestotnik. 2014. Effect of excess folic acid on egg production, fertility and hatchability in layer breeders. Acta Agrar. Kaposváriensis 18:122–128.

- Thakur, A., A. Kumar, M. Sharma, R. Kumar, and B. Vanita. 2019. Strategies to Minimize the Impact of Antibiotic Resistance in Livestock Production System. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. Appl. Sci. 8:2293–2310.
- Thanissery, R., J. L. McReynolds, D. E. Conner, K. S. Macklin, P. A. Curtis, and Y. O. Fasina. 2010. Evaluation of the efficacy of yeast extract in reducing intestinal Clostridium perfringens levels in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 89:2380–2388.
- Thibodeau, A., P. Fravalo, E. Yergeau, J. Arsenault, L. Lahaye, and A. Letellier. 2015. Chicken Caecal Microbiome Modifications Induced by Campylobacter jejuni Colonization and by a Non-Antibiotic Feed Additive. PLoS ONE. 10:e0131978.
- Thompson, K., K. Burkholder, J. Patterson, and T. J. Applegate. 2008. Microbial Ecology Shifts in the Ileum of Broilers During Feed Withdrawal and Dietary Manipulations. Poult. Sci. 87:1624–1632.
- Tiihonen, K., H. Kettunen, M. Bento, M. Saarinen, S. Lahtinen, A. Ouwehand, H. Schulze, and N. Rautonen. 2010. The effect of feeding essential oils on broiler performance and gut microbiota. Br. Poult. Sci. 51:381–392.
- Tolba, A. A. H., S. A. M. Shabaan, and A. Z. Wady. 2007. Improvement of Fayhomi laying hens performance under hot climate conditions. 2-Btaine, folic acid and choline. Egypt Poult. Sci. 27:21–35.
- Toosi, S., M. Chamani, M. Shivazad, A. A. Sadeghi, and S. N. Mousavi. 2016. Effects of in ovo injection and inclusion a blend of essential oils and organic acids in high NSPS diets of broiler breeders on performance of them and their offspring. J. Poult. Sci.:150150.
- Torlopp, A., S. S. Breher, J. Schlüter, and T. Brand. 2006. Comparative analysis of mRNA and protein expression of Popdc1 (Bves) during early development in the chick embryo. Dev. Dyn. 235:691–700.
- Torok, V.A., C. Dyson, A. McKay, and K. Ophel-Keller. 2013. Quantitative molecular assays for evaluating changes in broiler gut microbiota linked with diet and performance. Anim Prod Sci.53:1260–1268.

- Torok, V.A., K. Ophel-Keller, M. Loo, R.J. Hughes. 2008. Application of methods for identifying broiler chicken gut bacterial species linked with increased energy metabolism. Appl Environ Microbiol. 74:783–791.
- Torres-Rodriguez, A., A. M. Donoghue, D. J. Donoghue, J. T. Barton, G. Tellez, and B. M. Hargis. 2007. Performance and condemnation rate analysis of commercial turkey flocks treated with a Lactobacillus spp.-based probiotic. Poult. Sci. 86:444–446.
- Torshizi, M. A. K., A. R. Moghaddam, S. Rahimi, and N. Mojgani. 2010. Assessing the effect of administering probiotics in water or as a feed supplement on broiler performance and immune response. Br. Poult. Sci. 51:178–184.
- Tortuero, F. 1973. Influence of the implantation of Lactobacillus acidophilus in chicks on the growth, feed conversion, malabsorption of fats syndrome and intestinal flora. Poult. Sci. 52:197–203.
- Trela, J., B. Kierończyk, V. Hautekiet, and D.Józefiak. 2020. Combination of bacillus licheniformis and salinomycin: Effect on the growth performance and git microbial populations of broiler chickens. Animals. 10:889.
- Triplett, M. D., W. Zhai, E. D. Peebles, C. D. McDaniel, and A. S. Kiess. 2018. Investigating commercial in ovo technology as a strategy for introducing probiotic bacteria to broiler embryos. Poult. Sci. 97:658–666.
- Trudeau, S., A. Thibodeau, J.-C. Côté, M.-L. Gaucher, and P. Fravalo. 2020. Contribution of the broiler breeders' fecal microbiota to the Establishment of the Eggshell microbiota. Front. Microbiol. 11:666.
- Tsalikis, J., I. Tattoli, A. Ling, M. T. Sorbara, D. O. Croitoru, D. J. Philpott, and S. E. Girardin. 2015. Intracellular Bacterial Pathogens Trigger the Formation of U Small Nuclear RNA Bodies (U Bodies) through Metabolic Stress Induction. J. Biol. Chem. 290:20904–20918.
- Tufarelli, V., F. Ghane, H. R. Shahbazi, M. Slozhenkina, I. Gorlov, F. M. Viktoronova, A. Seidavi, and V. Laudadio. 2022. Effect of *in ovo* injection of some B-group vitamins on performance of broiler breeders and their progeny. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 78:125–138.
- Ultee, A., E. P. W. Kets, and E. J. Smid. 1999. Mechanisms of action of carvacrol on the foodborne pathogen. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65:4606–4610.

- Uni, Z., and P. R. Ferket. 2003. Enhancement of Development of Oviparous Species by in ovo Feeding. Yissum Research Development Company of Hebrew University of Jerusalem, North Carolina State University, assignee, Google Patents. United States Pat. No. 6:592–878.
- Uni, Z., and R. P. Ferket. 2004. Methods for early nutrition and their potential. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 60:101–111.
- Untoo, M., of Kashmir, I. M. Banday, A. Khurshid, M. Banday, I. Afzal, S. Adil, and I. Baba. 2018. Potential of probiotics in poultry production. entomoljournal.com. 6:1293–1300.
- Usayran, N., M. T. Farran, H. H. Awadallah, I. R. Al-Hawi, R. J. Asmar, and V. M. Ashkarian. 2001. Effects of added dietary fat and phosphorus on the performance and egg quality of laying hens subjected to a constant high environmental temperature. Poult. Sci. 80:1695– 1701.
- Vacca, M., G. Celano, F.M. Calabrese, P. Portincasa, M. Gobbetti , and M.De Angelis. 2020. The controversial role of human gut lachnospiraceae. Microorganisms. 8:573.
- Van Boeckel, T. P., J. Pires, R. Silvester, C. Zhao, J. Song, N. G. Criscuolo, M. Gilbert, S. Bonhoeffer, and R. Laxminarayan. 2019. Global trends in antimicrobial resistance in animals in low- And middle-income countries. Science 365:eaaw1944.
- Van Den Bogaard, A. E., and E. E. Stobberingh. 2000. Epidemiology of resistance to antibiotics: Links between animals and humans. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 14:327–335.
- Van Der Klis, J. D., and E. Vinyeta-Punti. 2014. The potential of phytogenic feed additives in pigs and poultry. In Proceedings of the 18th Congress of the European Society of Veterinary & Comparative Nutrition, Utrecht, The Netherlands. 8:18–20.
- Van Der Pol, C. W., I. A. M. Van Roovert-Reijrink, C. M. Maatjens, I. Van Den Anker, B. Kemp, and H. Van Den Brand. 2014. Effect of eggshell temperature throughout incubation on broiler hatchling leg bone development. Poult. Sci. 93:2878–2883.
- Van Der Wielen, P. W. J. J., S. Biesterveld, S. Notermans, H. Hofstra, B. A. P. Urlings, and F. Van Knapen. 2000. Role of volatile fatty acids in development of the cecal microflora in broiler chickens during growth. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:2536–2540.

- Van Heck, J.I.P., R.Gacesa, R. Stienstra, J. Fu, A.Zhernakova, and H.J.M. Harmsen, 2022. The Gut Microbiome Composition Is Altered in Long-standing Type 1 Diabetes and Associates With Glycemic Control and Disease-Related Complications. Diabetes Care. 45:2084–2094.
- Vandana, G. D., V. Sejian, A. M. Lees, P. Pragna, M. V. Silpa, and S. K. Maloney. 2021. Heat stress and poultry production: impact and amelioration. Int. J. Biometeorol. 65:163–179.
- Varasteh, S., S. Braber, P. Akbari, J. Garssen, and J. Fink-Gremmels. 2015. Differences in susceptibility to heat stress along the chicken intestine and the protective effects of galactooligosaccharides. PLoS One 10.
- Vasavada, T. K., J. R. DiAngelo, and M. K. Duncan. 2004. Developmental Expression of Pop1/Bves. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 52:371–377.
- Vaughn, A. C., E. M. Cooper, P. M. Dilorenzo, L. J. O'Loughlin, M. E. Konkel, J. H. Peters, A. Hajnal, T. Sen, S. H. Lee, C. B. de La Serre, and K. Czaja. 2017. Energy-dense diet triggers changes in gut microbiota, reorganization of gut-brain vagal communication and increases body fat accumulation. Acta Neurobiol. Exp. (Wars) 77:18–30.
- Vieco-Saiz, N., Y. Belguesmia, R. Raspoet, E. Auclair, F. Gancel, I. Kempf, and D. Drider. 2019. Benefits and inputs from lactic acid bacteria and their bacteriocins as alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters during food-animal production. Front. Microbiol. 10:57.
- Viera, S. L. 2007. Micronutrients in eggs for the chicken embryo. Br. Poult. Sci. 9:1–8.
- Villaluenga, C. M., M. Wardeńska, R. Pilarski, M. Bednarczyk, and K. Gulewicz. 2004. Utilization of the chicken embryo model for assessment of biological activity of different oligosaccharides. Folia Biol. 52:135-142.
- Viveros, A., S. Chamorro, M. Pizarro, I. Arija, C. Centeno, and A. Brenes. 2011. Effects of dietary polyphenol-rich grape products on intestinal microflora and gut morphology in broiler chicks. Poult. Sci. 90:566–578.
- Wada, A. M., D. E. Reese, and D. M. Bader. 2001. Bves: Prototype of a new class of cell adhesion molecules expressed during coronary artery development. Development. 128:2085–2093.
- Wade, B., and A. Keyburn. 2015. The true cost of necrotic enteritis. World Poult. 31:16–17.

- Wade, M. R., S. J. Manwar, S. V. Kuralkar, S. P. Waghmare, V. C. Ingle, and S. W. Hajare. 2018. Effect of thyme essential oil on performance of broiler chicken. J. Entomol. Zoo. Stud. 6:25– 28.
- Wagner, C. 1995. Biochemical role of folate in cellular metabolism (LB Bailey, Ed.). Marcel Dekkerm New York.
- Wakenell, P. S., T. Bryan, J. Schaeffer, A. Avakian, C. Williams, and C. Whitfill. 2002. Effect of in ovo vaccine delivery route on herpesvirus of turkeys/SB-1 efficacy and viremia. Avian Dis. 46:274–280.
- Wales, A., R. Davies, W. Meckelnborg, and C. Woltering. 2019. Antimicrobial drug resistance in Salmonella and related organisms in poultry - what do we know about risk factors? Andrew Wales and Robert Davies. Proc. 13th Turkey Science and Production Conference, Turkey, Turkeytimes.
- Walters, H. G., A. Jasek, J. M. Campbell, C. Coufal, and J. T. Lee. 2019. Evaluation of Spray-Dried Plasma in Broiler Diets With or Without Bacitracin Methylene Disalicylate. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 28:364–373.
- Wan, X. L., Z. H. Song, Y. Niu, K. Cheng, J. F. Zhang, H. Ahmad, L. L. Zhang, and T. Wang. 2017. Evaluation of enzymatically treated Artemisia annua L. on growth performance, meat quality, and oxidative stability of breast and thigh muscles in broilers. Poult. Sci. 96:844– 850.
- Wan, X., L. Jiang, H. Zhong, Y. Lu, L. Zhang, and T. Wang. 2017. Effects of enzymatically treated Artemisia annua L. on growth performance and some blood parameters of broilers exposed to heat stress. Anim. Sci. J. 88:1239–1246.
- Wang, J. P., L. Yan, J. H. Lee, and I. H. Kim. 2013. Evaluation of bacteriophage supplementation on growth performance, blood characteristics, relative organ weight, breast muscle characteristics and excreta microbial shedding in broilers. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 26:573–578.
- Wang, J., H. Fan, Y. Han, J. Wei, J. Zhao, and Z. Zhou. 2016. Pyrosequencing of the broiler chicken gastrointestinal tract reveals the regional similarity and dissimilarity of microbial community. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 97:302–313.

- Wang, L., M. Lilburn and Z. Yu. 2016. Intestinal microbiota of broiler chickens as affected by litter management regimens. Front Microbiol. 7:593.
- Wang, W. C., F. F. Yan, J. Y. Hu, O. A. Amen, and H. W. Cheng. 2018b. Supplementation of Bacillus subtilis-based probiotic reduces heat stress-related behaviors and inflammatory response in broiler chickens. J. Anim. Sci. 96:1654–1666.
- Wang, W., Y. Pan, L. Wang, H. Zhou, G. Song, and Y. Wang. 2019. Optimal Dietary Ferulic Acid for Suppressing the Obesity-Related Disorders in Leptin-Deficient Obese C57BL/6J -ob/ob Mice. J Agric Food Chem.67:4250–4258.
- Wang, X. J., J. H. Feng, M. H. Zhang, X. M. Li, D. D. Ma, and S. S. Chang. 2018c. Effects of high ambient temperature on the community structure and composition of ileal microbiome of broilers. Poult Sci. 97:2153–2158.
- Wang, Y., J. Sun, H. Zhong, N. Li, H. Xu, Q. Zhu, and Y. Liu. 2017. Effect of probiotics on the meat flavour and gut microbiota of chicken. Sci. Rep. 7:1–3.
- Wang, Y., K. Feng, H. Yang, Z. Zhang, Y. Yuan, and T. Yue. 2018a. Effect of cinnamaldehyde and citral combination on transcriptional profile, growth, oxidative damage and patulin biosynthesis of Penicillium expansum. Front. Microbiol. 9:597.
- Wang, Y., Y. Xu, S. Xu, J. Yang, K. Wang, and X. Zhan. 2021. Bacillus subtilis DSM29784 Alleviates Negative Effects on Growth Performance in Broilers by Improving the Intestinal Health Under Necrotic Enteritis Challenge. Front. Microbiol. 12:723187.
- Wassie, T., X. Duan, C. Xie, R. Wang, and X. Wu. 2022. Dietary Enteromorpha polysaccharide-Zn supplementation regulates amino acid and fatty acid metabolism by improving the antioxidant activity in chicken. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 13:1-19.
- Webster, B., W. Hayes, and T. W. Pike. 2015. Avian egg odour encodes information on embryo sex, fertility and development. PLoS One. 10:e0116345.
- Weissmann, A., S. Reitemeier, A. Hahn, J. Gottschalk, and A. Einspanier. 2013. Sexing domestic chicken before hatch: a new method for in ovo gender identification. Theriogenology. 80:199–205.

- Weller, M. M. D. C. A., L. Alebrante, P. H. R. F. Campos, A. Saraiva, B. A. N. Silva, J. L. Donzele, R. F. M. Oliveira, F. F. Silva, E. Gasparino, P. S. Lopes, and S. E. F. Guimarães. 2013. Effect of heat stress and feeding phosphorus levels on pig electron transport chain gene expression. Animal. 7:1985–1993.
- Wen, C., Y. Chen, Z. Leng, L. Ding, T. Wang, and Y. Zhou. 2019. Dietary betaine improves meat quality and oxidative status of broilers under heat stress. J. Sci. Food Agric. 99:620–623.
- Wen, L. -F., and J. -G. He. 2012. Dose–response effects of an antimicrobial peptide, a cecropin hybrid, on growth performance, nutrient utilisation, bacterial counts in the digesta and intestinal morphology in broilers. Br. J. Nutr. 108:1756–1763.
- Whitehead, C. C., R. A. Pearson, and K. M. Herron. 1985. Biotin Requirements of Broiler Breeders Fed Diets of Different Protein Content and Effect of Insufficient Biotin on the Viability of Progeny. Br. Poult. Sci. 26:73–82.
- WHO. 2019. New report calls for urgent action to avert antimicrobial resistance crisis. Jt. News Release 29:Joint News Release, New York. Accesed April 2020. Available at https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/29-04-2019-new-report-calls-for-urgent-action-toavert-antimicrobial-resistance-crisis.
- Will, C. L., and R. Lührmann. 2011. Spliceosome structure and function. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a003707.
- Willemsen, H., M. Debonne, Q. Swennen, N. Everaert, C. Careghi, H. Han, V. Bruggeman, K. Tona, and E. Decuypere. 2010. Delay in feed access and spread of hatch: Importance of early nutrition. Worlds Poult. Sci. J. 66:177–188.
- Willett, W., J. Rockström, B. Loken, M. Springmann, T. Lang, S. Vermeulen, T. Garnett, D. Tilman, F. DeClerck, A. Wood, M. Jonell, M. Clark, L. J. Gordon, J. Fanzo, C. Hawkes, R. Zurayk, J. A. Rivera, W. De Vries, L. Majele Sibanda, A. Afshin, A. Chaudhary, M. Herrero, R. Agustina, F. Branca, A. Lartey, S. Fan, B. Crona, E. Fox, V. Bignet, M. Troell, T. Lindahl, S. Singh, S. E. Cornell, K. Srinath Reddy, S. Narain, S. Nishtar, and C. J. L. Murray. 2019. Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT–Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. Lancet 393:447–492.
- Williams, C. 2007. In ovo vaccination for disease prevention. Int Poult Prod 15:7–9.

- Williams, C. J., and A. S. Zedek. 2010. Comparative field evaluations of in ovo applied technology. Poult. Sci. 89:189–193.
- Williams, R. B. 2002. Anticoccidial vaccines for broiler chickens: pathways to success. Avian Pathol. 31:317–353.
- Wilson, C., J. E. Lin, P. Li, A. Snook, J. Gong, T. Sato, C. Liu, M. A. Girondo, H. Rui, T. Hyslop, and S. A. Walman. 2014. The Paracrine Hormone for the GUCY2C Tumor Suppressor, Guanylin, Is Universally Lost in Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prev. 23:2328–2337.
- Windisch, W., K. Schedle, C. Plitzner, and A. Kroismayr. 2008. Use of phytogenic products as feed additives for swine and poultry. J. Anim. Sci. 86:e140–e148.
- Wisselink, H. J., J. B. W.Cornelissen, D. J. Mevius, M. A. Smits, H. Smidt, and J. M. J. Rebel. 2017. Antibiotics in 16-day-old broilers temporarily affect microbial and immune parameters in the gut. Poult Sci. 96:3068–3078.
- Wolfs, M., N. De Jong, M. C. Ocké, H. Verhagen, and W.M. Verschuren. 2006. Effectiveness of customary use of phytosterol/-stanol enriched margarines on blood cholesterol lowering. Food Chem. Toxicol. 44:1682–1688.
- Wolton, K., E. Barnes, J. Wright, and K. Hentges. 2014. Two alleles of Med31 provide a model to study delayed fetal growth and endochondral ossification. Toxicol. Lett. 229:S51.
- Wong, J. T., J. de Bruyn, B. Bagnol, H. Grieve, M. Li, R. Pym, and R. G. Alders. 2017. Smallscale poultry and food security in resource-poor settings: A review. Glob. Food Sec. 15:43– 52.
- Wright, E. M. 2013. Glucose transport families SLC5 and SLC50. Mol. Asp. Med. 34:183–196.
- Wu, C., L. Liu, H. Jinglong, L. Lianjun, and M. Yongwang. 2014. Isolation, bioinformatic and tissue expression analysis of a novel water buffalo gene-BTN1A1. Buffalo Bull. 33:449–461.
- Wu, Y., W. Zhen, Y. Geng, Z. Wang, and Y. Guo. 2019. Effects of dietary Enterococcus faecium NCIMB 11181 supplementation on growth performance and cellular and humoral immune responses in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 98:150–163.

- Würdemann, D., B. J. Tindall, R. Pukall, H. Lünsdorf, C. Strömpl, and T. Namuth. 2009. Gordonibacter pamelaeae gen. nov., sp. nov., a new member of the Coriobacteriaceae isolated from a patient with Crohn's disease, and reclassification of Eggerthella hongkongensis Lau et al. 2006 as Paraeggerthella hongkongensis gen. nov., comb. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 59:1405–1415.
- Xiang, H., J. Gan, D. Zeng, J. Li, H. Yu, and H. Zhao. 2021. Specific Microbial Taxa and Functional Capacity Contribute to Chicken Abdominal Fat Deposition. Front Microbiol. 12:643025.
- Xiang, Q., C. Wang, H. Zhang, W. Lai, H. Wei, and J. Peng. 2019. Effects of different probiotics on laying performance, egg quality, oxidative status, and gut health in laying hens. Animals 9:1110.
- Xie, C. -R., H. Sun, F. -Q. Wang, Z. Li, Y. -R. Yin, Q. -L. Fang, Y. Sun, W. -X. Zhao, S. Zhang, W. -X. Zhao, X. -M. Wang, and Z. -Y. Yin. 2015. Integrated analysis of gene expression and DNA methylation changes induced by hepatocyte growth factor in human hepatocytes. Mol. Med. Rep. 12:4250–4258.
- Xing, S., X. Wang, H. Diao, M. Zhang, Y. Zhou, and J. Feng. 2019. Changes in the cecal microbiota of laying hens during heat stress is mainly associated with reduced feed intake. Poult Sci. 98:5257–5264.
- Xiong, Y., Q. Yin, J. Li, and S. He. 2020. Oxidative stress and endoplasmic reticulum stress are involved in the protective effect of alpha lipoic acid against heat damage in chicken testes. Animals. 10:384.
- Xu, D., W. Li, Y. Huang, J. He, and Y. Tian. 2014. The effect of selenium and polysaccharide of Atractylodes macrocephala Koidz. (PAMK) on immune response in chicken spleen under heat stress. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 160:232–237.
- Xu, P., Y.Shi, P. Liu, Y.Yang, C. Zhou, and G. Li. 2022. 16S rRNA gene sequencing reveals an altered composition of the gut microbiota in chickens infected with a nephropathogenic infectious bronchitis virus. Sci Rep. 10:1-12.

- Xu, S., Y. Lin, D. Zeng, M. Zhou, Y. Zeng, H. Wang, Y. Zhou, H. Zhu, K. Pan, B. Jing, and X. Ni. 2018. Bacillus licheniformis normalize the ileum microbiota of chickens infected with necrotic enteritis. Sci. Rep. 8:1-10.
- Xu, Z. R., C. H. Hu, M. S. Xia, X. A. Zhan, and M. Q. Wang. 2003. Effects of dietary fructooligosaccharide on digestive enzyme activities, intestinal microflora and morphology of male broilers. Poult. Sci. 82:1030–1036.
- Xu, Z., K. Le, and M. H. Moghadasian. 2008. Long-term phytosterol treatment alters gene expression in the liver of apo E-deficient mice. J. Nutr. Biochem. 19:545–554.
- Xue, F., L. Shi, Y. Li, A. Ni, H. Ma, Y. Sun, and J. Chen, J. 2020. Effects of replacing dietary Aureomycin with a combination of plant essential oils on production performance and gastrointestinal health of broilers. Poult. Sci. 99:4521–4529.
- Yacoubi, N., L. Saulnier, E. Bonnin, E. Devillard, V. Eeckhaut, L. Rhayat, R. Ducatelle, and F. Van Immerseel. 2018. Short-chain arabinoxylans prepared from enzymatically treated wheat grain exert prebiotic effects during the broiler starter period. Poult. Sci. 97:412–424.
- Yadav, A. S., G. Kolluri, M. Gopi, K. Karthik, Y. S. Malik, and K. Dhama. 2016. Exploring alternatives to antibiotics as health promoting agents in poultry- a review. J. Exp. Biol. Agric. Sci. 4:368–383.
- Yadav, S., and R. Jha. 2019. Strategies to modulate the intestinal microbiota and their effects on nutrient utilization, performance, and health of poultry. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. 10:1-11.
- Yadegari, M., H. Ghahri, and M. Daneshyar. 2019. Efficiency of savory (Satureja Khuzestanica Jamzad) essential oil on performance, carcass traits, some blood parameters and immune function of Male Ross 308 heat stressed broiler chicks. Ukr. J. Ecol. 9:515–520.
- Yamawaki, R. A., E. L. Milbradt, M. P. Coppola, J. C. Z. Rodrigues, R. L. Andreatti Filho, C. R. Padovani, and A. S. Okamoto. 2013. Effect of immersion and inoculation in ovo of Lactobacillus spp. in embryonated chicken eggs in the prevention of Salmonella enteritidis after hatch. Poult. Sci. 92:1560–1563.
- Yamazaki, T., I. Goya, D. Graf, S. Craig, N. Martin-Orozco, and C. Dong. 2010. A Butyrophilin Family Member Critically Inhibits T Cell Activation. J. Immunol. 185:5907–5914.

- Yan, H., J. Lu, Y. Wang, W. Gu, X. Yang, J.Yu. 2017. Intake of total saponins and polysaccharides from Polygonatum kingianum affects the gut microbiota in diabetic rats. Phytomedicine. 26:45–54.
- Yang, C., Y. M. Kennes, D. Lepp, X. Yin, Q.Wang, H. Yu, C. Yang, J. Gong, and M. S. Diarra. 2020. Effects of encapsulated cinnamaldehyde and citral on the performance and cecal microbiota of broilers vaccinated or not vaccinated against coccidiosis. Poult. Sci. 99:936– 948.
- Yang, J. H., P. Bhargava, D. McCloskey, N. Mao, B. O. Palsson, and J. J. Collins. 2017. Antibiotic-Induced Changes to the Host Metabolic Environment Inhibit Drug Efficacy and Alter Immune Function. Cell Host Microbe 22:757-765.
- Yang, Q., S.N. Stewart, and G. Zhang. 2022. Gut Microbiome and Poultry Health. 4th ed. Kogut MH, Zhang G, editors. Springer, Cham; 4:69-84.
- Yang, W. Y., Y. Lee, H. Lu, C. H. Chou, and C. Wang. 2018. Analysis of contributory gut microbiota and lauric acid against necrotic enteritis in Clostridium perfringens and Eimeria side-by-side challenge model. bioRxiv 434449.
- Yang, Y., J. Ran, M. Liu, D. Li, Y. Li, X. Shi, D. Meng, J. Pan, G. Ou, R. Aneja, S. -C. Sun, and J. Zhou. 2014. CYLD mediates ciliogenesis in multiple organs by deubiquitinating Cep70 and inactivating HDAC6. Cell Res. 24:1342–1353.
- Yang, Y., L. Zhao, Y. Shao, X. Liao, L. Zhang, L. U. Lin, and X. Luo. 2019. Effects of dietary graded levels of cinnamon essential oil and its combination with bamboo leaf flavonoid on immune function, antioxidative ability and intestinal microbiota of broilers. J. Integr. Agric. 18:2123–2132.
- Yang, Y., P. A. Iji, and M. Choct. 2009. Dietary modulation of gut microflora in broiler chickens: a review of the role of six kinds of alternatives to in-feed antibiotics. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 65:97.
- Yanishlieva, N. V., E. M. Marinova, M. H. Gordon, and V. G. Raneva. 1999. Antioxidant activity and mechanism of action of thymol and carvacrol in two lipid systems. Food Chem. 64:59– 66.

- Yarmohammadi Barbarestani, S., V. Jazi, H. Mohebodini, A. Ashayerizadeh, A. Shabani, and M. Toghyani. 2020. Effects of dietary lavender essential oil on growth performance, intestinal function, and antioxidant status of broiler chickens. Livest. Sci. 233:103958.
- Yaseen, A., K. Gaafar, and R. Abou-elkhaire. 2022. Response of Broiler Chicken to in Ovo Administration of Nano Encapsulated Thyme Oil. J. Curr. Vet. Res. 4:166–172.
- Yeoman, C. J., and B. A. White. 2014. Gastrointestinal tract microbiota and probiotics in production animals. Annu. Rev. Anim. Biosci. 2:469–486.
- Yin, D., E.Du, J.Yuan, J.Gao, Y.L. Wang, and S.E.Aggrey. 2017. Supplemental thymol and carvacrol increases ileum Lactobacillus population and reduces effect of necrotic enteritis caused by Clostridium perfringes in chickens. Sci Rep. 7:1-11.
- Yitbarek, A., J. Astill, D.C. Hodgins, J. Parkinson, É. Nagy, and S. Sharif. 2019. Commensal gut microbiota can modulate adaptive immune responses in chickens vaccinated with whole inactivated avian influenza virus subtype H9N2. Vaccine. 37:6640–6647.
- Yitbarek, A., J. S. Weese, T.N. Alkie, J. Parkinson, and S. Sharif. 2018. Influenza A virus subtype H9N2 infection disrupts the composition of intestinal microbiota of chickens. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 94:165.
- You, X., M. Xu, Q. Li, K. Zhang, G. Hao, and H. Xu. 2019. Discovery of potential transcriptional biomarkers in broiler chicken for detection of amantadine abuse based on RNA sequencing technology. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control. Expo. Risk Assess. 36:254– 269.
- Young, M. D., M. J. Wakefield, G. K. Smyth, and A. Oshlack. 2010. Gene ontology analysis for RNA-seq: Accounting for selection bias. Genome Biol. 11:1-12.
- Yu, C., J. Wei, C. Yang, Z. Yang, W. Yang, and S. Jiang. 2018. Effects of star anise (Illicium verum Hook. f.) essential oil on laying performance and antioxidant status of laying hens. Poult. Sci. 97:3957–3966.
- Yu, L. C. H. 2018. Microbiota dysbiosis and barrier dysfunction in inflammatory bowel disease and colorectal cancers: exploring a common ground hypothesis. J. Biomed. Sci. 25:1-14.

- Zamani, A., F. Shariatmadari, S. Rahimi, and M. A. Karimi Torshizi. 2019. Effects of in ovo injection of carbohydrates, β-hydroxy-β-methylbutyrate, and vitamins on ostrich organ weight, bone characteristics, and small intestinal morphology. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 99:116– 122.
- Zeinali, S., S. Ghazanfari, and M. A. Ebrahimi. 2017. MUCIN2 gene expression in the chicken intestinal goblet cells are affected by dietary essential oils. Bulg. J. Agric. Sci. 23:134–141.
- Zeng, Q., X. He, S. Puthiyakunnon, H. Xiao, Z. Gong, S. Boddu, L. Chen, H. Tian, S. H. Huang, and H. Cao. 2017. Probiotic mixture golden Bifido prevents neonatal Escherichia coli K1 translocation via enhancing intestinal defense. Front. Microbiol. 8:1798.
- Zeng, X., Q. Li, C. Yang, Y. Yu, Z. Fu, H. Wang, X. Fan, M. Yue, and Y. Xu. 2021. Effects of clostridium butyricum-and bacillus spp.-based potential probiotics on the growth performance, intestinal morphology, immune responses, and caecal microbiota in broilers. Antibiotics 10:624.
- Zeng, Z., S. Zhang, H. Wang, and X. Piao. 2015. Essential oil and aromatic plants as feed additives in non-ruminant nutrition: A review. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 6:1–10.
- Zhai, W., D. E. Rowe, and E. D. Peebles. 2011. Effects of commercial in ovo injection of carbohydrates on broiler embryogenesis. Poult. Sci. 90:1295–1301.
- Zhang, C., K. Chen, X. Zhao, and Z. Geng. 2018. Protective effects of resveratrol against high ambient temperature-induced spleen dysplasia in broilers through modulating splenic redox status and apoptosis. J. Sci. Food Agric. 98:5409–5417.
- Zhang, C., X. H. Zhao, L. Yang, X. Y. Chen, R. S. Jiang, S. H. Jin, and Z. Y. Geng. 2017. Resveratrol alleviates heat stress-induced impairment of intestinal morphology, microflora, and barrier integrity in broilers. Poult Sci. 96:4325–4332.
- Zhang, G., H. Wang, J. Zhang, X. Tang, A. Raheem, M. Wang, W. Lin, L. Liang, Y. Qi, Y. Zhu, Y. Jia, S. Cui, and T. Qin. 2021. Modulatory effects of *Bacillus subtilis* on the performance, morphology, cecal microbiota and gut barrier function of laying hens. Animals 11:1523.
- Zhang, H., H. Wang, M. Shepherd, K. Wen, G. Li, X. Yang, J. Kocher, E. Giri-Rachman, A. Dickerman, R. Settlage, and L. Yuan. 2014. Probiotics and virulent human rotavirus modulate the transplanted human gut microbiota in gnotobiotic pigs. Gut Pathog. 6:1-7.
- Zhang, H., K. E. C. Elliott, O. A. Durojaye, S. A. Fatemi, and E. D. Peebles. 2018. Effects of in ovo administration of L-ascorbic acid on broiler hatchability and its influence on the effects of pre-placement holding time on broiler quality characteristics. Poult. Sci. 97:1941–1947.
- Zhang, P., T. Yan, X. Wang, S. Kuang, Y. Xiao, W. Lu, and D. Bi. 2017. Probiotic mixture ameliorates heat stress of laying hens by enhancing intestinal barrier function and improving gut microbiota. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 16:292–300.
- Zhang, X. 2011. Application of total bile acid, ALT and AST in serum. Jilin Med. J. 32:4840–4841.
- Zhang, Y., Y. Yang, Y. Zhang, and Z. Liu. 2021. lncRNA ST8SIA6-AS1 facilitates proliferation and invasion in liver cancer by regulating miR-142-3p. Exp. Ther. Med. 22:1-8.
- Zhang, Z. F., and I. H. Kim. 2014. Effects of multistrain probiotics on growth performance, apparent ileal nutrient digestibility, blood characteristics, cecal microbial shedding, and excreta odor contents in broilers. Am. Hist. Rev. 119:364–370.
- Zhang, Z. Y., G. Q. Jia, J. J. Zuo, Y. Zhang, J. Lei, L. Ren, and D. Y. Feng. 2012. Effects of constant and cyclic heat stress on muscle metabolism and meat quality of broiler breast fillet and thigh meat. Poult. Sci. 91:2931–2937.
- Zhao, Y., Y. Zeng, D. Zeng, H. Wang, N. Sun, and J. Xin. 2022. Dietary Probiotic Supplementation Suppresses Subclinical Necrotic Enteritis in Broiler Chickens in a Microbiota-Dependent Manner. Front Immunol. 13:855426.
- Zheng, D., T. Liwinski, and E. Elinav. 2020. Interaction between microbiota and immunity in health and disease. Cell Res. 30:492–506.
- Zhong, H., X. G. Wang, J. Wang, Y -J. Chen, H.L. Qin, and R. Yang. 2021. Impact of probiotics supplement on the gut microbiota in neonates with antibiotic exposure: An open-label singlecenter randomized parallel controlled study. World J. Pediatr. 17:385–393.
- Zhou, Y., Y. Li, L. Zhang, Z.Wu. Y. Huang, and H. Yan. 2020. Antibiotic Administration Routes and Oral Exposure to Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria as Key Drivers for Gut Microbiota Disruption and Resistome in Poultry. Front Microbiol. 11:1319.
- Zhu, X. Y., T. Zhong, Y. Pandya, and R.D. Joerger. 2002. 16S rRNA-based analysis of microbiota from the cecum of broiler chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol. 68:124–137.

- Zhu, X., W. Liu, S. Yuan, and H. Chen. 2014. The effect of different dietary levels of thyme essential oil on serum biochemical indices in Mahua broiler chickens. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 13:3238.
- Zhu. N., J. Wang, L.Yu, Q. Zhang, K. Chen, and B. Liu. 2019. Modulation of Growth Performance and Intestinal Microbiota in Chickens Fed Plant Extracts or Virginiamycin. Front Microbiol. 10:1333.
- Zulkifli, I., N. Abdullah, N. Mohd. Azrin, and Y. W. Ho. 2000. Growth performance and immune response of two commercial broiler strains fed diets containing Lactobacillus cultures and oxytetracycline under heat stress conditions. Br. Poult. Sci. 41:593–597.